
Amended 06/10/2025 
Rockaway Beach City Hall is accessible to persons with disabilities. A request for an interpreter for the hearing impaired or for other 
accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made at least 48 hours before the meeting to the City Recorder Melissa Thompson at 
cityrecorder@corb.us or 503-374-1752. 
 

City of Rockaway Beach 
Regular City Council Meeting Agenda - Amended 
 

Date:   Wednesday, June 11, 2025  
Time:   6:00 P.M. 
Location:  Rockaway Beach City Hall, 276 Hwy 101 - Civic Facility  
 
Watch live stream here: corb.us/live-stream 
View meeting later here: https://janescottvideoproductions.com 
 
Join here to attend remotely:  
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/87327210685?pwd=J4AhYd8rBff3xM97uFU0VbQrW48mHx.1 
Meeting ID: 873 2721 0685 
Passcode: 443640 
Dial by your location 
253 215 8782 US (Tacoma) 
 
How to Provide Public Comment: 

• Written Comments may be submitted electronically by sending an email no later than 48 hours 
prior to the meeting to CityHall@Corb.us 

• In Person – sign-up sheet and instructions will be located on the table ouside of the meeting room. 

• Virtually on Zoom – use the “raise hand” feature when the Mayor announces it is time to do so. 
               
 

1. CALL TO ORDER – Charles McNeilly, Mayor 
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

3. ROLL CALL 
 

4. CONSENT AGENDA 
a. Approval of May 14, 2025 Regular Meeting Minutes 
b. Approval of May 14, 2025 Workshop Minutes 
c. Review of Financial Reports 

 
 

5. PRESENTATIONS, GUESTS & ANNOUNCEMENTS – None Scheduled 
 

6. STAFF REPORTS 
a. Fire Department 
b. Sheriff’s Office 
c. Public Works 
d. City Manager 

mailto:cityrecorder@corb.us
https://corb.us/live-stream
https://janescottvideoproductions.com/
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/87327210685?pwd=J4AhYd8rBff3xM97uFU0VbQrW48mHx.1
mailto:CityHall@Corb.us


Amended 06/10/2025 
Rockaway Beach City Hall is accessible to persons with disabilities. A request for an interpreter for the hearing impaired or for other 
accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made at least 48 hours before the meeting to the City Recorder Melissa Thompson at 
cityrecorder@corb.us or 503-374-1752. 
 

 
 

7. PUBLIC HEARING  
 

a. Consideration to Continue the Public Hearing on Ordinances 2025-05 and 2025-06 
Updating the Zoning Ordinance and Comprehensive Plan Related to the Flood Hazard 
Overlay Zone to the next City Council Meeting on August 20, 2025 at 6:00 p.m. 

 
b. Public Hearing on Ordinances 2025-02/2025-03/2025-04 Updating the Zoning Code, 

Subdivision Code, and Comprehensive Plan Related to Middle Housing  
 

8. PUBLIC COMMENT ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS 
 

9. OLD BUSINESS – None Scheduled 
 

10. NEW BUSINESS 
 

a. First & Second Reading of Ordinance 2025-02 Amending City of Rockaway Beach Zoning 
Ordinance 143 (Code Chapter 155) Related to Middle Housing  
 

b. Consideration to Adopt Ordinance 2025-02 Amending City of Rockaway Beach Zoning 
Ordinance 143 (Code Chapter 155) Related to Middle Housing  

 
c. First & Second Reading of Ordinance 2025-03 Amending City of Rockaway Beach 

Subdivision Ordinance Related to Middle Housing  
 

d. Consideration to Adopt Ordinance 2025-03 Amending City of Rockaway Beach Subdivision 
Ordinance Related to Middle Housing 
 

e. First & Second Reading of Ordinance 2025-04 Amending City of Rockaway Beach 
Comprehensive Plan Related to Middle Housing  
 

f. Consideration to Adopt Ordinance 2025-04 Amending City of Rockaway Beach 
Comprehensive Plan Related to Middle Housing  
 

g. Consideration of Resolution 2025-30 Reappointing Members to the Planning Commission  
 

h. Consideration of Resolution 2025-31 Approving the Collective Bargaining Agreement with 
Employees Represented by the American Federation of State, County and Municipal 
Employees Local 2734-1, AFSCME Council No. 75 AFL-CIO 

 
i. Consideration of Resolution 2025-32 Approving Awards for the 2025 Facade Improvement 

Grant Program 
 
 

mailto:cityrecorder@corb.us


Amended 06/10/2025 
Rockaway Beach City Hall is accessible to persons with disabilities. A request for an interpreter for the hearing impaired or for other 
accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made at least 48 hours before the meeting to the City Recorder Melissa Thompson at 
cityrecorder@corb.us or 503-374-1752. 
 

j. Consideration of Resolution 2025-33 Establishing Forest Management Plan Development 
Advisory Committee 

 
k. Consideration of Resolution 2025-34 Recommending Granting of Liquor License Approval 

for Pelican Brewing Company  
 

l. Consideration of Resolution 2025-35 Selecting the Volunteer of the Year and Grand 
Marshal for the 2025 4th of July Parade 
 
 

11. ITEMS REMOVED FROM CONSENT AGENDA 
 

12. COUNCIL COMMENTS 
 

13. MAYOR’S REPORT 
 

14. ADJOURNMENT 

mailto:cityrecorder@corb.us


 

Rockaway Beach City Council   Page 1 of 10 
Regular Session Minutes – May 14, 2025 
 

City of Rockaway Beach 
Regular City Council Meeting Minutes      
 

Date:   Wednesday, May 14, 2025  
Location:  Rockaway Beach City Hall, 276 Hwy 101 - Civic Facility  

 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
Mayor McNeilly called the meeting to order at: 6:00 p.m. 
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

3. ROLL CALL 
Council Members Present: Mayor Charles McNeilly; Councilors Penny Cheek, Mary McGinnis, Tom 
Martine, and Kiley Konruff 
Staff Present: Luke Shepard, City Manager; Melissa Thompson, City Recorder; Dan Emerson, Public 

Works Superintendent; Todd Hesse, Fire Chief; and Kevin Grogan, Sheriff’s Deputy 
 
 

4. CONSENT AGENDA 
Start time: 6:02 p.m. 

 
a. Approval of April 9, 2025 Regular Meeting Minutes 
b. Approval of April 9, 2025 Workshop Minutes 
c. Review of Financial Reports 
d. Resolution 2025-29 Moving the Regular August Meeting Date from August 13, 2025 to August 

20, 2025 
 

Martine made a motion, seconded by Cheek, to approve the consent agenda.  
 
The motion carried by the following vote: 

 
Aye: 4 (Cheek, McGinnis, Martine, Konruff) 
Nay: 0  
 

 
5. PRESENTATIONS, GUESTS & ANNOUNCEMENTS  

a. Presentation – Source Water Protection Plan – Suzanne de Szoeke, GSI Water Solutions, Inc. 
Start time: 6:04 p.m. 

 
De Szoeke made a presentation on the final draft of the Source Water Protection Plan. 
 
Council members expressed thanks to De Szoeke. It was noted that a grant will fund the Forest 
Stewardship Plan. 



 

Rockaway Beach City Council   Page 2 of 10 
Regular Session Minutes – May 14, 2025 
 

 
 

6. STAFF REPORTS 
 
a. Fire Department 

Start time: 6:19 p.m. 
 
Hesse presented a staff report on the activities and operations of the Rockaway Beach Fire 
Rescue department for the month of April 2025. Hesse shared slides highlighting Fire Safety 
month, a burn trailer, extrication practice, drone activity, students from Neah-Kah-Nie High 
School Future Natural Resource Leaders club, Easter events, and the June Emergency 
Preparedness meeting. Hesse confirmed for the Council that Emergency Management meetings 
would be posted on the website calendar, and hoped to have a ceremony when the new ladder 
truck was put into service. 
 
 

b. Sheriff’s Office 
Start time: 6:32 p.m. 
 
Deputy Kevin Grogan summarized the Sheriff’s Office report for April 2025. Grogan expressed 
appreciation to the community for their assistance reporting issues. Grogan confirmed that a 
fourth Deputy would be on staff by July 1. There were Council comments thanking public works 
for installation of cameras at the boardwalk, acknowledgement that thefts from vehicles were a 
common problem at scenic destinations, and appreciation expressed to deputies for the high 
volume of activity on the April incident report.  
 
 

c. Public Works 
Start time: 6:38 p.m. 

 
Emerson presented his report on operations within the Public Works department for April 2025. 
There was a Council comment thanking Public Works for providing a link on the City website to 
water system information on the Oregon Health Authority website.  
 
 

d. City Manager 
Start time: 6:43 p.m. 

 
Shepard shared a presentation including an overview of business items on the agenda. Shepard 
shared updates on a Source Water Protection Grant application, the quarterly financial report, 
and upcoming road resurfacing projects. Shepard announced that the City was accepting 
applications for 4th of July Parade Entries, and nominations for parade Grand Marshal and 
Volunteer of the Year.  A Councilor commended staff for the amount of money they have saved 
taxpayers by applying for grants. 
 



 

Rockaway Beach City Council   Page 3 of 10 
Regular Session Minutes – May 14, 2025 
 

 
7. PUBLIC HEARING  

 
a. Public Hearing on Proposed Uses of State Revenue Sharing Funds for Fiscal Year 2025-2026  

Start time: 6:53 p.m. 

 
McNeilly explained that this hearing allows public input regarding the proposed uses of state 
revenue sharing funds for the Fiscal Year 2025-2026 Budget. 
 
McNeilly opened the public hearing at 6:53 p.m. No audience members wished to comment. 
McNeilly closed the public hearing at 6:54 p.m. 

  
b. Public Hearing on the Approved Budget for Fiscal Year 2025-2026 

Start time: 6:54 p.m. 
 
McNeilly explained that purpose of this Public Hearing was to receive public testimony on 
the budget approved by the Budget Committee. 
 
McNeilly opened the public hearing at 6:54 p.m. No audience members wished to comment. 
McNeilly closed the public hearing at 6:55 pm. 

 
 
 

8. PUBLIC INPUT ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS 
Start time: 6:55 p.m. 
 
Laird Heater, resident, advocated for a Dark Skies ordinance, and shared related documents with 
the Council. 
 
Robert Carson, resident, read aloud submitted written comments from Nancy Webster in response 
to Council comments in the April Workshop regarding the North Coast Communities for Watershed 
Protection (NCCWP) grant application.  
 
Nancy Webster, resident, resumed reading aloud submitted written comments in response to 
Council comments in the April Workshop regarding the NCCWP grant application.  
 
Jon Orloff, resident, expressed concerns about two traffic hazards on Highway 101 (northeast 
corner of Hwy 101 and 2nd Avenue and northeast corner of Hwy 101 and 3rd Avenue) and made 
suggestions for mitigation.   
 
Pam Hiller, resident, announced the Third Annual Summer Picnic will be held June 26, 2025, 
celebrating with the people and families living with ID/DD in our community. Hiller shared a flyer 
with the Council and invited all to attend. 
 



 

Rockaway Beach City Council   Page 4 of 10 
Regular Session Minutes – May 14, 2025 
 

Goldea See, resident, expressed appreciation for the work of the NCCWP in helping with 
understanding unique coastal ecosystems, and spoke about the importance of preservation, public 
beaches, tidal pools and fresh drinking water. 
Jean Scholtz, resident, announced that the Rockaway Beach Library had a display of information on 
the watershed, and invited all to view it to learn for themselves. Scholtz announced that she was 
stepping down as President of Friends of the Rockaway Beach Library, but would likely continue 
with writing grants for them. 
 
 
 

9. OLD BUSINESS – None Scheduled 
 
 
 

10. NEW BUSINESS  
 

a. Consideration of Resolution 2025-19 Approving the Source Water Protection Plan 
Start time: 7:18 p.m. 

 
McNeilly explained this resolution approves the final Source Water Protection Plan. McNeilly 
stated if the Council approves the Plan, it will be submitted to the State of Oregon 
Department of Environmental Quality and Oregon Health Authority for approval. 
 
McNeilly invited public comment. No audience members wished to comment. 

 
McGinnis made a motion, seconded by Martine, to approve Resolution 2025-19 Approving 
the Source Water Protection Plan.   
 
McGinnis reiterated that the draft plan will be submitted to the State of Oregon Department 
of Environmental Quality and Oregon Health Authority for input. 
 
The motion carried by the following vote: 
 
Aye: 4 (Cheek, McGinnis, Martine, Konruff) 
Nay: 0 

 

 

b. Consideration of Resolution 2025-20 A Resolution Reviewing and Continuing Reserve 
Funds 
Start time: 7:20 p.m. 

 
McNeilly explained that this resolution affirms that the City has reviewed and sees the need 
to continue its reserve funds.  

 
McNeilly invited public comment. No audience members wished to comment. 



 

Rockaway Beach City Council   Page 5 of 10 
Regular Session Minutes – May 14, 2025 
 

 
Martine made a motion, seconded by Cheek, to approved Resolution 2025-20. 

 
The motion carried by the following vote: 
 
Aye: 4 (Cheek, McGinnis, Martine, Konruff) 
Nay: 0 
 

c. Consideration of Resolution 2025-21 Declaring the City’s Election to Receive State 
Revenues 
Start time: 7:21 p.m. 

 
McNeilly stated that resolution meets the state requirement that the city declare its intent 
to receive its share of state revenues for fiscal year 2025-2026. 
  
Cheek made a motion, seconded by Martine, to approve Resolution 2025-21. 

 
McGinnis commented that this action was routine, required by the state, and was done 
every budget year. 

 
The motion carried by the following vote: 
 
Aye: 4 (Cheek, McGinnis, Martine, Konruff) 
Nay: 0 
 

d. Consideration of Resolution 2025-22 Adopting the Budget; Making Appropriations; and 
Imposing and Categorizing Taxes for Fiscal Year 2025-2026 
Start time: 7:22 p.m. 

 
McNeilly explained that the Budget Committee approved the 2025-2026 budget, and it was 
now before the Council for adoption. McNeilly stated the resolution contained all four 
actions required: it adopts the budget, appropriates funds, and imposes and categorizes 
taxes for fiscal year 2025-2026.  

 
Cheek made a motion, seconded by Martine, to approve Resolution 2025-22 Adopting the 
Budget; Making Appropriations; and Imposing and Categorizing Taxes for Fiscal Year 2025-
2026.  

 
McGinnis thanked the Budget Committee for their good work.  

 
The motion carried by the following vote: 
 
Aye: 4 (Cheek, McGinnis, Martine, Konruff) 
Nay: 0  
 



 

Rockaway Beach City Council   Page 6 of 10 
Regular Session Minutes – May 14, 2025 
 

e. Consideration of Resolution 2025-23 Approving Awards for the 2024-2025 Large 
Community Grant Program 
Start time: 7:24 p.m. 

 
McNeilly stated the Planning Commission has reviewed applications based on established 
grant evaluation criteria and has made funding recommendations to the City Council. 

 
McNeilly invited public comment. No audience members wished to comment. 
 
Martine made a motion, seconded by McGinnis, to approve Resolution 2025-23 Approving 
Awards for the 2024-2025 Large Community Grant Program. 

 
McNeilly thanked the Planning Commission for their work on the new process for reviewing 
the Small and Large Grants. 
 
The motion carried by the following vote: 
 
Aye: 4 (Cheek, McGinnis, Martine, Konruff) 
Nay: 0 
 

f. Consideration of Resolution 2025-24 Approving the First Amendment to the Commercial 
Lease Agreement with Tillamook County for their Health Clinic  
Start time: 7:26 p.m. 
 
McNeilly explained Tillamook County wishes to continue to lease space in City Hall for their 
health clinic.  McNeilly stated this amendment to the current agreement extends the lease 
for another 5 years, provides an inflationary adjustment to the rent, and simplifies utility 
billing and charges.  
 
McNeilly invited public comment. No audience members wished to comment. 
 
McGinnis made a motion, seconded by Cheek, to approve Resolution 2025-24 Approving the 
First Amendment to the Commercial Lease Agreement with Tillamook County for their 
Health Clinic. 

 
McGinnis noted that the clinic was housed on the first floor, and it was open on Thursdays. 

 
The motion carried by the following vote: 
 
Aye: 4 (Cheek, McGinnis, Martine, Konruff) 
Nay: 0 
 

g. Consideration of Resolution 2025-25 Making an Appointment to the Planning Commission 
to Fill Vacant Position 3 
Start time: 7:28 p.m. 



 

Rockaway Beach City Council   Page 7 of 10 
Regular Session Minutes – May 14, 2025 
 

 
McNeilly explained there were two qualified candidates for Planning Commission position 3, 
Penny Cole and Richard Martindale. McNeilly stated that Penny Cole lives within the city 
limits and Richard Martindale lives outside of city limits but within the urban growth 
boundary. McNeilly thanked both candidates for their willingness to volunteer to serve in 
this capacity. 
 
McNeilly invited public comment. No audience members wished to comment. 
 
McNeilly shared that the Council reviewed applications in the Workshop. McNeilly 
nominated Penny Cole to fill the vacancy in Position 3. 
 
McGinnis made a motion, seconded by Cheek, to amend Resolution 2025-25 to insert the 
name “Penny Cole” in Section 1 for Position 3. 
 
McGinnis noted that Cole was present, and that the Planning Commission meeting would be 
held the following night. 
 
The motion carried by the following vote: 
 
Aye: 4 (Cheek, McGinnis, Martine, Konruff) 
Nay: 0 
 
Cheek made a motion, seconded by Martine, to approve amended Resolution 2025-25. 
 
The motion carried by the following vote: 
 
Aye: 4 (Cheek, McGinnis, Martine, Konruff) 
Nay: 0 
 

h. Consideration of Resolution 2025-26 Amending City Council Rules & Procedures 
Start time: 7:33 p.m. 
 
McNeilly explained this resolution approves amendments to the Council Meeting Rules and 
Procedures. 
 
McNeilly invited public testimony. No audience members wished to comment. 

 
Martine made a motion, seconded by McGinnis, to approve Resolution 2025-26.  

 
McGinnis noted that those providing public comment will all now have 4 minutes, and 
speakers don’t need to give their full address. 

 
The motion carried by the following vote: 
 



 

Rockaway Beach City Council   Page 8 of 10 
Regular Session Minutes – May 14, 2025 
 

Aye: 4 (Cheek, McGinnis, Martine, Konruff) 
Nay: 0  
 

i. Consideration of Resolution 2025-27 Approving Awards for the 2024-2025 Off-Season 
Tourism Marketing Grant Program 
Start time: 7:35 p.m. 
 
McNeilly stated this resolution authorizes awards for the 2024-2025 fiscal year off-season 
marketing and promotions grants. McNeilly explained this grant is funded with lodging tax 
collected by the city and is administered by the Tillamook Coast Visitors Association. The 
Council reviewed applications in the Workshop and may now consider granting awards. 
 
McNeilly invited public testimony. No audience members wished to comment. 
 
Martine made a motion, seconded by Cheek, to amend Resolution No. 2025-27 to insert in 
Section 1 the recipients and grant amounts as follows: 
 
Neah-Kah-Nie Coast Arts Music & Cultural Foundation $3,000 
Green Coast Market      $3,000 
Jiu Jitsu 101 Oregon Coast       $3,000 
 
The motion carried by the following vote: 
 
Aye: 4 (Cheek, McGinnis, Martine, Konruff) 
Nay: 0  
 
McGinnis made a motion, seconded by Martine, to approve amended Resolution 2025-27 
Approving Awards for the 2024-2025 Off-Season Tourism Marketing Grant Program.  

 
McGinnis commented that the grants are funded by the transient lodging tax (TLT) and there 
are some specific requirements the state legislature requires for grants that are funded by 
TLT tax, and it will be nice to see what the organizations do with it. 

 
The motion carried by the following vote: 
 
Aye: 4 (Cheek, McGinnis, Martine, Konruff) 
Nay: 0  
 
 

j. Consideration of Resolution 2025-28 Endorsing a State Of Oregon Transportation and 
Growth Management Grant Application for a Transportation System Plan Update 
Start time: 7:39 p.m. 
 



 

Rockaway Beach City Council   Page 9 of 10 
Regular Session Minutes – May 14, 2025 
 

McNeilly explained that this resolution provides endorsement of an application for a 
Transportation and Growth Management Grant (TGM) to update the City’s Transportation 
System Plan. 
 
McNeilly invited public testimony. No audience members wished to comment. 
 
McGinnis made a motion, seconded by Martine, to approve Resolution 2025-28 Endorsing a 
State Of Oregon Transportation and Growth Management Grant Application for a 
Transportation System Plan Update.  

 
McGinnis noted that the current plan, soon to expire, is posted on the city website, and most 
of the projects have been completed.  McGinnis stated the few things that are left are things 
that are really not in the city's purview; they involve more state and federal government 
than the city.  She expressed thanks to the city again for tackling the transportation plan. 

 
The motion carried by the following vote: 
 
Aye: 4 (Cheek, McGinnis, Martine, Konruff) 
Nay: 0  
 

 
 

11. ITEMS REMOVED FROM CONSENT AGENDA – None removed 
 

  
12. COUNCIL CONCERNS 

Start time: 7:41 p.m. 
 

Cheek stated it was good to be back and nice to see those in attendance. 
 

Konruff was excited for Summer and upcoming events.  Konruff looked forward to arrival of the new 
ladder truck and additional Deputies.  She welcomed back Cheek. 

 
Martine was glad to have Cheek back. Martine shared that the Summer picnic was an awesome 
event and encouraged attendance. 
 
McGinnis shared reminders about David’s Chair kickoff event on Saturday. McGinnis announced 
that the Oregon Coast Visitors Association has introduced a new transportation bus service from 
Portland which will stop in Rockaway, allowing tourists to visit the beach and hoped it would 
encourage local shopping and dining. McGinnis spotlighted several local businesses. 

 
 
 

13. MAYOR’S REPORT 
Start time: 7:46 p.m. 



 

Rockaway Beach City Council   Page 10 of 10 
Regular Session Minutes – May 14, 2025 
 

 
McNeilly encouraged volunteering in the community and shared contact information for the 
Rockaway Beach Volunteers. McNeilly announced that the next Coffee meeting would be held on 
May 22, 2025 at 9:00 a.m. and encouraged all to attend. McNeilly invited the public to email him 
regarding any questions or concerns about the City. 
 
 
 

14. ADJOURNMENT 
Start time: 7:48 p.m. 
 
Konruff made a motion, seconded by Cheek, to adjourn the meeting at 7:48 p.m. 
 
The motion carried by the following vote: 
 
Aye: 4 (McGinnis, Martine, Cheek, Konruff) 
Nay: 0 
 

 
MINUTES APPROVED THE 
11TH DAY OF JUNE 2025 

 
         
                 ______________________________ 
         Charles McNeilly, Mayor  
 
 ATTEST  
 
 
      
Melissa Thompson, City Recorder  

 



 

Rockaway Beach City Council   Page 1 of 3 
Workshop Minutes – May 14, 2025 

City of Rockaway Beach 
City Council Workshop Minutes      
 

Date:   Wednesday, May 14, 2025  
Location:  Rockaway Beach City Hall, 276 HWY 101 – 2nd Floor Conference Room 

 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
Mayor McNeilly called the meeting to order at 4:30 p.m. 
 
 

2. ROLL CALL   
Council Members Present: Mayor Charles McNeilly; Councilors Penny Cheek, Mary McGinnis, Tom 
Martine, and Kiley Konruff 
Staff Present: Luke Shepard, City Manager; Melissa Thompson, City Recorder; and Mary Mertz, City 
Planner 
 

 
3. COUNCIL BRIEFING/DISCUSSION 

 
a. Presentation – Source Water Protection Plan – Suzanne de Szoeke, GSI Water Solutions, Inc. 

Start time: 4:31 p.m. 
 
De Szoeke gave a presentation providing background and an overview of the final draft of 
the Source Water Protection Plan.  

 
McGinnis thanked De Szoeke and the Source Water Protection Plan Development Advisory 
Committee. Shepard concurred with McGinnis, noting that it was a major milestone, and had 
gone very smoothly. Shepard shared that development of the Forest Stewardship Plan would 
begin soon and confirmed that the City had grant funds to pay for that work.  McNeilly 
expressed appreciation to De Szoeke and her team. 

 
b. Review of Proposed Amendments to Flood Hazard Overlay Zone Related to FEMA PCIM 

Start time: 4:51 p.m. 
 
Mertz shared a presentation providing background on Federal Emergency Management 
Agency (FEMA) and the National Floodplain Insurance Program (NFIP), the lawsuit leading to 
the Biological Opinion, and Pre-Implementation Compliance Measures (PCIM) that the City 
must adopt to be in compliance. Mertz shared current litigation between Oregonians for 
Floodplain Protection (OFP) and FEMA could affect the process, and reviewed highlights of 
the proposed code updates. Mertz clarified “no net loss” standards. Mertz explained that 
staff will recommend approval of the draft changes to the ordinance and comprehensive 
plan if an injunction is not issued in Oregonians for Floodplain Protection (OFP) v. FEMA. 
 

c. Review Large Community Grant Recommendations  



 

Rockaway Beach City Council   Page 2 of 3 
Workshop Minutes – May 14, 2025 

Start time: 5:07 p.m. 
 

Shepard shared slides showing the Planning Commission recommendation to fund the top 
three ranked large community grant applications, and comments regarding the lowest 
ranked application. After brief discussion, there was Council consensus to move forward 
with the Planning Commission recommendation. There were suggestions to work with 
Tillamook County Visitors Association (TCVA) to provide a grant-writing class in the future.  
 

d. Review of Amendment to Health Department Lease Agreement 
Start time: 5:13 p.m. 
 
Shepard explained that the lease agreement with the Tillamook County Health Department 
for their health clinic space at City Hall was expiring at the end of June. Shepard stated that 
the proposed agreement would extend the lease another 5 years, and included inflationary 
adjustments and simplified utility billing. Shepard confirmed that there was a 30-day 
termination option. 
 

e. Review Marketing Grant Applications 
Start time: 5:15 p.m. 
 
Shepard acknowledged Finance Director Johnson and Lark Reifenstahl for coordinating the 
Council’s review and thanked the Council for scoring the applications. Shepard shared a slide 
showing the Marketing Grant application rankings.  
 
Discussion included: 

• Review of slide showing application rankings and average scores 

• Concerns expressed and an email shared regarding Chamber of Commerce 
application references to the State’s Oregon Main Street program 

• Concerns about timing of Sand Dollar radio ads (not off-season)  

• Comments regarding other grants that might better fit the Chamber application 
 

After discussion, there was consensus that the top three scoring applications would be 
considered for funding. 
 

 
f. Review of Applications to Serve on the Planning Commission  

Start time: 5:28 p.m. 
 
Shepard explained the Planning Commission vacancy was due to long-time Planning 
Commissioner Pat Olson’s resignation. Shepard noted that Leslie Vipond had withdrawn her 
application as she no longer had the time to dedicate to the work, and the two remaining 
applicants were Penny Cole and Dick Martindale.  
 
Discussion included: 

• Martindale resides outside city limits; preference to reserve that position available to 
UGB residents when there are no applicants within city limits 

• Cole is very active within the community 

• Encouragement for Martindale to stay involved in other ways 



 

Rockaway Beach City Council   Page 3 of 3 
Workshop Minutes – May 14, 2025 

 
After discussion, there was consensus to consider appointing Penny Cole. 
 
 

g. Other Regular Session Agenda Items Review 
Start time: 5:33 p.m. 

 
Shepard noted that the regular meeting would be very busy. 

 
 

4. ADJOURNMENT 
Start time: 5:34 p.m. 
 
Cheek made a motion, seconded by Martine, to adjourn the meeting at 5:34 p.m. 
 
The motion carried by the following vote: 

 
Aye: 4 (Cheek, McGinnis, Martine, Konruff) 
Nay: 0  
 

 
     
 MINUTES APPROVED THE 
 11TH DAY OF JUNE 2025 

 
 

               ______________________________ 
Charles McNeilly, Mayor  

 
ATTEST  
 
 
      
Melissa Thompson, City Recorder  



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

COMBINED CASH INVESTMENT

APRIL 30, 2025

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:18PM       PAGE: 1

COMBINED CASH ACCOUNTS

01-1002 MASTER CHECKING ACCT- 1ST SEC 205,953.98

01-1004 LGIP 16,296,153.76

TOTAL COMBINED CASH 16,502,107.74

01-1000 CASH ALLOCATED TO OTHER FUNDS (       16,502,107.74)

TOTAL UNALLOCATED CASH .00

CASH ALLOCATION RECONCILIATION

10 ALLOCATION TO GENERAL FUND 2,819,431.27

14 ALLOCATION TO FIRE EQUIP RESERVE 365,843.03

16 ALLOCATION TO LOAN PAYMENT RESERVE FUND 57,350.00

17 ALLOCATION TO ECONOMIC STABILITY RESERVE 350,253.17

21 ALLOCATION TO PROJECT & EQUIP RESERVE 777,134.81

30 ALLOCATION TO ROADS & STREETS 853,464.22

39 ALLOCATION TO TRANSPORTATION SDC 235,300.78

40 ALLOCATION TO WATER OPERATING 2,662,356.48

42 ALLOCATION TO WATER MASTER PLAN 1,039,897.36

43 ALLOCATION TO 81 WATER REVENUE BOND 34.54

47 ALLOCATION TO WATER DEBT SERVICE 804,525.23

49 ALLOCATION TO WATER SDC FUND 716,705.76

50 ALLOCATION TO SEWER OPERATING FUND 951,015.48

52 ALLOCATION TO SEWER MASTER PLAN 648,248.09

56 ALLOCATION TO SEWER DEBT SERVICE 929,700.61

59 ALLOCATION TO SEWER SDC 1,594,630.48

80 ALLOCATION TO TRANSIENT ROOM TAX 1,696,216.43

TOTAL ALLOCATIONS TO OTHER FUNDS 16,502,107.74

ALLOCATION FROM COMBINED CASH FUND - 01-1000 (       16,502,107.74)

ZERO PROOF IF ALLOCATIONS BALANCE .00



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

GENERAL FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEARNED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:16PM       PAGE: 1

REVENUES & RESOURCES

10-31-4010 CUR YR PROP TX - GEN FUND 2,763.15 494,540.05 479,850.00 (              14,690.05) 103.1

10-31-4020 DELINQUENT PROP TAX REVENUE 633.18 7,026.90 5,494.00 (                1,532.90) 127.9

10-31-4040 LIQUOR TAX - OLCC .00 19,758.24 30,325.00 10,566.76 65.2

10-31-4050 CIGARETTE TAX 47.39 736.78 1,065.00 328.22 69.2

10-31-4060 OTHER TAX REVENUE 7,678.11 28,513.99 35,000.00 6,486.01 81.5

TOTAL REVENUES & RESOURCES 11,121.83 550,575.96 551,734.00 1,158.04 99.8

GRANTS, LOANS & BONDS

10-33-4175 GRANTS - GENERAL FUND MISC .00 .00 35,000.00 35,000.00 .0

10-33-4185 STATE REVENUE SHARING 1,217.22 20,314.31 28,000.00 7,685.69 72.6

TOTAL GRANTS, LOANS & BONDS 1,217.22 20,314.31 63,000.00 42,685.69 32.2

FEES & SERVICES

10-34-4060 FRANCHISE FEES 11,304.58 82,086.03 390,500.00 308,413.97 21.0

10-34-4065 BUSINESS LICENSES 428.75 14,217.75 .00 (              14,217.75) .0

10-34-4066 STR LICENSE FEES .00 270,607.23 .00 (            270,607.23) .0

10-34-4085 LAND USE-ORDINANCE FEES-PERMIT 3,166.25 12,482.50 20,500.00 8,017.50 60.9

10-34-4141 CIVIC/COMM CENTER RENT .00 939.58 1,000.00 60.42 94.0

10-34-4142 FIRST FLOOR RENT-HLTH DEPT 946.00 9,460.00 11,500.00 2,040.00 82.3

10-34-4145 CC-REFUNDABLE DEPOSITS .00 .00 100.00 100.00 .0

10-34-4146 HEALTH DEPT UTILITY REIMB 99.58 896.22 3,060.00 2,163.78 29.3

TOTAL FEES & SERVICES 15,945.16 390,689.31 426,660.00 35,970.69 91.6

FIRE DEPARTMENT

10-35-4091 NEDONNA FIRE DIST .00 34,000.00 30,000.00 (                4,000.00) 113.3

10-35-4092 TWIN ROCKS WATER DISTRICT 10,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 .00 100.0

10-35-4093 OR STATE FORESTRY DEPT .00 500.00 500.00 .00 100.0

10-35-4185 FIRE PERMITS .00 .00 50.00 50.00 .0

10-35-4186 EMERGENCY SERVICES FEE 21,010.75 105,713.89 125,000.00 19,286.11 84.6

TOTAL FIRE DEPARTMENT 31,010.75 150,213.89 165,550.00 15,336.11 90.7

OTHER REVENUES

10-36-4120 INTEREST ON INVESTED FUNDS 11,151.99 109,340.09 193,000.00 83,659.91 56.7

10-36-4150 MISC RCPTS - GEN FUND 2,781.45 15,650.85 10,000.00 (                5,650.85) 156.5

10-36-4190 SURPLUS PROPERTY SALES .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

TOTAL OTHER REVENUES 13,933.44 124,990.94 203,500.00 78,509.06 61.4



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

GENERAL FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEARNED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:16PM       PAGE: 2

POLICE DEPARTMENT

10-37-4100 CITATIONS - FINES & FORFEITS 1,565.84 7,457.12 7,140.00 (                   317.12) 104.4

TOTAL POLICE DEPARTMENT 1,565.84 7,457.12 7,140.00 (                   317.12) 104.4

TRANSFERS

10-39-4030 TIF - TRT POLICE .00 250,800.00 334,400.00 83,600.00 75.0

10-39-4032 TIF  -SEWER OP .00 33,750.00 45,000.00 11,250.00 75.0

10-39-4035 TIF - DEBT SERVICE RESERVE .00 172,050.00 229,400.00 57,350.00 75.0

10-39-4036 TIF- TRT-GF PW CAP OUT PROJECT .00 10,800.00 14,400.00 3,600.00 75.0

10-39-4037 TIF - CC .00 33,750.00 45,000.00 11,250.00 75.0

10-39-4038 TIF- TRT-GF PW CAP OUTLAY PROJ .00 15,000.00 20,000.00 5,000.00 75.0

10-39-4052 TIF - TRT-CTY BEAUTIF .00 3,750.00 5,000.00 1,250.00 75.0

10-39-4053 TIF - TRT FIRE DEPT .00 250,800.00 334,400.00 83,600.00 75.0

10-39-4055 TIF - TRT USDA LOAN .00 48,000.00 64,000.00 16,000.00 75.0

TOTAL TRANSFERS .00 818,700.00 1,091,600.00 272,900.00 75.0

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 74,794.24 2,062,941.53 2,509,184.00 446,242.47 82.2



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

GENERAL FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:16PM       PAGE: 3

POLICE DEPARTMENT

10-45-6550 MATERIALS SUPPLIES 23,707.05 227,058.18 668,392.00 441,333.82 34.0

TOTAL POLICE DEPARTMENT 23,707.05 227,058.18 668,392.00 441,333.82 34.0

FIRE DEPARTMENT

10-46-5052 FIRE CHIEF WAGES 8,957.88 89,578.85 113,000.00 23,421.15 79.3

10-46-5053 FIREFIGHTERS 10,906.70 130,930.58 176,000.00 45,069.42 74.4

10-46-5054 OVERTIME-FIRE DEPARTMENT 403.72 8,025.37 5,000.00 (                3,025.37) 160.5

10-46-5061 VOLUNTEER FIRE FIGHTER BONUS 4,865.91 44,767.50 42,000.00 (                2,767.50) 106.6

10-46-5062 RECORD KEEPING & TRAINING 381.64 1,506.64 2,500.00 993.36 60.3

10-46-5152 PAYROLL EXPENSES - FIRE 13,938.39 144,943.21 200,000.00 55,056.79 72.5

10-46-6110 ELECTRICITY 203.62 3,137.26 3,800.00 662.74 82.6

10-46-6530 TELEPHONE & TECHNOLOGY 915.37 20,627.46 12,000.00 (                8,627.46) 171.9

10-46-6535 MEDICAL 81.61 1,916.99 10,500.00 8,583.01 18.3

10-46-6555 SUPPLIES, GEAR & SERVICES 2,680.53 27,160.06 32,500.00 5,339.94 83.6

10-46-6557 EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT SUPPLIES .00 4,709.46 7,500.00 2,790.54 62.8

10-46-6570 INS- VEHICLE, LIAB, EQUIP, BLD .00 19,500.54 28,000.00 8,499.46 69.6

10-46-6580 FUEL & OIL 334.28 4,128.43 10,000.00 5,871.57 41.3

10-46-6582 ELECTRONIC REP-MAINT .00 .00 1,500.00 1,500.00 .0

10-46-6630 FIRE BLDG MAINT 173.86 1,464.47 15,000.00 13,535.53 9.8

10-46-6660 SAFETY TRAINING & FIRST AID 6,157.45 12,023.77 22,000.00 9,976.23 54.7

10-46-6670 REQUIRED EQUIP TESTING 1,016.85 7,883.48 10,000.00 2,116.52 78.8

10-46-6690 VEHICLE MAINT, SUP & REP 112.21 5,168.91 15,000.00 9,831.09 34.5

TOTAL FIRE DEPARTMENT 51,130.02 527,472.98 706,300.00 178,827.02 74.7



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

GENERAL FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:16PM       PAGE: 4

ADMINISTRATION

10-48-5057 OFFICE ASSISTANT 11,106.38 121,385.14 132,000.00 10,614.86 92.0

10-48-5065 OVERTIME - CITY HALL .00 .00 1,200.00 1,200.00 .0

10-48-5075 ACCRUED VACATION - ADMIN .00 .00 5,000.00 5,000.00 .0

10-48-5082 CITY MANAGER 8,167.53 84,547.88 99,760.00 15,212.12 84.8

10-48-5085 MAYOR & COUNCIL STIPEND 152.00 1,381.00 1,400.00 19.00 98.6

10-48-5152 PAYROLL EXP - ADMIN 17,110.74 129,987.67 167,000.00 37,012.33 77.8

10-48-6410 PLANNING & ZONING 4,203.03 59,177.40 10,000.00 (              49,177.40) 591.8

10-48-6440 REFUNDABLE DEPOSITS .00 805.00 200.00 (                   605.00) 402.5

10-48-6530 TELEPHONE 282.27 4,218.46 5,800.00 1,581.54 72.7

10-48-6570 INS-VEHICLE, LIAB, EQUIP, BLDG .00 22,224.98 22,000.00 (                   224.98) 101.0

10-48-6571 TECHNOLOGY & DATA PROCESSING 2,371.20 50,115.00 65,000.00 14,885.00 77.1

10-48-6577 ORDINANCE UPDATE .00 1,622.87 4,000.00 2,377.13 40.6

10-48-6596 EMERGENCY SERVICES EXPENSE .00 .00 1,000.00 1,000.00 .0

10-48-6666 CITY BEAUTIFICATION 685.78 685.78 3,000.00 2,314.22 22.9

10-48-6830 CITY HALL OPERATIONS 8,811.01 36,231.32 66,000.00 29,768.68 54.9

10-48-6831 DUES-CITY, OFFICIALS & STAFF 922.06 2,894.80 3,500.00 605.20 82.7

10-48-6835 BANK FEES 55.20 7,415.76 2,000.00 (                5,415.76) 370.8

10-48-6840 COURT COSTS .00 .00 100.00 100.00 .0

10-48-6850 ATTORNEY 6,267.50 45,011.50 71,978.00 26,966.50 62.5

10-48-6870 AUDIT & BOND .00 8,705.91 9,500.00 794.09 91.6

10-48-6880 ADVERTISING 1,557.55 5,607.70 2,000.00 (                3,607.70) 280.4

10-48-6890 STATIONERY & SUPPLIES 434.12 4,810.77 10,000.00 5,189.23 48.1

10-48-6915 TRAVEL & TRAIN-STAFF 16.50 6,107.03 8,000.00 1,892.97 76.3

10-48-6920 BLDG MAINT-CTY HALL 2,993.81 10,918.95 18,000.00 7,081.05 60.7

10-48-6931 COUNCIL EXPENSE .00 844.34 3,750.00 2,905.66 22.5

10-48-6932 CITY MANAGER FUND .00 812.85 750.00 (                     62.85) 108.4

10-48-6954 COMMUNITY GRANTS 17,793.58 17,793.58 75,000.00 57,206.42 23.7

10-48-8000 GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROJECTS .00 .00 20,000.00 20,000.00 .0

10-48-8041 TO - ROADS/STREETS, FRANCHISE .00 37,500.00 50,000.00 12,500.00 75.0

10-48-8044 TO -FIRE EQUIPMENT RESERVE .00 33,750.00 45,000.00 11,250.00 75.0

10-48-8046 TO - ECONOMIC STABILITY RES FD .00 344,850.00 459,800.00 114,950.00 75.0

10-48-8518 DEBT SVC - GF LOANS & DEBT SVC 506.10 78,825.90 140,000.00 61,174.10 56.3

TOTAL ADMINISTRATION 83,436.36 1,118,231.59 1,502,738.00 384,506.41 74.4

CONTINGENCY

10-52-7999 CONTINGENCY - GF .00 .00 295,870.00 295,870.00 .0

TOTAL CONTINGENCY .00 .00 295,870.00 295,870.00 .0

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES 158,273.43 1,872,762.75 3,173,300.00 1,300,537.25 59.0

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES (              83,479.19) 190,178.78 (            664,116.00) (            854,294.78) 28.6



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

FIRE EQUIP RESERVE

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:16PM       PAGE: 5

OTHER INCOME

14-36-4120 INTEREST INCOME 1,375.38 13,514.22 2,100.00 (              11,414.22) 643.5

TOTAL OTHER INCOME 1,375.38 13,514.22 2,100.00 (              11,414.22) 643.5

TRANSFERS

14-39-4026 TIF - GF .00 33,750.00 45,000.00 11,250.00 75.0

14-39-4030 TIF - TRT .00 90,750.00 121,000.00 30,250.00 75.0

TOTAL TRANSFERS .00 124,500.00 166,000.00 41,500.00 75.0

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 1,375.38 138,014.22 168,100.00 30,085.78 82.1



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

FIRE EQUIP RESERVE

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:16PM       PAGE: 6

FIRE DEPARTMENT

14-47-7621 FIRE EQUIP & CAPITAL OUTLAY .00 54,763.39 165,000.00 110,236.61 33.2

14-47-7625 FIRE TRUCK .00 86,775.75 90,000.00 3,224.25 96.4

TOTAL FIRE DEPARTMENT .00 141,539.14 255,000.00 113,460.86 55.5

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES .00 141,539.14 255,000.00 113,460.86 55.5

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 1,375.38 (                3,524.92) (              86,900.00) (              83,375.08) (    4.1)



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

LOAN PAYMENT RESERVE FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:16PM       PAGE: 7

DEPARTMENT 48

16-48-4032 TO -GENERAL FUND .00 172,050.00 229,400.00 57,350.00 75.0

TOTAL DEPARTMENT 48 .00 172,050.00 229,400.00 57,350.00 75.0

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES .00 172,050.00 229,400.00 57,350.00 75.0

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES .00 (            172,050.00) (            229,400.00) (              57,350.00) (  75.0)



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

ECONOMIC STABILITY RESERVE

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:16PM       PAGE: 8

OTHER INCOME

17-36-4120 INTEREST INCOME 1,316.77 5,403.17 5,000.00 (                   403.17) 108.1

TOTAL OTHER INCOME 1,316.77 5,403.17 5,000.00 (                   403.17) 108.1

TRANSFERS

17-39-4030 TIF - GEN FND .00 344,850.00 459,800.00 114,950.00 75.0

TOTAL TRANSFERS .00 344,850.00 459,800.00 114,950.00 75.0

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 1,316.77 350,253.17 464,800.00 114,546.83 75.4

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 1,316.77 350,253.17 464,800.00 114,546.83 75.4



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

PROJECT & EQUIP RESERVE

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:16PM       PAGE: 9

SOURCE 33

21-33-4184 GRANTS: TOURISM FACILITIES 75,000.00 75,000.00 75,000.00 .00 100.0

TOTAL SOURCE 33 75,000.00 75,000.00 75,000.00 .00 100.0

OTHER INCOME

21-36-4120 INTEREST INCOME 3,129.76 28,026.17 3,000.00 (              25,026.17) 934.2

TOTAL OTHER INCOME 3,129.76 28,026.17 3,000.00 (              25,026.17) 934.2

TRANSFERS IN

21-39-4030 TIF - TRT .00 493,800.00 658,400.00 164,600.00 75.0

TOTAL TRANSFERS IN .00 493,800.00 658,400.00 164,600.00 75.0

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 78,129.76 596,826.17 736,400.00 139,573.83 81.1



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

PROJECT & EQUIP RESERVE

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:16PM       PAGE: 10

CAPITAL OUTLAY

21-47-7577 TOURISM CAPITAL PROJECTS 660.00 427,646.93 2,000,000.00 1,572,353.07 21.4

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY 660.00 427,646.93 2,000,000.00 1,572,353.07 21.4

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES 660.00 427,646.93 2,000,000.00 1,572,353.07 21.4

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 77,469.76 169,179.24 (         1,263,600.00) (         1,432,779.24) 13.4



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

ROADS & STREETS

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:17PM       PAGE: 11

STATE REVENUE

30-31-2985 RESTRICTED BIKE PATHS ODOT 87.28 1,031.62 1,190.00 158.38 86.7

30-31-4340 STATE STREET - DMV - REVENUE 8,640.24 102,129.76 119,000.00 16,870.24 85.8

TOTAL STATE REVENUE 8,727.52 103,161.38 120,190.00 17,028.62 85.8

GRANTS

30-33-4182 GRANTS & REIM- ROADS & STREETS .00 .00 250,000.00 250,000.00 .0

TOTAL GRANTS .00 .00 250,000.00 250,000.00 .0

OTHER REVENUE

30-36-4120 INTEREST INCOME 3,265.57 31,096.10 31,000.00 (                     96.10) 100.3

TOTAL OTHER REVENUE 3,265.57 31,096.10 31,000.00 (                     96.10) 100.3

TRANSFERS

30-39-4030 TIF - TRT .00 276,300.00 368,400.00 92,100.00 75.0

30-39-4038 TIF - GEN FND .00 37,500.00 50,000.00 12,500.00 75.0

TOTAL TRANSFERS .00 313,800.00 418,400.00 104,600.00 75.0

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 11,993.09 448,057.48 819,590.00 371,532.52 54.7



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

ROADS & STREETS

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:17PM       PAGE: 12

PERSONNEL SERVICES

30-41-5055 MAINT WKR WAGES 6,284.86 79,805.83 91,000.00 11,194.17 87.7

30-41-5056 EXTRA LABOR .00 .00 5,000.00 5,000.00 .0

30-41-5058 SUPER OF PUBLIC WORKS 834.87 8,849.62 10,520.00 1,670.38 84.1

30-41-5060 PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR 866.09 866.09 .00 (                   866.09) .0

30-41-5065 OVERTIME .00 5.84 5,600.00 5,594.16 .1

30-41-5075 ACCRUED VAC - RDS & STS .00 .00 2,000.00 2,000.00 .0

30-41-5082 CTY MANAGER - RDS & STS 1,166.80 12,078.27 14,252.00 2,173.73 84.8

30-41-5152 PAYROLL EXP - RDS & STS 5,939.11 61,781.78 91,000.00 29,218.22 67.9

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES 15,091.73 163,387.43 219,372.00 55,984.57 74.5

MATERIALS & SERVICES

30-45-6125 ELECTRIC-STLITES-WYSD-CTYPRKS 268.02 2,876.60 4,600.00 1,723.40 62.5

30-45-6130 WAYSIDE & PARKS 2,317.21 25,285.26 42,000.00 16,714.74 60.2

30-45-6131 NATURE CONSERVANCY 230.00 3,208.59 10,000.00 6,791.41 32.1

30-45-6570 INS-VEHICLE, LIAB, EQUIP, BLDG .00 8,000.00 8,000.00 .00 100.0

30-45-6572 STREET LIGHTS 1,439.00 14,468.45 25,000.00 10,531.55 57.9

30-45-6580 FUEL & OIL 222.84 2,792.28 7,000.00 4,207.72 39.9

30-45-6592 PARKING LEASE .00 2,796.98 1,600.00 (                1,196.98) 174.8

30-45-6600 DRAINAGE & FLOOD CONTROL .00 2,989.68 10,000.00 7,010.32 29.9

30-45-6610 SIDEWALKS, CURBS & FOOTPATHS 319.49 3,075.26 9,300.00 6,224.74 33.1

30-45-6620 STREET SIGNS 763.32 6,277.33 3,000.00 (                3,277.33) 209.2

30-45-6667 STORM DAMAGE REPAIR .00 2,350.00 1,000.00 (                1,350.00) 235.0

30-45-6690 VEHICLE MAINT, SUPP & REP 3,355.07 17,611.00 15,000.00 (                2,611.00) 117.4

30-45-6800 ROADS, MATERIALS & SUPPLIES 1,408.20 27,836.95 33,500.00 5,663.05 83.1

TOTAL MATERIALS & SERVICES 10,323.15 119,568.38 170,000.00 50,431.62 70.3

CAPITAL OUTLAY

30-47-7502 RDS-STS IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS .00 .00 450,000.00 450,000.00 .0

30-47-7506 RDS-STS: CAPITAL IMPROV PLAN .00 2,161.00 50,000.00 47,839.00 4.3

30-47-7508 RDS-STS PW STORMWATER PROJECTS .00 8,358.59 35,000.00 26,641.41 23.9

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY .00 10,519.59 535,000.00 524,480.41 2.0

CONTINGENCY

30-48-7999 CONTINGENCY - ROADS .00 .00 137,906.00 137,906.00 .0

TOTAL CONTINGENCY .00 .00 137,906.00 137,906.00 .0

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES 25,414.88 293,475.40 1,062,278.00 768,802.60 27.6



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

ROADS & STREETS

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:17PM       PAGE: 13

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES (              13,421.79) 154,582.08 (            242,688.00) (            397,270.08) 63.7



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

TRANSPORTATION SDC

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:17PM       PAGE: 14

OTHER INCOME

39-36-4120 INTEREST INCOME 881.23 9,220.30 1,800.00 (                7,420.30) 512.2

TOTAL OTHER INCOME 881.23 9,220.30 1,800.00 (                7,420.30) 512.2

FEES

39-38-4940 IMP FEES - TRANSPORT SDC 900.00 5,400.00 18,000.00 12,600.00 30.0

TOTAL FEES 900.00 5,400.00 18,000.00 12,600.00 30.0

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 1,781.23 14,620.30 19,800.00 5,179.70 73.8



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

TRANSPORTATION SDC

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:17PM       PAGE: 15

CAPITAL OUTLAY

39-47-7880 CONT MAT - IMP TRANS .00 .00 242,519.00 242,519.00 .0

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY .00 .00 242,519.00 242,519.00 .0

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES .00 .00 242,519.00 242,519.00 .0

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 1,781.23 14,620.30 (            222,719.00) (            237,339.30) 6.6



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

WATER OPERATING

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:17PM       PAGE: 16

REVENUE

40-34-4540 WATER SERVICE BASE 216,434.20 1,087,152.75 1,215,000.00 127,847.25 89.5

40-34-4550 NEW WATER CONNECTIONS .00 16,995.00 25,500.00 8,505.00 66.7

40-34-4560 WATER MASTER PLAN 12,921.76 65,011.60 76,500.00 11,488.40 85.0

TOTAL REVENUE 229,355.96 1,169,159.35 1,317,000.00 147,840.65 88.8

INTEREST & MISC

40-36-4120 INT - WATER OP 10,165.68 101,897.11 16,000.00 (              85,897.11) 636.9

40-36-4150 MISC RCPTS - WTR OP FUND 3,193.10 23,501.13 2,825,800.00 2,802,298.87 .8

TOTAL INTEREST & MISC 13,358.78 125,398.24 2,841,800.00 2,716,401.76 4.4

SOURCE 39

40-39-4047 TIF- FM WATER REVENUE BOND .00 102.00 137.00 35.00 74.5

TOTAL SOURCE 39 .00 102.00 137.00 35.00 74.5

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 242,714.74 1,294,659.59 4,158,937.00 2,864,277.41 31.1



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

WATER OPERATING

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:17PM       PAGE: 17

PERSONNEL SERVICES

40-41-5054 CODE ENFORCEMENT .00 .00 3,500.00 3,500.00 .0

40-41-5055 MAINT WKR WAGE - WATER OP 8,221.22 84,951.26 109,504.00 24,552.74 77.6

40-41-5056 EXTRA LABOR - WTR OP .00 .00 10,000.00 10,000.00 .0

40-41-5057 OFFICE ASSISTANT WAGES - WTR O 15,650.15 127,864.32 147,500.00 19,635.68 86.7

40-41-5058 SUPER PUB WKS - WTR OP 4,174.36 44,248.08 52,600.00 8,351.92 84.1

40-41-5059 PLANT OPERATOR - WATER OP 7,721.12 53,157.72 64,500.00 11,342.28 82.4

40-41-5064 STAND BY - WTR .00 .00 1,750.00 1,750.00 .0

40-41-5065 OVERTIME - WTR OP 533.71 2,530.22 14,000.00 11,469.78 18.1

40-41-5067 EMERGENCY SERVICES .00 .00 1,000.00 1,000.00 .0

40-41-5075 ACCRUED VAC - WATER OP .00 .00 5,000.00 5,000.00 .0

40-41-5082 CTY MANAGER - WTR OP 1,166.80 12,078.27 14,250.00 2,171.73 84.8

40-41-5085 MAYOR & COUNCIL STIPEND 99.00 822.00 1,470.00 648.00 55.9

40-41-5152 PAYROLL EXP - WTR OP 20,545.66 186,889.35 299,000.00 112,110.65 62.5

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES 58,112.02 512,541.22 724,074.00 211,532.78 70.8

MATERIALS & SERVICES

40-45-6110 ELECTRICITY 2,979.40 30,017.64 36,500.00 6,482.36 82.2

40-45-6455 EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT .00 .00 1,000.00 1,000.00 .0

40-45-6520 BUILDING MAINT 106.00 3,644.87 3,000.00 (                   644.87) 121.5

40-45-6530 TELEPHONE 493.12 9,822.57 17,000.00 7,177.43 57.8

40-45-6534 PLANT CHEMICALS & SUPPLIES 4,236.76 24,456.81 35,000.00 10,543.19 69.9

40-45-6551 ADMIN & BILLING 1,255.13 19,231.71 25,500.00 6,268.29 75.4

40-45-6570 INS-VEHICLE, LIAB, EQUIP, BLDG .00 29,000.00 29,000.00 .00 100.0

40-45-6574 AUDIT & BOND .00 8,032.67 12,000.00 3,967.33 66.9

40-45-6580 FUEL & OIL 417.85 5,160.54 10,000.00 4,839.46 51.6

40-45-6667 STORM DAMAGE REPAIR .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

40-45-6690 VEHICLE MAINT, SUPP & REP 775.35 6,378.16 15,000.00 8,621.84 42.5

40-45-6745 REQUIRED TESTING .00 4,803.00 7,000.00 2,197.00 68.6

40-45-6750 SYSTEM MAINT & SUPP 3,800.32 68,992.15 100,000.00 31,007.85 69.0

40-45-6831 DUES 150.00 150.00 3,200.00 3,050.00 4.7

40-45-6850 ATTORNEY .00 1,185.00 5,000.00 3,815.00 23.7

40-45-6851 ENGINEERING .00 22,815.04 25,000.00 2,184.96 91.3

40-45-6915 TRAVEL & TRAINING-STAFF .00 4,427.03 8,000.00 3,572.97 55.3

40-45-6945 METER READERS 779.44 6,041.03 10,100.00 4,058.97 59.8

40-45-6951 ORDINANCE ENFORCEMENT .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

TOTAL MATERIALS & SERVICES 14,993.37 244,158.22 343,300.00 99,141.78 71.1

CAPITAL OUTLAY

40-47-7601 IMPROVEMENT & NEW LINES .00 1,244.04 3,000,000.00 2,998,755.96 .0

40-47-7602 WATER FACILITIES CAP OUTLAY 16,169.05 105,529.39 235,000.00 129,470.61 44.9

40-47-7603 PUBLIC WORKS MOBILE EQUIPMENT .00 14,774.42 15,000.00 225.58 98.5

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY 16,169.05 121,547.85 3,250,000.00 3,128,452.15 3.7



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

WATER OPERATING

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:17PM       PAGE: 18

CONTINGENCY

40-48-7999 CONTINGENCY - WTR .00 .00 627,534.00 627,534.00 .0

TOTAL CONTINGENCY .00 .00 627,534.00 627,534.00 .0

TRANSFERS

40-49-8027 TO - CC - CH OPERATING .00 33,750.00 45,000.00 11,250.00 75.0

40-49-8045 TO -WMP FUND .00 75,000.00 100,000.00 25,000.00 75.0

TOTAL TRANSFERS .00 108,750.00 145,000.00 36,250.00 75.0

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES 89,274.44 986,997.29 5,089,908.00 4,102,910.71 19.4

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 153,440.30 307,662.30 (            930,971.00) (         1,238,633.30) 33.1



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

WATER MASTER PLAN

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:17PM       PAGE: 19

OTHER INCOME

42-36-4120 INTEREST INCOME 3,909.48 41,992.57 31,000.00 (              10,992.57) 135.5

TOTAL OTHER INCOME 3,909.48 41,992.57 31,000.00 (              10,992.57) 135.5

TRANSFERS

42-39-4030 TIF - WATER OP .00 75,000.00 100,000.00 25,000.00 75.0

TOTAL TRANSFERS .00 75,000.00 100,000.00 25,000.00 75.0

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 3,909.48 116,992.57 131,000.00 14,007.43 89.3



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

WATER MASTER PLAN

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:17PM       PAGE: 20

CAPITAL OUTLAY

42-47-7555 WMP - IMPLIMENTATION PROJECTS .00 8,640.97 450,000.00 441,359.03 1.9

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY .00 8,640.97 450,000.00 441,359.03 1.9

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES .00 8,640.97 450,000.00 441,359.03 1.9

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 3,909.48 108,351.60 (            319,000.00) (            427,351.60) 34.0



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

81 WATER REVENUE BOND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:17PM       PAGE: 21

DEBT SERVICE

43-49-8023 TO - WTR OPERATING .00 102.00 137.00 35.00 74.5

TOTAL DEBT SERVICE .00 102.00 137.00 35.00 74.5

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES .00 102.00 137.00 35.00 74.5

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES .00 (                   102.00) (                   137.00) (                     35.00) (  74.5)



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

WATER DEBT SERVICE

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:17PM       PAGE: 22

UTILITY BILLING

47-34-4550 WATER DEBT REVENUE 25,823.61 129,927.28 150,000.00 20,072.72 86.6

TOTAL UTILITY BILLING 25,823.61 129,927.28 150,000.00 20,072.72 86.6

OTHER INCOME

47-36-4120 INTEREST INCOME 3,013.60 29,401.28 2,700.00 (              26,701.28) 1088.9

TOTAL OTHER INCOME 3,013.60 29,401.28 2,700.00 (              26,701.28) 1088.9

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 28,837.21 159,328.56 152,700.00 (                6,628.56) 104.3



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

WATER DEBT SERVICE

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:17PM       PAGE: 23

DEBT SERVICE

47-49-8512 NEDONNA BEACH WTR LINE - PRINC .00 .00 205,000.00 205,000.00 .0

47-49-8520 WATER PLANT DS - PRINC .00 30,000.00 30,000.00 .00 100.0

47-49-8521 WATER PLANT DS - INT .00 7,650.00 7,650.00 .00 100.0

TOTAL DEBT SERVICE .00 37,650.00 242,650.00 205,000.00 15.5

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES .00 37,650.00 242,650.00 205,000.00 15.5

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 28,837.21 121,678.56 (              89,950.00) (            211,628.56) 135.3



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

WATER SDC FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:17PM       PAGE: 24

OTHER INCOME

49-36-4120 INTEREST INCOME 2,694.45 27,498.19 3,300.00 (              24,198.19) 833.3

TOTAL OTHER INCOME 2,694.45 27,498.19 3,300.00 (              24,198.19) 833.3

WATER SDC FEES

49-38-4935 REIMB FEES - WTR SDC FUND .00 5,520.00 9,800.00 4,280.00 56.3

49-38-4940 IMP FEES - WTR SDC FND .00 53,325.00 80,000.00 26,675.00 66.7

TOTAL WATER SDC FEES .00 58,845.00 89,800.00 30,955.00 65.5

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 2,694.45 86,343.19 93,100.00 6,756.81 92.7



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

WATER SDC FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:17PM       PAGE: 25

CAPITAL OUTLAY

49-47-7880 CONT MAT - IMP WTR .00 958.00 337,799.00 336,841.00 .3

49-47-7885 CONT MAT - REIMB WTR .00 .00 157,151.00 157,151.00 .0

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY .00 958.00 494,950.00 493,992.00 .2

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES .00 958.00 494,950.00 493,992.00 .2

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 2,694.45 85,385.19 (            401,850.00) (            487,235.19) 21.3



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

SEWER OPERATING FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:17PM       PAGE: 26

UTILITY BILLING

50-34-4640 SEWER SERVICE BASE 132,940.73 672,139.53 780,000.00 107,860.47 86.2

50-34-4650 NEW SEWER CONNECTIONS .00 14,090.00 17,250.00 3,160.00 81.7

50-34-4660 SEWER MASTER PLAN 13,876.97 69,630.55 82,000.00 12,369.45 84.9

TOTAL UTILITY BILLING 146,817.70 755,860.08 879,250.00 123,389.92 86.0

OTHER INCOME

50-36-4120 INTEREST INCOME 3,770.58 40,667.31 34,000.00 (                6,667.31) 119.6

50-36-4150 MISC RECEIPTS - SEWER .00 8,035.42 1,000.00 (                7,035.42) 803.5

TOTAL OTHER INCOME 3,770.58 48,702.73 35,000.00 (              13,702.73) 139.2

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 150,588.28 804,562.81 914,250.00 109,687.19 88.0



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

SEWER OPERATING FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:17PM       PAGE: 27

PERSONNEL SERVICES

50-41-5055 MAINT WORKER WAGES 8,046.03 82,562.76 107,554.00 24,991.24 76.8

50-41-5056 EXTRA LABOR WAGES .00 .00 10,000.00 10,000.00 .0

50-41-5057 OFFICE ASST WAGE 14,783.53 126,997.14 147,500.00 20,502.86 86.1

50-41-5058 SUPER PUB WORKS 3,339.49 35,398.47 42,080.00 6,681.53 84.1

50-41-5059 PLANT OP WAGES 7,721.10 53,157.70 64,400.00 11,242.30 82.5

50-41-5064 STANDBY - SEWER .00 .00 2,100.00 2,100.00 .0

50-41-5065 OVERTIME SEWER 533.71 2,530.04 5,950.00 3,419.96 42.5

50-41-5075 ACCRUED VAC - COMP TIME .00 .00 5,000.00 5,000.00 .0

50-41-5082 CITY MANAGER WAGES 1,166.80 12,078.27 14,255.00 2,176.73 84.7

50-41-5085 MAYOR & COUNCIL STIPEND 99.00 822.00 1,386.00 564.00 59.3

50-41-5152 PAYROLL EXP - SEWER 19,513.94 176,857.78 291,600.00 114,742.22 60.7

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES 55,203.60 490,404.16 691,825.00 201,420.84 70.9

MATERIALS & SERVICES

50-45-6110 ELECTRICITY - SEWER 2,682.53 24,881.67 33,500.00 8,618.33 74.3

50-45-6455 EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT  .00 .00 1,000.00 1,000.00 .0

50-45-6520 BLDG MAINT - SEWER .00 4,753.20 4,900.00 146.80 97.0

50-45-6530 TELEPHONE & TELEMETRY 423.11 5,456.31 6,900.00 1,443.69 79.1

50-45-6534 PLANT CHEMICALS & SUP 5,906.91 54,493.13 65,000.00 10,506.87 83.8

50-45-6551 ADMIN & BILLING 1,255.18 18,012.35 30,800.00 12,787.65 58.5

50-45-6570 INS - VEHICLE, LIAB, EQUIP, BL .00 44,000.00 44,000.00 .00 100.0

50-45-6574 AUDIT & BOND .00 8,034.67 12,000.00 3,965.33 67.0

50-45-6580 FUEL & OIL 417.85 5,160.54 15,000.00 9,839.46 34.4

50-45-6690 VEHICLE MAINT, SUP & REP 775.36 9,832.09 15,000.00 5,167.91 65.6

50-45-6740 I & I WORK 150.03 23,741.87 26,000.00 2,258.13 91.3

50-45-6745 REQUIRED TESTING .00 .00 2,000.00 2,000.00 .0

50-45-6750 SYSTEM MAINT & SUPPLY 9,122.75 50,160.97 80,000.00 29,839.03 62.7

50-45-6831 DUES 150.00 150.00 1,200.00 1,050.00 12.5

50-45-6850 ATTORNEY .00 .00 2,800.00 2,800.00 .0

50-45-6851 ENGINEERING 740.00 20,795.54 48,000.00 27,204.46 43.3

50-45-6915 TRAVEL & TRAINING - STAFF 348.96 4,129.04 6,000.00 1,870.96 68.8

50-45-6945 METER READERS 779.45 6,041.03 14,000.00 7,958.97 43.2

50-45-6951 ORDINANCE ENFORCEMENT .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

TOTAL MATERIALS & SERVICES 22,752.13 279,642.41 408,600.00 128,957.59 68.4

CAPITAL OUTLAY

50-47-7602 PW MOBILE EQUIP REPLACE PLAN .00 14,774.42 15,000.00 225.58 98.5

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY .00 14,774.42 15,000.00 225.58 98.5



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

SEWER OPERATING FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:17PM       PAGE: 28

CONTINGENCY

50-48-7999 CONTINGENCY - SEWER .00 .00 147,242.00 147,242.00 .0

TOTAL CONTINGENCY .00 .00 147,242.00 147,242.00 .0

TRANSFERS

50-49-8027 TRNSFR TO - GF CH OPERATING .00 33,750.00 45,000.00 11,250.00 75.0

50-49-8033 TRNSFR TO - SEWER MASTER PLAN .00 61,500.00 82,000.00 20,500.00 75.0

TOTAL TRANSFERS .00 95,250.00 127,000.00 31,750.00 75.0

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES 77,955.73 880,070.99 1,389,667.00 509,596.01 63.3

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 72,632.55 (              75,508.18) (            475,417.00) (            399,908.82) (  15.9)



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

SEWER MASTER PLAN

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:17PM       PAGE: 29

OTHER INCOME

52-36-4120 INTEREST INCOME 2,502.37 22,697.87 18,000.00 (                4,697.87) 126.1

TOTAL OTHER INCOME 2,502.37 22,697.87 18,000.00 (                4,697.87) 126.1

TRANSFERS

52-39-4032 TRNSFR IN - FROM SEWER OPER .00 61,500.00 82,000.00 20,500.00 75.0

TOTAL TRANSFERS .00 61,500.00 82,000.00 20,500.00 75.0

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 2,502.37 84,197.87 100,000.00 15,802.13 84.2



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

SEWER MASTER PLAN

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:17PM       PAGE: 30

CAPITAL OUTLAY

52-47-7555 WWMP-IMPLIMENTATION PROJECTS 17,366.08 28,122.38 335,000.00 306,877.62 8.4

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY 17,366.08 28,122.38 335,000.00 306,877.62 8.4

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES 17,366.08 28,122.38 335,000.00 306,877.62 8.4

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES (              14,863.71) 56,075.49 (            235,000.00) (            291,075.49) 23.9



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

SEWER DEBT SERVICE

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:17PM       PAGE: 31

UTILITY BILLING

56-34-4650 SEWER DEBT REVENUE 43,252.99 217,030.56 254,640.00 37,609.44 85.2

TOTAL UTILITY BILLING 43,252.99 217,030.56 254,640.00 37,609.44 85.2

OTHER INCOME

56-36-4120 INTEREST INCOME 3,477.76 33,222.73 13,500.00 (              19,722.73) 246.1

TOTAL OTHER INCOME 3,477.76 33,222.73 13,500.00 (              19,722.73) 246.1

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 46,730.75 250,253.29 268,140.00 17,886.71 93.3



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

SEWER DEBT SERVICE

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:17PM       PAGE: 32

DEBT SERVICE

56-49-8510 WW OUTFALL LOAN PRINCIPLE .00 205,000.00 205,000.00 .00 100.0

56-49-8511 WW-OUTFALL LOAN INTEREST .00 3,075.00 3,075.00 .00 100.0

TOTAL DEBT SERVICE .00 208,075.00 208,075.00 .00 100.0

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES .00 208,075.00 208,075.00 .00 100.0

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 46,730.75 42,178.29 60,065.00 17,886.71 70.2



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

SEWER SDC

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:17PM       PAGE: 33

OTHER INCOME

59-36-4120 INTEREST INCOME 6,010.49 63,255.13 3,000.00 (              60,255.13) 2108.5

TOTAL OTHER INCOME 6,010.49 63,255.13 3,000.00 (              60,255.13) 2108.5

FEES

59-38-4935 REIMB FEES - SEWER SDC (                1,478.00) 10,346.00 20,000.00 9,654.00 51.7

59-38-4940 IMP FEES - SEWER SDC (                2,645.00) 24,440.00 55,000.00 30,560.00 44.4

TOTAL FEES (                4,123.00) 34,786.00 75,000.00 40,214.00 46.4

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 1,887.49 98,041.13 78,000.00 (              20,041.13) 125.7



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

SEWER SDC

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:17PM       PAGE: 34

MATERIALS & SERVICES

59-45-6050 CONT MAT - REIMB SWR SDC .00 13,855.60 435,732.00 421,876.40 3.2

59-45-6051 CONT MAT - IMP SWR .00 .00 996,933.00 996,933.00 .0

TOTAL MATERIALS & SERVICES .00 13,855.60 1,432,665.00 1,418,809.40 1.0

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES .00 13,855.60 1,432,665.00 1,418,809.40 1.0

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 1,887.49 84,185.53 (         1,354,665.00) (         1,438,850.53) 6.2



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

TRANSIENT ROOM TAX

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:17PM       PAGE: 35

ROOM TAX REVENUES

80-31-4710 TRT REVENUE 5% 189,752.36 1,152,988.72 1,200,000.00 47,011.28 96.1

80-31-4711 TRT REVENUE 2% - ADV 75,942.20 461,195.48 480,000.00 18,804.52 96.1

80-31-4712 TRT REVENUE 2% - CTY 75,940.84 461,195.48 480,000.00 18,804.52 96.1

80-31-4713 TRT REVENUE 1% - CTY 38,191.03 230,597.75 240,000.00 9,402.25 96.1

TOTAL ROOM TAX REVENUES 379,826.43 2,305,977.43 2,400,000.00 94,022.57 96.1

OTHER INCOME

80-36-4120 INTEREST INCOME - TRT 4,990.62 50,211.28 13,750.00 (              36,461.28) 365.2

TOTAL OTHER INCOME 4,990.62 50,211.28 13,750.00 (              36,461.28) 365.2

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 384,817.05 2,356,188.71 2,413,750.00 57,561.29 97.6



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 10 MONTHS ENDING APRIL 30, 2025

TRANSIENT ROOM TAX

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 83 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/19/2025     01:17PM       PAGE: 36

MATERIALS & SERVICES

80-45-6533 ADVERTISING - MEDIA AGT 10,183.19 155,443.05 210,000.00 54,556.95 74.0

80-45-6534 ADVERTISING - WEBSITE CTY .00 20,147.15 170,000.00 149,852.85 11.9

80-45-6535 ADVERTISING/TOURISM AGT 900.00 900.00 60,000.00 59,100.00 1.5

80-45-6536 ROCKAWAY LIONS EVENTS .00 1,218.00 2,000.00 782.00 60.9

80-45-6537 FIREWORKS AND 4TH OF JULY .00 49,721.16 75,000.00 25,278.84 66.3

80-45-6538 TOURISM PROMO AND FACILITIES .00 9,437.00 333,535.00 324,098.00 2.8

TOTAL MATERIALS & SERVICES 11,083.19 236,866.36 850,535.00 613,668.64 27.9

TRANSFERS

80-49-8024 TO - GF POLICE .00 250,800.00 334,400.00 83,600.00 75.0

80-49-8025 TO - GENERAL FUND .00 73,800.00 98,400.00 24,600.00 75.0

80-49-8026 TO - FIRE TRK RES .00 90,750.00 121,000.00 30,250.00 75.0

80-49-8036 TO -  P &  E RESERVE .00 493,800.00 658,400.00 164,600.00 75.0

80-49-8041 TO - ROADS & STREETS .00 276,300.00 368,400.00 92,100.00 75.0

80-49-8044 TO - GF CITY BEAUTIF .00 3,750.00 5,000.00 1,250.00 75.0

80-49-8046 TO - GF FIRE .00 250,800.00 334,400.00 83,600.00 75.0

TOTAL TRANSFERS .00 1,440,000.00 1,920,000.00 480,000.00 75.0

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES 11,083.19 1,676,866.36 2,770,535.00 1,093,668.64 60.5

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 373,733.86 679,322.35 (            356,785.00) (         1,036,107.35) 190.4



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

GENERAL FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEARNED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 1

REVENUES & RESOURCES

10-31-4010 CUR YR PROP TX - GEN FUND 1,977.75 496,517.80 479,850.00 (              16,667.80) 103.5

10-31-4020 DELINQUENT PROP TAX REVENUE 593.83 7,620.73 5,494.00 (                2,126.73) 138.7

10-31-4040 LIQUOR TAX - OLCC .00 19,758.24 30,325.00 10,566.76 65.2

10-31-4050 CIGARETTE TAX 74.72 811.50 1,065.00 253.50 76.2

10-31-4060 OTHER TAX REVENUE .00 28,513.99 35,000.00 6,486.01 81.5

TOTAL REVENUES & RESOURCES 2,646.30 553,222.26 551,734.00 (                1,488.26) 100.3

GRANTS, LOANS & BONDS

10-33-4175 GRANTS - GENERAL FUND MISC .00 .00 35,000.00 35,000.00 .0

10-33-4185 STATE REVENUE SHARING .00 20,314.31 28,000.00 7,685.69 72.6

TOTAL GRANTS, LOANS & BONDS .00 20,314.31 63,000.00 42,685.69 32.2

FEES & SERVICES

10-34-4060 FRANCHISE FEES 21,623.57 103,709.60 390,500.00 286,790.40 26.6

10-34-4065 BUSINESS LICENSES 356.25 14,574.00 .00 (              14,574.00) .0

10-34-4066 STR LICENSE FEES 500.00 271,107.23 .00 (            271,107.23) .0

10-34-4085 LAND USE-ORDINANCE FEES-PERMIT 770.00 13,252.50 20,500.00 7,247.50 64.7

10-34-4141 CIVIC/COMM CENTER RENT 135.00 1,074.58 1,000.00 (                     74.58) 107.5

10-34-4142 FIRST FLOOR RENT-HLTH DEPT 946.00 10,406.00 11,500.00 1,094.00 90.5

10-34-4145 CC-REFUNDABLE DEPOSITS .00 .00 100.00 100.00 .0

10-34-4146 HEALTH DEPT UTILITY REIMB 99.58 995.80 3,060.00 2,064.20 32.5

TOTAL FEES & SERVICES 24,430.40 415,119.71 426,660.00 11,540.29 97.3

FIRE DEPARTMENT

10-35-4091 NEDONNA FIRE DIST .00 34,000.00 30,000.00 (                4,000.00) 113.3

10-35-4092 TWIN ROCKS WATER DISTRICT .00 10,000.00 10,000.00 .00 100.0

10-35-4093 OR STATE FORESTRY DEPT .00 500.00 500.00 .00 100.0

10-35-4185 FIRE PERMITS .00 .00 50.00 50.00 .0

10-35-4186 EMERGENCY SERVICES FEE .00 105,713.89 125,000.00 19,286.11 84.6

TOTAL FIRE DEPARTMENT .00 150,213.89 165,550.00 15,336.11 90.7

OTHER REVENUES

10-36-4120 INTEREST ON INVESTED FUNDS .00 109,340.09 193,000.00 83,659.91 56.7

10-36-4150 MISC RCPTS - GEN FUND 440.77 16,091.62 10,000.00 (                6,091.62) 160.9

10-36-4190 SURPLUS PROPERTY SALES .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

TOTAL OTHER REVENUES 440.77 125,431.71 203,500.00 78,068.29 61.6

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

GENERAL FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEARNED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 2

POLICE DEPARTMENT

10-37-4100 CITATIONS - FINES & FORFEITS 913.50 8,370.62 7,140.00 (                1,230.62) 117.2

TOTAL POLICE DEPARTMENT 913.50 8,370.62 7,140.00 (                1,230.62) 117.2

TRANSFERS

10-39-4030 TIF - TRT POLICE .00 250,800.00 334,400.00 83,600.00 75.0

10-39-4032 TIF  -SEWER OP .00 33,750.00 45,000.00 11,250.00 75.0

10-39-4035 TIF - DEBT SERVICE RESERVE .00 172,050.00 229,400.00 57,350.00 75.0

10-39-4036 TIF- TRT-GF PW CAP OUT PROJECT .00 10,800.00 14,400.00 3,600.00 75.0

10-39-4037 TIF - CC .00 33,750.00 45,000.00 11,250.00 75.0

10-39-4038 TIF- TRT-GF PW CAP OUTLAY PROJ .00 15,000.00 20,000.00 5,000.00 75.0

10-39-4052 TIF - TRT-CTY BEAUTIF .00 3,750.00 5,000.00 1,250.00 75.0

10-39-4053 TIF - TRT FIRE DEPT .00 250,800.00 334,400.00 83,600.00 75.0

10-39-4055 TIF - TRT USDA LOAN .00 48,000.00 64,000.00 16,000.00 75.0

TOTAL TRANSFERS .00 818,700.00 1,091,600.00 272,900.00 75.0

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 28,430.97 2,091,372.50 2,509,184.00 417,811.50 83.4

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

GENERAL FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 3

POLICE DEPARTMENT

10-45-6550 MATERIALS SUPPLIES .00 227,058.18 668,392.00 441,333.82 34.0

TOTAL POLICE DEPARTMENT .00 227,058.18 668,392.00 441,333.82 34.0

FIRE DEPARTMENT

10-46-5052 FIRE CHIEF WAGES 8,957.88 98,536.73 113,000.00 14,463.27 87.2

10-46-5053 FIREFIGHTERS 10,906.70 141,837.28 176,000.00 34,162.72 80.6

10-46-5054 OVERTIME-FIRE DEPARTMENT 403.72 8,429.09 5,000.00 (                3,429.09) 168.6

10-46-5061 VOLUNTEER FIRE FIGHTER BONUS .00 44,767.50 42,000.00 (                2,767.50) 106.6

10-46-5062 RECORD KEEPING & TRAINING 125.00 1,631.64 2,500.00 868.36 65.3

10-46-5152 PAYROLL EXPENSES - FIRE 13,175.28 158,118.49 200,000.00 41,881.51 79.1

10-46-6110 ELECTRICITY .00 3,137.26 3,800.00 662.74 82.6

10-46-6530 TELEPHONE & TECHNOLOGY 683.59 21,311.05 12,000.00 (                9,311.05) 177.6

10-46-6535 MEDICAL .00 1,916.99 10,500.00 8,583.01 18.3

10-46-6555 SUPPLIES, GEAR & SERVICES 251.57 27,411.63 32,500.00 5,088.37 84.3

10-46-6557 EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT SUPPLIES 74.96 4,784.42 7,500.00 2,715.58 63.8

10-46-6570 INS- VEHICLE, LIAB, EQUIP, BLD .00 19,500.54 28,000.00 8,499.46 69.6

10-46-6580 FUEL & OIL 392.26 4,520.69 10,000.00 5,479.31 45.2

10-46-6582 ELECTRONIC REP-MAINT .00 .00 1,500.00 1,500.00 .0

10-46-6630 FIRE BLDG MAINT .00 1,464.47 15,000.00 13,535.53 9.8

10-46-6660 SAFETY TRAINING & FIRST AID 1,160.42 13,184.19 22,000.00 8,815.81 59.9

10-46-6670 REQUIRED EQUIP TESTING 3,770.62 11,654.10 10,000.00 (                1,654.10) 116.5

10-46-6690 VEHICLE MAINT, SUP & REP 283.56 5,452.47 15,000.00 9,547.53 36.4

TOTAL FIRE DEPARTMENT 40,185.56 567,658.54 706,300.00 138,641.46 80.4

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

GENERAL FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 4

ADMINISTRATION

10-48-5057 OFFICE ASSISTANT 11,106.43 132,491.57 132,000.00 (                   491.57) 100.4

10-48-5065 OVERTIME - CITY HALL .00 .00 1,200.00 1,200.00 .0

10-48-5075 ACCRUED VACATION - ADMIN .00 .00 5,000.00 5,000.00 .0

10-48-5082 CITY MANAGER 8,167.56 92,715.44 99,760.00 7,044.56 92.9

10-48-5085 MAYOR & COUNCIL STIPEND 135.00 1,516.00 1,400.00 (                   116.00) 108.3

10-48-5152 PAYROLL EXP - ADMIN 10,657.05 140,644.72 167,000.00 26,355.28 84.2

10-48-6410 PLANNING & ZONING .00 59,177.40 10,000.00 (              49,177.40) 591.8

10-48-6440 REFUNDABLE DEPOSITS .00 805.00 200.00 (                   605.00) 402.5

10-48-6530 TELEPHONE 566.90 4,785.36 5,800.00 1,014.64 82.5

10-48-6570 INS-VEHICLE, LIAB, EQUIP, BLDG .00 22,224.98 22,000.00 (                   224.98) 101.0

10-48-6571 TECHNOLOGY & DATA PROCESSING 3,616.41 53,731.41 65,000.00 11,268.59 82.7

10-48-6577 ORDINANCE UPDATE .00 1,622.87 4,000.00 2,377.13 40.6

10-48-6596 EMERGENCY SERVICES EXPENSE .00 .00 1,000.00 1,000.00 .0

10-48-6666 CITY BEAUTIFICATION .00 685.78 3,000.00 2,314.22 22.9

10-48-6830 CITY HALL OPERATIONS 680.82 36,912.14 66,000.00 29,087.86 55.9

10-48-6831 DUES-CITY, OFFICIALS & STAFF 250.00 3,144.80 3,500.00 355.20 89.9

10-48-6835 BANK FEES 5.00 7,420.76 2,000.00 (                5,420.76) 371.0

10-48-6840 COURT COSTS .00 .00 100.00 100.00 .0

10-48-6850 ATTORNEY .00 45,011.50 71,978.00 26,966.50 62.5

10-48-6870 AUDIT & BOND .00 8,705.91 9,500.00 794.09 91.6

10-48-6880 ADVERTISING 574.95 6,182.65 2,000.00 (                4,182.65) 309.1

10-48-6890 STATIONERY & SUPPLIES 94.61 4,905.38 10,000.00 5,094.62 49.1

10-48-6915 TRAVEL & TRAIN-STAFF 376.50 6,483.53 8,000.00 1,516.47 81.0

10-48-6920 BLDG MAINT-CTY HALL 1,479.00 12,397.95 18,000.00 5,602.05 68.9

10-48-6931 COUNCIL EXPENSE 59.00 903.34 3,750.00 2,846.66 24.1

10-48-6932 CITY MANAGER FUND .00 812.85 750.00 (                     62.85) 108.4

10-48-6954 COMMUNITY GRANTS 38,206.42 56,000.00 75,000.00 19,000.00 74.7

10-48-8000 GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROJECTS .00 .00 20,000.00 20,000.00 .0

10-48-8041 TO - ROADS/STREETS, FRANCHISE .00 37,500.00 50,000.00 12,500.00 75.0

10-48-8044 TO -FIRE EQUIPMENT RESERVE .00 33,750.00 45,000.00 11,250.00 75.0

10-48-8046 TO - ECONOMIC STABILITY RES FD .00 344,850.00 459,800.00 114,950.00 75.0

10-48-8518 DEBT SVC - GF LOANS & DEBT SVC 506.10 79,332.00 140,000.00 60,668.00 56.7

TOTAL ADMINISTRATION 76,481.75 1,194,713.34 1,502,738.00 308,024.66 79.5

CONTINGENCY

10-52-7999 CONTINGENCY - GF .00 .00 295,870.00 295,870.00 .0

TOTAL CONTINGENCY .00 .00 295,870.00 295,870.00 .0

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES 116,667.31 1,989,430.06 3,173,300.00 1,183,869.94 62.7

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES (              88,236.34) 101,942.44 (            664,116.00) (            766,058.44) 15.4

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

FIRE EQUIP RESERVE

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 5

OTHER INCOME

14-36-4120 INTEREST INCOME .00 13,514.22 2,100.00 (              11,414.22) 643.5

TOTAL OTHER INCOME .00 13,514.22 2,100.00 (              11,414.22) 643.5

TRANSFERS

14-39-4026 TIF - GF .00 33,750.00 45,000.00 11,250.00 75.0

14-39-4030 TIF - TRT .00 90,750.00 121,000.00 30,250.00 75.0

TOTAL TRANSFERS .00 124,500.00 166,000.00 41,500.00 75.0

TOTAL FUND REVENUE .00 138,014.22 168,100.00 30,085.78 82.1

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

FIRE EQUIP RESERVE

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 6

FIRE DEPARTMENT

14-47-7621 FIRE EQUIP & CAPITAL OUTLAY .00 54,763.39 165,000.00 110,236.61 33.2

14-47-7625 FIRE TRUCK .00 86,775.75 90,000.00 3,224.25 96.4

TOTAL FIRE DEPARTMENT .00 141,539.14 255,000.00 113,460.86 55.5

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES .00 141,539.14 255,000.00 113,460.86 55.5

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES .00 (                3,524.92) (              86,900.00) (              83,375.08) (    4.1)

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

LOAN PAYMENT RESERVE FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 7

TRANSFERS OUT

16-48-4032 TO -GENERAL FUND .00 172,050.00 229,400.00 57,350.00 75.0

TOTAL TRANSFERS OUT .00 172,050.00 229,400.00 57,350.00 75.0

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES .00 172,050.00 229,400.00 57,350.00 75.0

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES .00 (            172,050.00) (            229,400.00) (              57,350.00) (  75.0)

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

ECONOMIC STABILITY RESERVE

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 8

OTHER INCOME

17-36-4120 INTEREST INCOME .00 5,403.17 5,000.00 (                   403.17) 108.1

TOTAL OTHER INCOME .00 5,403.17 5,000.00 (                   403.17) 108.1

TRANSFERS

17-39-4030 TIF - GEN FND .00 344,850.00 459,800.00 114,950.00 75.0

TOTAL TRANSFERS .00 344,850.00 459,800.00 114,950.00 75.0

TOTAL FUND REVENUE .00 350,253.17 464,800.00 114,546.83 75.4

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES .00 350,253.17 464,800.00 114,546.83 75.4

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

PROJECT & EQUIP RESERVE

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 9

REVENUES & RESOURCES

21-33-4184 GRANTS: TOURISM FACILITIES .00 75,000.00 75,000.00 .00 100.0

TOTAL REVENUES & RESOURCES .00 75,000.00 75,000.00 .00 100.0

OTHER INCOME

21-36-4120 INTEREST INCOME .00 28,026.17 3,000.00 (              25,026.17) 934.2

TOTAL OTHER INCOME .00 28,026.17 3,000.00 (              25,026.17) 934.2

TRANSFERS IN

21-39-4030 TIF - TRT .00 493,800.00 658,400.00 164,600.00 75.0

TOTAL TRANSFERS IN .00 493,800.00 658,400.00 164,600.00 75.0

TOTAL FUND REVENUE .00 596,826.17 736,400.00 139,573.83 81.1

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

PROJECT & EQUIP RESERVE

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 10

CAPITAL OUTLAY

21-47-7577 TOURISM CAPITAL PROJECTS 4,672.50 432,319.43 2,000,000.00 1,567,680.57 21.6

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY 4,672.50 432,319.43 2,000,000.00 1,567,680.57 21.6

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES 4,672.50 432,319.43 2,000,000.00 1,567,680.57 21.6

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES (                4,672.50) 164,506.74 (         1,263,600.00) (         1,428,106.74) 13.0

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

ROADS & STREETS

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 11

STATE REVENUE

30-31-2985 RESTRICTED BIKE PATHS ODOT 96.51 1,128.13 1,190.00 61.87 94.8

30-31-4340 STATE STREET - DMV - REVENUE 9,554.34 111,684.10 119,000.00 7,315.90 93.9

TOTAL STATE REVENUE 9,650.85 112,812.23 120,190.00 7,377.77 93.9

GRANTS

30-33-4182 GRANTS & REIM- ROADS & STREETS .00 .00 250,000.00 250,000.00 .0

TOTAL GRANTS .00 .00 250,000.00 250,000.00 .0

OTHER REVENUE

30-36-4120 INTEREST INCOME .00 31,096.10 31,000.00 (                     96.10) 100.3

TOTAL OTHER REVENUE .00 31,096.10 31,000.00 (                     96.10) 100.3

TRANSFERS

30-39-4030 TIF - TRT .00 276,300.00 368,400.00 92,100.00 75.0

30-39-4038 TIF - GEN FND .00 37,500.00 50,000.00 12,500.00 75.0

TOTAL TRANSFERS .00 313,800.00 418,400.00 104,600.00 75.0

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 9,650.85 457,708.33 819,590.00 361,881.67 55.9

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

ROADS & STREETS

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 12

PERSONNEL SERVICES

30-41-5055 MAINT WKR WAGES 6,428.73 86,234.56 91,000.00 4,765.44 94.8

30-41-5056 EXTRA LABOR .00 .00 5,000.00 5,000.00 .0

30-41-5058 SUPER OF PUBLIC WORKS 834.88 9,684.50 10,520.00 835.50 92.1

30-41-5060 PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR 866.09 1,732.18 .00 (                1,732.18) .0

30-41-5065 OVERTIME .00 5.84 5,600.00 5,594.16 .1

30-41-5075 ACCRUED VAC - RDS & STS .00 .00 2,000.00 2,000.00 .0

30-41-5082 CTY MANAGER - RDS & STS 1,166.79 13,245.06 14,252.00 1,006.94 92.9

30-41-5152 PAYROLL EXP - RDS & STS 5,352.56 67,134.34 91,000.00 23,865.66 73.8

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES 14,649.05 178,036.48 219,372.00 41,335.52 81.2

MATERIALS & SERVICES

30-45-6125 ELECTRIC-STLITES-WYSD-CTYPRKS .00 2,876.60 4,600.00 1,723.40 62.5

30-45-6130 WAYSIDE & PARKS 2,543.40 27,828.66 42,000.00 14,171.34 66.3

30-45-6131 NATURE CONSERVANCY .00 3,208.59 10,000.00 6,791.41 32.1

30-45-6570 INS-VEHICLE, LIAB, EQUIP, BLDG .00 8,000.00 8,000.00 .00 100.0

30-45-6572 STREET LIGHTS .00 14,468.45 25,000.00 10,531.55 57.9

30-45-6580 FUEL & OIL 261.51 3,053.79 7,000.00 3,946.21 43.6

30-45-6592 PARKING LEASE 16.05 2,813.03 1,600.00 (                1,213.03) 175.8

30-45-6600 DRAINAGE & FLOOD CONTROL .00 2,989.68 10,000.00 7,010.32 29.9

30-45-6610 SIDEWALKS, CURBS & FOOTPATHS 2,835.00 5,910.26 9,300.00 3,389.74 63.6

30-45-6620 STREET SIGNS 16.74 6,294.07 3,000.00 (                3,294.07) 209.8

30-45-6667 STORM DAMAGE REPAIR .00 2,350.00 1,000.00 (                1,350.00) 235.0

30-45-6690 VEHICLE MAINT, SUPP & REP 169.14 17,780.14 15,000.00 (                2,780.14) 118.5

30-45-6800 ROADS, MATERIALS & SUPPLIES 2,196.60 30,033.55 33,500.00 3,466.45 89.7

TOTAL MATERIALS & SERVICES 8,038.44 127,606.82 170,000.00 42,393.18 75.1

CAPITAL OUTLAY

30-47-7502 RDS-STS IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS .00 .00 450,000.00 450,000.00 .0

30-47-7506 RDS-STS: CAPITAL IMPROV PLAN .00 2,161.00 50,000.00 47,839.00 4.3

30-47-7508 RDS-STS PW STORMWATER PROJECTS .00 8,358.59 35,000.00 26,641.41 23.9

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY .00 10,519.59 535,000.00 524,480.41 2.0

CONTINGENCY

30-48-7999 CONTINGENCY - ROADS .00 .00 137,906.00 137,906.00 .0

TOTAL CONTINGENCY .00 .00 137,906.00 137,906.00 .0

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES 22,687.49 316,162.89 1,062,278.00 746,115.11 29.8

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

ROADS & STREETS

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 13

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES (              13,036.64) 141,545.44 (            242,688.00) (            384,233.44) 58.3

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

TRANSPORTATION SDC

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 14

OTHER INCOME

39-36-4120 INTEREST INCOME .00 9,220.30 1,800.00 (                7,420.30) 512.2

TOTAL OTHER INCOME .00 9,220.30 1,800.00 (                7,420.30) 512.2

FEES

39-38-4940 IMP FEES - TRANSPORT SDC 900.00 6,300.00 18,000.00 11,700.00 35.0

TOTAL FEES 900.00 6,300.00 18,000.00 11,700.00 35.0

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 900.00 15,520.30 19,800.00 4,279.70 78.4

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

TRANSPORTATION SDC

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 15

CAPITAL OUTLAY

39-47-7880 CONT MAT - IMP TRANS .00 .00 242,519.00 242,519.00 .0

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY .00 .00 242,519.00 242,519.00 .0

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES .00 .00 242,519.00 242,519.00 .0

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 900.00 15,520.30 (            222,719.00) (            238,239.30) 7.0

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

WATER OPERATING

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 16

REVENUE

40-34-4540 WATER SERVICE BASE (                   210.87) 1,086,941.88 1,215,000.00 128,058.12 89.5

40-34-4550 NEW WATER CONNECTIONS 300.00 17,295.00 25,500.00 8,205.00 67.8

40-34-4560 WATER MASTER PLAN .00 65,011.60 76,500.00 11,488.40 85.0

TOTAL REVENUE 89.13 1,169,248.48 1,317,000.00 147,751.52 88.8

INTEREST & MISC

40-36-4120 INT - WATER OP .00 101,897.11 16,000.00 (              85,897.11) 636.9

40-36-4150 MISC RCPTS - WTR OP FUND .00 23,501.13 2,825,800.00 2,802,298.87 .8

TOTAL INTEREST & MISC .00 125,398.24 2,841,800.00 2,716,401.76 4.4

SOURCE 39

40-39-4047 TIF- FM WATER REVENUE BOND .00 102.00 137.00 35.00 74.5

TOTAL SOURCE 39 .00 102.00 137.00 35.00 74.5

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 89.13 1,294,748.72 4,158,937.00 2,864,188.28 31.1

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

WATER OPERATING

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 17

PERSONNEL SERVICES

40-41-5054 CODE ENFORCEMENT .00 .00 3,500.00 3,500.00 .0

40-41-5055 MAINT WKR WAGE - WATER OP 8,214.45 93,165.71 109,504.00 16,338.29 85.1

40-41-5056 EXTRA LABOR - WTR OP .00 .00 10,000.00 10,000.00 .0

40-41-5057 OFFICE ASSISTANT WAGES - WTR O 15,649.87 143,514.19 147,500.00 3,985.81 97.3

40-41-5058 SUPER PUB WKS - WTR OP 4,174.34 48,422.42 52,600.00 4,177.58 92.1

40-41-5059 PLANT OPERATOR - WATER OP 4,865.28 58,023.00 64,500.00 6,477.00 90.0

40-41-5064 STAND BY - WTR .00 .00 1,750.00 1,750.00 .0

40-41-5065 OVERTIME - WTR OP 250.29 2,780.51 14,000.00 11,219.49 19.9

40-41-5067 EMERGENCY SERVICES .00 .00 1,000.00 1,000.00 .0

40-41-5075 ACCRUED VAC - WATER OP .00 .00 5,000.00 5,000.00 .0

40-41-5082 CTY MANAGER - WTR OP 1,166.79 13,245.06 14,250.00 1,004.94 93.0

40-41-5085 MAYOR & COUNCIL STIPEND 82.50 904.50 1,470.00 565.50 61.5

40-41-5152 PAYROLL EXP - WTR OP 18,621.47 205,510.82 299,000.00 93,489.18 68.7

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES 53,024.99 565,566.21 724,074.00 158,507.79 78.1

MATERIALS & SERVICES

40-45-6110 ELECTRICITY .00 30,017.64 36,500.00 6,482.36 82.2

40-45-6455 EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT .00 .00 1,000.00 1,000.00 .0

40-45-6520 BUILDING MAINT .00 3,644.87 3,000.00 (                   644.87) 121.5

40-45-6530 TELEPHONE 357.37 10,179.94 17,000.00 6,820.06 59.9

40-45-6534 PLANT CHEMICALS & SUPPLIES 523.56 24,980.37 35,000.00 10,019.63 71.4

40-45-6551 ADMIN & BILLING 1,649.94 20,881.65 25,500.00 4,618.35 81.9

40-45-6570 INS-VEHICLE, LIAB, EQUIP, BLDG .00 29,000.00 29,000.00 .00 100.0

40-45-6574 AUDIT & BOND .00 8,032.67 12,000.00 3,967.33 66.9

40-45-6580 FUEL & OIL 490.33 5,650.87 10,000.00 4,349.13 56.5

40-45-6667 STORM DAMAGE REPAIR .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

40-45-6690 VEHICLE MAINT, SUPP & REP .00 6,378.16 15,000.00 8,621.84 42.5

40-45-6745 REQUIRED TESTING 285.00 5,088.00 7,000.00 1,912.00 72.7

40-45-6750 SYSTEM MAINT & SUPP 4,354.43 73,346.58 100,000.00 26,653.42 73.4

40-45-6831 DUES 568.08 718.08 3,200.00 2,481.92 22.4

40-45-6850 ATTORNEY .00 1,185.00 5,000.00 3,815.00 23.7

40-45-6851 ENGINEERING .00 22,815.04 25,000.00 2,184.96 91.3

40-45-6915 TRAVEL & TRAINING-STAFF .00 4,427.03 8,000.00 3,572.97 55.3

40-45-6945 METER READERS 89.48 6,130.51 10,100.00 3,969.49 60.7

40-45-6951 ORDINANCE ENFORCEMENT .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

TOTAL MATERIALS & SERVICES 8,318.19 252,476.41 343,300.00 90,823.59 73.5

CAPITAL OUTLAY

40-47-7601 IMPROVEMENT & NEW LINES .00 1,244.04 3,000,000.00 2,998,755.96 .0

40-47-7602 WATER FACILITIES CAP OUTLAY 976.25 106,505.64 235,000.00 128,494.36 45.3

40-47-7603 PUBLIC WORKS MOBILE EQUIPMENT .00 14,774.42 15,000.00 225.58 98.5

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY 976.25 122,524.10 3,250,000.00 3,127,475.90 3.8

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

WATER OPERATING

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 18

CONTINGENCY

40-48-7999 CONTINGENCY - WTR .00 .00 627,534.00 627,534.00 .0

TOTAL CONTINGENCY .00 .00 627,534.00 627,534.00 .0

TRANSFERS

40-49-8027 TO - CC - CH OPERATING .00 33,750.00 45,000.00 11,250.00 75.0

40-49-8045 TO -WMP FUND .00 75,000.00 100,000.00 25,000.00 75.0

TOTAL TRANSFERS .00 108,750.00 145,000.00 36,250.00 75.0

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES 62,319.43 1,049,316.72 5,089,908.00 4,040,591.28 20.6

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES (              62,230.30) 245,432.00 (            930,971.00) (         1,176,403.00) 26.4

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

WATER MASTER PLAN

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 19

OTHER INCOME

42-36-4120 INTEREST INCOME .00 41,992.57 31,000.00 (              10,992.57) 135.5

TOTAL OTHER INCOME .00 41,992.57 31,000.00 (              10,992.57) 135.5

TRANSFERS

42-39-4030 TIF - WATER OP .00 75,000.00 100,000.00 25,000.00 75.0

TOTAL TRANSFERS .00 75,000.00 100,000.00 25,000.00 75.0

TOTAL FUND REVENUE .00 116,992.57 131,000.00 14,007.43 89.3

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

WATER MASTER PLAN

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 20

CAPITAL OUTLAY

42-47-7555 WMP - IMPLIMENTATION PROJECTS .00 8,640.97 450,000.00 441,359.03 1.9

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY .00 8,640.97 450,000.00 441,359.03 1.9

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES .00 8,640.97 450,000.00 441,359.03 1.9

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES .00 108,351.60 (            319,000.00) (            427,351.60) 34.0

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

81 WATER REVENUE BOND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 21

DEBT SERVICE

43-49-8023 TO - WTR OPERATING .00 102.00 137.00 35.00 74.5

TOTAL DEBT SERVICE .00 102.00 137.00 35.00 74.5

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES .00 102.00 137.00 35.00 74.5

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES .00 (                   102.00) (                   137.00) (                     35.00) (  74.5)

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

WATER DEBT SERVICE

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 22

UTILITY BILLING

47-34-4550 WATER DEBT REVENUE .00 129,927.28 150,000.00 20,072.72 86.6

TOTAL UTILITY BILLING .00 129,927.28 150,000.00 20,072.72 86.6

OTHER INCOME

47-36-4120 INTEREST INCOME .00 29,401.28 2,700.00 (              26,701.28) 1088.9

TOTAL OTHER INCOME .00 29,401.28 2,700.00 (              26,701.28) 1088.9

TOTAL FUND REVENUE .00 159,328.56 152,700.00 (                6,628.56) 104.3

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

WATER DEBT SERVICE

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 23

DEBT SERVICE

47-49-8512 NEDONNA BEACH WTR LINE - PRINC .00 .00 205,000.00 205,000.00 .0

47-49-8520 WATER PLANT DS - PRINC .00 30,000.00 30,000.00 .00 100.0

47-49-8521 WATER PLANT DS - INT .00 7,650.00 7,650.00 .00 100.0

TOTAL DEBT SERVICE .00 37,650.00 242,650.00 205,000.00 15.5

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES .00 37,650.00 242,650.00 205,000.00 15.5

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES .00 121,678.56 (              89,950.00) (            211,628.56) 135.3

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

WATER SDC FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 24

OTHER INCOME

49-36-4120 INTEREST INCOME .00 27,498.19 3,300.00 (              24,198.19) 833.3

TOTAL OTHER INCOME .00 27,498.19 3,300.00 (              24,198.19) 833.3

WATER SDC FEES

49-38-4935 REIMB FEES - WTR SDC FUND 552.00 6,072.00 9,800.00 3,728.00 62.0

49-38-4940 IMP FEES - WTR SDC FND 5,925.00 59,250.00 80,000.00 20,750.00 74.1

TOTAL WATER SDC FEES 6,477.00 65,322.00 89,800.00 24,478.00 72.7

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 6,477.00 92,820.19 93,100.00 279.81 99.7

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

WATER SDC FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 25

CAPITAL OUTLAY

49-47-7880 CONT MAT - IMP WTR .00 958.00 337,799.00 336,841.00 .3

49-47-7885 CONT MAT - REIMB WTR .00 .00 157,151.00 157,151.00 .0

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY .00 958.00 494,950.00 493,992.00 .2

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES .00 958.00 494,950.00 493,992.00 .2

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 6,477.00 91,862.19 (            401,850.00) (            493,712.19) 22.9

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

SEWER OPERATING FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 26

UTILITY BILLING

50-34-4640 SEWER SERVICE BASE (                   209.90) 671,929.63 780,000.00 108,070.37 86.1

50-34-4650 NEW SEWER CONNECTIONS 220.00 14,310.00 17,250.00 2,940.00 83.0

50-34-4660 SEWER MASTER PLAN .00 69,630.55 82,000.00 12,369.45 84.9

TOTAL UTILITY BILLING 10.10 755,870.18 879,250.00 123,379.82 86.0

OTHER INCOME

50-36-4120 INTEREST INCOME .00 40,667.31 34,000.00 (                6,667.31) 119.6

50-36-4150 MISC RECEIPTS - SEWER .00 8,035.42 1,000.00 (                7,035.42) 803.5

TOTAL OTHER INCOME .00 48,702.73 35,000.00 (              13,702.73) 139.2

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 10.10 804,572.91 914,250.00 109,677.09 88.0

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

SEWER OPERATING FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 27

PERSONNEL SERVICES

50-41-5055 MAINT WORKER WAGES 8,033.53 90,596.29 107,554.00 16,957.71 84.2

50-41-5056 EXTRA LABOR WAGES .00 .00 10,000.00 10,000.00 .0

50-41-5057 OFFICE ASST WAGE 14,783.76 141,780.90 147,500.00 5,719.10 96.1

50-41-5058 SUPER PUB WORKS 3,339.49 38,737.96 42,080.00 3,342.04 92.1

50-41-5059 PLANT OP WAGES 4,865.28 58,022.98 64,400.00 6,377.02 90.1

50-41-5064 STANDBY - SEWER .00 .00 2,100.00 2,100.00 .0

50-41-5065 OVERTIME SEWER 250.29 2,780.33 5,950.00 3,169.67 46.7

50-41-5075 ACCRUED VAC - COMP TIME .00 .00 5,000.00 5,000.00 .0

50-41-5082 CITY MANAGER WAGES 1,166.79 13,245.06 14,255.00 1,009.94 92.9

50-41-5085 MAYOR & COUNCIL STIPEND 82.50 904.50 1,386.00 481.50 65.3

50-41-5152 PAYROLL EXP - SEWER 17,566.50 194,424.28 291,600.00 97,175.72 66.7

TOTAL PERSONNEL SERVICES 50,088.14 540,492.30 691,825.00 151,332.70 78.1

MATERIALS & SERVICES

50-45-6110 ELECTRICITY - SEWER .00 24,881.67 33,500.00 8,618.33 74.3

50-45-6455 EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT  .00 .00 1,000.00 1,000.00 .0

50-45-6520 BLDG MAINT - SEWER .00 4,753.20 4,900.00 146.80 97.0

50-45-6530 TELEPHONE & TELEMETRY 247.38 5,703.69 6,900.00 1,196.31 82.7

50-45-6534 PLANT CHEMICALS & SUP 3,192.96 57,686.09 65,000.00 7,313.91 88.8

50-45-6551 ADMIN & BILLING 1,649.94 19,662.29 30,800.00 11,137.71 63.8

50-45-6570 INS - VEHICLE, LIAB, EQUIP, BL .00 44,000.00 44,000.00 .00 100.0

50-45-6574 AUDIT & BOND .00 8,034.67 12,000.00 3,965.33 67.0

50-45-6580 FUEL & OIL 490.33 5,650.87 15,000.00 9,349.13 37.7

50-45-6690 VEHICLE MAINT, SUP & REP .00 9,832.09 15,000.00 5,167.91 65.6

50-45-6740 I & I WORK 1,960.00 25,701.87 26,000.00 298.13 98.9

50-45-6745 REQUIRED TESTING .00 .00 2,000.00 2,000.00 .0

50-45-6750 SYSTEM MAINT & SUPPLY 3,141.80 53,302.77 80,000.00 26,697.23 66.6

50-45-6831 DUES .00 150.00 1,200.00 1,050.00 12.5

50-45-6850 ATTORNEY .00 .00 2,800.00 2,800.00 .0

50-45-6851 ENGINEERING 4,004.00 24,799.54 48,000.00 23,200.46 51.7

50-45-6915 TRAVEL & TRAINING - STAFF 261.80 4,390.84 6,000.00 1,609.16 73.2

50-45-6945 METER READERS 89.48 6,130.51 14,000.00 7,869.49 43.8

50-45-6951 ORDINANCE ENFORCEMENT .00 .00 500.00 500.00 .0

TOTAL MATERIALS & SERVICES 15,037.69 294,680.10 408,600.00 113,919.90 72.1

CAPITAL OUTLAY

50-47-7602 PW MOBILE EQUIP REPLACE PLAN .00 14,774.42 15,000.00 225.58 98.5

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY .00 14,774.42 15,000.00 225.58 98.5

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

SEWER OPERATING FUND

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 28

CONTINGENCY

50-48-7999 CONTINGENCY - SEWER .00 .00 147,242.00 147,242.00 .0

TOTAL CONTINGENCY .00 .00 147,242.00 147,242.00 .0

TRANSFERS

50-49-8027 TRNSFR TO - GF CH OPERATING .00 33,750.00 45,000.00 11,250.00 75.0

50-49-8033 TRNSFR TO - SEWER MASTER PLAN .00 61,500.00 82,000.00 20,500.00 75.0

TOTAL TRANSFERS .00 95,250.00 127,000.00 31,750.00 75.0

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES 65,125.83 945,196.82 1,389,667.00 444,470.18 68.0

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES (              65,115.73) (            140,623.91) (            475,417.00) (            334,793.09) (  29.6)

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

SEWER MASTER PLAN

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 29

OTHER INCOME

52-36-4120 INTEREST INCOME .00 22,697.87 18,000.00 (                4,697.87) 126.1

TOTAL OTHER INCOME .00 22,697.87 18,000.00 (                4,697.87) 126.1

TRANSFERS

52-39-4032 TRNSFR IN - FROM SEWER OPER .00 61,500.00 82,000.00 20,500.00 75.0

TOTAL TRANSFERS .00 61,500.00 82,000.00 20,500.00 75.0

TOTAL FUND REVENUE .00 84,197.87 100,000.00 15,802.13 84.2

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

SEWER MASTER PLAN

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 30

CAPITAL OUTLAY

52-47-7555 WWMP-IMPLIMENTATION PROJECTS 2,585.80 30,708.18 335,000.00 304,291.82 9.2

TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY 2,585.80 30,708.18 335,000.00 304,291.82 9.2

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES 2,585.80 30,708.18 335,000.00 304,291.82 9.2

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES (                2,585.80) 53,489.69 (            235,000.00) (            288,489.69) 22.8

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

SEWER DEBT SERVICE

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 31

UTILITY BILLING

56-34-4650 SEWER DEBT REVENUE .00 217,030.56 254,640.00 37,609.44 85.2

TOTAL UTILITY BILLING .00 217,030.56 254,640.00 37,609.44 85.2

OTHER INCOME

56-36-4120 INTEREST INCOME .00 33,222.73 13,500.00 (              19,722.73) 246.1

TOTAL OTHER INCOME .00 33,222.73 13,500.00 (              19,722.73) 246.1

TOTAL FUND REVENUE .00 250,253.29 268,140.00 17,886.71 93.3

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

SEWER DEBT SERVICE

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 32

DEBT SERVICE

56-49-8510 WW OUTFALL LOAN PRINCIPLE .00 205,000.00 205,000.00 .00 100.0

56-49-8511 WW-OUTFALL LOAN INTEREST .00 3,075.00 3,075.00 .00 100.0

TOTAL DEBT SERVICE .00 208,075.00 208,075.00 .00 100.0

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES .00 208,075.00 208,075.00 .00 100.0

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES .00 42,178.29 60,065.00 17,886.71 70.2

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

SEWER SDC

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 33

OTHER INCOME

59-36-4120 INTEREST INCOME .00 63,255.13 3,000.00 (              60,255.13) 2108.5

TOTAL OTHER INCOME .00 63,255.13 3,000.00 (              60,255.13) 2108.5

FEES

59-38-4935 REIMB FEES - SEWER SDC 1,478.00 11,824.00 20,000.00 8,176.00 59.1

59-38-4940 IMP FEES - SEWER SDC 2,645.00 27,085.00 55,000.00 27,915.00 49.3

TOTAL FEES 4,123.00 38,909.00 75,000.00 36,091.00 51.9

TOTAL FUND REVENUE 4,123.00 102,164.13 78,000.00 (              24,164.13) 131.0

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

SEWER SDC

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:29PM       PAGE: 34

MATERIALS & SERVICES

59-45-6050 CONT MAT - REIMB SWR SDC .00 13,855.60 435,732.00 421,876.40 3.2

59-45-6051 CONT MAT - IMP SWR .00 .00 996,933.00 996,933.00 .0

TOTAL MATERIALS & SERVICES .00 13,855.60 1,432,665.00 1,418,809.40 1.0

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES .00 13,855.60 1,432,665.00 1,418,809.40 1.0

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 4,123.00 88,308.53 (         1,354,665.00) (         1,442,973.53) 6.5

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

REVENUES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

TRANSIENT ROOM TAX

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:30PM       PAGE: 35

ROOM TAX REVENUES

80-31-4710 TRT REVENUE 5% .00 1,152,988.72 1,200,000.00 47,011.28 96.1

80-31-4711 TRT REVENUE 2% - ADV .00 461,195.48 480,000.00 18,804.52 96.1

80-31-4712 TRT REVENUE 2% - CTY .00 461,195.48 480,000.00 18,804.52 96.1

80-31-4713 TRT REVENUE 1% - CTY .00 230,597.75 240,000.00 9,402.25 96.1

TOTAL ROOM TAX REVENUES .00 2,305,977.43 2,400,000.00 94,022.57 96.1

OTHER INCOME

80-36-4120 INTEREST INCOME - TRT .00 50,211.28 13,750.00 (              36,461.28) 365.2

TOTAL OTHER INCOME .00 50,211.28 13,750.00 (              36,461.28) 365.2

TOTAL FUND REVENUE .00 2,356,188.71 2,413,750.00 57,561.29 97.6

DRAFT



CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH

EXPENDITURES WITH COMPARISON TO BUDGET

FOR THE 11 MONTHS ENDING MAY 31, 2025

TRANSIENT ROOM TAX

PERIOD ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL BUDGET UNEXPENDED PCNT

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 92 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  05/29/2025     02:30PM       PAGE: 36

MATERIALS & SERVICES

80-45-6533 ADVERTISING - MEDIA AGT 19,939.87 175,382.92 210,000.00 34,617.08 83.5

80-45-6534 ADVERTISING - WEBSITE CTY .00 20,147.15 170,000.00 149,852.85 11.9

80-45-6535 ADVERTISING/TOURISM AGT 1,500.00 2,400.00 60,000.00 57,600.00 4.0

80-45-6536 ROCKAWAY LIONS EVENTS .00 1,218.00 2,000.00 782.00 60.9

80-45-6537 FIREWORKS AND 4TH OF JULY 16,250.00 65,971.16 75,000.00 9,028.84 88.0

80-45-6538 TOURISM PROMO AND FACILITIES .00 9,437.00 333,535.00 324,098.00 2.8

TOTAL MATERIALS & SERVICES 37,689.87 274,556.23 850,535.00 575,978.77 32.3

TRANSFERS

80-49-8024 TO - GF POLICE .00 250,800.00 334,400.00 83,600.00 75.0

80-49-8025 TO - GENERAL FUND .00 73,800.00 98,400.00 24,600.00 75.0

80-49-8026 TO - FIRE TRK RES .00 90,750.00 121,000.00 30,250.00 75.0

80-49-8036 TO -  P &  E RESERVE .00 493,800.00 658,400.00 164,600.00 75.0

80-49-8041 TO - ROADS & STREETS .00 276,300.00 368,400.00 92,100.00 75.0

80-49-8044 TO - GF CITY BEAUTIF .00 3,750.00 5,000.00 1,250.00 75.0

80-49-8046 TO - GF FIRE .00 250,800.00 334,400.00 83,600.00 75.0

TOTAL TRANSFERS .00 1,440,000.00 1,920,000.00 480,000.00 75.0

TOTAL FUND EXPENDITURES 37,689.87 1,714,556.23 2,770,535.00 1,055,978.77 61.9

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES (              37,689.87) 641,632.48 (            356,785.00) (            998,417.48) 179.8

DRAFT







 

 

5995 Long Prairie Rd. Tillamook, OR  97141                                                          503-842-2561                                                               Tillamooksheriff.com 

TILLAMOOK COUNTY SHERIFF’S OFFICE 
CONSERVATORS OF THE PEACE  

Sheriff Joshua Brown  

Rockaway Beach Patrol  
Month of May 2025  

The month of May showed a slight decrease in criminal cases in Rockaway Beach. Deputies maintained 

regular patrols and traffic enforcement. Our Deputies have been working with City staff to try to resolve 

several city ordinance violations as well. The Memorial Day weekend brought a large number of people to 

town but overall was fairly quiet from a law enforcement perspective. 

 Notable calls for service this month include a report of vehicle break-in in the North Pacific St area. 

 A dispute between neighbors was called in as potential harassment.  

 A disturbance was reported at a local business. The investigation led to no criminal charges being filed. 

 An attempted burglary was reported at a local business. When the investigation was concluded, the 

matter was handled civilly. 

 A vehicle was reported s stolen from in front of a local store. The vehicle was found in town the next 

day, the owner was contacted, no suspects were identified in this case. 

 A fake $100 bill was presented at a local store. Even though we are in the busy season, it can be helpful 

to take a few extra seconds to verify the authenticity of all cash presented during a purchase. 

 We remind everyone to remail vigilant as more and more people visit our coastal towns. IF you see 

something out of the ordinary, you can contact non-emergency dispatch at (503)815-1911. 

Other call numbers are noted in the statistics report provided. 

 

Undersheriff Matt Kelly  

    

 

 

 



Incident Address City Incident Date And Time Incident Type Incident Unit ID
Rockaway Beach 05/01/2025 00:41:25 BUSINESS CHECK 219
Rockaway Beach 05/01/2025 00:46:33 BUSINESS CHECK 219
Rockaway Beach 05/01/2025 09:08:28 Theft 207
Rockaway Beach 05/01/2025 09:08:28 Theft 215
Rockaway Beach 05/02/2025 11:42:01 Court Violation 215
Rockaway Beach 05/02/2025 16:41:17 Traffic Stop 215
Rockaway Beach 05/02/2025 21:17:30 Traffic Stop 220
Rockaway Beach 05/03/2025 00:01:33 Traffic Stop 220
Rockaway Beach 05/03/2025 00:19:30 Traffic Stop 220
Rockaway Beach 05/03/2025 03:32:34 Noise 230
Rockaway Beach 05/03/2025 11:23:33 Mental 230
Rockaway Beach 05/03/2025 11:23:33 Mental 215
Rockaway Beach 05/03/2025 14:27:23 Assist 215
Rockaway Beach 05/03/2025 14:52:23 Harassment 215
Rockaway Beach 05/03/2025 15:08:56 Follow Up 215
Rockaway Beach 05/03/2025 22:06:50 Fireworks 220
Rockaway Beach 05/03/2025 22:47:30 Civil 220
Rockaway Beach 05/04/2025 08:31:10 Property 228
Rockaway Beach 05/04/2025 16:10:50 Assault 228
Rockaway Beach 05/04/2025 16:10:50 Assault 225
Rockaway Beach 05/04/2025 16:13:54 Disturbance 228
Rockaway Beach 05/04/2025 16:13:54 Disturbance 712
Rockaway Beach 05/04/2025 16:13:54 Disturbance 224
Rockaway Beach 05/04/2025 18:19:06 Assist 228
Rockaway Beach 05/04/2025 21:02:10 Civil Service 225
Rockaway Beach 05/04/2025 21:14:19 Speed Enforcement 225
Rockaway Beach 05/05/2025 06:52:27 Theft 210
Rockaway Beach 05/05/2025 10:14:14 Trespass 210
Rockaway Beach 05/05/2025 10:16:27 Assist 210
Rockaway Beach 05/05/2025 10:29:40 Ordinance Violation 210
Rockaway Beach 05/05/2025 11:19:37 Missing Person 210
Rockaway Beach 05/05/2025 11:29:53 Follow Up 210
Rockaway Beach 05/05/2025 11:41:57 Harassment 210
Rockaway Beach 05/05/2025 13:01:11 Civil Service 210
Rockaway Beach 05/05/2025 13:07:26 Home Check 210
Rockaway Beach 05/05/2025 13:51:19 Follow Up 210
Rockaway Beach 05/05/2025 14:18:35 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/05/2025 14:32:09 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/05/2025 14:55:17 Court Violation 210
Rockaway Beach 05/05/2025 16:33:10 Civil 210
Rockaway Beach 05/05/2025 21:47:23 Traffic 220
Rockaway Beach 05/06/2025 00:46:34 BUSINESS CHECK 220
Rockaway Beach 05/06/2025 00:50:21 BUSINESS CHECK 220



Rockaway Beach 05/06/2025 09:32:14 20 210
Rockaway Beach 05/06/2025 10:39:42 Speed Enforcement 210
Rockaway Beach 05/06/2025 10:52:55 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/06/2025 10:58:26 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/06/2025 11:16:36 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/06/2025 11:30:33 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/06/2025 11:54:55 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/06/2025 12:21:02 CAMI 227
Rockaway Beach 05/06/2025 12:22:47 CAMI 227
Rockaway Beach 05/06/2025 12:31:26 CAMI 227
Rockaway Beach 05/06/2025 13:18:11 Ordinance Violation 210
Rockaway Beach 05/06/2025 13:47:06 Follow Up 210
Rockaway Beach 05/06/2025 14:21:35 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/06/2025 15:36:38 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/06/2025 15:50:39 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/06/2025 17:55:50 Assist 220
Rockaway Beach 05/06/2025 19:14:57 Civil Service 220
Rockaway Beach 05/06/2025 20:50:14 Traffic Stop 220
Rockaway Beach 05/07/2025 07:00:30 Theft 215
Rockaway Beach 05/07/2025 13:43:28 Civil 228
Rockaway Beach 05/07/2025 14:33:50 Juvenile 228
Rockaway Beach 05/07/2025 16:07:00 Civil 228
Rockaway Beach 05/07/2025 20:21:06 Traffic Stop 219
Rockaway Beach 05/07/2025 21:05:57 Missing Person 219
Rockaway Beach 05/07/2025 22:44:59 Alarm 219
Rockaway Beach 05/07/2025 23:44:27 BUSINESS CHECK 219
Rockaway Beach 05/08/2025 08:23:41 Suspicious 207
Rockaway Beach 05/08/2025 08:23:41 Suspicious 213
Rockaway Beach 05/08/2025 10:07:19 Civil Service 207
Rockaway Beach 05/08/2025 13:21:45 Follow Up 215
Rockaway Beach 05/08/2025 13:27:39 UEMV 215
Rockaway Beach 05/08/2025 15:44:42 Follow Up 215
Rockaway Beach 05/08/2025 16:57:15 Vehicle 215
Rockaway Beach 05/09/2025 07:59:33 Hit & Run 215
Rockaway Beach 05/09/2025 09:32:54 Follow Up 215
Rockaway Beach 05/09/2025 19:18:31 Civil Service 219
Rockaway Beach 05/09/2025 19:30:58 Civil Service 219
Rockaway Beach 05/09/2025 22:56:16 Traffic Stop 219
Rockaway Beach 05/10/2025 00:54:23 Civil Service 219
Rockaway Beach 05/10/2025 00:58:58 BUSINESS CHECK 219
Rockaway Beach 05/10/2025 04:21:20 Incom 911 222
Rockaway Beach 05/10/2025 10:26:04 Theft 216
Rockaway Beach 05/10/2025 10:26:04 Theft 222
Rockaway Beach 05/10/2025 10:44:36 Fraud 216



Rockaway Beach 05/10/2025 10:44:36 Fraud 222
Rockaway Beach 05/10/2025 15:59:24 Suspicious 216
Rockaway Beach 05/10/2025 15:59:24 Suspicious 222
Rockaway Beach 05/10/2025 19:58:06 Suspicious 220
Rockaway Beach 05/11/2025 10:41:50 Theft 210
Rockaway Beach 05/11/2025 11:28:48 Civil Service 210
Rockaway Beach 05/11/2025 11:42:25 Ordinance Violation 210
Rockaway Beach 05/11/2025 11:58:00 Civil Service 210
Rockaway Beach 05/11/2025 13:15:19 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/11/2025 13:43:18 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/11/2025 13:52:12 7 210
Rockaway Beach 05/11/2025 14:59:49 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/11/2025 15:23:03 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/11/2025 15:34:59 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/11/2025 19:30:54 UUMV 226
Rockaway Beach 05/12/2025 05:55:42 Animal 210
Rockaway Beach 05/12/2025 10:04:04 Speed Enforcement 210
Rockaway Beach 05/12/2025 10:35:19 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/12/2025 10:50:21 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/12/2025 11:02:15 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/12/2025 11:49:17 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/12/2025 12:30:47 Property 210
Rockaway Beach 05/12/2025 13:00:12 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/12/2025 13:23:09 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/12/2025 13:33:43 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/12/2025 13:40:02 Fraud 210
Rockaway Beach 05/12/2025 14:26:30 Home Check 210
Rockaway Beach 05/12/2025 14:50:39 Vehicle 210
Rockaway Beach 05/12/2025 15:32:51 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/12/2025 16:14:05 Follow Up 210
Rockaway Beach 05/12/2025 18:56:39 Harassment 225
Rockaway Beach 05/12/2025 19:33:26 Traffic Stop 225
Rockaway Beach 05/12/2025 23:33:18 BUSINESS CHECK 225
Rockaway Beach 05/13/2025 08:33:03 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/13/2025 08:51:11 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/13/2025 08:58:12 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/13/2025 10:52:06 Follow Up 210
Rockaway Beach 05/13/2025 11:31:10 Suspicious 210
Rockaway Beach 05/13/2025 11:54:31 Burglary 210
Rockaway Beach 05/13/2025 11:54:31 Burglary 228
Rockaway Beach 05/13/2025 12:47:05 Shots Fired 228
Rockaway Beach 05/13/2025 13:20:57 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/13/2025 13:29:58 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/13/2025 13:32:00 Civil Service 228



Rockaway Beach 05/13/2025 14:22:49 Follow Up 210
Rockaway Beach 05/13/2025 15:09:24 Ordinance Violation 210
Rockaway Beach 05/13/2025 15:47:59 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/13/2025 16:24:21 Follow Up 228
Rockaway Beach 05/13/2025 21:09:44 Speed Enforcement 225
Rockaway Beach 05/13/2025 21:19:17 Traffic Stop 225
Rockaway Beach 05/14/2025 01:04:07 Vehicle 225
Rockaway Beach 05/14/2025 01:05:38 Traffic Stop 225
Rockaway Beach 05/14/2025 09:58:46 Warrant 215
Rockaway Beach 05/14/2025 10:44:33 Follow Up 228
Rockaway Beach 05/14/2025 10:54:48 Follow Up 228
Rockaway Beach 05/14/2025 11:07:25 Follow Up 228
Rockaway Beach 05/14/2025 12:45:30 Speed Enforcement 210
Rockaway Beach 05/14/2025 12:47:24 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/14/2025 13:12:29 Warrant 216
Rockaway Beach 05/14/2025 13:12:29 Warrant 228
Rockaway Beach 05/14/2025 13:12:29 Warrant 215
Rockaway Beach 05/14/2025 13:23:07 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/14/2025 13:55:10 Home Check 210
Rockaway Beach 05/14/2025 15:16:12 Follow Up 216
Rockaway Beach 05/14/2025 15:16:12 Follow Up 215
Rockaway Beach 05/14/2025 15:30:29 Vehicle 215
Rockaway Beach 05/14/2025 15:46:11 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/14/2025 15:57:09 Contact 215
Rockaway Beach 05/14/2025 15:59:13 Ordinance Violation 210
Rockaway Beach 05/14/2025 23:10:49 Traffic Stop 225
Rockaway Beach 05/14/2025 23:35:23 Traffic Stop 225
Rockaway Beach 05/14/2025 23:48:34 Traffic Stop 211
Rockaway Beach 05/14/2025 23:48:34 Traffic Stop 225
Rockaway Beach 05/14/2025 23:48:34 Traffic Stop 219
Rockaway Beach 05/15/2025 00:20:01 Speed Enforcement 225
Rockaway Beach 05/15/2025 00:34:25 Traffic Stop 225
Rockaway Beach 05/15/2025 00:40:11 Contact 225
Rockaway Beach 05/15/2025 00:47:44 BUSINESS CHECK 225
Rockaway Beach 05/15/2025 00:48:13 BUSINESS CHECK 225
Rockaway Beach 05/15/2025 00:48:44 BUSINESS CHECK 225
Rockaway Beach 05/15/2025 00:49:25 BUSINESS CHECK 225
Rockaway Beach 05/15/2025 13:21:11 Civil Service 207
Rockaway Beach 05/15/2025 13:55:27 Follow Up 215
Rockaway Beach 05/15/2025 14:01:59 Civil 215
Rockaway Beach 05/15/2025 16:40:08 MVA 216
Rockaway Beach 05/15/2025 16:40:08 MVA 215
Rockaway Beach 05/15/2025 21:18:48 Speed Enforcement 225
Rockaway Beach 05/16/2025 00:26:12 Traffic Stop 225



Rockaway Beach 05/16/2025 00:44:46 BUSINESS CHECK 225
Rockaway Beach 05/16/2025 00:50:54 Traffic Stop 225
Rockaway Beach 05/16/2025 09:59:30 CAMI 206
Rockaway Beach 05/17/2025 09:00:57 Civil Service 218
Rockaway Beach 05/18/2025 01:22:58 BUSINESS CHECK 215
Rockaway Beach 05/18/2025 01:24:59 BUSINESS CHECK 215
Rockaway Beach 05/18/2025 01:27:39 BUSINESS CHECK 215
Rockaway Beach 05/18/2025 10:59:54 BUSINESS CHECK 210
Rockaway Beach 05/18/2025 12:40:07 Vehicle 210
Rockaway Beach 05/18/2025 13:01:48 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/18/2025 13:12:38 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/18/2025 13:22:07 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/18/2025 13:51:45 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/18/2025 15:17:05 Unknown 210
Rockaway Beach 05/18/2025 15:46:42 Follow Up 228
Rockaway Beach 05/18/2025 16:16:36 Suspicious 210
Rockaway Beach 05/18/2025 19:39:21 Follow Up 225
Rockaway Beach 05/18/2025 21:52:26 Traffic Stop 225
Rockaway Beach 05/18/2025 22:31:07 Burglary 211
Rockaway Beach 05/18/2025 22:31:07 Burglary 226
Rockaway Beach 05/18/2025 22:31:07 Burglary 225
Rockaway Beach 05/18/2025 23:33:44 Traffic Stop 225
Rockaway Beach 05/19/2025 12:40:45 Speed Enforcement 210
Rockaway Beach 05/19/2025 13:04:23 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/19/2025 13:15:40 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/19/2025 13:34:28 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/19/2025 13:36:05 Suspicious 210
Rockaway Beach 05/19/2025 14:01:49 Follow Up 210
Rockaway Beach 05/19/2025 14:07:21 Ordinance Violation 210
Rockaway Beach 05/20/2025 07:39:27 Ordinance Violation 210
Rockaway Beach 05/20/2025 09:47:17 Home Check 210
Rockaway Beach 05/20/2025 10:57:03 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/20/2025 11:26:16 BUSINESS CHECK 210
Rockaway Beach 05/20/2025 12:46:24 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/20/2025 13:27:42 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/20/2025 15:34:44 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/20/2025 23:32:18 BUSINESS CHECK 225
Rockaway Beach 05/20/2025 23:34:03 Traffic Stop 225
Rockaway Beach 05/20/2025 23:48:57 BUSINESS CHECK 225
Rockaway Beach 05/20/2025 23:50:08 BUSINESS CHECK 225
Rockaway Beach 05/21/2025 02:09:35 Welfare check 225
Rockaway Beach 05/21/2025 10:06:36 Civil Service 228
Rockaway Beach 05/21/2025 13:43:06 Home Check 210
Rockaway Beach 05/21/2025 13:43:35 Civil Service 228



Rockaway Beach 05/21/2025 18:27:04 Welfare check 225
Rockaway Beach 05/21/2025 20:08:18 Disturbance 211
Rockaway Beach 05/21/2025 20:08:18 Disturbance 225
Rockaway Beach 05/21/2025 20:08:18 Disturbance 219
Rockaway Beach 05/21/2025 21:31:39 Follow Up 225
Rockaway Beach 05/21/2025 22:37:41 Harassment 225
Rockaway Beach 05/22/2025 13:25:03 Traffic Stop 215
Rockaway Beach 05/22/2025 13:39:21 Crim Misch 215
Rockaway Beach 05/22/2025 14:58:33 Follow Up 216
Rockaway Beach 05/22/2025 15:33:04 Vehicle 215
Rockaway Beach 05/22/2025 15:43:33 Traffic Stop 215
Rockaway Beach 05/22/2025 15:44:21 Civil 215
Rockaway Beach 05/23/2025 12:00:15 Road Hazard 215
Rockaway Beach 05/23/2025 12:49:05 Harassment 215
Rockaway Beach 05/23/2025 14:20:04 Harassment 712
Rockaway Beach 05/23/2025 14:20:04 Harassment 215
Rockaway Beach 05/23/2025 14:28:32 Trespass 215
Rockaway Beach 05/23/2025 15:50:05 Contact 215
Rockaway Beach 05/23/2025 17:28:00 Structure Fire 219
Rockaway Beach 05/24/2025 00:17:50 Assist 219
Rockaway Beach 05/24/2025 09:16:50 Assist 222
Rockaway Beach 05/24/2025 09:16:50 Assist 215
Rockaway Beach 05/24/2025 09:32:31 Civil 222
Rockaway Beach 05/24/2025 14:19:56 Civil 215
Rockaway Beach 05/24/2025 17:33:49 Traffic Stop 215
Rockaway Beach 05/24/2025 21:08:00 Court Violation 215
Rockaway Beach 05/24/2025 21:17:18 Harassment 215
Rockaway Beach 05/25/2025 10:23:41 BUSINESS CHECK 210
Rockaway Beach 05/25/2025 11:00:39 Home Check 210
Rockaway Beach 05/25/2025 11:57:00 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/25/2025 12:24:50 Follow Up 210
Rockaway Beach 05/25/2025 13:05:02 Follow Up 210
Rockaway Beach 05/25/2025 13:11:25 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/25/2025 13:48:12 BUSINESS CHECK 210
Rockaway Beach 05/25/2025 13:49:43 MVA 210
Rockaway Beach 05/25/2025 13:49:43 MVA 712
Rockaway Beach 05/25/2025 13:56:27 Vehicle 210
Rockaway Beach 05/25/2025 14:41:38 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/25/2025 14:58:26 Harassment 210
Rockaway Beach 05/25/2025 16:37:25 Vehicle 210
Rockaway Beach 05/25/2025 18:32:57 Animal 225
Rockaway Beach 05/25/2025 19:42:30 Traffic Stop 225
Rockaway Beach 05/25/2025 21:02:19 Disturbance 225
Rockaway Beach 05/25/2025 21:02:19 Disturbance 712



Rockaway Beach 05/26/2025 00:22:45 BUSINESS CHECK 225
Rockaway Beach 05/26/2025 11:05:17 Speed Enforcement 210
Rockaway Beach 05/26/2025 11:20:20 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/26/2025 12:49:51 Littering 210
Rockaway Beach 05/26/2025 13:27:25 Follow Up 210
Rockaway Beach 05/26/2025 15:32:55 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/26/2025 16:08:51 Theft 210
Rockaway Beach 05/26/2025 19:33:31 Welfare check 225
Rockaway Beach 05/26/2025 19:34:45 Welfare check 225
Rockaway Beach 05/26/2025 22:09:43 Traffic Stop 225
Rockaway Beach 05/26/2025 22:15:45 Traffic Stop 225
Rockaway Beach 05/26/2025 23:59:36 BUSINESS CHECK 225
Rockaway Beach 05/27/2025 00:03:40 BUSINESS CHECK 225
Rockaway Beach 05/27/2025 10:23:28 Follow Up 210
Rockaway Beach 05/27/2025 10:34:28 Ordinance Violation 228
Rockaway Beach 05/27/2025 12:54:45 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/27/2025 13:06:52 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/27/2025 14:24:25 Contact 228
Rockaway Beach 05/27/2025 15:02:23 Ordinance Violation 210
Rockaway Beach 05/27/2025 15:40:40 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/27/2025 15:55:24 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/27/2025 16:17:47 Follow Up 210
Rockaway Beach 05/27/2025 16:34:50 Welfare check 228
Rockaway Beach 05/27/2025 16:34:50 Welfare check 225
Rockaway Beach 05/27/2025 16:45:41 Follow Up 228
Rockaway Beach 05/27/2025 18:26:48 Noise 225
Rockaway Beach 05/27/2025 19:55:31 Water Rescue 225
Rockaway Beach 05/27/2025 22:22:35 Civil 225
Rockaway Beach 05/28/2025 05:04:23 Traffic Stop 225
Rockaway Beach 05/28/2025 13:43:31 Follow Up 210
Rockaway Beach 05/28/2025 14:25:13 BUSINESS CHECK 210
Rockaway Beach 05/28/2025 15:10:20 Assist 210
Rockaway Beach 05/28/2025 15:15:37 Traffic Stop 215
Rockaway Beach 05/28/2025 15:46:12 Traffic Stop 210
Rockaway Beach 05/28/2025 15:53:59 Traffic Stop 215
Rockaway Beach 05/29/2025 03:57:17 Alarm 219
Rockaway Beach 05/29/2025 08:45:43 UEMV 207
Rockaway Beach 05/29/2025 08:45:43 UEMV 215
Rockaway Beach 05/29/2025 14:07:47 Civil Service 215
Rockaway Beach 05/30/2025 01:51:08 BUSINESS CHECK 219
Rockaway Beach 05/30/2025 01:56:50 BUSINESS CHECK 219
Rockaway Beach 05/30/2025 02:01:49 BUSINESS CHECK 219
Rockaway Beach 05/30/2025 13:16:53 MVA 215
Rockaway Beach 05/30/2025 15:01:09 Civil Service 215



Rockaway Beach 05/30/2025 20:13:00 Incom 911 219
Rockaway Beach 05/31/2025 17:19:49 Ordinance Violation 215



 City of Rockaway Beach, Oregon 
276 S. Highway 101, PO Box 5 

Rockaway Beach, OR 97136 
(503) 374-1752  FAX (503)374-0601 

 
6/2/25 
 
To: Mayor, City Council Members, and City Manager 
Subject: Public Works Monthly Report  

 

Water Treatment and Distribution 
Highlights for the month include:  

Water Leak Repairs: 
  - 647 N Miller (Service line) – Leak reported 5/1. 
  - 701 S. 2nd (Service line) – Repaired on 5/7. 
  - 26410 David St – ¾" IPS service leak repaired on 5/21. 
  - 25940 – Repaired a 2” poly water main entangled in roots on 5/22. 

Water Meter Rereads: 
  - Approximately 70 rereads completed on 4/29. 
  - Additional 15 rereads completed on 4/30. 

Locates and Coordination: 
  - Located water lines along Pacific Street from N 3rd to N 9th in preparation for upcoming construction. 
  - performed annual creek maintenance with ODFW near the Water Treatment Plant. 

Wastewater Treatment and Collections 
Public Works focused on preparation for upcoming improvements 

- All lift stations and sewer lines were cleaned by Zwald. 
- Sewer lines on North Pacific from N. 4th to NW 11th were cleaned and unplugged lines between 9th 
and 10th using a jet rodder and the firetruck. 
- 4th Street Pump Station was cleaned again.  
- A big Thanks to Bay City Public Works for their help inspecting the N. Pacific sewer lines in preparation 
for our upcoming improvement project. With the use of their camera truck, we were able to accurately 
locate sewer stubs, this is an important step to completing the project efficiently.   
- The Vault toilet at Lake Lytle Park was vacuumed and cleaned. Public Works kindly ask that no trash is 
put in this toilet.  

Roads, Parks, and Facilities 
Crews remained busy throughout the city on various roads and facility improvements in preparation for 
increased summer traffic and Memorial Day: 

Paving and Repairs: 
  - Valve cans cut and raised on Washington St. ahead of county paving projects. 
Patching completed: 
    - 647 N Miller and Lake Lytle Estates, N 5th & Pacific – 2 tons (5/5).   



 City of Rockaway Beach, Oregon 
276 S. Highway 101, PO Box 5 

Rockaway Beach, OR 97136 
(503) 374-1752  FAX (503)374-0601 

 
6/2/25 
 
  - Southwest 6th St. – (5/7). 
  - Striped Boardwalk trail parking lot, added security signs. 

 Facility Maintenance: 
  - Public works getting City Hall door evaluated by locksmith. 
  - Fire alarm testing at City Hall along with fire extinguishers completed (5/13). 

Slurry Seal:  

Public Works recently completed roadway maintenance as part of our Capital Improvement Plan to 
extend the streets longevity. This marks the first time the city has implemented the slurry seal 
technique—an important maintenance treatment designed to preserve and protect existing pavement, 
not a full repaving. 

Roadway preparation done by staff on May 13–14, followed by slurry seal application on May 21–22 for 
the following streets: 

• N Miller St (13th to 19th) 
• N 3rd St (Dolphin to Falcon) 
• S Anchor St (S 3rd to S 5th) 

The slurry seal approach offers a cost-effective solution for extending the life of our streets. We're 
seeking community feedback to evaluate the success of this method. If it meets expectations, we may 
expand its use in future projects. 

Parks and Trails: 
  - Park mowing, ROW mowing, brush cutting, and weed eating conducted around town, including from 
South 3rd to North 3rd, in preparation for Memorial Day Weekend. 
  - Water fountain at Boardwalk parking lot repaired (5/22). 

Upcoming Projects 
As part of the ongoing South Coral Street Stormwater Study, the next phase of improvement work is set 
to begin on June 2. This phase includes ditch improvements along Beacon Street and South Second 
Avenue. City staff will be partnering with JM Excavation to complete this important drainage project. As 
part of the work, a scheduled water shutdown will be required to lower the culvert. We will provide 
advance notice before the shutdown takes place to minimize any inconvenience. 

 
Thank you, 
Public Works Department 



Ordinance 2025-02   Page 1 of 2 

 
CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH, OREGON 

ORDINANCE NO. 2025-02 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH ZONING 

ORDINANCE 143 (CODE CHAPTER 155) RELATED TO MIDDLE HOUSING 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Rockaway Beach (“City”) recognizes that certain amendments to 

the Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance (Code Chapter 155) are needed to implement HB 2001 

(2019), as directed by Senate Bill (SB) 406 (“Proposed Amendments”); and 

 

WHEREAS, at a minimum, cities and unincorporated communities within Tillamook 

County served by water and sewer must permit all forms of middle housing - duplexes, triplexes, 

quadplexes, townhouses, and cottage clusters - in zones where single-family dwellings are 

permitted, consistent with the state’s adopted rules for Middle Housing in Large Cities; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Proposed Amendments also put in place design standards for triplex, 

quadplex, townhouse, and cottage cluster projects consistent with the Oregon Department of 

Land Conservation and Development’s Model Code for Large Cities; and 

 

 WHEREAS, through regular Planning Commission meetings in September 2024 and 

March 2025, City staff and consultants Cascadia Partners worked with the Planning Commission 

to develop the Proposed Amendments to address updates for middle housing;  

 

WHEREAS, on March 13, 2025, the City provided proper notice of the Proposed 

Amendments to the Department of Land Conservation and Development;  

 

 WHEREAS, on April 17, 2025, the Rockaway Beach Planning Commission conducted a 

properly noticed public hearing on the Proposed Amendments, and having received no 

objections, recommended that City Council adopt the Proposed Amendments; 

 

WHEREAS, on   , 2025, the City Council conducted a properly 

noticed public hearing and first and second reading on the Proposed Amendments; and 

 

WHEREAS, based upon all materials relevant to the proposal, staff reports, findings 

made by the Rockway Beach Planning Commission, and testimony and comments submitted at 

the public hearings, both orally and in writing, the Rockaway Beach City Council has made the 

findings of fact as set forth in Exhibit A. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, The City of Rockaway Beach ordains as follows: 

 

Section 1.  Findings.  The City Council hereby adopts the Findings of Fact set forth in the above 

recitals and attached as Exhibit A as its basis for adopting the Proposed Amendments to the 

Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance.   

 

Section 2.  Amendments.  The Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance 143 (Code Chapter 155) is 

hereby amended, as shown in attached Exhibit B, to now read in full as shown in Exhibit C. 

 

 



Ordinance 2025-02   Page 2 of 2 

Section 3.  Unamended Provisions.  All unamended provisions of Ordinance No. 143 (Code 

Chapter 155) shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

Section 4.  Severability.  A determination of invalidity or unconstitutionality by a court of 

competent jurisdiction of any clause, sentence, paragraph, section, or part of this ordinance shall 

not affect the validity of the remaining parts to this ordinance.  

 

Section 5.  Effective Date.  Pursuant to the Rockaway Beach City Charter, this ordinance shall 

become effective on the thirtieth day after its adoption. 

 

1st reading by the Rockaway Beach City Council       . 

2nd reading by the Rockaway Beach City Council       . 

 

Adopted and Approved by the Rockaway Beach City Council     . 

 

 

          

Charles McNeilly, Mayor 

 

 

City Council   Aye/Nay 

Penny Cheek        / 

Kiley Konruff         / 

Tom Martine            / 

Mary McGinnis       / 

VACANT        / 

 

 

 

Attest: 

 

 

      

Melissa Thompson, City Recorder 



Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, and 2025-04 Page 1 of 6 
Staff Report 

CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION 

STAFF REPORT Middle Housing Zoning Ordinance, Subdivision 
Ordinance, and Comprehensive Plan Changes 
Case File: Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, and 2025-04 
DLCD PAPA File: Amendment 001-25 
Hearing Date: June 11, 2025 

APPLICANT: City of Rockaway Beach 

NATURE OF THE APPLICATION AND BACKGROUND ON THE REQUEST: The City of Rockaway 
Beach is proposing to amend the City of Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance, Subdivision Ordinance, and 
Comprehensive Plan.  The amendments to the Ordinances and Comprehensive Plan are necessary to meet state 
requirements for duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, townhouses and cottage clusters.  The City must take action to 
amend its development code and Comprehensive Plan policies by June 30, 2025, as directed by Senate Bill (SB) 
406. The bill directs cities and unincorporated communities within Tillamook County served by water and sewer
to permit all forms of middle housing—duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, townhouses, and cottage clusters—in zones
where single family dwellings are permitted, consistent with the state’s adopted rules for Middle Housing in Large
Cities which are implemented through state rules (OAR Division 660-046) and Middle Housing Model Code
adopted by reference.

Zoning Ordinance Amendments: 
• Section 1.030.  Definitions
• Section 2.020.  Classification of Zones
• Section 3.010.  Single Family Zone (R-1)
• Section 3.020.  Residential Zone (R-2)
• Section 3.030.  Residential/Resort Zone (R-R)
• Section 3.040.  Special Residential/Resort Zone (SRR)
• Section 3.050.  Commercial Zone (C-1)
• Section 3.090.  Lower Density Residential Zone (R-3)
• Section 3.091.  Residential Manufactured Dwelling Zone (RMD)
• Section 3.142.  Tsunami Hazard Overlay Zone
• Section 4.043.  Multifamily Sitting Criteria
• Section 4.044.  Townhouse Projects
• Section 4.045.  Triplex and Quadplex Dwellings
• Section 4.046.  Cottage Clusters
• Section 4.060.  Off-Street Parking and Off-Street Loading Requirements
• Section 5.050.  General Exceptions to Lot Size Requirements
• Section 5.060.  General Exceptions to Yard Requirements
• Section 7.030.  Change of Nonconforming Uses
• Section 10.030.  Permitted Buildings and Uses
• Section 10.040.  Development Standards

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A



 
 

Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, and 2025-04  Page 2 of 6 
Staff Report 

Subdivision Ordinance Amendments: 
• Middle Housing Land Divisions 

o Section 43.  Applicability 
o Section 44.  Process 
o Section 45.  Submittal Requirements 
o Section 46.  Decision Criteria 
o Section 47.  Decision 
o Section 48.  Conditions of Approval 
o Section 49.  Process for Final Plat Approval 
o Section 50.  Appeals 

 
Comprehensive Plan Amendments: 

• Beaches and Dunes Policy 
• Land Use Categories 
• The Manhattan Residential/Resort Area 
• The Special Residential/Resort Area 
• The Single Family or Duplex Residential Area 
• The Saltair Creek Residential/Resort Area (R-R) 
• The East Rockaway Beach Residential Area (R) 
• Housing Element 
• Policies 

 
Staff recommend to the Rockaway Beach City Council on June 11, 2025, adoption of the above listed amendments. 
 
RELEVANT CRITERIA:  The following standards apply to this request: 
 

Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance.  Article 9.  Amendments. 
Section 9.010. Authorization to Initiate Amendments. An amendment to the text of this ordinance or to a 
zoning map may be initiated by the City Council, Planning Commission, or by application of the property 
owner(s), contract purchaser(s), or his/her/their authorized agent. 
 
Section 9.015. Burden of Proof. The burden of proof is placed upon the initiator of the amendment. That 
burden shall be to prove: 

1. The proposed amendment fully accords with applicable Comprehensive Plan goals and policies; 
and 

2. The proposed amendment is required to meet a land use need. 
 

• Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan.  The Planning Process. 
Amendments to the text of the comprehensive plan shall be made only where findings have been adopted 
that the following criteria are met:  

A. The amendment is consistent with the comprehensive plan’s goals and policies; and  
B. The amendment is necessary to meet a land use need.  

 
• Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goals.  1-19. 

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A



 
 

Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, and 2025-04  Page 3 of 6 
Staff Report 

NOTIFICATION:  The Department of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD) was provided notice of 
the proposed legislative amendments on March 13, 2025.  Notice of this public hearing was posted online on the 
City website and was published in the Headlight Hearld. 
 
COMMENTS:  Comments from the Department of Land Conversation and Development and the Oregon Fair 
Housing Council are attached to this report. 
 
DISCUSSION OF REQUEST:  This draft set of amendments to the City of Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance, 
Subdivision Ordinance, and Comprehensive Plan, implement HB 2001 (2019), as directed by Senate Bill (SB) 406.  
At a minimum, cities and unincorporated communities within Tillamook County served by water and sewer must 
permit all forms of middle housing - duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, townhouses, and cottage clusters - in zones 
where single-family dwellings are permitted, consistent with the state’s adopted rules for Middle Housing in Large 
Cities.  The amendments also put in place design standards for triplex, quadplex, townhouse, and cottage cluster 
projects consistent with DLCD’s Model Code for Large Cities. 
 
FINDINGS:  Planning staff finds the following: 
 

1. The amendment is consistent with applicable Comprehensive Plan goals and policies. 
 
FINDING: This criterion has been met.  As stated in this report, the proposed amendments to the City of 
Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance, Subdivision Ordinance, and Comprehensive Plan are necessary to 
meet state requirements for duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, townhouses and cottage clusters, as directed 
by Senate Bill (SB) 406.  The proposed amendments correspond with one another to allow for consistency 
of the Comprehensive Plan.  The amendments are consistent with current Comprehensive Plan policies as 
follows: 
 

o Cluster development is to be encouraged, thus saving energy in construction, maintenance and 
heating. 

o The City shall support all efforts to provide low or moderate income housing in and around 
Rockaway Beach, and shall cooperate with the Tillamook County Housing Authority, and 
Northwest Oregon Housing Association. 

o The Land use Element of the comprehensive plan and the zoning ordinance shall designate areas 
within the City where multifamily dwellings may be located, and where mobile home parks may 
be developed. It is assumed that low cost multi-family housing developed with public or private 
financing can be located anywhere other multi-family housing is allowed. 

 
2. The amendment is required to meet a land use need. 

 
FINDING: This criterion has been met.  As stated in this report, the proposed amendments to the City of 
Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance, Subdivision Ordinance, and Comprehensive Plan are necessary to 
meet state requirements for duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, townhouses and cottage clusters, as directed 
by Senate Bill (SB) 406.  The bill directs cities and unincorporated communities within Tillamook County 
served by water and sewer to permit all forms of middle housing—duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, 
townhouses, and cottage clusters—in zones where single family dwellings are permitted, consistent with 
the state’s adopted rules for Middle Housing in Large Cities which are implemented through state rules 
(OAR Division 660-046) and Middle Housing Model Code adopted by reference. 

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A



 
 

Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, and 2025-04  Page 4 of 6 
Staff Report 

 
3. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 1.  Citizen Involvement: to develop a citizen involvement 

program that ensures the opportunity for citizens to be involved in all phases of the planning process. 
 
FINDING: This criterion has been met.  The Rockaway Beach City Council, Planning Commission and 
the public had numerous opportunities to become aware and engaged in the process related to the required 
middle housing amendments.  These opportunities included work sessions, a Town Hall meeting, a public 
hearing with the Planning Commission and this public hearing.  Additionally, notice of this public hearing 
was posted online on the City website and was published in the Headlight Hearld. 
 

4. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 2.  Land Use Planning: to establish a land use planning 
process and policy framework as a basis for all decisions and actions related to use of land and to assure 
an adequate factual basis for such decisions and actions. 
 
FINDING: This criterion has been met.  The proposed amendments reflect due consideration of housing 
related state laws and administrative rules consistent with providing a factual basis for land use decisions.   
 

5. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 3.  Agricultural Lands 
 
FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

6. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 4.  Forest Lands 
 
FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

7. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 5.  Natural Resources, Scenic and Historic Areas, and Open 
Spaces  
 
FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

8. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 6.  Air, Water and Land Resources Quality 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

9. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 7.  Areas Subject to Natural Hazards 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

10. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 8.  Recreational Needs 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

11. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 9.  Economic Development 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A



 
 

Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, and 2025-04  Page 5 of 6 
Staff Report 

12. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 10.  Housing:  to provide for the housing needs of the citizens 
of the state 

 
FINDING: This criterion has been met.  The proposed amendments will allow duplexes, triplexes, 
quadplexes, townhouses, and cottage clusters in zones where single-family dwellings are permitted.  These 
amendments are made at the direction of the state to make room for middle housing to address the state’s 
housing shortfall and meet the public need.  The allowance of middle housing in all residentially zoned 
areas should address the housing production needs identified in the 2019 Housing Needs Analysis (HNA).  
At the time the HNA was drafted, “66-80% of the total housing stock [was] owned by part-time residents”.  
While the Buildable Lands Inventory (BLI) identified a surplus of residential buildable lands, low wages 
and high housing costs have been barriers to housing production for full-time residents.   
 

13. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 11.  Public Facilities and Services: to plan efficient 
arrangement of public facilities and services to serve as a framework for urban and rural development. 

 
FINDING: This criterion has been met.  The proposed amendments address the coordination for public 
facilities and services necessary to provide for middle housing within the UGB.   
 

14. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 12.  Transportation 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

15. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 13.  Energy Conservation 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

16. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 14.  Urbanization 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

17. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 15.  Wilamette River Greenway 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

18. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 16.  Estuarine Resources 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

19. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 17.  Coastal Shorelands 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

20. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 18.  Beaches and Dunes 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 
 

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A



 
 

Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, and 2025-04  Page 6 of 6 
Staff Report 

21. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 6.  Ocean Resources 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 
CONCLUSION:  The findings of the planning staff support the proposed amendments to the City of Rockaway 
Beach Zoning Ordinance, Subdivision Ordinance, and Comprehensive Plan, which were recommended for approval 
by the Rockaway Beach Planning Commission on April 17, 2025.   
 
The amendments are consistent with the applicable criteria. 
 
Accordingly, the City of Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance, Subdivision Ordinance, and Comprehensive Plan 
shall be updated to reflect the changes as presented. 
 
In making a decision, the Rockaway Beach Council Commission may recommend approval of the amendments to 
the City of Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance, Subdivision Ordinance, and Comprehensive Plan, as recommended 
by planning staff or with modifications. 

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A



You don't often get email from cityplanner@corb.us. Learn why this is important

From: MARQUARDT Ryan * DLCD
To: City Planner
Cc: ESTES Brett * DLCD
Subject: RE: HB 4064
Date: Wednesday, May 14, 2025 8:20:17 AM

Hi Mary,
Apologies that it took me a while to do a more in-depth review. Everything in the zoning
code amendments looks to be in good shape.
 
I have one observation about the middle housing land division amendments. The
codification of ORS 92.031 looks good overall. There are some parts of the amendments
that go beyond what is in ORS (e.g. existing conditions requirements, city manager
approval process). While I don’t see those as inherently problematic, the city does assume
some risk in codifying requirements, processes, and criteria beyond what is established in
statute. We’d recommend consulting the city’s legal counsel if you have questions or
concerns about this.
 
Ryan Marquardt, AICP
Housing Planner | Housing Accountability and Production Office
Pronouns: he/him
Cell: 971-375-5659 | Main: 503-373-0050
ryan.marquardt@dlcd.oregon.gov | www.oregon.gov/LCD
 
From: City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us> 
Sent: Thursday, April 17, 2025 3:14 PM
To: MARQUARDT Ryan * DLCD <Ryan.Marquardt@dlcd.oregon.gov>
Subject: RE: HB 4064

 

Hi Ryan,
 
Thank you for your response.  I look forward to hearing if you have any concerns regarding our
middle housing code once you’ve had a chance to review it more thoroughly.
 
 

Mary Johnson
City Planner
City of Rockaway Beach
(503) 374-1752
276 S Hwy 101 | PO Box 5 | Rockaway Beach, OR 97136
www.corb.us | cityplanner@corb.us  

 
PUBLIC RECORDS LAW DISCLOSURE: Emails are generally public records and therefore subject to public disclosure unless exempt
from disclosure under Oregon Public Records Law. Emails can be sent inadvertently to unintended recipients and contain confidential or
privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient (or authorized to receive for the recipient), please advise by return email and
delete immediately without reading or forwarding to others.
 
 

From: MARQUARDT Ryan * DLCD <Ryan.Marquardt@dlcd.oregon.gov> 

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A

mailto:cityplanner@corb.us
https://aka.ms/LearnAboutSenderIdentification
mailto:Ryan.Marquardt@dlcd.oregon.gov
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us
mailto:Brett.Estes@dlcd.oregon.gov
mailto:ryan.marquardt@dlcd.oregon.gov
http://www.oregon.gov/LCD
http://www.corb.us/
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us
mailto:Ryan.Marquardt@dlcd.oregon.gov


Sent: Thursday, April 17, 2025 11:02 AM
To: City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us>
Cc: ESTES Brett * DLCD <Brett.Estes@dlcd.oregon.gov>
Subject: RE: HB 4064

 
Hi Mary,
Regarding the middle housing code revisions – the amendments look good. On the whole,
it appears that the amendments are in alignment with OAR 660-046 and ORS 92.031,
though I didn’t do a line-by-line reading of the amendments compared with the state statute
and rules.
 
Regarding manufactured dwellings and regulations in 4.091 and 4.095 – it does appear that
these sections are out of compliance with SB 406. See highlighted text in ORS 197.478(4)
for the regulations that can apply to a manufactured dwelling  -
https://www.oregonlegislature.gov/bills_laws/ors/ors197.html#:~:text=
(4)%20A%20local%20government%20may%20not%20subject,Dwelling%20Code%20as%
20defined%20in%20ORS%20455.010. Consistent with ORS 197.646, the city should
review manufactured housing consistent with the ORS until amendments to these code
sections are adopted.
 
In the next week, I’ll try to do a more thorough review of the middle housing amendments.
Please let me know if you have any questions at this point.
Thanks!
-Ryan
 
Ryan Marquardt, AICP
Housing Planner | Housing Accountability and Production Office
Pronouns: he/him
Cell: 971-375-5659 | Main: 503-373-0050
ryan.marquardt@dlcd.oregon.gov | www.oregon.gov/LCD
 
From: ESTES Brett * DLCD <Brett.Estes@dlcd.oregon.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, April 17, 2025 10:14 AM
To: City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us>
Cc: MARQUARDT Ryan * DLCD <Ryan.Marquardt@dlcd.oregon.gov>
Subject: RE: HB 4064

 
Hi Mary,
 
I am pulling in Ryan Marquardt on this question to see if he can fill in any gaps on this issue the
consultant raised.  Ryan, see below from Mary in Rockaway Beach.
 
Mary, I would note that Ryan is also working to review the code amendments going to Planning
Commission.  He is doing his best to get any comments to you as soon as possible.  I wanted to
let you know that the amendments are being looked at.

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A

mailto:cityplanner@corb.us
mailto:Brett.Estes@dlcd.oregon.gov
https://www.oregonlegislature.gov/bills_laws/ors/ors197.html#:~:text=(4)%20A%20local%20government%20may%20not%20subject,Dwelling%20Code%20as%20defined%20in%20ORS%20455.010
https://www.oregonlegislature.gov/bills_laws/ors/ors197.html#:~:text=(4)%20A%20local%20government%20may%20not%20subject,Dwelling%20Code%20as%20defined%20in%20ORS%20455.010
https://www.oregonlegislature.gov/bills_laws/ors/ors197.html#:~:text=(4)%20A%20local%20government%20may%20not%20subject,Dwelling%20Code%20as%20defined%20in%20ORS%20455.010
mailto:ryan.marquardt@dlcd.oregon.gov
http://www.oregon.gov/LCD
mailto:Brett.Estes@dlcd.oregon.gov
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us
mailto:Ryan.Marquardt@dlcd.oregon.gov


 
Thanks!
Brett
 
Brett Estes   
North Coast Regional Representative | Coastal Division
Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development
635 Capitol Street NE, Suite 150 | Salem, OR 97301-2540
Cell: 503-881-0667 | Main: 503-373-0050
brett.estes@dlcd.oregon.gov | www.oregon.gov/LCD
 
From: City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us> 
Sent: Thursday, April 17, 2025 9:33 AM
To: ESTES Brett * DLCD <Brett.Estes@dlcd.oregon.gov>
Subject: HB 4064

 
Hi Brett,
 
When our consultants were reviewing our code for SB 406, they noted that our manufactured
dwelling sitting criteria is out of compliance with HB 4064 – noting that our standards are no
longer authorized by statute unless they also apply to site-built homes.
 
I was curious if DLCD had any guidance or information they could share on this?  I plan to make
updates to this once we finish the SB406 and PICM updates.
 
Thanks,
 
 

Mary Johnson
City Planner
City of Rockaway Beach
(503) 374-1752
276 S Hwy 101 | PO Box 5 | Rockaway Beach, OR 97136
www.corb.us | cityplanner@corb.us  

 
PUBLIC RECORDS LAW DISCLOSURE: Emails are generally public records and therefore subject to public disclosure unless exempt
from disclosure under Oregon Public Records Law. Emails can be sent inadvertently to unintended recipients and contain confidential or
privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient (or authorized to receive for the recipient), please advise by return email and
delete immediately without reading or forwarding to others.
 

 

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A

mailto:brett.estes@dlcd.oregon.gov
http://www.oregon.gov/LCD
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us
mailto:Brett.Estes@dlcd.oregon.gov
http://www.corb.us/
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us


From: Mathew Hogan from Fair Housing Council of Oregon
To: City Planner
Subject: RE: PAPA file Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, & 2025-04
Date: Thursday, April 17, 2025 9:33:29 AM

I look forward to it. Thanks for all your communication, Mary!

Mathew Hogan
Fair Housing Council of Oregon
Phone: (406) 439 0950

For the latest on the PAPA Project and our feedback & technical advice methodology,
please read the PAPAs section at our partner website, here.

On Thu, Apr 17, 2025 at 9:29 AM, City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us> wrote: 

Hi Mathew,

 

Of course – we are working with Cascadia Partners.  I’ve added their contacts below.

 

Also, I will be adding a supplemental staff report for this evening’s meeting to address Goal 10.  I’ll
send you a copy shortly.

 

Jamin Kimmell jamin@cascadia-partners.com;

Rachel Cotton rachel@cascadia-partners.com

 

 

Mary Johnson
City Planner

City of Rockaway Beach
(503) 374-1752
276 S Hwy 101 | PO Box 5 | Rockaway Beach, OR 97136

www.corb.us | cityplanner@corb.us  

 

PUBLIC RECORDS LAW DISCLOSURE: Emails are generally public records and therefore subject to public disclosure unless
exempt from disclosure under Oregon Public Records Law. Emails can be sent inadvertently to unintended recipients and contain
confidential or privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient (or authorized to receive for the recipient), please advise by
return email and delete immediately without reading or forwarding to others.

 

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A

mailto:mathew.jamesfhco@gmail.com
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us
https://tinyurl.com/HLAdvocates
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us
mailto:jamin@cascadia-partners.com
mailto:rachel@cascadia-partners.com
http://www.corb.us/
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us


 

From: Mathew Hogan from Fair Housing Council of Oregon <mathew.jamesfhco@gmail.com> 
Sent: Thursday, April 17, 2025 9:25 AM
To: City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us>
Subject: RE: PAPA file Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, & 2025-04

Good morning Mary,
I was thing about this amendment, and I was wondering if you could share  who
your consultants are.

Mathew Hogan
Fair Housing Council of Oregon
Phone: (406) 439 0950

 

For the latest on the PAPA Project and our feedback & technical advice
methodology, please read the PAPAs section at our partner website, here.

On Wed, Apr 16, 2025 at 4:00 PM, Mathew Hogan from Fair Housing Council of Oregon
<mathew.jamesfhco@gmail.com> wrote:

Hi Mary, Thank you for the prompt reply. Yes, you will need to cite the HNA and
BLI so that you can find how this will impact housing based on what it says in
those documents. We will need to see more as far as Goal 10 is concerned.
Please see this link for help
https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/UP/Documents/HB_2001_Findings_Guidance.pdf.

Mathew Hogan
Fair Housing Council of Oregon
Phone: (406) 439 0950

 

For the latest on the PAPA Project and our feedback & technical advice
methodology, please read the PAPAs section at our partner website, here.

On Wed, Apr 16, 2025 at 2:06 PM, City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us> wrote:

Hi Matthew,

 

Thanks for reviewing the report.  I had prepared a slightly more detailed version, but our
consultants advised that I should hold off on that until the Council hearing.  I’ve attached it
here and am curious if you think this sufficiently addresses Goal 10?  I didn’t reference the
HNA or BLI, so I’m not sure if it is enough.

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A

mailto:mathew.jamesfhco@gmail.com
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us
https://tinyurl.com/HLAdvocates
mailto:mathew.jamesfhco@gmail.com
https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/UP/Documents/HB_2001_Findings_Guidance.pdf
https://tinyurl.com/HLAdvocates
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us


 

Thanks for your thoughts.

 

 

Mary Johnson
City Planner

City of Rockaway Beach
(503) 374-1752
276 S Hwy 101 | PO Box 5 | Rockaway Beach, OR 97136

www.corb.us | cityplanner@corb.us  

 

PUBLIC RECORDS LAW DISCLOSURE: Emails are generally public records and therefore subject to public disclosure
unless exempt from disclosure under Oregon Public Records Law. Emails can be sent inadvertently to unintended recipients and
contain confidential or privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient (or authorized to receive for the recipient),
please advise by return email and delete immediately without reading or forwarding to others.

 

 

From: Mathew Hogan from Fair Housing Council of Oregon <mathew.jamesfhco@gmail.com>
Sent: Wednesday, April 16, 2025 2:00 PM
To: City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us>
Subject: RE: PAPA file Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, & 2025-04

Hi Mary,
Thank you for sending the link to the Staff Report. It's a great amendment, I
think the board here would just like to see the section addressing Goal 10 be a
bit more specific.
It currently says that you will address Goal 10 when you implement the
ordinance but it should be addressed at this stage.
How, specifically, will Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, & 2025-04 meet the city's
housing goals? Many cities make reference to Housing Needs Assessment
(HNA) or their Buildable Lands Inventory (BLI).
This may be helpful to you, Findings Guidance. Let me know if I can help in
some way, we would love to submit a positive letter in support of this
amendment for the hearing on 4/17/25.

Powered by HubSpot.

On Tue, Apr 8, 2025 at 10:05 AM, City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us> wrote:

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A

http://www.corb.us/
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us
mailto:mathew.jamesfhco@gmail.com
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us
https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/UP/Documents/HB_2001_Findings_Guidance.pdf
https://app.hubspot.com/signup-hubspot/sales?uuid=ca5143d7-cf10-4bd4-b040-8d1e858196e7&utm_medium=virality&utm_campaign=hubspot-email-plugin-virality
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us


Hi Mathew,

 

The staff report is not yet available.  Please check back on our website this Thursday for all
of the requested documents.  Here’s the link to the page where they will be posted:
Planning Commission – City of Rockaway Beach

 

 

Mary Johnson
City Planner

City of Rockaway Beach
(503) 374-1752
276 S Hwy 101 | PO Box 5 | Rockaway Beach, OR 97136

www.corb.us | cityplanner@corb.us  

 

PUBLIC RECORDS LAW DISCLOSURE: Emails are generally public records and therefore subject to public disclosure
unless exempt from disclosure under Oregon Public Records Law. Emails can be sent inadvertently to unintended recipients
and contain confidential or privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient (or authorized to receive for the
recipient), please advise by return email and delete immediately without reading or forwarding to others.

 

 

From: Mathew Hogan from Fair Housing Council of Oregon
<mathew.jamesfhco@gmail.com> 
Sent: Tuesday, April 8, 2025 9:57 AM
To: City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us>
Subject: PAPA file Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, & 2025-04

Good morning Mary,

My name is Mathew Hogan and I am conducting outreach for the Fair Housing
Council of Oregon (FHCO). I was hoping to obtain the staff report and all
corresponding attachments for Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, & 2025-04 the “Text
changes to the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance and Subdivision
Ordinance to make room for Middle Housing Types in Tillamook County in response
to SB406.“ when available. We will be reviewing the staff report predominantly for
Statewide Planning Goal 10 compliance.

If we do have any commentary or concerns my colleagues and I will be in touch to
advise. We hope this can be a collaborative process. Please confirm receipt of this e-
mail, and I look forward to hearing from you soon.

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A

https://corb.us/planning-commission/
http://www.corb.us/
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us
mailto:mathew.jamesfhco@gmail.com
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us


Very Respectfully,

Mathew Hogan
Fair Housing Council of Oregon
Phone: (503) 928-8597
E-mail: Mathew.JamesFHCO@gmail.com
For the latest on the PAPA Project and our feedback & technical advice methodology, please read the
PAPAs section at our partner website, here.

Powered by HubSpot.

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A

tel:(503)%20928-4943
mailto:Sbrmdz@protonmail.com
mailto:athew.JamesFHCO@gmail.com
https://housinglandadvocates.wordpress.com/what-we-do/
https://app.hubspot.com/signup-hubspot/sales?uuid=df7818d2-985b-4a00-8ed8-7be795156ff6&utm_medium=virality&utm_campaign=hubspot-email-plugin-virality


ROCKAWAY BEACH 

ZONING ORDINANCE 
 

[…] 

 

Article 4. Supplementary Provisions. 

[…] 

Section 4.043. Multifamily-unit Siting Criteria ...................................................................... X 

Section 4.044. Townhouse Projects ................................................................................... X 

Section 4.045. Triplex and Quadplex Dwellings .................................................................. X 

Section 4.046. Cottage Clusters ......................................................................................... X 

[…] 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



Section 1.030. Definitions. As used in this ordinance the following words and phrases shall mean: 

[…] 

(6) Building. A structure, including modular housing and manufactured homes, built for the support, shelter, or 

enclosure of persons, animals, or property of any kind, and having a fixed base on, or fixed base to the ground. 

[Amended by Ordinance #94- 308, February 9, 1994] 

[…] 

(16) Dwelling Unit. One or more rooms in a building that are designed for occupancy by one family and 

which contain one or more of the following features: 1) refrigeration and cooking capabilities, 2) a sink 

intended for meal preparation, not including a 'wet bar', 3) a dishwashing machine, 4) a separate and 

distinct entrance door, and/or 5) a separate utility meter. A single unit providing complete independent living 

facilities for 1 or more persons, including provisions for living, sleeping, cooking and sanitation. Provisions for cooking 

shall mean an area used, or designated to be used, for the preparation of food.  

(17) Dwelling, Single-Family or One Family Unit. A detached building containing one dwelling unit and 

designed for occupancy by one family only dwelling unit built and intended for occupancy by one household, built on 

a single lot or parcel, constructed on site or elsewhere. Detached modular homes (aka prefabricated buildings) 

consisting of multiple modules constructed off site, are considered single detached dwellings. Dwelling units on 

individual lots that are part of a cottage cluster are not single detached dwellings. 

(18) Dwelling, Duplex or Two Family. Two dwelling units in any configuration. Both units of a duplex must be 

built on a single lot or parcel, or located on two child lots created through a middle housing land division. 

(19) Dwelling, Townhouse. A dwelling unit that is part of a row of two or more attached dwelling units, where 

each unit is located on an individual lot or parcel and shares at least one common wall with an adjacent dwelling unit. 

(20) Dwelling, Triplex. Three dwelling units in any configuration. All three units must be built on a single lot or 

parcel, or located on three child lots created through a middle housing land division. 

(21) Dwelling, Quadplex. Four dwelling units in any configuration. All four units must be built on a single lot or 

parcel, or located on four child lots created through a middle housing land division. 

(22) Dwelling, Multifamily Multi-unit. A building or portion thereof, designed for occupancy by three or more 

families living independently of each other. A residential structure containing five or more dwelling units sharing 

common walls or floors and ceilings, built on a single lot or parcel. 

(23) Dwelling, Cottage Cluster. A grouping of no fewer than four detached dwelling units per acre with a 

footprint of less than 900 square feet each, located on a single lot or parcel that includes a common courtyard or 

located on child lots created through a middle housing land division. 

 

[…] 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



[…Renumber remaining sections] 

(XX) Lot A parcel or tract of land. or parcel. Any legally created unit of land. 

 
(XX) Lot, Parent / Lot, Child. Parent lot refers to a lot of record or a lot in a subdivision, partition, or middle 
housing land division which is developed, or proposed to be developed, with 2 or more townhouses or other type 
of middle housing, and which may therefore be further divided to allow individual ownership of each dwelling 
unit. Child lot refers to the unit(s) of land created from a parent lot. A child lot created through a middle housing 
land division is also referred to as a middle housing lot. Only one dwelling unit is permitted on each 
resulting middle housing lot. 
 
(XX)  Middle Housing. A category of housing types that includes duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, cottage 
clusters, and townhouses    
 
(XX)  Middle Housing Land Division. The partition or subdivision of a lot or parcel on which the 
development of middle housing is allowed under ORS 197.758 (2). A middle housing land division is an action 
distinct from other types of land divisions per this Oregon law. Further division of lots or parcels resulting from 
a middle housing land division are prohibited. 
 
(XX) Townhouse Project. One or more townhouse structures constructed, or proposed to be constructed, 
together with the development site where the land has been divided, or is proposed to be divided, to reflect the 
Townhouse property lines and the any commonly owned property. 
 
(XX) Sufficient Infrastructure.  The following level of public services to serve new Triplexes, Quadplexes, 
Townhouses, or Cottage Cluster development: 

(1) Connection to a public sewer system capable of meeting established service levels. 
(2) Connection to a public water system capable of meeting established service levels. 
(3) Access via public or private streets meeting adopted emergency vehicle access standards to a 
city’s public street system. 
(4) Storm drainage facilities capable of meeting established service levels for storm drainage. 

 
[…] 
 
Section 2.020. Classification of Zones. For the purposes of this ordinance the following zones are hereby 
established: 
 
Zone …………………………………………………………………………………...…………… Abbreviated Designation 
 
Residential…………………………………………………………..…………………………………………………… R-1  
 
Medium Density Residential …………………………………………………………..…………………………………R-2 
 
Lower Density Residential.…………………………………………………………………………...………………..… R-3 
 
Resort Residential……………………………………………………………………………...……………………..…… R-R 
 
Special Residential Resort…………………………………………………………………..……………………...…… SRR 
 
Commercial………………………………………………………………………………...…………………..…………… C-1 
 
Waterfront Development.……………………………………………………..…………………………….…………..… WD 
 
Special Area Wetland…………………………………………………………………………………………...…..……… SA 
 
Residential Manufactured Dwellings……………………………………………………………………………....…… RMD 
 
Some areas within the City are also hereby included in one or more of the following overlay districts, each of which 
has special provisions that, along with the provisions of the basic zoning district, govern the use of property. 
 
Overlay Zone.……………………………………………………………….……………...……… Abbreviated Designation 
 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



Flood Hazard Overlay……………………………………………………………………………………...…………..… FHO 
 
Hazard Overlay…………………………………………………………………………………………………………...… HO 
 
Wetland Notification……………………………………………………………………………..………………………… WO 
[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 
 
[…] 
 
Section 3.010. Single Family Residential (R-1) Zone In an R-1 zone the following regulations shall apply: 

(1) Uses Permitted Outright. In an R-1 zone the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted 

outright: 

 (a) Single-family unit dwellings, including modular housing and manufactured homes. Manufactured 
homes shall be subject to the standards of the Section 4.091. 
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #94-308, February 9, 1994] 
 
 (b) Middle housing 
 
 […Re-letter remaining sections] 
 
(2) Conditional Uses Permitted. In an R-1 zone the following conditional uses and their accessory uses are 
permitted subject to the provisions of Article 6. 
 
 (a) Duplexes. 
 
 (b) Churches and community meeting buildings. 
 
 (c) Golf course, tennis courts, swimming pools and other private recreation areas. 
 
 (d) Parks and publicly owned recreation areas. 
 
 (e) Public utility structure such as a substation. 
 
 (f) Government or municipal structures. 
 
 (g) Public owned parking lot. 
  
 (h) Non-profit conference ground or center operated for educational, charitable, or religious 
purposes, meeting the standards of Section 6.050. 
 
 (i) Bed and breakfast. 
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990; Title only amended Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 
1990] 
 
(3) Standards. In an R-1 zone the following standards shall apply: 
 
 (a) For single unit dwellings and duplexes, the minimum lot size shall be 3,500 square feet for lots 
existing at the time of the adoption of Ordinance 235. Lots platted after the adoption of Ordinance 235 shall have a 
minimum lot size of 5,000 square feet. 
 
 (b) The average lot size for townhouses in a townhouse project shall be a minimum of 1,500 square 
feet. 
 
 (c) The minimum lot size for triplexes, quadplexes, and cottage clusters shall be 5,000 square feet.  
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985] 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



[…Re-letter remaining sections] 

 

 (b) The density of duplexes shall be: for lots existing prior to the adoption of Ordinance 235, a duplex 
is permitted on a lot with a minimum size of 3,500 square feet, for lots platted after the adoption of Ordinance 235, a 
duplex is permitted on a lot with a minimum size of 5,000 square feet. 

 
[Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985] 
 

(xx) Minimum lot width is 50 feet, except for lots between 3,500 and 4,999 square feet, the minimum lot 
width shall be 35 feet. For townhouses, the minimum lot width shall be 20 feet.  
 

(xx) Minimum lot depth is 70 feet, except for lots between 3,500 and 4,999 square feet, the minimum lot 
depth shall be 60 feet. 
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1990] 
 
 (xx) The minimum front yard shall be 15 feet, unless subsection 3.010(3)(h) applies.  
  
 [Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985] 
 
 (xx) The minimum side yard shall be 5 feet, except that on the street side of a corner lot it shall be 15 
feet. For townhouses, the minimum side yard along a common wall lot line where units are attached shall be 0 
feet. 
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985] 
 
 (xx) The minimum rear yard shall be 20 feet, except that on a corner lot it may be a minimum of 5 
feet unless subsection 3.010(3)(h) applies. Oceanfront structures shall conform to Section 5.060(1)(b). 
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #94-312, June 8, 1994] 
 
 (xx) For lots of less than 5,000 square feet in size, but more than 3,500 square feet, the minimum 
front yard shall be 15 feet and the minimum rear yard shall be 10 feet, except that on a corner lot the rear yard 
may be a minimum of 5 feet. For lots of 3,500 square feet in size or less, the minimum front yard and rear yard 
shall be ten feet, except that on a corner lot the rear yard may be a minimum of 5 feet. Notwithstanding the above, 
oceanfront structures shall conform to Section 5.060(1)(b). 
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #94-312, June 8, 1994] 
  
 (xx) For single unit dwellings, the maximum building height shall be 20 feet on the oceanfront and 24 
feet elsewhere, except east of Highway 101 it shall be 29 feet.  
 
 (xx) For middle housing, the maximum building height shall be 25 feet, except east of Highway 101 it 
shall be 29 feet.  
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #01-371, September 12, 2001] 
 
 (xx) A minimum of 30% of the lot will be maintained in natural vegetation or landscaping.  
 
 [Section (j) added by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1990] 
  
Section 3.020. Medium Density Residential Zone (R-2). In an R-2 zone the following regulations shall apply: 
 
(1) Uses Permitted Outright. In an R-2 zone the following uses are permitted outright: 
 
 (a) Single family unit dwellings, including modular housing and manufactured homes. Manufactured 
homes shall be subject to the standards of Section 4.091. 
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #94-308, February 9, 1994] 
 (b) Middle housing 
 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



 […Re-letter remaining sections] 
 
[…] 
 
(3) Standards and Criteria. In an R-2 zone the following standards and criteria shall apply: 
 

(a) For single unit dwellings and duplexes, the minimum lot size shall be 3,500 square feet for lots 
existing at the time of the adoption of Ordinance 235, lots platted after the adoption of Ordinance 
235 shall have a minimum size of 5,000 square feet.  
 

[Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985] 
 
 
 (b) The average lot size for townhouses in a townhouse project shall be a minimum of 1,500 square 

feet. 
 
 (c) The minimum lot size for triplexes, quadplexes, and cottage clusters shall be 5,000 square feet.  

[…Re-letter remaining sections] 

 
 (b) The density of duplexes shall be: for lots existing prior to the adoption of Ordinance 235, a 
duplex is permitted on a lot with a minimum size of 3,500 square feet; for lots platted after the adoption of 
Ordinance 235, a duplex is permitted on a lot with a minimum size of 5,000 square feet. 

 
[Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985] 
 
The density of multifamily multi-unit dwellings shall be 1,750 square feet of lot area per unit. The minimum 
lot size of a multifamily dwelling shall be 5,250 square feet. 

 

[Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985] 

 

(c) Minimum lot width is 50 feet, except for lots between 3,500 and 4,999 square feet, the minimum lot 
width shall be 35 feet. For townhouses, the minimum lot width shall be 20 feet. 

 

[Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1993] 

 

(d) Minimum lot depth is 70 feet, except for lots between 3,500 and 4,999 square feet, the minimum lot 
depth shall be 60 feet. 

 

[Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1993] 

 

(e) The minimum front yard shall be 15 feet for lots of more than 3,500 square feet. For lots of 3,500 
square feet or less, the minimum front yard shall be 10 feet. Notwithstanding the above, oceanfront structures shall 
conform to Section 5.060(1)(b). 

 

[Amended by Ordinance #239, February 11, 1986] 

 

(f) The minimum side yard shall be 5 feet, except that on the street side of a corner lot it shall be 15 
feet. For townhouses, the minimum side yard along a common wall lot line where units are attached shall be 0 feet.  

 

[Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985] 

 

(g) The minimum rear yard shall be five feet. Notwithstanding the above, oceanfront structures shall 
conform to Section 5.060(1)(b).  

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



 

(h) For single unit dwellings, the maximum building height shall be 20 feet on the oceanfront and 24 feet 
elsewhere, except east of Highway 101 it shall be 29 feet.  

 

(i) For middle housing, the maximum building height shall be 25 feet, except east of Highway 101 it shall be 
29 feet.  

 

[Amended by Ordinance #01-371, September 12, 2001] 

[…Re-letter remaining sections] 

 

[…] 

 

Section 3.030. Residential/Resort Zone (R-R). In an R-R zone the following regulations shall apply: 

 

(1) Uses Permitted Outright. In an R-R zone the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted 
outright: 

 

(a) Single family unit dwellings, including modular housing and manufactured homes. Manufactured 
homes shall be subject to the standards of Section 4.091. 

 

[Amended by Ordinance #94-308, February 9, 1994] 

 

(b) Duplexes Middle housing and multifamily multi-unit dwellings. 

  

(c) Home occupations (See Section 4.090). 

 

(d) Churches and community meeting buildings. 

 

(e) Signs subject to the provisions of Section 4.050. 

 

[…] 

 

(3) Standards. In the R-R, the following standards shall apply: 

 

(a) For single unit dwellings and duplexes, the minimum lot size shall be 3,500 square feet for lots 
existing at the time of the adoption of Ordinance 235. Lots platted after the adoption of Ordinance 235 shall have a 
minimum lot size of 5,000 square feet. 

 

(b)  The average lot size for townhouses in a townhouse project shall be a minimum of 1,500 square 
feet. 

 

(c) The minimum lot size for triplexes, quadplexes, and cottage clusters shall be 5,000 square feet.  

 

[Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985] 

 

(b) The density of duplexes shall be: for lots existing prior to the adoption of Ordinance 235, a duplex is 
permitted on a lot with a minimum size of 3,500 square feet; for lots platted after the adoption of Ordinance 235, a 
duplex is permitted on a lot with a minimum size of 5,000 square feet.  

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



 
[Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985] 

 
The density of multifamily multi-unit dwellings and condominiums shall be 1,750 square feet of lot area per unit. 
The minimum lot size for a multifamily dwelling shall be 5,250 square feet. 
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985] 
  
The maximum density of motels, hotels, and timeshare condominiums shall be one unit per 1,000 square feet of 
site area.  
 
[…Re-letter remaining sections] 
 
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985] 
 
 (c) Minimum lot width is 50 feet, except that for lots between 3,500 and 4,999 square feet, the 
minimum lot width shall be 35 feet. For townhouses, the minimum lot width shall be 20 feet.  
 
[Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1990] 
 
 (d) Minimum lot depth is 70 feet, except for lots between 3,500 and 4,999 square feet, the minimum 
lot depth shall be 60 feet. 
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1990] 
 
 (e) The minimum front yard shall be 15 feet unless subsection 3.030(3)(h) applies. [Amended by 
Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985] 
 
 (f) The minimum side yard shall be 5 feet, except that on the street side of a corner lot it shall be 15 
feet. For townhouses, the minimum side yard along a common wall lot line where units are attached shall be 0 
feet. 
 
  [Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985] 
 
 (g) The minimum rear yard shall be 20 feet, except that on a corner lot it may be a minimum of 5 
feet, unless subsection 3.030(3)(h) applies. Oceanfront structures shall conform to Section 5.060 (1)(b). 
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985] 
 
 (h) For lots of less than 5,000 square feet in size, but more than 3,500 square feet, the minimum 
front yard shall be 15 feet and the minimum rear yard shall be 10 feet, except that on a corner lot the rear yard 
may be a minimum of 5 feet. For lots of 3,500 square feet in size or less, the minimum front yard and rear yard 
shall be 10 feet, except that on a corner lot the rear yard may be a minimum of 5 feet. Notwithstanding the above, 
oceanfront structures shall conform to Section 5.060 (l)(b). 
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #239, February 11, 1986] 
 
 (xx) For single unit dwellings, the maximum building height shall be 20 feet on the oceanfront and 24 
feet elsewhere, except east of Highway 101 it shall be 29 feet. For property more than 2,000 feet from the Oregon 
Coordinate Line the maximum building height shall be 45 feet.   
 
 (xx) For middle housing, the maximum building height shall be 25 feet, except east of Highway 101 it 
shall be 29 feet. For property more than 2,000 feet from the Oregon Coordinate Line the maximum building height 
shall be 45 feet.   
 
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #01-371, September 12, 2001] 
 

[…] 
 
Section 3.040. Special Residential/Resort Zone (S/R/R). In a SR-R zone the following regulations shall apply: 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



 
 
(1) Uses Permitted Outright. In an S/R/R zone, the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted 
outright: 
 
 (a) Single family unit dwellings, including modular housing and manufactured homes. Manufactured 
homes shall be subject to the standards of Section 4.091. 
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #94-308, February 9, 1994] 
  
 (b) Duplexes Middle housing and multifamily multi-unit dwellings. 
 
 (c) Home Occupation (See Section 4.090). 
 
 (d) Government or municipal structure. 
 
 (e) Signs subject to the provisions of Section 4.050. 
 
 (f) Family day care center. 
 
 (g) Residential home and residential facility. 
 
[…] 
 
Section 3.050. Commercial Zone (C-1). 
 
[…] 
 
(2) Conditional Uses Permitted. In a C-1 zone, the following conditional uses and accessory uses are 
permitted: 
 
 (f) Single family unit dwellings including modular housing and manufactured homes, duplexes and 
multiple family multi-unit dwellings. Manufactured homes shall be subject to the standards of Section 4.091. 
 
[…] 
 
Section 3.090. Lower Density Residential Zone (R-3). In an R-3 zone the following regulations shall apply: 
 
(1) Uses Permitted Outright. In an R-3 zone, the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted 
outright: 
 
 (a) Single family unit dwellings, including modular housing and manufactured homes, duplexes 
middle housing and multifamily multi-unit homes. Manufactured homes shall be subject to the standards of Section 
4.091. 
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #94-308, February 9, 1994] 
 
[…] 
 
(3) Standards. In an R-3 zone, the following standards shall apply: 
 
 (a) Minimum lot size in an R-3 zone shall be 5,000 square feet except for townhouses, where 
average lot size for townhouses in a townhouse project shall be a minimum of 1,500 square feet, where sanitary 
sewer service is available, or will be made available, except as provided in (h) below; otherwise, minimum lot size 
shall be 7,000 square feet. 
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #163, May 14, 1979] 
 
 (b) Density limits for townhouses in this area shall be 25 dwellings per acre. Density limits for all 
other housing types in this area shall be 9 dwellings per acre, except for triplex, quadplex, and cottage cluster 
developments which are exempt from maximum density, and except as provided in (h) below.  
  

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



 [Amended by Ordinance #163, May 14, 1979] 
 
 (c) Minimum lot width is 50 feet, except that for lots between 3,500 and 4,999 square feet, the 
minimum lot width shall be 35 feet. For townhouses, the minimum lot width shall be 20 feet. 
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1993] 
 
 (d) Minimum lot depth is 70 feet, except for lots between 3,500 and 4,999 square feet, the minimum 
lot depth shall be 60 feet. 
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1993] 
 
 (e) Minimum front yard setback shall be 10 feet from the street right-of-way.  
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #163, May 14, 1979] 
  
 (f) Minimum setback on all other sides shall be 5 feet from the lot line. For townhouses, the 
minimum side yard along a common wall lot line where units are attached shall be 0 feet. 
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #163, May 14, 1979] 
  
 (g) For single unit dwellings, the maximum building height shall be 20 feet on the oceanfront and 24 feet 
elsewhere, except east of Highway 101 it shall be 29 feet.  
 
 (h) For middle housing, the maximum building height shall be 25 feet, except east of Highway 101 it 
shall be 29 feet.  
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #18-432, January 8, 2020] 

[…Re-letter remaining sections] 

 
 (xx) Where a proposed use is to be a Planned Unit Development involving residential structures, the 
Planning Commission may authorize an additional two dwelling units per acre if the development is properly 
designed. Planned developments over 20 acres or new planned developments added to the Urban Growth 
Boundary (UGB) after January 1, 2021, maximum density shall be 15 dwelling units per acre. For sites under 20 
acres, middle housing is not subject to density maximums except for townhouses, for which maximum density 
shall be 25 dwelling units per acre. Aesthetic, geologic and environmental factors shall be taken into account. The 
Planning Commission may require an engineering, geologic, or structural analysis where it appears that steep 
slopes or wetlands are to be used for construction purposes rather than open space. The Planning Commission 
may attach any reasonable conditions it sees fit in the course of the Planned Unit Development process. 
 
 (xx) The requirements of Section 4.041, Shorelands Development Criteria, shall be met where uses 
are to be located within 50 feet of a lake within the Rockaway Beach Urban Growth Boundary. 
 
 (xx) A minimum of 30% of the lot will be maintained in natural vegetation or landscaping.  
 
 [Section (j) added by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1990] 
 
 
Section 3.091. Residential Manufactured Dwelling Zone - RMD Zone. In an RMD Zone, the following 
regulations apply: 
 
(1) Uses Permitted Outright. In an RMD Zone, the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted 
outright: 
 
 (a) Single-family unit dwellings, including modular and Manufactured homes. Manufactured homes 
shall be subject to the standards of Section 4.091.  
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #94-308, February 9, 1994] 
 
 (b) Duplex. Middle housing. 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



 
 (c) Manufactured dwelling subject to Section 4.095. 
  
 (d) Signs subject to Section 4.050. 
 
[…] 
 
(3) Standards. In an RMD Zone, the following standards shall apply:  
 (Title amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 
 

(a) For single unit dwellings and duplexes, the minimum lot size shall be 3,500 square feet lots existing 
at the time of adoption of Ordinance 235. Lots platted after the adoption of Ordinance 235 shall have a minimum size 
of 5,000 square feet.  

 

(b) The average lot size for townhouses in a townhouse project shall be a minimum of 1,500 square 
feet.  

 

(c) The minimum lot size for triplexes, quadplexes, and cottage clusters shall be 5,000 square feet.  
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985] 
 
 (b) The density of duplexes shall be: for lots existing prior to the adoption of Ordinance 235, a 
duplex is permitted on a lot with a minimum size of 3,500 square feet; for lots platted after the adoption of 
Ordinance 235, a duplex is permitted on a lot with a minimum size of 5,000 square feet. 
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985] 
 
 (c) Minimum lot width is 50 feet, except that for lots between 3,500 and 4,999 square feet, the 
minimum lot width shall be 35 feet. For townhouses, the minimum lot width shall be 20 feet. 
 
 
[Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1990] 
 
 (d) Minimum lot depth is 70 feet, except for lots between 3,500 and 4,999 square feet, the minimum 
lot depth shall be 60 feet. 
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1990] 
 
 (e) The minimum front yard shall be 15 feet for lots of more than 3,500 square feet. For lots of 3,500 
square feet or less, the minimum front yard shall be 10 feet. Notwithstanding the above, oceanfront structures 
shall conform to Section 5.060(1)(b). 
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #257, May 24, 1988) 
 
 (f) Minimum side yard shall be 5 feet except that on the street side of a corner lot it shall be 15 feet. 
For townhouses, the minimum side yard along a common wall lot line where units are attached shall be 0 feet. 
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985] 
 
 (g) The minimum rear yard shall be 5 feet. Notwithstanding the above, oceanfront structures shall 
conform to Section 5.060(1)(b). 
 
[Amended by Ordinance #257, May 24, 1988] 
  
 (h) For single unit dwellings, the maximum building height shall be 20 feet on the oceanfront and 24 feet 
elsewhere, except east of Highway 101 it shall be 29 feet.  
 
 (i) For middle housing, the maximum building height shall be 25 feet, except east of Highway 101 it shall 
be 29 feet.  

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



[…Re-letter remaining sections] 

 
 [Amended by Ordinance #18-432, January 8, 2020] 
 
 [Amended by Ordinance #239, February 11, 1986] 
 
 (xx) A minimum of 30% of the lot will be maintained in natural vegetation or landscaping. 
 
  [Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24,1990] 
 
 
[…] 
 
Section 3.142 Tsunami Hazard Overlay Zone 
 
[…] 
 
(6) Evacuation Route Improvement Requirements. Except existing single family unit dwellings on 
existing lots and parcels, all new development, substantial improvements and land divisions in the Tsunami 
Hazard Overlay Zone shall incorporate evacuation measures and improvements, including necessary vegetation 
management, which are consistent with and conform to the adopted Tsunami Evacuation Facilities Improvement 
Plan. Such measures may include: 
 
[…] 
 
Section 4.043. Multifamily Multi-Unit Siting Criteria. In any zone where a multifamily multi-unit dwelling is 
proposed, the Planning Commission shall review the plans under the following criteria: 
 
[…] 
 
Section 4.060. Off-Street Parking and Off-Street Loading Requirements. At the time a new structure is 
erected, or the use of an existing structure is enlarged, off-street parking spaces, loading spaces, and access 
thereto shall be provided as set forth in this section, unless greater requirements are otherwise established. 
 
[…] 
 
(18) Off-Street Parking Space Requirements. 
 
 (a) Single unit dwelling………………………………………...……..Two spaces per dwelling unit. 
 
 (b) Duplex, townhouse or cottage cluster……………………………One space per dwelling unit. 
 
 (c) Triplex…………………………………………………………..…..One space for lots less than 3,000 
square feet; Two spaces for lots greater than or equal to 3,000 and less than 5,000 square feet; Three spaces for lots 
greater than or equal to 5,000 square feet.  
 
 (d)  Quadplex…………………………………………………………..One space for lots less than 3,000 
square feet; Two spaces for lots greater than or equal to 3,000 and less than 5,000 square feet; Three spaces for lots 
greater than or equal to 5,000 square feet and less than 7,000 square feet; Four spaces for lots greater than or equal 
to 7,000 square feet.  

[…Renumber remaining sections] 

 
Section 5.050. General Exception to Lot Size Requirements. 
 
(1) No parcel of land less than 1,750 square feet shall support a residential use, except townhouses where 
the average lot size for townhouses in a townhouse project shall be a minimum of 1,500 square feet. 
 
(2) If a lot does not meet the minimum lot size requirements of the zone in which the property is located, 
residential use shall be limited to a single family unit dwelling or duplex or to the number of dwelling units 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



consistent with the density limitations of the zone.  
 
(3)  A single unit dwelling may be converted to middle housing per OAR 660-046-0230.  
 
[…] 
 
Section 5.060. General Exceptions to Yard Requirements. 
 
[…] 
 
(2) The required width of a side yard may be reduced to 10 percent of the width of the lot, but not less than 
3 feet, except for the street side of a corner lot which must maintain an adequate clear vision area. For 
townhouses, the minimum side yard along a common wall lot line where units are attached shall be 0 feet. 
 
 
[…] 
 
Article 7. Nonconforming Uses. 
 
Section 7.030. Change of Nonconforming Use.  
[…] 
 
(3) Non-conforming single-unit dwellings may be converted to middle housing through additions or 
conversions of internal space, provided that the addition or conversion does not increase nonconformance with 
applicable standards of this ordinance. 
 
 
Article 10. Planned Unit Development (PUD) 
 
[…] 
 
Section 10.030. Permitted Buildings and Uses. The following buildings and uses may be permitted as 
hereinafter provided. Buildings and uses may be permitted either singly or in combination provided the overall 
density of the Planned Unit Development does not exceed the density of the parent zone as provided in this 
ordinance. 
 
(1) Single-family dwellings including detached, attached, or semi-detached units, row houses, atrium or 
patio houses, provided each has its own separate plot. Single unit dwellings, middle housing, and multi-unit 
dwellings.  
 
Section 10.040. Development Standards. 
 
[…] 
 
(3) Density. The density of a planned development shall not exceed the density of the parent zone, except 
as more restrictive regulations may be prescribed as a condition of the PUD permit. The maximum density of a 
planned development over 20 acres shall be 15 dwelling units per acre. A planned development less than 20 acres 
shall have no density maximum. When calculating density, the gross area is used (total area including street 
dedications). Areas of public uses may be included in calculating allowable density. 
 
[…] 
 
Section 4.04X Townhouse Projects 

(1) Sufficient Infrastructure. Applicants must demonstrate that Sufficient Infrastructure is provided, or will be 

provided, upon submittal of a townhouse development application. 

 

(2) Design Standards for Townhouses. 

 

(a) Entry Orientation. The main entrance of each townhouse must:  

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



 

(i) Be within 8 feet of the longest street-facing wall of the dwelling unit, if the lot has public street 

frontage; and  

 

(ii) Either:  

 

(A) Face the street (see Figure 1);  

(B) Be at an angle of up to 45 degrees from the street (see Figure 2); 

(C) Face a common open space or private access or driveway that is abutted by dwellings on at 

least two sides; or  

(D) Open onto a porch (see Figure 3). The porch must:  

• Be at least 25 square feet in area; and  

• Have at least one entrance facing the street or have a roof 

 

(b) Unit definition. Each townhouse must include at least one of the following on at least one street-facing 

façade (see Figure 4):  

 

(i) A roof dormer a minimum of 4 feet in width, or  

(ii) A balcony a minimum of 2 feet in depth and 4 feet in width and accessible from an interior room, or  

(iii) A bay window that extends from the facade a minimum of 2 feet, or  

(iv) An offset of the facade of a minimum of 2 feet in depth, either from the neighboring townhouse or 

within the façade of a single townhouse, or  

(v) An entryway that is recessed a minimum of 3 feet, or  

(vi) A covered entryway with a minimum depth of 4 feet, or  

(vii) A porch meeting the standards of subsection (2)(a)(D) of this section (4.04X.02).  

Balconies and bay windows may encroach into a required setback area. 

Figure 1. Main Entrance Facing the Street 

 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



Figure 2. Main Entrance at 45°Angle from the Street 

 

Figure 3. Main Entrance Opening onto a Porch 

 

Figure 4. Townhouse Unit Definition 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



 

 

(c) Windows. A minimum of 15 percent of the area of all street-facing facades on each individual unit must 
include windows or entrance doors. Half of the window area in the door of an attached garage may 
count toward meeting this standard (see Figure 5). 

Figure 5. Window Coverage 

 
 

(d) Driveway Access and Parking. Townhouses with frontage on a public street shall meet the following 
standards:  

 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



(i) Garages on the front façade of a townhouse, off-street parking areas in the front yard, and 
driveways in front of a townhouse are allowed if they meet the following standards (see Figure 6). 
 
(A) Each townhouse lot has a street frontage of at least 15 feet on a local street.  
(B) A maximum of one (1) driveway approach is allowed for every townhouse. Driveway 

approaches and/or driveways may be shared.  
(C) Outdoor on-site parking and maneuvering areas do not exceed 12 feet wide on any lot.  
(D) The garage width does not exceed 12 feet, as measured from the inside of the garage door 

frame. 

Figure 6. Townhouses with Parking in Front Yard 

 

(ii) The following standards apply to driveways and parking areas for townhouse projects that do not 
meet all of the standards in subsection (i).  
 
(A) Off-street parking areas shall be accessed on the back façade or located in the rear yard. No 

off-street parking shall be allowed in the front yard or side yard of a townhouse.  
(B) A townhouse project that includes a corner lot shall take access from a single driveway 

approach on the side of the corner lot. See Figure 7. 
(C) Townhouse projects that do not include a corner lot shall consolidate access for all lots into a 

single driveway. The driveway and approach are not allowed in the area directly between the 
front façade and front lot line of any of the townhouses. See Figure 8. 

(D) A townhouse project that includes consolidated access or shared driveways shall grant access 
easements to allow normal vehicular access and emergency access. 
 

(iii) Townhouse projects in which all units take exclusive access from a rear alley are exempt from 
compliance with subsection (ii). 

 
(3) Process. Townhouse structures are reviewed for compliance with these standards as part of the building 

permit application.  

Figure 7. Townhouses on Corner Lot with Shared Access 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



 

Figure 8. Townhouses with Consolidated Access 

 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



Section 4.04X. Triplex and Quadplex Dwellings 

(1) Sufficient Infrastructure. Applicants must demonstrate that Sufficient Infrastructure is provided, or will be 
provided, upon submittal of a townhouse development application. 
 

(2) Design Standards for Triplex and Quadplex Dwellings. 
 
(a) Entry Orientation. At least one main entrance for each triplex or quadplex structure must meet the 

standards in subsections (i) and (ii) below. Any detached structure for which more than 50 percent of its 
street-facing facade is separated from the street property line by a dwelling is exempt from meeting these 
standards. 
 
(i) The entrance must be within 8 feet of the longest street-facing wall of the dwelling unit; and 
(ii) The entrance must either:  

 
(A) Face the street (see Figure 9); 
(B) Be at an angle of up to 45 degrees from the street (see Figure 10);  
(C) Face a common open space that is adjacent to the street and is abutted by dwellings on at least 

two sides (see Figure 11); or 
(D) Open onto a porch (see Figure 12). The porch must:  

 

• Be at least 25 square feet in area; and 

• Have at least one entrance facing the street or have a roof. 

Figure 9. Main Entrance Facing the Street 

 
  

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



Figure 10. Main Entrance at 45° Angle from the Street 

 

Figure 11. Main Entrance Facing Common Open Space 

 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



Figure 12. Main Entrance Opening onto a Porch 

 

(b) Windows. A minimum of 15 percent of the area of all street-facing facades must include windows or 
entrance doors. Facades separated from the street property line by a dwelling are exempt from meeting 
this standard. See Figure 13. 

Figure 13. Window Coverage 

 

 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



(c) Garages and Off-Street Parking Areas. Garages and off-street parking areas shall not be located between 
a building and a public street (other than an alley), except in compliance with the standards in subsections 
(i) and (ii) of this subsection (2)(c).  
 
(i) The garage or off-street parking area is separated from the street property line by a dwelling; or  
(ii) The combined width of all garages and outdoor on-site parking and maneuvering areas does not 

exceed a total of 50 percent of the street frontage (see Figure 14). 

Figure 14. Width of Garages and Parking Areas 

 

(d) Driveway Approach. Driveway approaches must comply with the following: 
 
(i) The total width of all driveway approaches must not exceed 32 feet per frontage, as measured at 

the property line (see Figure 15). For lots or parcels with more than one frontage, see (d)(iii) of this 
subsection (Section 4.04X(2)).  

(ii) Driveway approaches may be separated when located on a local street (see Figure 15). If 
approaches are separated, they must meet driveway spacing standards applicable to local streets. 

(iii) In addition, lots or parcels with more than one frontage must comply with the following: 
(A) Lots or parcels must access the street with the lowest transportation classification for vehicle 

traffic. For lots or parcels abutting an improved alley (defined as an alley that meets the 
jurisdiction’s standards for width and pavement), access must be taken from the alley (see 
Figure 16).  

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



(B) Lots or parcels with frontages only on collectors and/or arterial streets must meet local access 
standards applicable to collectors and/or arterials.  

(C) Triplexes and quadplexes on lots or parcels with frontages only on local streets may have 
either:  
 

• Two driveway approaches not exceeding 32 feet in total width on one frontage; or 

• One maximum 16-foot-wide driveway approach per frontage (see Figure 17). 
 

(3) Process. Triplexes and quadplexes are reviewed for compliance with these standards as part of the building 
permit application. 

Figure 15. Driveway Approach Width and Separation on Local Street 

 
  

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



Figure 16. Alley Access 

 

Figure 17. Driveway Approach Options for Multiple Local Street Frontages 

 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



Section 4.04X. Cottage Clusters.  

(1) Sufficient Infrastructure. Applicants must demonstrate that Sufficient Infrastructure is provided, or will be 
provided, upon submittal of a townhouse development application. 
 

(2) Development Standards for Cottage Clusters. 
 
(a) Setbacks and Building Separation 

 
(i) Setbacks. The following standards are maximum setbacks for cottage clusters in all zones: 

(A) Front setbacks: 10 feet 
(B) Side setbacks: 5 feet 
(C) Rear setbacks: 10 feet 

 
(ii) Building Separation. Cottages shall be separated by a minimum distance of six (6) feet. The minimum 

distance between all other structures, including accessory structures, shall be in accordance with 
building code requirements 
 

(b) Average Unit Size. The maximum average floor area for a cottage cluster is 1,400 square feet per dwelling 
unit. Community buildings shall be included in the average floor area calculation for a cottage cluster. 

 
(3) Design Standards. Cottage clusters shall meet the design standards in subsections (a) through (h) of 

this section (3). No other design standards shall apply to cottage clusters unless noted in this section.  
 
(a) Cottage Orientation. Cottages must be clustered around a common courtyard, meaning they abut the 

associated common courtyard or are directly connected to it by a pedestrian path, and must meet the 
following standards (see Figure 18): 
 
(i) Each cottage within a cluster must either abut the common courtyard or must be directly 

connected to it by a pedestrian path. 
(ii) A minimum of 50 percent of cottages within a cluster must be oriented to the common courtyard 

and must: 
 
(A) Have a main entrance facing the common courtyard; 
(B) Be within 10 feet from the common courtyard, measured from the façade of the cottage to 

the nearest edge of the common courtyard; and 
(C) Be connected to the common courtyard by a pedestrian path. 

 
(iii) Cottages within 20 feet of a street property line may have their entrances facing the street. 
(iv) Cottages not facing the common courtyard or the street must have their main entrances facing a 

pedestrian path that is directly connected to the common courtyard. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



Figure 18. Cottage Cluster Orientation and Common Courtyard Standards 

 

 
(b) Common Courtyard Design Standards. Each cottage cluster must share a common courtyard in 

order to provide a sense of openness and community of residents. Common courtyards must meet 
the following standards (see Figure 19): 
 
(i) The common courtyard must be a single, contiguous piece. 
(ii) Cottages must abut the common courtyard on at least two sides of the courtyard. 
(iii) The common courtyard must contain a minimum of 150 square feet per cottage within the 

associated cluster (as defined in subsection (a) of this section (3)). 
(iv) The common courtyard must be a minimum of 15 feet wide at its narrowest dimension. 
(v) The common courtyard shall be developed with a mix of landscaping, lawn area, pedestrian 

paths, and/or paved courtyard area, and may also include recreational amenities. Impervious 
elements of the common courtyard shall not exceed 75 percent of the total common courtyard 
area. 

(vi) Pedestrian paths must be included in a common courtyard. Paths that are contiguous to a 
courtyard shall count toward the courtyard’s minimum dimension and area. Parking areas, 
required setbacks, and driveways do not qualify as part of a common courtyard. 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



Figure 19. Cottage Cluster Parking Design Standards 

 
 

(c) Community Buildings. Cottage cluster projects may include community buildings for the shared use 
of residents that provide space for accessory uses such as community meeting rooms, guest 
housing, exercise rooms, day care, or community eating areas. Community buildings must meet the 
following standards: 
 
(i) Each cottage cluster is permitted one community building, which shall count towards the 

maximum average floor area, pursuant to subsection (2)(b).  
(ii) A community building that meets the development code’s definition of a dwelling unit must meet 

the maximum 900 square foot footprint limitation that applies to cottages, unless a covenant is 
recorded against the property stating that the structure is not a legal dwelling unit and will not be 
used as a primary dwelling. 
 

(d) Pedestrian Access. 
 
(i) An accessible pedestrian path must be provided that connects the main entrance of each 

cottage to the following: 
 
(A) The common courtyard; 
(B) Shared parking areas; 
(C) Community buildings; and 
(D) Sidewalks in public rights-of-way abutting the site or rights-of-way if there are no sidewalks. 

 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



(ii) The pedestrian path must be hard-surfaced and a minimum of four (4) feet wide. 
 

(e) Windows. Cottages within 20 feet of a street property line must meet any window coverage 
requirement that applies to detached single unit dwellings in the same zone. 
 

(f) Parking Design (see Figure 20). 
 

(i) Clustered parking. Off-street parking may be arranged in clusters, subject to the following 
standards: 
 
(A) Cottage cluster projects with fewer than 16 cottages are permitted parking clusters of not 

more than five (5) contiguous spaces. 
(B) Cottage cluster projects with 16 cottages or more are permitted parking clusters of not more 

than eight (8) contiguous spaces. 
(C) Parking clusters must be separated from other spaces by at least four (4) feet of 

landscaping. 
(D) Clustered parking areas may be covered. 

 
(ii) Parking location and access. 

 
(A) Off-street parking spaces and vehicle maneuvering areas shall not be located: 

• within of 20 feet from any street property line, except alley property lines;  

• between a street property line and the front façade of cottages located closest to the 
street property line. This standard does not apply to alleys. 
 

(B) Off-street parking spaces shall not be located within 10 feet of any other property line, 
except alley property lines. Driveways and drive aisles are permitted within 10 feet of other 
property lines. 
 

(iii) Screening. Landscaping, fencing, or walls at least three feet tall shall separate clustered parking 
areas and parking structures from common courtyards and public streets. 
 

(iv) Garages and carports.  
 

(A) Garages and carports (whether shared or individual) must not abut common courtyards. 
(B) Individual attached garages up to 200 square feet shall be exempted from the calculation of 

maximum building footprint for cottages. 
(C) Individual detached garages must not exceed 400 square feet in floor area. 
(D) Garage doors for attached and detached individual garages must not exceed 20 feet in 

width. 
 

(g) Accessory Structures. Accessory structures must not exceed 400 square feet in floor area.  
 

(h) Existing Structures. On a lot or parcel to be used for a cottage cluster project, an existing detached 
single unit dwelling on the same lot at the time of proposed development of the cottage cluster may 
remain within the cottage cluster project area under the following conditions: 

 
(i) The existing dwelling may be nonconforming with respect to the requirements of this code. 
(ii) The existing dwelling may be expanded up to the maximum height allowed by the zone district 

or the maximum building footprint of 900 square feet; however, existing dwellings that exceed 
the maximum height and/or footprint of this code may not be expanded. 

(iii) The floor area of the existing dwelling shall not count towards the maximum average floor area 
of a cottage cluster. 

(iv) The existing dwelling shall be excluded from the calculation of orientation toward the common 
courtyard, per subsection (a)(1) of this section (3). 
 

(4) Process. Cottage clusters are reviewed for compliance with these standards as part of the building 
permit application. 

 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit B



 

ROCKAWAY BEACH 

ZONING ORDINANCE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
As Amended June 11, 2025 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



ROCKAWAY BEACH ZONING ORDINANCE 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Article 1. Introductory Provisions. 

Section 1.010. Title ............................................................................................................ 1 

Section 1.020. Purpose ...................................................................................................... 1 

Section 1.030. Definitions ................................................................................................... 1 

Article 2. Basic Provisions. 

Section 2.010. Compliance With Ordinances................................................................. 9 

Section 2.020. Classification of Zones........................................................................... 9 

Section 2.030. Location of Zones................................................................................... 10 

Section 2.040. Zoning Map............................................................................................. 10 

Section 2.050. Zone Boundaries.................................................................................... 10 

Section 2.060. Zoning of Annexed Areas........................................................................ 10 

Article 3. Use Zones. 

Section 3.010. Residential (R-1) Zone.......................................................................... 11 

Section 3.020. Medium Density Residential Zone (R-2)............................................ 12 

Section 3.030. Residential/Resort Zone (R-R)............................................................... 14 

Section 3.040. Special Residential/Resort Zone (S/R/R)............................................... 16 

Section 3.050. Commercial Zone (C-1)............................................................................ 18 

Section 3.080. Special Area Wetlands (SA)................................................................... 21 

Section 3.090. Lower Density Residential Zone (R-3)................................................... 23 

Section 3.091. Residential Manufactured Dwelling Zone- (RMD) Zone......................... 25 

Section 3.092. Flood Hazard Overlay Zone - (FHO) Zone............................................. 29 

Section 3.093. Definitions............................................................................................... 29 

Section 3.094. General Provisions................................................................................. 33 

Section 3.095. Administration......................................................................................... 33 

Section 3.096. Provisions for Flood Hazard Reduction................................................. 37 

Section 3.097. Restrictions and Prohibited Uses........................................................... 45 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



Section 3.100. Hazards Overlay Zone (HO)................................................................... 47 

Section 3.102. Zone Boundaries.................................................................................... 47 

Section 3.104. Site Investigation Reports Required....................................................... 47 

Section 3.106. Method For Minimizing Soils Hazards.................................................... 47 

Section 3.108. Method For Minimizing Dune Hazards................................................... 47 

Section 3.110. Method For Minimizing Steep Slope Hazards....................................... 50 

Section 3.112. Issuance of Permits in Potential Hazard Areas.................................... 50 

Section 3.114. Additional Provisions.............................................................................. 50 

Section 3.120. Open Space Zone (OS)......................................................................... 50 

Section 3.130. Wetland Notification Overlay Zone......................................................... 51 

Section 3.131. Zone Boundaries...................................................................................... 51 

Section 3.132. General Provisions................................................................................... 51 

Section 3.140 Tsunami Hazard Overlay Zone……………………………………………… 51 

Section 3.150 Public Facilities Zone………………………………………………………… 56 

Article 4. Supplementary Provisions. 

Section 4.010. Access Requirement. ................................................................................ 58 

Section 4.020. Clear Vision Areas ................................................................................... 58 

Section 4.030. Maintenance of Minimum Ordinance Requirements ................................. 58 

Section 4.040. Dual Use of Required Open Space ........................................................... 58 

Section 4.041. Shoreland Development Criteria ............................................................... 58 

Section 4.043. Multi-Unit Siting Criteria ............................................................................ 59 

Section 4.044    Townhouse Projects ............................................................................................ 60 

Section 4.045.    Triplex and Quadplex Dwellings ........................................................................ 65 

Section 4.046.    Cottage Clusters ................................................................................................. 71 

Section 4.050. Sign Requirements ................................................................................... 75 

Section 4.060. Off-Street Parking and Off-Street Loading Requirements ......................... 75 

Section 4.065. Street and Drainage Standards ................................................................ 80 

Section 4.070. Fence Requirements ................................................................................ 80 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



Section 4.090. Home Occupations ................................................................................... 81 

Section 4.091. Standards For Manufactured Homes ......................................................... 81 

Section 4.095. Manufactured Dwelling Siting Criteria ........................................................ 83 

Section 4.096. Recreational Vehicle Siting Criteria .......................................................... 83 

Section 4.100. Recreation Vehicle Parks ......................................................................... 84 

Section 4.110. Manufactured Dwelling Park Standards .................................................... 84 

Section 4.120. Shoreline Stabilization Standards ............................................................ 86 

Section 4.130. Foredune Grading .................................................................................... 87 

Section 4.135. Dune Construction Standards ................................................................... 88 

Section 4.140. Maintenance of Access ............................................................................ 88 

Section 4.150. Riparian Vegetation ................................................................................. 88 

Section 4.160. Archeological Site Protection ................................................................... 90 

Section 4.170 Accessory Dwelling Units .................................................................................. 91 

Section 4.180 Mobile Food Unit Pods ...................................................................................... 93 

Article 5. Exceptions. 

Section 5.010. Zone Boundaries ...................................................................................... 95 

Section 5.020. Authorization of Similar Uses .................................................................... 95 

Section 5.030. General Provisions Regarding Accessory Uses ..................................... 96 

Section 5.040. Projections from Buildings ........................................................................ 96 

Section 5.050. General Exception to Lot Size Requirements ......................................... 96 

Section 5.060. General Exceptions to Yard Requirements .............................................. 96 

Section 5.070. General Exception to Building Height Limitations ................................... 98 

Section 5.080. Planning Commission Exception ............................................................. 98 

Article 6. Conditional Uses. 

Section 6.010. Authorization to Grant or Deny Conditional Uses ...................................... 98 

Section 6.020. Conditional Use Review Criteria ............................................................... 98 

Section 6.030. Conditional Use Procedure ....................................................................... 98 

Section 6.040. Non-Profit Conference Ground or Center. ............................................... 99 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



Article 7. Nonconforming Uses. 

Section 7.010. Continuation of Nonconforming Use ........................................................ 99 

Section 7.020. Discontinuance of Nonconforming Use .................................................... 99 

Section 7.030. Change of Nonconforming Use ................................................................ 99 

Section 7.040. Destruction of a Nonconforming Use or Structure .................................. 99 

Section 7.050. Completion of Structure ......................................................................... 100 

Section 7.060. Alterations Necessary to Comply With Other Laws............................... 101 

Section 7.070. Enlargement or Expansion of a Nonconforming Use ............................. 101 

Article 8. Variances. 

Section 8.010. Purpose .................................................................................................. 101 

Section 8.020. Criteria .................................................................................................... 101 

Section 8.030. Conditions............................................................................................... 103 

Section 8.040. Application .............................................................................................. 103 

Section 8.050. Variance Review Procedures ................................................................. 103 

Section 8.080. Compliance With Conditions of Approval ............................................... 103 

Section 8.090. Vested Interest in Approved Variances ................................................... 103 

Section 8.100. Revocation.............................................................................................. 103 

Section 8.110. Limitation on Refiling of Application ........................................................ 103 

Section 8.120. Time Limit for an Approved Variance ...................................................... 103 

Article 9. Amendments. 

Section 9.010. Authorization to Initiate Amendments ..................................................... 103 

Section 9.015. Burden of Proof....................................................................................... 103 

Section 9.020. Amendment Procedures ........................................................................ 103 

Section 9.030. Record of Amendments ......................................................................... 105 

Section 9.040. Limitation of Reapplications ....................................................................105 

Section 9.050. Change of Zone for Manufactured Dwelling Parks .............................. 105 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



Article 10. Planned Unit Development (PUD). 

Section 10.010. Intent .................................................................................................... 105 

Section 10.020. Purpose ................................................................................................ 105 

Section 10.030. Permitted Buildings and Uses .............................................................. 105 

Section 10.040  Development Standards ....................................................................... 105 

Section 10.050  Procedure – Premlimary Development Plan ......................................... 106 

Section 10.060  Procedure- Final Approval .................................................................... 108 

Section 10.080  Adherence to Approved Plan and Modification Thereof ........................ 109 

Article 11. Administrative Provisions. 

Section 11.020. Building Permits .................................................................................. 109 

Section 11.030. Application Information and Procedures ............................................. 110 

Section 11.040. Notice of Public Hearing ...................................................................... 111 

Section 11.050. Date of Public Hearing ........................................................................ 113 

Section 11.055. Availability of Staff Reports ................................................................. 113 

Section 11.060. Public Hearing Procedure and Requirements ...................................... 113 

Section 11.070. Request for Review of a Decision (Appeals). ....................................... 118 

Section 11.080. Final Action on Application for Permit or Zone Change Request ......... 120 

Section 11.090. Filing Fees ........................................................................................... 120 

Section 11.100. Authorization of Similar Uses ............................................................... 121 

Section 11.200. Interpretation........................................................................................ 121 

Section 11.300. Severability .......................................................................................... 121 

Section 11.400. Repeal and Continuity ......................................................................... 121 

Section 11.500. Enforcement and Penalties .................................................................. 121 

ROCKAWAY BEACH 
ORDINANCE NO. 143 
AN ORDINANCE PROVIDING FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF ZONING 
REGULATIONS FOR THE CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH, OREGON, IN 
CONCEPT WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AND REPEALING ORDINANCE 
NO. 92, NO. 121 AND NO. 141 
AND INCORPORATING ORDINANCE NUMBERS 
149, 162, 163, 165, 173, 174, 181, 185, 193, 203, 
217, 221, 226, 229, 235, 239, 243, 252, 257, 262, 265, 

276, 277, 279, 280, 93-299, 94-308, and 09-407 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



1 

The City of Rockaway Beach does ordain as follows: 

Article 1. Introductory Provisions 

Section 1.010. Title. This ordinance shall be known as the Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance. 

Section 1.020. Purpose. The purpose of the ordinance is: to encourage the orderly development of the City; to promote 
appropriate uses of land; to conserve and stabilize the value of property; to provide adequate light and air; to lessen congestion; 
to prevent undue concentration of population; to facilitate adequate provisions for community facilities such as water supply and 
sewerage; to protect and enhance the appearances of the City; and in general to promote the public health, safety, 
convenience, and general welfare. The City has prepared a comprehensive plan and zoning ordinance to encourage orderly 
growth and to promote the public health, safety, convenience, and general welfare. 

Section 1.030. Definitions. As used in this ordinance the following words and phrases shall mean: 

(1) Accessory Use and Structure. A use or structure incidental and subordinate to the main use of the property and
located on the same lot as the main use.

(2) Access. Access to property is described as normal vehicular access, by which normal ingress and egress by
automobiles or other vehicles and pedestrians may be obtained to private property from public or private right-of-way.

(3) Active Restoration. The use of specific positive remedial actions, such as removing fills, or improving water quality to
return an aquatic area to a previous condition.

[Added by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(4) Beach. Gently sloping areas of loose material (e.g., sand, gravel, cobbles) that extent landward from the low water line
(extreme low tide) to a point where there is a definite change in material type or landform or to the line of year-round
vegetation. In most cases, the line of vegetation is followed by the Oregon Beach Coordinate or Zone Line, as defined by
O.R.S. 390.770. Where the vegetation line is eastward or landward of the coordinate line, the eastward line of the beach shall
be the actual line of vegetation.

[Added by Ordinance #243, May 13, 1986] 

(5) Bed and Breakfast. An owner occupied dwelling where rooms are available for transient lodging and where a morning
meal is provided.

[Added by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(6) Building. A structure, including modular housing and manufactured homes, built for the support, shelter, or enclosure of
persons, animals, or property of any kind, and having a fixed base on, or fixed base to the ground. [Amended by Ordinance #94-
308, February 9, 1994]

(7) City. The City of Rockaway Beach, Oregon.

(8) Day Care Center. A facility other than the residence of the day care provider, which receives three or more children for
part of the 24 hours of the day for the purpose of providing care and board apart from the children's parents or guardians.

[Added by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(9) Dune. Means a hill or ridge of land built up by wind along sandy coasts.

[Added by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990]

(10) Dune, active. Means a dune that migrates, grows and diminishes from the force of wind and supply of sand. Active
dunes include all open sand dunes, active hummocks and active foredunes.

[Added by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



2 

(11) Dune, Conditionally Stable. Means a dune presently in a stable condition, but vulnerable to becoming active due to
fragile vegetative cover.

[Added by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(12) Dune, Older Stabilized. Means a dune that is stable from wind erosion and that has significant soil development and
that may include diverse forest cover. They include older foredunes.

[Added by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(13) Dune, Recently Stabilized. Means a dune with sufficient vegetation to be stabilized from wind erosion, but with little, if
any, development of soil or cohesion of sand under the vegetation. Recently stabilized dunes include conditionally stable
foredunes, conditionally stable dunes, dune complexes, and younger stabilized dunes.

[Added by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(14) Dune, Younger Stabilized. Means a wind stable dune with weakly developed soils and vegetation.

[Added by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990]

(15) Dune, Open Sand. Means a collective term for active, unvegetated dune land forms.

[Added by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990]

(16) Dwelling Unit.. A single unit providing complete independent living facilities for 1 or more persons, including provisions
for living, sleeping, cooking and sanitation. Provisions for cooking shall mean an area used, or designated to be used, for the
preparation of food.

[Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1990; Am. Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025] 

(17) Dwelling, Single Unit. A  dwelling unit built and intended for occupancy by one household, built on a single lot or
parcel, constructed on site or elsewhere. Detached modular homes (aka prefabricated buildings) consisting of multiple modules
constructed off site, are considered single detached dwellings. Dwelling units on individual lots that are part of a cottage cluster
are not single detached dwellings. [Amended by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

(18) Dwelling, Duplex.  Two dwelling units in any configuration. Both units of a duplex must be built on a single lot or
parcel, or located on two child lots created through a middle housing land division. [Amended by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

(19) Dwelling, Townhouse. A dwelling unit that is part of a row of two or more attached dwelling units, where each unit
is located on an individual lot or parcel and shares at least one common wall with an adjacent dwelling unit. [Added by Ord.
2025-02, June 11, 2025]

(20) Dwelling, Triplex. Three dwelling units in any configuration. All three units must be built on a single lot or parcel, or
located on three child lots created through a middle housing land division. [Added by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

(21) Dwelling, Quadplex. Four dwelling units in any configuration. All four units must be built on a single lot or parcel, or
located on four child lots created through a middle housing land division. [Added by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

(22) Dwelling, Multi-unit.  A residential structure containing five or more dwelling units sharing common walls
or floors and ceilings, built on a single lot or parcel. [Amended by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

(23) Dwelling, Cottage Cluster. A grouping of no fewer than four detached dwelling units per acre with a
footprint of less than 900 square feet each, located on a single lot or parcel that includes a common courtyard or
located on child lots created through a middle housing land division. [Added by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

(24) Family. An individual or two or more persons related by blood, marriage, legal adoption, guardianship, or one or more
persons living together as one housekeeping unit, using one kitchen, and providing meals or lodging.

(25) Family Day Care Center. A day care facility where care is provided in the home of the provider in the family living
quarters to fewer than 13 children including children of the provider, regardless of full or part-time status.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



3 

[Added by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(26) Foredune, active. Means an unstable barrier ridge of sand paralleling the beach and subject to wind erosion, water
erosion, and growth from new sand deposits. Active foredunes may include areas with beach grass and occur in sandpits and
at river mouths as well as elsewhere.

[Added by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(27) Foredune, Conditionally Stable. Means an active foredune that has ceased growing in height and that has become
conditionally stable with regard to wind erosion.

[Added by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(28) Foredune, Older. Means a conditionally stable foredune that has become wind stabilized by diverse vegetation and soil
development.

[Added by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(29) Grade (Ground level). The average elevation of the finished grade or ground at the center of all walls of a building. For
structures located in a coastal high hazard area (V-Zone), the grade shall be defined as the base flood elevation as determined
by the flood insurance rate map for the City of Rockaway Beach.

[Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985] 

(30) Guest House. An accessory structure or part thereof which is physically detached from a principal dwelling, not to be
used as a rental unit, and intended for temporary occupancy only by guests of the family residing in or owning the principal
dwelling.

[Added by Ordinance #09-407 October 7, 2009] 

(31) Height of Building. On the oceanfront, building height means the vertical distance from the grade to the highest point
of the roof, excluding chimneys, aerials and similar extensions. For all other uses, building height means the vertical distance
measured from the average elevation of the grade to the highest point of the roof surface of a flat roof, to the top of a mansard
roof, and the ridge of a pitched roof, excluding chimneys, aerials and similar extensions.

[Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985] 

(32) Home Occupation. A lawful occupation carried on by a resident of a dwelling as an accessory use on the same
property, in connection with which there is no person employed other than a person residing on the premises; and there is no
activity conducted in such a manner as to give an outward appearance of a business in the ordinary meaning of the term, or
disruption of the neighborhood.

(33) Hotel/Motel. A building or portion thereof designed and used for transient lodging in a non-residential zone for a period
of less than 30 days, lodged with or without meals and which may include additional facilities and services, such as restaurants,
meeting rooms, entertainment, personal services, and recreational facilities.

[Added by Ordinance #18-432, January 8, 2020] 

(34) Kennel. A lot or building in which four or more dogs, or cats, or at least four animals of four months of age or older are
kept commercially for board, propagation, training or sale.

(35) Lot, Abutting the Oceanshore or Oceanfront lot. Means a lot which abuts the Oregon Coordinate Line or a lot where
there is no buildable lot between it and the Oregon Coordinate Line.

[Added by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(36) Lot or Parcel.. Any legally created unit of land. [Amended by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



4 

(37) Lot Area. The total horizontal area within the lot lines of a lot exclusive of public and private streets and easements of
access to the property.

(38) Lot, Corner. A lot abutting on two or more dedicated streets at their intersection.

(39) Lot Depth. The average horizontal distance between the front lot line and the rear lot line.

(40) Lot Line. The property line bounding a lot.

(41) Lot Line, Front. The lot line separating the lot from the street, and in the case of a corner lot, the shortest lot line along
a street.

(42) Lot Line, Rear. The lot line which is opposite and most distant from the front lot line. In the case of an irregular,
triangular, or other shaped lot, a line 10 feet in length within the lot parallel to and at a maximum distance from the front lot line.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



5 

(43) Lot Line, Side. Any lot line not a front or rear lot line.

(44) Lot, Parent / Lot, Child. Parent lot refers to a lot of record or a lot in a subdivision, partition, or middle housing land division
which is developed, or proposed to be developed, with 2 or more townhouses or other type of middle housing, and which
may therefore be further divided to allow individual ownership of each dwelling unit. Child lot refers to the unit(s) of land
created from a parent lot. A child lot created through a middle housing land division is also referred to as a middle housing
lot. Only one dwelling unit is permitted on each resulting middle housing lot. [Added by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

(45) Lot Width. The average horizontal distance between the side lot lines, ordinarily measured parallel to the front lot line.

(46) Lot Area Coverage. The maximum amount of the lot which can be covered with structures, including carports, porches,
and other attachments, but not including parking area, patios, decks, or other surface area improvements.

(47) Low Intensity Recreation. Means recreation that does not require developed facilities and can be accommodated
without change to the area or resource.

[Added by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(48) Manufactured Dwelling.

a) A residential trailer. A structure constructed for movement on the public highways, that has sleeping, cooking, and
plumbing facilities, that is intended for human occupancy, is being used for residential purposes and was constructed before
January 1, 1962.

b) A mobile home. A structure constructed for movement on the public highways, that has sleeping, cooking and
plumbing facilities, that is intended for human occupancy, is being used for residential purposes and was constructed after
January 1, 1962, and and meets the construction requirements of Oregon mobile home law in effect at the time of construction.

'Manufactured dwelling' does not mean any building or structure subject to the structural specialty code adopted pursuant to 
ORS 455.100 to 455.450 or any unit identified as a recreational vehicle by the manufacturer. 

Section (41) amended by Ordinance #94-308, February 9, 1994] 

(49) Manufactured Home. A structure constructed for movement on the public highways, that has sleeping, cooking and
plumbing facilities, that is intended for human occupancy, is being used for residential purposes and was constructed in
accordance with federal manufactured housing construction and safety standard regulations in effect at the time of construction.

Section (42) amended by Ordinance #94-308, February 9, 1994] 

(50) Manufactured Home Park. Any place where four or more manufactured dwellings are located within 500 feet of one
another on a lot, tract or parcel of land under the same ownership, the primary purpose of which is to rent space or keep space
for rent to any person for a charge or fee paid or to be paid for the rental or use of facilities or to offer space free in connection
with securing the trade or patronage of such person.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(51) Manufactured Home Subdivisions. Any place where four or more manufactured dwellings are parked within 500 feet
of one another on a lot, tract, or parcel of land under separate ownerships, designated or intended for occupation by
manufactured dwellings.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(52) Middle Housing. A category of housing types that includes duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, cottage clusters, and
townhouses.  [Added by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

(53) Middle Housing Land Division. The partition or subdivision of a lot or parcel on which the development of middle
housing is allowed under ORS 197.758 (2). A middle housing land division is an action distinct from other types of land
divisions per this Oregon law. Further division of lots or parcels resulting from a middle housing land division are prohibited.
[Added by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



6 

(54) Mobile Food Unit (Food Cart). Any vehicle that is self-propelled, or which can be pushed or pulled down a sidewalk,
street or highway, on which food is prepared, processed or converted, or which is used in selling and dispensing food to the
ultimate consumer. All Mobile Food Units must have access to a restroom by written agreement. Restroom must contain hand
washing facilities and paper towels to permit double washing of food handlers. All Mobile Food Units must be licensed by
Tillamook County Department of Environmental Health.

[Added by Ordinance #18-432, January 8, 2020] 

(55) Modular Housing. Means a dwelling unit manufactured offsite, built to be used for permanent residential occupancy, to
be set on a permanent foundation and conforming to the Uniform Building Code.

[Added by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(56) Native Vegetation. Native vegetation consists of plants native to the North Oregon Coast and its Urban Growth
Boundary and the geographic conditions of the site.

Some examples of native vegetation are provided in the book available for review at City Hall: "Plants of the Pacific Northwest 
Coast, Washington, Oregon, British Columbia & Alaska Compiled and edited by Jim Pojar and Andy MacKinnon by the British 
Columbia Ministry of Forests and Lone Pine Publishing". 

[Added by Ordinance #09-407 October 7, 2009] 

(57) Nonconforming Structure or Use. A lawful existing structure or use at the time this ordinance or any amendment
thereto becomes effective, which does not conform to the requirements of the zone in which it is located.

(58) Owner. An owner of property or the authorized agent of an owner.

(59) Ocean Flooding. The flooding of lowland areas by salt water owing to tidal action, storm surges or tsunamis (seismic
sea waves). Land forms subject to ocean flooding include beaches, marshes, coastal lowlands and low-lying interdune
areas. Areas of ocean flooding are mapped by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). Ocean flooding includes
areas of velocity flooding and associated shallow marine flooding.

[Added by Ordinance #243, May 13, 1986] 

(60) Open Space. Open space is that portion of the lot or parcel of property which is left uncovered by structures, parking,
patios, and other impervious surfaces. It is area devoted primarily to landscaping with native or natural vegetation.

[Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1990] 

[Amended by Ordinance #09-407 October 7, 2009] 

(61) Parking Space. An enclosed or unenclosed surfaced area, permanently reserved for the temporary storage of one
automobile and connected with a street or alley which affords ingress and egress for automobiles.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(62) Passive Restoration. Means the use of natural processes, sequences, and timing which occurs after the removal or
reduction of adverse stresses without other specific positive remedial action.

[Added by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(63) Permit. A discretionary approval of a proposed development of land under ORS 227.215.

[Added by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990]

(64) Public Utility. A private business or organization such as a public service corporation, performing some public service
and subject to governmental regulation, or a governmental agency performing similar public services. Such services shall

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



7 

include but are not limited to electric, gas, power or telephone. 

[Added by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(65) Recreational Vehicle. A vacation trailer or other unit with or without motive power which is designed for human
occupancy and to be used temporarily for recreation or emergency purposes and has a floor space of less than 400 square
feet. 'Recreational vehicle' includes camping trailers, camping vehicles, motor homes, park trailers, bus conversions, van
conversions, tent trailers, travel trailers, truck campers and any vehicle converted for use or partial use as a recreational
vehicle. The unit shall be identified as a recreational vehicle by the manufacturer.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(66) Recreational Vehicle Park. A lot which is operated on a fee or other basis as a place for the parking of occupied 
recreation vehicles.

(67) Residential, or Residential Use is a land use in which housing predominates, as opposed to industrial and commercial 
uses. Housing may vary significantly between, and through, residential areas. These include single-unit housing, multi-unit 
residential, or mobile homes. Nonresidential uses may be included in some areas such as home occupations or offices, or 
travelers accommodations.

[Added by Ordinance #18-432, January 8, 2020] 

(68) Residential Facility. A facility licensed by or under the authority of the Department of Human Resources under ORS
443.400 to 443.460 which provides residential care alone or in conjunction with training or treatment or a combination thereof for
6 to 15 individuals who need not be related. Staff persons required to meet Department of Human Resources licensing
requirements shall not be counted in the number of facility residents, and need not be related to each other or to any resident of
the residential facility.

[Added by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(69) Residential Home. A home licensed by or under the authority of the Department of Human Resources under ORS
443.400 to 443.825 which provides residential care alone or in conjunction with training or treatment or a combination thereof for
5 or fewer individuals who need not be related. Staff persons required to meet Department of Human Resources licensing
requirements shall not be counted in the number of facility residents, and need not be related to each other or to any resident of
the residential home.

[Added by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(70) Setback. The distance which a building or other structure is set back from property lines, including the street right of way,
or from a stream, a shoreline vegetation line, wetland boundary, or flood plain, or any other place which is deemed to need
protection. Setbacks are measured perpendicular to the line or boundary. The setback area must be maintained clear of
permanent structures with the exception of specifically permitted encroachments. Setbacks include the following modifiers:

(a) DEPTH. The dimension of a setback measured at a right angle and horizontally from an abutting property line.

(b) FRONT. An area extending the full width of a lot between the front lot line and the front setback line.

(c) LINE. A line within a lot parallel to and measured from a corresponding lot line, forming the boundary of a setback
and governing the placement of structures and uses on the lot.

(d) REAR. An area extending the full width of a lot between the rear lot line and the rear setback line, excluding any
area located within the street side setback of a corner lot.

(e) SIDE. The area extending the depth of a lot from the front setback to the rear lot line between the interior side lot
line and the interior side setback line.

(f) STREET SIDE. A setback adjacent to a street and determined on the basis of a street lot line. For a corner lot, a
street side setback is the area that extends from the front setback to the rear lot line.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



8 

[Added by Ordinance #18-432, January 8, 2020] 

(71) Sidewalk, Public. A pedestrian access at least 6 feet wide located within the street right-of-way for the purpose of
walking and separated from vehicular traffic. Where public sidewalks do not exist, the 6 feet of right-of-way on either side of the
street shall be considered as a sidewalk; (in commercial areas for the purpose of evaluating sign overhangs.)

(72) Sign. An identification, description, illustration, or device which is affixed to or represented, directly or indirectly, upon a
building, structure, or land, and which directs attention to a product, place, activity, person, institution, or business. Each display
surface of a sign other than two surfaces parallel and back to back on the same structure shall be considered a sign.

(73) Street. Entire width between the right-of-way lines of every way for vehicular and pedestrian traffic and includes the
terms road, highway, lane, place, avenue, alley, and other similar designations.

(74) STRUCTURE. An improvement attached to real property. A deck or patio of less than 18” above grade is not considered
a structure for the purposes of zoning or setbacks.

(a) ACCESSORY. A subordinate structure physically detached from, secondary and incidental to, and commonly
associated with a principal building or principal use on the same site. Accessory structures normally associated with a
residential use property include, but are not limited to garages (unenclosed or enclosed) for the storage of automobiles
(including incidental restoration and repair), personal recreational vehicles and other personal property; studios;
workshops; greenhouses (noncommercial); enclosed cabanas and pool houses; and storage sheds. Accessory
structures normally associated with a non-residential use property include, but are not limited to garages (unenclosed
or enclosed) for the storage of automobiles and work related vehicles and equipment (including incidental restoration
and repair); storage structures; workshops; and studios. “Accessory structure” does not include an Accessory Dwelling
Unit.

(b) EXISTING. A structure legally erected prior to the effective date of this Title, or one for which a valid legal Building
Permit has been issued prior to this effective date of this Title.

[Amended by Ordinance #18-432, January 8, 2020] 

(75) Structural Alteration. Any change to the supporting members of a structure including foundations, bearing walls or
partitions, columns, beams, girders, or any structural change in the roof or in the exterior walls.

(76) Sufficient Infrastructure. The following level of public services to serve new Triplexes, Quadplexes, Townhouses,
or Cottage Cluster development:

(1) Connection to a public sewer system capable of meeting established service levels.
(2) Connection to a public water system capable of meeting established service levels.
(3) Access via public or private streets meeting adopted emergency vehicle access standards to a city’s public
street system.
(4) Storm drainage facilities capable of meeting established service levels for storm drainage.

[Added by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025] 

(77) Timeshare Condominium. A condominium in which units are individually owned by a family or group of persons for a
variable amount of time during the year, and in which part of all of the units may be available to transients for rent on an
exchange basis. For the purpose of this ordinance, timeshare condominium or unit shall be considered a motel.

[Added by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985] 

(78) Townhouse Project. One or more townhouse structures constructed, or proposed to be constructed, together with the
development site where the land has been divided, or is proposed to be divided, to reflect the Townhouse property lines and
the any commonly owned property. [Added by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

(79) Travelers’ Accommodations. Transient lodging in a residential zone having a room, rooms, or dwellings rented or kept
for rent to travelers or transients for a charge or fee paid or to be paid for rental or use of such facilities on one or more
occasions for a period of less than 30 consecutive days.

[Added by Ordinance #18-432, January 8, 2020] 

(80) Use. The purpose for which land or a structure is designed, arranged, or intended, or for which it is occupied or
maintained.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



9 

(81) Wetlands. Those areas that are inundated or saturated by surface or ground water at a frequency and duration
sufficient to support, and that under normal circumstances do support, a prevalence of vegetation typically adapted to life in
saturated soil conditions.

[Added by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(82) Yard. An open space on a lot which is unobstructed from the ground upward except as otherwise provided in this
ordinance.

(83) Yard, Front. A yard between side lot lines and measured horizontally at right angles to the front lot line from the front lot
line to the nearest point of a building or other structure. Any yard meeting this definition and abutting a street shall be
considered a front yard.

(84) Yard, Rear. A yard between side lot lines and measured horizontally at right angles to the rear lot line to the nearest
point of a building or other structure.

(85) Yard, Side. A yard between the front and rear yard measured horizontally at right angles from the side lot line to the
nearest point of a building or other structure.

(86) Yard, Street Side. A yard adjacent to a street between the front yard and rear lot line measured horizontally and at right
angles from the side lot line to the nearest point of a building or other structure.

Article 2. Basic Provisions. 

Section 2.010. Compliance With Ordinances. Land may be used and a structure or part of a structure may be constructed, 
reconstructed, altered, occupied, or used only as this ordinance permits. 

Section 2.020. Classification of Zones. For the purposes of this ordinance the following zones are hereby established: 

Zone ................................................................................................................................ Abbreviated 

. .............................................................................................................. Designation 

Residential ..................................................................................................................... R-1, R-2 

Lower Density Residential ................................................................................................................R-3 

Resort Residential ...................................................................................................................... R-R 

Special Residential Resort. ...................................................................................................... SRR 

Commercial .............................................................................................................................  C-1 

Waterfront Development. ........................................................................................................... WD 

Special Area Wetland ................................................................................................................... SA 

Residential Manufactured Dwellings ......................................................................................... RMD 

Some areas within the City are also hereby included in one or more of the following overlay districts, each of which has special 
provisions that, along with the provisions of the basic zoning district, govern the use of property. 

Overlay Zone .................................................................................................................. Abbreviated 

. .............................................................................................................. Designation 

Flood Hazard Overlay ............................................................................................................... FHO 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



10 

Hazard Overlay ........................................................................................................................... HO 

Wetland Notification ................................................................................................................... WO 

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025] 

Section 2.030. Location of Zones. The boundaries for the zones listed in this ordinance are indicated on the 'Rockaway 
Beach Zoning Map' which is hereby adopted by reference. The boundaries shall be modified in accordance with zoning map 
amendments which shall be adopted by reference. 

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

Section 2.040. Zoning Map. The map entitled City of Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Map dated February 
1992, is adopted as the official zoning map of the City of Rockaway Beach. It shall be maintained on file in the office of the City 
Recorder. Whenever sufficient authorized map amendments have been adopted, a revised zoning map shall be prepared. At a 
minimum, it shall be at the time of periodic review. 

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

Section 2.050. Zone Boundaries. Unless otherwise specified, zone boundaries are section lines, subdivision lines, lot lines, 
center lines of street or railroad rights-of-way, or such lines extended. 

Section 2.060. Zoning of Annexed Areas. Areas annexed to the City shall be zoned in conformance with the Rockaway 
Beach Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Map. 

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



11 

Article 3. Use Zones. 

Section 3.010. Residential (R-1) Zone In an R-1 zone the following regulations shall apply: 

(1) Uses Permitted Outright. In an R-1 zone the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted outright:

(a) Single unit dwellings, including modular housing and manufactured homes. Manufactured homes shall be subject to
the standards of the Section 4.091.

[Amended by Ordinance #94-308, February 9, 1994; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025] 

(b) Middle housing [[Added by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

(c) Home occupation (see Section 4.090).

(d) Manufactured dwellings or recreational vehicles or a temporary structure used during the construction of a permitted use
for which a building permit has been issued, but not to exceed 6 months duration.

(e) Family day care center.

(f) Residential home.

(g) Signs subject to Section 4.050.

(h) Structural shoreline stabilization.

(2) Conditional Uses Permitted. In an R-1 zone the following conditional uses and their accessory uses are permitted
subject to the provisions of Article 6.

(a) Churches and community meeting buildings.

(b) Golf course, tennis courts, swimming pools and other private recreation areas.

(c) Parks and publicly owned recreation areas.

(d) Public utility structure such as a substation.

(e) Government or municipal structures.

(f) Public owned parking lot.

(g) Non-profit conference ground or center operated for educational, charitable, or religious purposes, meeting the
standards of Section 6.050.

(h) Bed and breakfast.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990; Title only amended Ordinance #93-299, 

March 24, 1990; Amended by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]] 

(3) Standards. In an R-1 zone the following standards shall apply:

(a) For single unit dwellings and duplexes, the minimum lot size shall be 3,500 square feet for lots existing at the time
of the adoption of Ordinance 235. Lots platted after the adoption of Ordinance 235 shall have a minimum lot size of 5,000
square feet.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



12 

[Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]] 

(b) The average lot size for townhouses in a townhouse project shall be a minimum of 1,500 square feet. [Added by Ord.
2025-02, June 11, 2025]

(c) The minimum lot size for triplexes, quadplexes, and cottage clusters shall be 5,000 square feet. [Added by Ord. 2025-
02, June 11, 2025]

[Duplex density deleted by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025] 

(d) Minimum lot width is 50 feet, except for lots between 3,500 and 4,999 square feet, the minimum lot width shall be 35
feet. For townhouses, the minimum lot width shall be 20 feet.

[Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1990; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025] 

(e) Minimum lot depth is 70 feet, except for lots between 3,500 and 4,999 square feet, the minimum lot depth shall be 60
feet.

[Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1990] 

(f) The minimum front yard shall be 15 feet, unless subsection 3.010(3)(h) applies.

[Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985]

(g) The minimum side yard shall be 5 feet, except that on the street side of a corner lot it shall be 15 feet.
For townhouses, the minimum side yard along a common wall lot line where units are attached shall
be 0 feet. [Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

(h) The minimum rear yard shall be 20 feet, except that on a corner lot it may be a minimum of 5 feet unless subsection
3.010(3)(h) applies. Oceanfront structures shall conform to Section 5.060(1)(b).

[Amended by Ordinance #94-312, June 8, 1994] 

(i) For lots of less than 5,000 square feet in size, but more than 3,500 square feet, the minimum front yard shall be 15 feet
and the minimum rear yard shall be 10 feet, except that on a corner lot the rear yard may be a minimum of 5 feet. For lots of
3,500 square feet in size or less, the minimum front yard and rear yard shall be ten feet, except that on a corner lot the rear yard
may be a minimum of 5 feet. Notwithstanding the above, oceanfront structures shall conform to Section 5.060(1)(b).

[Amended by Ordinance #94-312, June 8, 1994] 

(j) For single unit dwellings, the maximum building height shall be 20 feet on the oceanfront and 24 feet elsewhere
except east of Highway 101 it shall be 29 feet.

[Amended by Ordinance #01-371, September 12, 2001; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025] 

(k) For middle housing, the maximum building height shall be 25 feet, except east of Highway 101 it shall be 29 feet. [Added by
Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

(l) A minimum of 30% of the lot will be maintained in natural vegetation or landscaping.

[Section (l) added by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1990]

Section 3.020. Medium Density Residential Zone (R-2). In an R-2 zone the following regulations shall apply: 

(1) Uses Permitted Outright. In an R-2 zone the following uses are permitted outright:

(a) Single unit dwellings, including modular housing and manufactured homes and duplexes. Manufactured homes

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



13 

shall be subject to the standards of Section 4.091. 

[Amended by Ordinance #94-308, February 9, 1994; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025] 

(b) Middle housing [Added by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

(c) Home occupations (see Section 4.090).

(d) Manufactured dwelling or recreation vehicle or temporary structure used during the construction of a permitted
use for which a building permit has been issued, but not to exceed 6 months duration.

(e) Signs subject to Section 4.050.

(f) Family day care center.

(g) Residential home.

(h) Structural shoreline stabilization.

(2) Conditional Uses Permitted. In an R-2 zone the following conditional uses and their accessory uses are permitted,
subject to the provisions of Article 6.

(a) Multi-unit dwellings.

(b) Public or private school.

(c) Church and community meeting buildings.

(d) Parks and publicly owned recreation areas.

(e) Governmental or municipal structures.

(f) Golf course, tennis courts, swimming pools and other private recreation areas.

(g) Public utility structure such as a substation.

(h) Hospital, sanitarium, rest home and nursing home.

(i) Nursery.

(j) Bed and breakfast.

(k) Day care center.

(l) Residential facility.

(m) Public or private school

[Amended by Ordinance #18-432, January 8, 2020] 

(3) Standards and Criteria. In an R-2 zone the following standards and criteria shall apply:

(a) For single unit dwellings and duplexes, the minimum lot size shall be 3,500 square feet for lots existing at the time
of the adoption of Ordinance 235, lots platted after the adoption of Ordinance 235 shall have a minimum size of 5,000
square feet.

[Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025] 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



14 

(b) The average lot size for townhouses in a townhouse project shall be a minimum of 1,500 square feet. [Added by Ord.
2025-02, June 11, 2025]
(c) The minimum lot size for triplexes, quadplexes, and cottage clusters shall be 5,000 square feet. [Added by Ord. 2025-
02, June 11, 2025]

(d) The density of multi-unit dwellings shall be 1,750 square feet of lot area per unit. [[Amended by Ordinance #235, June
25, 1985; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

(e) Minimum lot width is 50 feet, except for lots between 3,500 and 4,999 square feet, the minimum lot width shall be 35
feet. For townhouses, the minimum lot width shall be 20 feet. [Amended by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

[Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1993] 

(f) Minimum lot depth is 70 feet, except for lots between 3,500 and 4,999 square feet, the minimum lot depth shall be 60
feet.

[Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1993] 

(g) The minimum front yard shall be 15 feet for lots of more than 3,500 square feet. For lots of 3,500 square feet or less,
the minimum front yard shall be 10 feet. Notwithstanding the above, oceanfront structures shall conform to Section 5.060(1)(b).

[Amended by Ordinance #239, February 11, 1986] 

(h) The minimum side yard shall be 5 feet, except that on the street side of a corner lot it shall be 15 feet. For
townhouses, the minimum side yard along a common wall lot line where units are attached shall be 0 feet. [Amended
by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025
]

(i) The minimum rear yard shall be five feet. Notwithstanding the above, oceanfront structures shall conform to Section
5.060(1)(b).

(j) For single unit dwellings, the maximum building height shall be 24 feet, except east of Highway 101 it shall
be 29 feet. [Amended by Ordinance #01-371, September 12, 2001; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

(k) For middle housing, the maximum building height shall be 25 feet, except east of Highway 101 it shall be 29 feet.
[Added by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

(l) Multi-unit structures shall be allowed by conditional use permit where it is determined that the structure would meet the
following criteria:

(i). ......... It is located on a street adequate to handle traffic loads; and 

(ii). ........Adequate space is provided for parking maneuvering; and 

(iii). ....... At least 30% of the lot is maintained in natural vegetation, open space, or is landscaped. 

[Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985] 

(m) The requirements of Section 4.041 Shorelands Development Criteria shall be met where uses are to be located within 50
feet of a lake within the Rockaway Beach Urban Growth Boundary.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(n) A minimum of 30% of the lot will be maintained in natural vegetation or landscaping.

[Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1990]

Section 3.030. Residential/Resort Zone (R-R). In an R-R zone the following regulations shall apply: 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



15 

(1) Uses Permitted Outright. In an R-R zone the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted outright:

(a) Single unit dwellings, including modular housing and manufactured homes. Manufactured homes shall be subject to
the standards of Section 4.091.

[Amended by Ordinance #94-308, February 9, 1994; Amended by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]] 

(b) Middle housing and multi-unit dwellings.

(c) Home occupations (See Section 4.090).

(d) Churches and community meeting buildings.

(e) Signs subject to the provisions of Section 4.050.

(f) A manufactured dwelling or recreational vehicle used during the construction of a permitted use for which a building
permit has been issued, not to exceed 6 months duration.

(g) Family day care center.

(h) Residential home.

(i) Residential facility.

(j) Structural shoreline stabilization.

(2) Conditional Uses Permitted. In an R-R zone the following conditional uses and their accessory uses are permitted
subject to the provisions of Article 6.

(a) Resort-oriented commercial establishments such as gift shops, restaurants and other services, excluding gasoline
service station.

(b) Government or municipal structure.

(c) Hospital, sanitarium, rest home and nursing home.

(d) Private clubs and lodges.

(e) Parks and publicly owned recreation areas.

(f) Private recreation uses such as tennis courts and swimming pools when not in conjunction with a permitted or
conditional use.

(g) Motel, hotels, including meeting rooms or convention center.

(h) Mobile Food Unit

[Amended by Ordinance #18-432, January 8, 2020]

(3) Standards. In the R-R, the following standards shall apply:

(a) For single unit dwellings and duplexes, the minimum lot size shall be 3,500 square feet for lots existing at the time
of the adoption of Ordinance 235. Lots platted after the adoption of Ordinance 235 shall have a minimum lot size of 5,000
square feet.

[Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025] 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



16 

(b) The average lot size for townhouses in a townhouse project shall be a minimum of 1,500 square feet. [Added by Ord. 2025-02,
June 11, 2025]

(c) The minimum lot size for triplexes, quadplexes, and cottage clusters shall be 5,000 square feet. [Added by Ord. 2025-
02, June 11, 2025]

(d) The density of multi-unit dwellings and condominiums shall be 1,750 square feet of lot area per unit. [Amended by Ordinance
#235, June 25, 1985’; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

The maximum density of motels, hotels, and timeshare condominiums shall be one unit per 1,000 square feet of site area. 
[Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985] 

(e) Minimum lot width is 50 feet, except that for lots between 3,500 and 4,999 square feet, the minimum lot width shall be 35
feet. For townhouses, the minimum lot width shall be 20 feet.

[Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1990; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025] 

(f) Minimum lot depth is 70 feet, except for lots between 3,500 and 4,999 square feet, the minimum lot depth shall be 60
feet.

[Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1990] 

(g) The minimum front yard shall be 15 feet unless subsection 3.030(3)(j) applies.

[Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985]

(h) The minimum side yard shall be 5 feet, except that on the street side of a corner lot it shall be 15 feet. For townhouses, the
minimum side yard along a common wall lot line where units are attached shall be 0 feet. [Amended by Ordinance #235,
June 25, 1985]

(i) The minimum rear yard shall be 20 feet, except that on a corner lot it may be a minimum of 5 feet, unless subsection
3.030(3)(j) applies. Oceanfront structures shall conform to Section 5.060 (1)(b).

[Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985] 

(j) For lots of less than 5,000 square feet in size, but more than 3,500 square feet, the minimum front yard shall be 15 feet
and the minimum rear yard shall be 10 feet, except that on a corner lot the rear yard may be a minimum of 5 feet. For lots of
3,500 square feet in size or less, the minimum front yard and rear yard shall be 10 feet, except that on a corner lot the rear yard
may be a minimum of 5 feet. Notwithstanding the above, oceanfront structures shall conform to Section 5.060 (l)(b).

[Amended by Ordinance #239, February 11, 1986] 

(k) For single unit dwellings, the maximum building height shall be 20 feet on the oceanfront and 24 feet elsewhere, except east of
Highway 101, it shall be 29 feet. For property more than 2,000 feet from the Oregon Coordinate Line the maximum building height

shall be 45 feet. [Amended by Ordinance #01-371, September 12, 2001; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025] 

(l) For middle housing, the maximum building height shall be 25 feet, except east of Highway 101 it shall be 29 feet. For property
more than 2,000 feet from the Oregon Coordinate Line the maximum building height shall be 45 feet. [Added by Ord. 2025-02, June
11, 2025]

(m) The requirements of Section 4.041 Shoreland Development Criteria shall be met where uses are to be located within 50
feet of a lake within the Rockaway Beach Urban Growth Boundary.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(n) A minimum of 30% of the lot will be maintained in natural vegetation or landscaping. [Added by Ordinance #93-299,
March 24, 1990]

Section 3.040. Special Residential/Resort Zone (S/R/R). In a SR-R zone the following regulations shall apply: 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



17 

(1) Uses Permitted Outright. In an S/R/R zone, the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted outright:

(a) Single unit dwellings, including modular housing and manufactured homes. Manufactured homes shall be subject to
the standards of Section 4.091.

[Amended by Ordinance #94-308, February 9, 1994; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025] 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



18 

(b) Middle housing and multi-unit dwellings. [Amended by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

(c) Home Occupation (See Section 4.090).

(d) Government or municipal structure.

(e) Signs subject to the provisions of Section 4.050.

(f) Family day care center.

(g) Residential home and residential facility.

(h) A manufactured dwelling or recreational vehicle used during construction of a permitted use for which a building permit
has been issued, but not to exceed 6 months duration.

(i) Bed and breakfast.

(j) Public utility structure such as a substation.

(k) Structural shoreline stabilization.

(2) Conditional Uses Permitted. In an S/R/R zone, the following conditional uses and their accessory uses are permitted.

(a) Resort-type commercial establishments such as gift shops, restaurants, and other services, excluding gasoline service
stations.

(b) Expansion of existing motels.

(c) Hospital, sanitarium, rest home and nursing home.

(d) Churches and community meeting halls.

(e) Parks and publicly owned recreation areas.

(f) Private recreation uses such as tennis courts, swimming pools and racquetball facility when not in conjunction with a
permitted or conditional use.

(g) Bed and breakfast.

(h) Public utility structure such as a substation.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(3) Standards. The standards in the Special Residential/Resort (S/R/R), shall be the same as the standards of the
Residential Resort (R-R) Zone, Section 3.030(3).

[Section (3) added by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1990] 

Section 3.050. Commercial Zone (C-1). 

(1) Uses Permitted Outright: In a C-1 zone, the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted outright:

(a) Retail activities.

(b) Services such as banks, barber and beauty shops, small repair shops, printing shops, laundries.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



19 

(c) Eating and drinking establishments.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



20 

(d) Amusement activities.

(e) Business and professional offices.

(f) Motels, hotels, and bed and breakfast.

(g) Churches or community meeting halls.

(h) Hospital, sanitarium, nursing home or rest home.

(i) Arts or craft studios.

(j) Public utility structure such as a substation.

(k) Parks and publicly owned recreation areas.

(l) Government or municipal structure.

(m) Home occupation (See Section 4.090).

(n) Private recreation uses such as tennis courts, and swimming pools or racquetball facility, when not in conjunction
with another permitted use.

(o) Family day care center and day care center.

(p) Residential home.

(q) Residential facility.

(r) Signs in accordance with Section 4.050.

(s) Mobile Food Unit.

(t) A manufactured dwelling or recreational vehicle used during the construction of a permitted use for which a building
permit has been issued, but not to exceed 6 months duration.

(u) Structural shoreline stabilization.

(v) Residential Use, limited to the second story or above, and no more than 50% of the ground floor, on the condition
that a commercial use be located on at least 50% of the area of the ground floor 

[Amended by Ordinance #18-432, January 8, 2020] 

(2) Conditional Uses Permitted. In a C-1 zone, the following conditional uses and accessory uses are permitted:

(a) Service stations, car lots, lumber yards, mobile home dealerships, public or private parking facilities, boat dealers, farm
equipment dealers, or similar uses which require large land areas. These uses are intended to be outside of the immediate
downtown area (between N. 4th to S. 3rd, the oceanfront and Beacon Street) and located on U.S. Highway 101. The Planning
Commission or City Council shall consider this when issuing conditional use permits.

(b) Cabinet or wood working shops, plumbing, heating, electrical, paint or other contractor storage, retail or sale shops.

(c) Second hand sales with all merchandise enclosed within a structure.

(d) Wholesale warehouse or storage establishments.

(e) Tire retreading, welding or machine shops.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



21 

(f) Single unit dwellings including modular housing and manufactured homes, duplexes and multi-unit dwellings.
Manufactured homes shall be subject to the standards of Section 4.091.

[Amended by Ordinance #18-432, January 8, 2020; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025] 

(3) Standards. In a C-1 zone, the following standards shall apply:

(a) Building setbacks shall be governed by fire protection standards administered by the Building Official.

(b) Maximum building height shall be 45 feet, except that on the oceanfront from North Third Avenue to North
Sixth Avenue the maximum building height shall be 20 feet.

(c) Where a 45 foot building height is permitted, the first story shall be a minimum of 12 feet in height as
measured from grade and shall be designed to accommodate future potential commercial use.

(d) Multiple story buildings shall use architectural design features to differentiate the first story and the first story
shall be designed to accommodate future potential commercial use.

(e) The height above grade of an overhang or awning shall be a minimum of 10 feet above the sidewalk grade
and 12 feet above the street grade where no sidewalk exists.

(f) For commercial uses, permanent landscaping consisting of native vegetation is encouraged. Hardscape
features such as benches, walkways, and outdoor seating areas shall be compliant with the American with
Disabilities Act Accessibility Guidelines.

(g) Where a commercial use abuts a residential zone, the commercial use shall provide a sight-obscuring fence
or hedge of at least 5 feet in height. Floodlights shall be shielded so as not to cast glare on an adjacent
residential use.

(h) Storage of merchandise, waste disposal equipment, or similar material shall be screened from view.

(i) Automobile service stations shall have a minimum lot size of 10,000 square feet, with a minimum width of 100
feet.

(j) Commercial uses shall have permanent facilities, such as an office, which are connected to City services
including water and sewer.

Section 3.070. Waterfront Development Zone (WD). [Deleted by Ordinance No. 01-369, September 12, 2001] 

Pages 31 & 32 intentionally missing due to deletion of WD Zone. 

Section 3.080. Special Area Wetlands (SA). In an SA Zone the following regulations shall apply: 

(1) Purpose. The purpose of the SA Zone is to conserve significant freshwater wetlands and the shoreland and aquatic
environment of Rockaway Beach's lakes.

Low intensity uses which do not result in major alterations are appropriate in the zone. High intensity recreation, related 
to boating is appropriate on the lakes. 

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(2) Uses Permitted Outright. In an SA zone, the following uses are permitted outright:

(a) Low intensity recreation;

(b) Passive restoration measures;

(c) Vegetative shoreline stabilization;

(d) Individual dock limited to a maximum of 200 square feet for recreation or fishing use, plus necessary piling;

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



22 

(e) Submerged cable, sewer line, water line or other pipeline.

(f) Storm water outfall.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(3) Conditional Uses Permitted. In an SA zone the following conditional uses are permitted subject to the provisions of
Article 6.

(a) Active restorations including dredging;

(b) Boat launch ramps, including necessary dredging and filling;

(c) Structural shoreline stabilization;

(d) Public parks and recreation areas with associated low intensity development such as docks, raised walkways, and
footpaths.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(4) Standards. In an SA zone, the following standards shall apply:

(a) All activities involving construction or alteration in wetlands or aquatic areas shall be reviewed by the Oregon Division of
State Lands and the US Army Corps of Engineers to determine permit applicability.

(b) The Shorelands Siting Criteria in Section 4.041 shall be applicable to all activities in the SA zone. Nothing in the
Shorelands Siting Criteria shall be interpreted to permit uses which are not otherwise allowed in (2) or (3) above.

(c) Every effort shall be made to use common or community docking facilities prior to construction of an individual, single- 
purpose dock. Generally, there should be a maximum of one dock every 250 feet. Docks shall not include covered structures
or boathouses.

(d) Access to the water area through wetlands may be constructed in the form of raised walkways on pilings, posts or
piers. Where the affected resource agencies (e.g. Oregon Department of Fish & Wildlife) determine the activity to have minimal
environmental impacts, trails or paths consisting of clean gravel, bark chips, or other material may be placed through
wetlands. Such walkways shall not be wider than eight (8) feet. Wherever possible, trails or walkways shall be constructed for
the common usage of a development or group of structures.

(e) Removal or control of aquatic vegetation may be permitted, where allowed by the Oregon Department of Fish and
Wildlife, in order to provide angler access, or other valid purpose.

(f) Dredging shall be allowed only:

(i) .......... If a need (i.e., a substantial public benefit) is demonstrated, and

(ii). ........ If the use or alteration does not unreasonably interfere with public trust rights, and 

(iii). ....... If no feasible alternative upland locations exist, and 

(iv). ....... If adverse impacts are minimized. 

(g) When dredging is permitted, the dredging shall be the minimum necessary to accomplish the proposed use.

(h) The timing of dredging operations shall be coordinated with state and federal resource agencies, to protect aquatic and
shoreland resources, and minimize interference with recreational fishing.

(i) Piling installation may be allowed only if all of the following criteria are met:

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



23 

(i). ......... A substantial public benefit is demonstrated, and 

(ii). ........The proposed use does not unreasonably interfere with public trust rights, and 

(iii). ....... Feasible alternative upland locations do not exist, and 

(iv). .......Potential adverse impacts are minimized. 

(j) Shoreline stabilization measures shall meet the criteria of Section 4.120.

(k) Fill may be permitted only if all of the following criteria are met:

(i) .......... If required for a water-dependent use requiring an aquatic location, or if specifically allowed in the SA
zone, and 

(ii). ........ A substantial public benefit is demonstrated, and 

(iii). ....... The proposed fill does not unreasonably interfere with public trust rights, and 

(iv). ....... Feasible upland alternative locations do not exist, and 

(v) ....... Adverse impacts are minimized.

(l) A fill shall cover no more area than the minimum necessary to accomplish the proposed use.

(m) Projects involving fill may be approved only if the following alternatives are examined and found to be infeasible.

(i) .......... Construct some or all of the project on piling.

(ii). ........ Conduct some or all of the proposed activity on existing upland areas; 

(iii). ....... Approve the project at a feasible alternative site where adverse impacts are less significant. 

(5) Zone Boundary Determination. At such time that a development is proposed in the vicinity of an area designated
Special Area Wetlands, the City may require a site investigation to determine the exact location of the zone boundary. The site
investigation shall be performed by a qualified agent such as a biologist from the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers or the Division
of State Lands.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

Section 3.090. Lower Density Residential Zone (R-3). In an R-3 zone the following regulations shall apply: 

(1) Uses Permitted Outright. In an R-3 zone, the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted outright:

(a) Single unit dwellings, including modular housing and manufactured homes, middle housing and multi-
unit homes. Manufactured homes shall be subject to the standards of Section 4.091.

[Amended by Ordinance #94-308, February 9, 1994; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025] 

(b) Home occupation (See Section 4.090)

(c) Churches and community meeting buildings.

(d) Manufactured dwelling or recreational vehicle used during construction of a permitted use for which a building permit has
been issued, but not to exceed 6 months duration.

(e) Manufactured dwelling placed in an approved manufactured dwelling park or subdivision.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



24 

(f) Recreational vehicle placed in an approved recreational vehicle park.

(g) Family day care center.

(h) Residential home and residential facility.

(i) Signs subject to Section 4.050.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(2) Conditional Uses Permitted. In an R-3 zone the following conditional uses and their accessory uses are permitted
subject to the provisions of Article 6:

(a) Public utility structure, such as a substation.

(b) Government or municipal structure.

(c) Hospital, sanitarium, nursing home, or rest home.

(d) Limited commercial uses in Planned Unit Developments.

(e) Recreational vehicle parks, manufactured dwelling parks, and manufactured dwelling subdivisions.

(f) Parks and publicly owned recreation areas.

(g) Bed and breakfast.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(3) Standards. In an R-3 zone, the following standards shall apply:

(a) Minimum lot size in an R-3 zone shall be 5,000 square feet except for townhouses, where average lot size for
townhouses in a townhouse project shall be a minimum of 1,500 square feet where sanitary sewer service is available, or will
be made available, except as provided in (h) below; otherwise, minimum lot size shall be 7,000 square feet.

[Amended by Ordinance #163, May 14, 1979; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025] 

(b) Density limits for townhouses in this area shall be 25 dwellings per acre. Density limits for all other housing types in
this area shall be 9 dwellings per acre, except for triplex, quadplex, and cottage cluster developments which are
exempt from maximum density, and except as provided in (i) below. [Amended by Ordinance #163, May 14, 1979;
Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

(c) Minimum lot width is 50 feet, except that for lots between 3,500 and 4,999 square feet, the minimum lot width shall be 35
feet. For townhouses, the minimum lot width shall be 20 feet.

[Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1993; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025] 

(d) Minimum lot depth is 70 feet, except for lots between 3,500 and 4,999 square feet, the minimum lot depth shall be 60
feet.

[Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1993] 

(e) Minimum front yard setback shall be 10 feet from the street right-of-way.

[Amended by Ordinance #163, May 14, 1979]

(f) Minimum setback on all other sides shall be 5 feet from the lot line. For townhouses, the minimum side yard along a common

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



25 

wall lot line where units are attached shall be 0 feet. 

[Amended by Ordinance #163, May 14, 1979; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025] 

(g) For single unit dwellings, the maximum building height shall be 20 feet on the oceanfront and 24 feet elsewhere,
except east of Highway 101 it shall be 29 feet.

[Amended by Ordinance #18-432, January 8, 2020; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025] 

(h) For middle housing, the maximum building height shall be 25 feet, except east of Highway 101 it shall be 29 feet. [Added
by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

(i) Where a proposed use is to be a Planned Unit Development involving residential structures, the Planning Commission
may authorize an additional two dwelling units per acre if the development is properly designed. . Planned developments over
20 acres or new planned developments added to the Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) after January 1, 2021, maximum density
shall be 15 dwelling units per acre. For sites under 20 acres, middle housing is not subject to density maximums except for
townhouses, for which maximum density shall be 25 dwelling units per acre. Aesthetic, geologic and environmental factors shall
be taken into account. The Planning Commission may require an engineering, geologic, or structural analysis where it appears
that steep slopes or wetlands are to be used for construction purposes rather than open space. The Planning Commission may
attach any reasonable conditions it sees fit in the course of the Planned Unit Development process. [Amended by Ord. 2025-02,
June 11, 2025]

(j) The requirements of Section 4.041, Shorelands Development Criteria, shall be met where uses are to be located within
50 feet of a lake within the Rockaway Beach Urban Growth Boundary.

(k) A minimum of 30% of the lot will be maintained in natural vegetation or landscaping. [Added by Ordinance #93-299,
March 24, 1990]

Section 3.091. Residential Manufactured Dwelling Zone - RMD Zone. In an RMD Zone, the following regulations apply: 

(1) Uses Permitted Outright. In an RMD Zone, the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted outright:

(a) Single-unit dwellings, including modular and Manufactured homes. Manufactured homes shall be subject to the
standards of Section 4.091.

[Amended by Ordinance #94-308, February 9, 1994; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025] 

(b) Middle housing. [Amended by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

(c) Manufactured dwelling subject to Section 4.095.

(d) Signs subject to Section 4.050.

(e) Manufactured dwelling or recreational vehicle used during the construction or placement of a permitted use for which a
building or placement permit has been issued, but not to exceed six months duration.

(f) Recreational vehicle.

(g) Home occupation subject to Section 4.090.

(h) Family day care center.

(i) Residential home.

(j) Structural shoreline stabilization.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(2) Conditional Uses Permitted. In an RMD Zone, the following conditional uses and their accessory uses are permitted

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



26 

subject to the provisions of Article 6: 

(a) Church and community meeting building.

(b) Parks and publicly owned recreation areas.

(c) Public or private school.

(d) Golf course and associated facilities.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



27 

(e) Hospital, sanitarium, rest home and nursing home.

(f) Day care center.

(g) Government or municipal structure.

(h) Private recreation use such as tennis court, swimming pool, or racquetball facility.

(i) Public utility structure such as a substation.

(j) Bed and breakfast.

(k) Manufactured dwelling park or recreational vehicle park.

(l) Residential facility.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(3) Standards. In an RMD Zone, the following standards shall apply:

(Title amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990]

(a) For single unit dwellings and duplexes,the minimum lot size shall be 3,500 square feet for lots existing at the time of
adoption of Ordinance 235. Lots platted after the adoption of Ordinance 235 shall have a minimum size of 5,000 square feet.

[Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025] 

(b) The average lot size for townhouses in a townhouse project shall be a minimum of 1,500 square feet. [Added by Ord.
2025-02, June 11, 2025]

(c) The minimum lot size for triplexes, quadplexes, and cottage clusters shall be 5,000 square feet. [Added by Ord. 2025-
02, June 11, 2025]

[Density of duplexes deleted by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025] 

(d) Minimum lot width is 50 feet, except that for lots between 3,500 and 4,999 square feet, the minimum lot width shall be 35

feet. For townhouses, the minimum lot width shall be 20 feet. 

[Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1990; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025] 

(e) Minimum lot depth is 70 feet, except for lots between 3,500 and 4,999 square feet, the minimum lot depth shall be 60
feet.

[Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1990] 

(f) The minimum front yard shall be 15 feet for lots of more than 3,500 square feet. For lots of 3,500 square feet or less,
the minimum front yard shall be 10 feet. Notwithstanding the above, oceanfront structures shall conform to Section 5.060(1)(b).

[Amended by Ordinance #257, May 24, 1988) 

(g) Minimum side yard shall be 5 feet except that on the street side of a corner lot it shall be 15 feet. For townhouses, the
minimum side yard along a common wall lot line where units are attached shall be 0 feet. [Amended by Ordinance
#235, June 25, 1985; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

(h) The minimum rear yard shall be 5 feet. Notwithstanding the above, oceanfront structures shall conform to Section
5.060(1)(b).

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



28 

[Amended by Ordinance #257, May 24, 1988] 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



29 

(i) For single unit dwellings, the maximum building height shall be 20 feet on the oceanfront and 24 feet elsewhere,
except east of Highway 101 it shall be 29 feet.

[Amended by Ordinance #239, February 11, 1986; Am. by Ordinance #18-432, January 8, 2020; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025] 

(j) For middle housing, the maximum building height shall be 25 feet, except east of Highway 101 it shall be 29 feet.
[Added by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

(k) A minimum of 30% of the lot will be maintained in natural vegetation or landscaping.

[Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24,1990]

Section 3.092. Flood Hazard Overlay Zone - FHO Zone 

Purpose and objectives: It is the purpose of this Flood Hazard Overlay Zone to regulate the use of those areas subject to 
periodic flooding, to promote the public health, safety and general welfare and to minimize public and private losses due to flood 
conditions. In advancing these principles and the general purposes of the Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan and Zoning 
Ordinance, all new construction and substantial improvements in the Flood Hazard Overlay Zone shall ensure that the specific 
objectives of this zone are met. 

(1) To combine with the present zoning requirements certain restrictions made necessary for the known flood hazard areas
to promote the general health, welfare and safety of the City.

(2) To prevent the establishment of certain structures and land uses in areas unsuitable for human habitation because of
the danger of flooding, unsanitary conditions, or other hazards.

(3) To minimize the need for rescue and relief efforts associated with flooding.

(4) To help maintain a stable tax base by providing for sound use and development in flood-prone areas and to minimize
prolonged business interruptions.

(5) To minimize damage to public facilities and utilities located in flood hazard areas.

(6) To ensure that potential home and business buyers are notified that property is in a flood area.

(7) To ensure that those who occupy the areas of special flood hazard assume responsibility for their actions.
Section 3.093. Definitions.
Unless specifically defined below, words or phrases used in this ordinance shall be interpreted so as to give them the meaning
they have in common usage and to give this ordinance its most reasonable application.

(1) Area of Shallow Flooding.

Means a designated AO, AH, AR/AO, AR/AH, or VO zone on a community’s Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) with a 1

percent or greater annual chance of flooding to an average depth of 1 to 3 feet where a clearly defined channel does

not exist, where the path of flooding is unpredictable, and where velocity flow may be evident. Such flooding is

characterized by ponding or sheet flow.

(2) Area of Special Flood Hazard.

The land in the flood plain subject to a one percent or greater chance of flooding in any given year.

Designation on maps always include the letter A or V.

(3) Base Flood.

A flood having a one percent chance of being equaled or exceeded in any given year.

(4) Basement.

Any area of the building having its floor subgrade (below ground level) on all sides.

(5) Below Grade Crawlspace

means an enclosed area below the Base Flood Elevation in which the interior grade does not exceed 2 feet below
the lowest adjacent exterior grade and the height, measured from the interior grade of the crawlspace to the bottom
of the lowest horizontal structural member of the lowest floor does not exceed 4 feet at any point.

(6) Breakaway Walls.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



30 

Means a wall that is not a part of the structural support of the building and is intended through its design and 
construction to collapse under specific lateral loading forces, without causing damage to the elevated portion 
of the building or supporting foundation system. 

(7) Coastal High Hazard Area.

An area of special flood hazard extending from offshore to the inland limit of a primary frontal dune along an open
coast and any other area subject to high velocity wave action from storms or seismic sources. The map is
designated on a FIRM as Zone Vl-30 or VE Zone.

(8) Critical Facility

A facility for which even a slight chance of flooding might be too great. Critical facilities include, but are not limited to

schools, nursing homes, hospitals police, fire and emergency response installations, installations which produce, use or

store hazardous materials or hazardous waste.

(9) Development.

Any man-made change to improved or unimproved real property, including but not limited to buildings or other
structures, mining, dredging, filling, grading, paving, excavation or drilling operations, or storage of equipment or
materials.

(10) Elevated Building

For insurance purposes, a nonbasement building which has its lowest elevated floor raised above ground level by

foundation walls, shear walls, post, piers, pilings, or columns.

(11) Flood or Flooding.

a) A general and temporary condition of partial or complete inundation of normally dry land areas from:

1) The overflow of inland or tidal waters.

2) The unusual and rapid accumulation or runoff of surface waters from any source.

3) Mudslides (i.e., mudflows) which are proximately caused by flooding as defined in paragraph (a)(2) of this

definition and are akin to a river of liquid and flowing mud on the surfaces of normally dry land areas, as

when earth is carried by a current of water and deposited along the path of the current.

b) The collapse or subsidence of land along the shore of a lake or other body of water as a result of erosion or

undermining caused by waves or currents of water exceeding anticipated cyclical levels or suddenly caused by an

unusually high water level in a natural body of water, accompanied by a severe storm, or by an unanticipated force

of nature, such as flash flood or an abnormal tidal surge, or by some similarly unusual and unforeseeable event

which results in flooding as defined in paragraph (a)(1) of this definition.

(12) Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM).

The official map on which the Federal Insurance Administrator has delineated both the areas of special flood hazards
and the risk premium zones applicable to the community. A FIRM that has been made available digitally is called a
Digital Flood Insurance Rate Map (DFIRM).

(13) Flood Insurance Study.

An examination, evaluation and determination of flood hazards and, if appropriate, corresponding water surface

elevations, or an examination, evaluation and determination of mudslide (i.e., mudflow) and/or flood-related erosion

hazards.

(14) Floodway

The channel of a river or other watercourse and the adjacent land areas that must be reserved in order to discharge the

base flood without cumulatively increasing the water surface elevation more than a designated height.

(15) Lowest Floor.

The lowest floor of the lowest enclosed area (including basement). An unfinished or flood resistant enclosure,
usable solely for parking of vehicles, building access or storage in an area other than a basement area, is
not considered a building's lowest floor, provided that such enclosure is not built so as to render the structure in
violation of the applicable non-elevation design requirements of this ordinance found in Section 3.096(6) (a).

(16) Manufactured Dwelling.

A structure, transportable in one or more sections, which is built on a permanent chasses and is designed for use

with or without a permanent foundation when attached to the required utilities. The term ‘‘manufactured dwelling’’ 

does not include a ‘‘recreational vehicle’’. 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



31 

(17) Manufactured Dwelling Park or Subdivision. A parcel (or contiguous parcels) of land divided into two or more

manufactured dwelling lots for rent or sale. 

(a) Existing manufactured Dwelling Park or Subdivision:

is one in which the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which the manufactured dwellings are to be
affixed is completed before the effective date of Rockaway Beach's floodplain management regulations. (July
25, 1978) The construction of facilities includes, at a minimum, the installation of utilities, construction of streets,
and either final site grading or the pouring of concrete pads.

(18) Mean Sea Level (MSL).

The average height of the sea for all stages of the tide.

(19) New Construction.

Means, for the purposes of determining insurance rates, structures for which the ‘‘start of construction’’
commenced on or after the effective date of an initial FIRM or after December 31, 1974, whichever is later, and
includes any subsequent improvements to such structures. For floodplain management purposes, new
construction means structures for which the start of construction commenced on or after the effective date of a
floodplain management regulation adopted by a community and includes any subsequent improvements to
such structures.

(20) Start of Construction.

Includes substantial improvement, and means the date the building permit was issued, provided the actual
start of construction, repair, reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition placement, or other improvement was within
180 days of the permit date. The actual start means either the first placement of permanent construction of a
structure on a site, such as the pouring of slab or footings, the installation of piles, the construction of columns,
or any work beyond the stage of excavation; or the placement of a manufactured dwelling on a foundation.
Permanent construction does not include land preparation, such as clearing, grading and filling; nor does it
include the installation of streets and/or walkways; nor does it include excavation for a basement, footings,
piers, or foundations or the erection of temporary forms; nor does it include the installation on the property of
accessory buildings, such as garages or sheds not occupied as dwelling units or not part of the main structure.
For a substantial improvement, the actual start of construction means the first alteration of any wall, ceiling,
floor, or other structural part of a building, whether or not that alteration affects the external dimensions of the
building.

(21) Structure.

A walled and roofed building, including a gas or liquid storage tank that is principally above ground, as well as a
manufactured dwelling and a modular or temporary building. Structure, for insurance purposes, means: 

(1) A building with two or more outside rigid walls and a fully secured roof, that is affixed to a permanent
site;

(2) A manufactured dwelling (‘‘a manufactured dwelling,’’ also known as a mobile home, is a structure: built
on a permanent chassis, transported to its site in one or more sections, and affixed to a permanent
foundation); or

(3) A travel trailer without wheels, built on a chassis and affixed to a permanent foundation, that is regulated
under the community’s floodplain management and building ordinances or laws.

For the latter purpose, ‘‘structure’’ does not mean a recreational vehicle or a park trailer or other similar vehicle, 
except as described in paragraph (3) of this definition, or a gas or liquid storage tank. 

(22) Substantial Improvement.

Any reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition, or other improvement of a structure, the cost of which equals or

exceeds 50 percent of the market value of the structure before the ‘‘start of construction’’ of the improvement.

This term includes structures which have incurred ‘‘substantial damage’’, regardless of the actual repair work

performed. The term does not, however, include either:

(1) Any project for improvement of a structure to correct existing violations of state or local health, sanitary, or
safety code specifications which have been identified by the local code enforcement official and which are the
minimum necessary to assure safe living conditions or
(2) Any alteration of a ‘‘historic structure’’, provided that the alteration will not preclude the structure’s
continued designation as a ‘‘historic structure’’.

(23) Reinforced Pier.

At a minimum, a reinforced pier must have a footing adequate to support the weight of the manufactured home
under saturated soil conditions. Concrete blocks may be used if vertical steel reinforcing rods are placed in
the hollows of the blocks and the hollows are filled with concrete or high strength mortar. Dry stacked

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



32 

concrete blocks do not constitute reinforced piers. 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



33 

(24) Substantial Damage.

Damage of any origin sustained by a structure whereby the cost of restoring the structure to its before damaged
condition would equal or exceed 50 percent of the market value of the structure before the damage occurred.

(25) Recreational Vehicle.

A vehicle which is (1) built on a single chassis, (2) 400 square feet or less when measured at the largest horizontal

projection, (3) designed to be self-propelled or permanently towable by a light duty truck, and (4) designed 

primarily not for use as a permanent dwelling but as temporary living quarters for recreational, camping, 

travel, or seasonal use. 

(26) Recreational Vehicle, Highway Ready.

A recreational vehicle that is on wheels or a jacking system, is attached to the site only by quick disconnect type

utilities and security devices, and has no permanently attached additions. 

(27) Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA).

Areas subject to having a one percent or greater chance of a flood exceeding the base flood in any given year.

Section 3.094. General Provisions. 

(1) Lands To Which This Ordinance Applies. This ordinance shall apply to all areas of special flood hazards (Flood

Hazard Overlay Zone) in combination with present zoning requirements within the jurisdiction of the City of Rockaway

Beach.

[Amended by Ordinance #251, May 12, 1987]

(2) Basis For Establishing The Areas Of Special Flood Hazard. The areas of special flood hazard identified by the

Federal Insurance Administrator through a scientific and engineering report entitled 'The Flood Insurance Study for the

Tillamook County, Oregon and incorporated areas dated September 28, 2018, with accompanying Flood Insurance Rate

Maps and any revision thereto is hereby adopted by reference and declared to be a part of this Ordinance. The Flood

Insurance Study is on file at Rockaway Beach City Hall.

[Amended by Ordinance #18-431, September 12, 2018]

(3) Compliance. No structure or land shall hereafter be located, extended, converted or altered without full compliance

with the terms of this ordinance and other applicable regulations.

[Amended by Ordinance #251, May 12, 1987]

(4) Warning and Disclaimer of Liability. The degree of flood protection required by this ordinance is considered

reasonable for regulatory purposes and is based on scientific and engineering considerations. Larger floods can and

will occur on rare occasions. Flood heights may be increased by man-made or natural causes. This ordinance does not

imply land outside the areas of special flood hazards or uses permitted within such areas will be free from flooding or

flood damages. The ordinance shall not create liability on the part of the City of Rockaway Beach, or any officer or

employee thereof, for any flood damages that result from reliance on this ordinance or any administrative decision

lawfully made thereunder.

[Amended by Ordinance #251, May 12, 1987]

Section 3.095. Administration. 

(1) Establishment of Development Permit.

A Development Permit shall be obtained before construction or development begins within any area of special
flood hazard established in Section 3.094(2). The permit shall be for all structures including manufactured
homes, as set forth in the "definitions" and for all developments including fill and other activities, also as set
forth in the "definitions". Application for a Development Permit shall be made to the City and shall specifically
include the following information:

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



34 

(a) Elevation in relation to mean sea level, of the lowest floor (including basement) of all structures.

(b) Elevation in relation to mean sea level to which any structure has been floodproofed.

(c) Certification by an appropriately qualified registered professional engineer or architect that the floodproofing

method for any non-residential structure meets the floodproofing criteria in Section

3.096(6) (b).

(d) Description of the extent to which any watercourse will be altered or relocated as a result of proposed

development.

(e) An engineered or City approved stormwater drainage site plan designed to prevent the increase of adverse

impacts caused by development in the flood zone.

(2) Duties and Responsibilities.

The duties of the City shall include, but not be limited to permit review:

(a) Review of all development permits to determine that the permit requirements of this ordinance have been

satisfied.

(b) Review all development permits to require that all necessary permits have been obtained from those

federal, state or local governmental agencies from which prior approval is required.

(c) Review all development permits in the area of special flood hazard to determine if the proposed

development adversely affects the flood carrying capacity of the area.

(d) Review all development permit applications to determine if the proposed development qualifies as a “critical

facility”, as set forth in the “DEFINITIONS”. If the development qualifies as a “critical facility”, assure that the

provisions of section 3.098 are complied with.

(e) Provide Base Flood Elevation and Freeboard

(i) When base flood elevation has been provided, the local floodplain administrator shall provide it to

the Building Official along with freeboard requirements established in Section 3.096.

(f) Requirement to Submit New Technical Data.

(i) Notify FEMA within six months of project completion when an applicant had obtained a

Conditional Letter of Map Revision (CLOMR) from FEMA, or when development altered a

watercourse, modified floodplain boundaries, or modified Base Flood Elevations. This notification

shall be provided as a Letter of Map Revision (LOMR).

(ii) The property owner shall be responsible for preparing technical data to support the LOMR

application and paying any processing or application fees to FEMA.

[Amended by Ordinance #18-431, September 12, 2018] 

(3) Uses of Other Base Flood Data.

When base flood elevation data has not been provided in accordance with Section 3.094 (2), Basis for Establishing the
Areas of Special Flood Hazard, the City shall obtain, review and reasonably utilize any base flood elevation data
available from a federal, state or other source, in order to administer Section 3.096(6) (a), Specific Standards,
Residential Construction, and Section 3.096(6)(b), Specific Standards, Non-residential Construction.

(4) Information to be Obtained and Maintained. Where base flood elevation data is provided through the Flood

Insurance Study or required as in Section 3.095(3) the city shall:

(a) Verify and record actual elevation (in relation to Mean Sea Level) of the lowest floor (including basement) of

all new or substantially improved structures and whether or not the structure contains a basement.

(b) For all new or substantially improved floodproofed structures:

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



35 

(i) verify and record the actual elevation (in relation to Mean Sea Level), and

(ii) maintain the floodproofing certifications required in Section 3.096(i)(c).

(c) Maintain for public inspection all records pertaining to the provisions of this ordinance.

(d) In coastal high hazard areas, certification shall be obtained from a registered professional engineer or

architect that the structure is securely anchored to adequately anchored pilings or columns in order to

withstand velocity waters.

(5) Alterations of Watercourses. The City shall:

(a) Notify adjacent communities, the Department of Land Conservation and Development, and other

appropriate federal and state agencies prior to any alteration or relocation of a watercourse, and submit

evidence of such notification to the Federal Insurance Administration.

(b) Require that an engineered stormwater drainage plan and maintenance plan is provided within the altered

or relocated portion of said watercourse, so that the flood carrying capacity is not diminished.

(6) Interpretation of FIRM Boundaries.

The City shall make interpretations where needed, as to the exact location of the boundaries of the areas of special
flood hazards (for example, where there appears to be a conflict between a mapped boundary and actual field
conditions). The person contesting the location of the boundary shall be given a reasonable opportunity to appeal the
interpretations as provided in Section 3.095(7).

(7) Appeals and Variance Procedures.

(a) An appeal of a ruling or interpretation regarding a requirement of this ordinance shall be as established in

Section 11.070(1).

(b) The Planning Commission shall hear and decide appeals when it is alleged there is an error in any

interpretation, requirement, decision, or determination in the enforcement or administration of this ordinance.

(c) An action or ruling of the Planning Commission may be appealed pursuant to Section 11.030(2).

(d) Variances may be issued for the rehabilitation, or restoration of structures listed on the National Register of

Historic Places or the Statewide Inventory of Historic Properties, without regard to the procedures set forth

in this section, provided that the alteration will not preclude the structure’s continued designation as a

“historic structure.”

(e) Variances shall not be issued within a designated floodway if any increase in flood levels during the base

flood discharge would result.

(f) Variances shall only be issued upon a determination that the variance is the minimum necessary,

considering the flood hazard, to afford relief.

(g) Variances shall only be issued upon:

i. A showing of good and sufficient cause;

ii. A determination that failure to grant the variance would result in exceptional hardship to the

applicant;

iii. A determination that the granting of a variance will not result in increased flood heights, additional

threats to public safety, extraordinary public expense, create nuisances, cause fraud on or

victimization of the public as identified in this section, or conflict with existing local laws or

ordinances.

(h) Variances as interpreted in the National Flood Insurance Program are based on the general zoning law

principle that they pertain to a physical piece or property; they are not personal in nature and do not pertain

to the structure, its inhabitants, economic or financial circumstances. They primarily address small lots in

densely populated residential neighborhoods. As such, variances from the flood elevations should be quite

rare.

(i) Variances may be issued for nonresidential buildings in very limited circumstances to allow a lesser degree

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



36 

 

of floodproofing than watertight or dry-floodproofing, where it can be determined that such 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



37 

action will have low damage potential, complies with all other variance criteria except subsection (1), and 
otherwise complies with Sections 3.065(1) – 3.065(3). 

(j) The administrative procedure for hearing a variance shall be as established in Section 8.050.

(k) When a variance is granted, the City shall give written notice that the structure or manufactured home will

be allowed to be built or placed with the lowest floor elevation at or below the base flood elevation, and that:

i. The issuance of the variance to construct a structure below the base flood level will result in a cost
of flood insurance that will be commensurate with the increased risk resulting from the lower floor
elevation and

ii. Such construction below the base flood level increases risk to life and property. Such notification

shall be maintained with a record of all variance actions.

(l) The local floodplain administrator shall maintain the records of all appeal actions and report any variances to

the Federal Insurance Administration upon request.

[Amended by Ordinance #18-431, September 12, 2018] 

(8) Review of Building Permits.

Where elevation data is not available either through the Flood Insurance Study or from another administrative
source (Section 3.095(3)), applications for building permits shall be reviewed to assure that proposed
construction will be reasonably safe from flooding. The test of reasonableness is a local judgment and
includes use of historical data, high water marks, photographs of past flooding, etc., where available. Failure

to elevate at least two feet above grade in these zones may result in higher insurance rates.
[Amended by Ordinance #18-431, September 12, 2018] 

Section 3.096. Provisions for Flood Hazard Reduction. 
General Standards: 

In the Flood Hazard Overlay Zone (FHO Zone) the following provisions are required: 

(1) Anchoring.

(a) All new construction and substantial improvement shall be anchored to prevent flotation, collapse, or lateral

movement of the structure.

(b) All manufactured dwellings must likewise be anchored to prevent flotation, collapse, or lateral movement,

and shall be installed using methods and practices that minimize flood damage. Anchoring methods may

include, but are not limited to, use of over-the-top or frame ties to ground anchors (reference FEMA's

"Manufactured Home Installation in Flood Hazard Areas" guidebook for additional techniques). A certificate

signed by a registered architect or engineer which certifies that the anchoring system is in conformance with

FEMA regulations shall be submitted prior to final inspection approval.

(2) Construction Materials and Methods.

(a) All new construction and substantial improvements shall be constructed with materials and utility equipment

resistant to flood damage.

(b) All new construction or substantial improvements shall be constructed by methods and practices that

minimize flood damage.

(c) Electrical, heating, ventilation, plumbing, and air-conditioning equipment, and other service facilities shall be
elevated a minimum of one (1) foot above base flood elevation so as to prevent water from entering or
accumulating within the components during conditions of flooding.

(3) Utilities.

(a) All new and replacement water supply systems shall be designed to minimize or eliminate infiltration of flood

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



38 

waters into the system. 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



39 

(b) New and replacement sanitary sewage systems shall be designed to minimize or eliminate infiltration of

flood waters into the systems and discharges from the systems into flood waters; and

(c) On-site waste disposal systems shall be located to avoid impairment to them or contamination from them

during flooding consistent with the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality.

[Amended by Ordinance #18-431, September 12, 2018]

(4) Subdivision Proposals.

(a) All subdivision proposals shall provide engineered plans consistent with the need to minimize flood damage.

(b) All subdivision proposals shall have public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, electrical and water

systems located and constructed to minimize flood damage.

(c) All subdivision proposals shall have adequate drainage provided to reduce exposure to flood

damage.

(d) Where base flood elevation data has not been provided or is not available from another authoritative source,

it shall be generated for subdivision proposals and other proposed developments which contain at least 50

lots or 5 acres (whichever is less).

(5) Specific Standards.

In all areas of special flood hazards (FHO Zone) where base flood elevation data has been provided as set
forth in Section 3.094(2), Basis For Establishing The Areas of Special Flood Hazard, or Section 3.095(3), Use
of Other Base Flood Data, the following provisions are required:

(a) Residential Construction.

New construction and substantial improvement of any residential structure shall have the lowest
floor, including basement, elevated to a minimum of one (1) foot above the base flood elevation.
Fully enclosed areas below the lowest floor that are subject to flooding are prohibited, or shall be
designed to automatically equalize hydrostatic flood forces on exterior walls by allowing for the entry
and exit of floodwaters. Designs for meeting this requirement must either be certified by a registered
professional engineer or architect and must meet or exceed the following minimum criteria:

(i) A minimum of two openings having a total net area of not less than one square inch for every

square foot of enclosed area subject to flooding shall be provided.

(ii) The bottom of all openings shall be no higher than one foot above grade.

(iii) Openings may be equipped with screens, louvers, or other coverings or devices, provided that

they permit the automatic entry and exit of floodwaters.

(b) Nonresidential Construction.

New construction and substantial improvement of any commercial, industrial, or other nonresidential
structure shall either have the lowest floor, including basement, elevated to a minimum of one (1) foot above
the base flood elevation, or, together with attendant utility and sanitary facilities, shall:

(i) Be floodproofed so that the portion of the structure that lies below the base flood level is

watertight with walls substantially impermeable to the passage of water.

(ii) Have structural components capable of resisting hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads and

effects of buoyancy.

(iii) Be certified by a registered professional engineer or architect that the design and methods of

construction are in accordance with accepted standards of practice for meeting provisions of

this subsection based on their development and/or review of the structural design,

specifications and plans. Such certifications shall be provided to the City as set forth in

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



40 

Section 3.095 (4)(b)(ii). 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



41 

(iv) Nonresidential structures that are elevated, not floodproofed, must meet the same standards

for space below the lowest floor as described in Section 3.096(6)(a).

(v) Applicants floodproofing nonresidential buildings shall be notified that flood insurance

premiums will be based on rates that are one foot below the floodproofed level (e.g., a

building constructed to the base flood level will be rated as one foot below that level).

(vi) Applicants shall supply a comprehensive Maintenance Plan for the entire structure to include

but not limited to: exterior envelope of structure; all penetrations to the exterior of the

structure; all shields, gates, barriers, or components designed to provide floodproofing

protection to the structure; all seals or gaskets for shields, gates, barriers, or components;

and, the location of all shields, gates, barriers, and components as well as all associated

hardware, and any materials or specialized tools necessary to seal the structure.

(vii) Applicants shall supply an Emergency Action Plan (EAP) for the installation and sealing of the

structure prior to a flooding event that clearly identifies what triggers the EAP and who is

responsible for enacting the EAP.

[Amended by Ordinance #18-431, September 12, 2018] 

(c) Manufactured Dwellings.

Manufactured dwellings to be placed or substantially improved within areas of special flood hazard Zones A1-30,
AH and AE shall meet the following requirements:

(i) Manufactured dwellings supported on solid foundation walls shall be constructed with flood openings that
comply with the provisions of subsection 3.096(A)(6)(a);

(ii) Be elevated so that the bottom of the longitudinal chassis frame beam shall be at or above BFE;

(iii) Be anchored to prevent flotation, collapse, and lateral movement during the base flood. Anchoring
methods may include, but are not limited to, use of over-the-top frame ties to ground anchors (Reference
FEMA’s Manufactured Home Installation in Flood Hazard Areas” guidebook for additional techniques), and;

(iv) Electrical crossover connections shall be a minimum of 12 inches above BFE.

[Amended by Ordinance #18-431, September 12, 2018] 

(d) Recreational Vehicles.

Recreational vehicles may occupy a site in a Special Flood Hazard Area for periods of 180
consecutive days or less providing they are fully licensed and highway ready. Recreational vehicles
that do not meet these criteria become manufactured dwellings and must comply with the standards
for manufactured dwellings pursuant to Section 3.096(b)(c) of this ordinance.

(6) Coastal High Hazard Area.

Coastal high hazard areas (V Zones) are located within the areas of special flood hazard established in
Section 3.094. These areas have special flood hazards associated with high velocity waters from tidal surges
and, therefore, in addition to meeting all provisions in this ordinance, the following provisions shall also apply:

(a) All new construction and substantial improvements in Zones V-1-V30 and VE (V if base flood
elevation data is available) shall be elevated on pilings and columns so that:

(i) the bottom of the lowest horizontal structural member of the lowest floor (excluding

the pilings or columns) is elevated at least one foot above the base flood elevation;

and

(ii) the pile or column foundation and structure attached thereto is anchored to resist

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



42 

flotation, collapse and lateral movement due to the effects of wind and water loads 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



43 

acting simultaneously on all building components. Wind and water loading values 

shall each have a one percent (1%) chance of being equaled or exceeded in any 

given year (100-year mean recurrence interval). 

A registered professional engineer or architect licensed in the State of Oregon shall certify 
the structural design, specifications and plans for the construction and shall certify that the 
design and methods of construction to be used are in accordance with accepted standards of 
practice for meeting the provisions of (i) and (ii) of Section 3.096(7)(a). 

(b) Obtain the elevation (in relation to mean sea level) of the bottom of the lowest structural

member of the lowest floor (excluding pilings and columns) of all new and substantially

improved structures in zones V1-V30 and VE, and whether or not such structures contain a
basement. The City shall maintain a record of all such information.

(c) All new construction shall be located landward of the reach of mean high tide.

(d) Provide that all new construction and substantial improvements have the space below the lowest

floor either free of obstruction or screened with nonsupporting open wood latticework or insect

screening intended to collapse under wind and water loads without causing collapse, displacement,

or other structural damage to the elevated portion of the building or supporting foundation system.

(i) the elevated portion of the building and supporting foundation system shall not be
subject to collapse, displacement, or other structural damage due to the effects of
wind and water loads acting simultaneously on all building components (structural and
non-structural). Maximum wind and water loading values to be used in this
determination shall each have a one percent (1%) chance of being equaled or
exceeded in any given year (100-year mean recurrence interval).

(e) Space below the lowest horizontal structural member of the elevated structure shall be useable solely for

parking of vehicles, building access, or storage. Such space shall not be used for human habitation.

(f) Prohibit the use of fill for structural support of buildings.

(g) Prohibit man-made alteration of sand dunes which would increase potential flood damage.

(h) If breakaway walls are utilized, enclosed space shall be useable solely for parking of vehicles, building

access, or storage. Space shall not be used for habitation. For the purpose of this section, a breakaway wall

shall have a design safe loading resistance of not less than 10 and no more than 20 pounds per square foot.

(i) Manufactured dwellings to be placed or substantially improved on sites within Zones V1-30, V, VE, and

Coastal A Zones shall meet the following requirements:

(i) Comply with the provisions for new construction and substantial improvements in subsection
3.096(A)(7)(a) through (g), and (i).

(ii) The bottom of the longitudinal chassis frame beam shall be elevated at minimum to one foot above the
BFE.

(iii) Electrical crossover connections shall be a minimum of 12 inches above BFE.

(j) Recreational vehicles may occupy a site within Zones V1-V30, V, and VE on the community’s FIRM for

periods of 180 days or less providing they are fully licensed and highway ready, on its wheels or jacking

system, is attached to the site only by quick disconnect type utilities and security devices, and has no

permanently attached additions. Recreational vehicles that do not meet these criteria become manufactured

dwellings and must meet the standards of this section.

[Amended by Ordinance #18-431, September 12, 2018] 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



44 

(7) Areas of Shallow Flooding (AO Zone).

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



45 

Areas of shallow flooding appear on FIRMs as AO zones with depth designations. The base flood depths in these 
zones range from 1 to 3 feet where a clearly defined channel does not exist, or where the path of flooding is 
unpredictable usually characterized as sheet flow. In these areas, the following provisions apply: 

(a) New construction and substantial improvements of residential structures, and manufactured dwellings within

AO Zones shall have

the lowest floor (including basement) elevated above the highest adjacent grade of the building site,
a minimum of one (1) foot above the depth number specified on the FIRM (at least two (2) feet if no
depth number is specified).

(b) New construction and substantial improvement of nonresidential structures shall, either:

(i) have the lowest floor (including basement) elevated above the highest adjacent grade of the

building site, a minimum of one (1) foot above the depth number specified on the FIRM (at

least two (2) feet if no depth number is specified) or

(ii) together with attendant utility and sanitary facilities, be completely floodproofed to or above

highest adjacent grade of the building so that any space below that level is watertight with

walls substantially impermeable to the passage of water and with structural components

having the capability of resisting hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads and effects of buoyancy.

If this method is used, compliance shall be certified by a registered professional engineer or

architect.

(c) Require the installation of an engineered or City approved stormwater drainage plan to ensure adequate
drainage paths around structures on slopes to guide floodwaters around and away from proposed structures
to prevent adverse impacts to surrounding properties.

(d) Recreational vehicles may occupy a site within AO Zones for periods of 180 days or less providing they are
fully licensed and highway ready, on its wheels or jacking system, is attached to the site only by quick
disconnect type utilities and security devices, and has no permanently attached additions. Recreational
vehicles that do not meet these criteria become manufactured dwellings and must meet the standards of
3.096(A)(8)(a).

[Amended by Ordinance #18-431, September 12, 2018]

9) In areas where a regulatory floodway has not been designated, no new construction, substantial improvements, or other
development (including fill) shall be permitted within Zones A1 – A30 and AE on the community’s FIRM, unless it is
demonstrated that the cumulative effect of the proposed development, when combined with other existing and anticipated
development, will not increase the water surface elevation of the base flood more than one foot at any point within the
community.

[Sections 3.092-3.096 Amended by Ordinance 09-407 October 14, 2009] (Amended by Ordinance #13-416, February 27, 2013) 
[Amended by Ordinance #18-431, September 12, 2018] 

Section 3.097. Restrictions and Prohibited Uses. 

(1) Restrictions. Restrictions regarding height, rear yards, side yards, front yard setbacks, minimum lot area, signs,

vision clearance and parking space shall be the same as set forth in each specific zone located within the Flood Hazard Overlay

Zone area.

[Amended by Ordinance #251, May 12, 1987] 

(2) Prohibited Uses. It shall be unlawful to erect, alter, maintain or establish in a flood hazard overlay zone any building,
use or occupancy not permitted or allowed in the foregoing provisions, except existing nonconforming uses, which may continue
as provided in Article 7.

[Amended by Ordinance #251, May 12, 1987] 

Section 3.098. Critical Facilities. 

Construction of new critical facilities shall be, to the extent possible, located outside the limits of the Special Flood Hazard Area 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



46 

(SFHA) (100-year floodplain). Construction of new critical facilities shall be permissible within the SFHA if no feasible alternative 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



47 

site is available. Critical facilities constructed within the SFHA shall have the lowest floor elevated three feet above BFE or to 
the height of the 500-year flood, whichever is higher. Access to and from the critical facility should also be protected to the 
height utilized above. Floodproofing and sealing measures must be taken to ensure that toxic substances will not be displaced 
by or released into floodwaters. Access routes elevated to or above the level of the base flood elevation shall be provided to all 
critical facilities to the extent possible. 

[Amended by Ordinance #18-431, September 12, 2018] 

Section 3.100. Hazards Overlay Zone (HO). 

Purpose. The purpose of this zone is to avoid development hazards in areas of the City and the urban growth boundary 
which have compressible soils, steep slopes, active foredunes, or conditionally stable foredunes subject to ocean undercutting 
or wave overtopping. The following special regulations apply to all properties which lie wholly or partially within one or more of 
these areas. (Refer to Section 3.092, Flood Hazard Overlay Zone) 

[Amended by Ordinance #94-312, June 8, 1994] 

Section 3.102. Zone Boundaries The boundaries of the HO Zone shall be the same as the boundaries of the Braillier (peat) 
soils, areas with 25% or greater slopes, and active foredunes, or conditionally stable foredunes subject to ocean undercutting or 
wave overtopping. These areas shall be mapped and shall be a part of the Zoning Ordinance. The underlying zoning 
regulations shall remain in effect and all development shall be subject to the requirements of both the underlying zone and the 
Hazards Overlay Zone. 

[Amended by Ordinance #243, May 13, 1986] 

Section 3.104. Site Investigation Reports Required. A site investigation shall be required by the city for all development in 
the Hazards Overlay Zone. The city building official shall require the site investigation in all areas in which planning commission 
approval is not required. Otherwise, the planning commission shall require the investigation as part of a subdivision, 
partitioning, conditional use, or other development approval. Site investigation reports shall be performed by a qualified 
engineering geologist, soils scientist, or both, where deemed necessary. In areas requiring specialized knowledge, such as 
active foredunes, the city shall require that a person with experience or training in such areas be employed. 

[Amended by Ordinance #221, August 24, 1982] 

Section 3.106. Method For Minimizing Soils Hazards. 

(1) Unless the planning commission determines that an adequate soils survey has already been undertaken, for the entire
portion of the site proposed for development, the owner or developer will have a new soil survey of the site prepared to
determine the nature and extent of compressible soils on the site, near the surface and at varying depths.

(2) The method used to conduct the soil survey must be acceptable to a qualified soil scientist or soils engineer approved by
the planning commission.

(3) If the detailed soil survey indicates that significant amounts of compressible soils are in locations desired for
development, the developer or owner shall have a report prepared by a licensed soils engineer which indicates suitable
techniques to minimize potential soil hazards to facilities on the parcel or nearby property.

[Amended by Ordinance #221, August 24, 1982] 

Section 3.108. Method For Minimizing Dune Hazards. 

(1) Construction shall be permitted within the following areas only where a valid exception has been taken to Beaches and
Dunes Goal Implementation Requirement 2 and only after a dune hazard report has been performed by a qualified person:

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



48 

(a) Active foredunes.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



49 

(b) Conditionally stable foredunes which are located within coastal high hazard areas (V-zones) as identified on FIRM
maps, or which are within 200 feet of the oceanward toe of the foredune.

(c) Interdune areas which are located within coastal high hazard areas (v-zones) as identified on FIRM maps.

The purpose of the dune hazard report is to identify and describe the existing or potential hazards in the area proposed
for development. The report shall be based on a site inspection conducted by a licensed geologist. The dune hazard report 
shall include a legal description of the property and the following information presented in a format that is readily understandable 
to the general public. 

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(i). ....... Identification of dune landforms. 

(ii). ........ History of dune stabilization in the area. 

(iii). ....... History of erosion or accretion in the area, including long-term trends. 

(iv). ....... General topography including spot elevations. 

(v) ....... Areas subject to flooding as shown on National Flood Insurance Program maps for Rockaway Beach.

(vi). ..... Location of any beachfront protective structures in the vicinity. 

Where the dune hazard report finds that the parcel is located in an area subject to recent or active erosion, the report 
shall present findings on the average retreat of the shoreline and a conclusion that a structure will be reasonably protected from 
erosional hazard for a minimum of 50 years. 

The dune hazard report shall also make recommendations with regard to the following, when found to be appropriate: 

(i). ....... Temporary and permanent sand stabilization programs; 

(ii). ........ Methods of protecting adjacent property from any adverse effects of the proposed development; 

(iii). ....... Restrictions on proposed grading activities for placement of structures, road, or dunes. 

Where the dune hazard report identifies potential hazards in the siting of a structure, the City shall require that the 
appropriate elements of the structure be designed by a civil engineer so that proposed alterations and structures are properly 
designed to address the hazards described in the dune hazard report. 

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(2) Removal of vegetation shall be limited to that which is necessary to perform construction activities, and shall not be done
earlier than (thirty) 30 days prior to the start of construction. If construction takes place between the months of November and
May, temporary sand control measures such as mulching, fencing, or matting shall be employed. Immediately after
construction, the site shall be revegetated. Unless an exception to Goal 18 has been taken, foredunes shall be breached only to
replenish sand supply in interdune areas, or on a temporary basis in an emergency (e.g., fire control, cleaning up oil spills), and
only if the breaching and restoration after breaching is consistent with sound principles of conservation. Foredune grading may
be permitted consistent with the requirements of Section 4.130.

[Amended by Ordinance #243, May 13, 1986] 

(3) Seawalls of rip-rap or concrete shall be adequately designed to withstand ocean erosion hazards. The impact of
seawalls on adjacent property shall be addressed by the applicant. Seawalls shall be as visually unobtrusive as possible; the
City may require that seawalls be revegetated with sand and beach grass wherever possible. Seawalls shall not restrict public
access to the beach at street ends.

[Amended by Ordinance #221, August 24, 1982] 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



50 

Section 3.110. Method For Minimizing Steep Slope Hazards. 

(1) Site investigation reports shall describe the percent of slope of the property, the existence of previous landslides, the
geologic and soils type, and the existing drainage patterns. The report shall discuss the feasibility of construction on the site,
appropriate safeguards to counter building hazards, the location of roads and utilities. The report shall also analyze the potential
cumulative impact of development in the area. A drainage plan shall be prepared for all proposed development in steep slope
areas. The drainage plan shall take into consideration the cumulative impact of development in the area. Drainage
improvements shall be designed to minimize down slope impacts.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(2) The policies pertaining to steep slope areas and hillsides in the Comprehensive Plan shall be addressed by the applicant
and adhered to.

[Amended by Ordinance #221, August 24, 1982] 

(3) No logging, clearing, or grading of steep slopes shall be permitted prior to the site investigation, and subsequent
decision of the Planning Commission.

[Amended by Ordinance #221, August 24, 1982] 

Section 3.112. Issuance of Permits in Potential Hazard Areas. 

The proposed use will be permitted only if: 

(1) The site investigation provides a finding that there is no significant building hazard on the property in question or on
surrounding properties which could threaten the safety of a proposed structure; or

(2) A feasibile engineering solution to the building hazard(s) is proposed which could eliminate the hazard to the proposed
structure or surrounding properties.

[Amended by Ordinance #221, August 24, 1982] 

Section 3.114. Additional Provisions. 

(1) The City may charge the applicant, owner, or developer a reasonable fee for the cost of reviewing the adequacy of the
site investigation for any potentially hazardous area.

(2) The City may require the owner or developer to post a performance bond to insure against adverse effects of the
development.

[Amended by Ordinance #221, August 24, 1982] 

Section 3.120. Open Space Zone (OS). 

In an OS Zone the following regulations shall apply: 

(1) Uses Permitted Outright. In an OS Zone the following uses are permitted outright:

(a) Parks and publically owned recreation area.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990]) 

(2) Conditional Uses Permitted. In an OS Zone the following conditional uses and their accessory uses are permitted
subject to the provisions of Article 6:

(a) Public utility structure such as a substation.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



51 

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990]) 

(3) Standards. In an OS Zone the following standards shall apply:

(a) Outdoor recreation areas or parks shall consist of low intensity, primarily nonstructural uses such as city parks,
waysides, and natural or scientific research or observation areas;

(b) Structures shall be limited to minimal uses necessary for the activity, such as public restrooms, small shelters, and utility
buildings;

(c) Activities involving alterations of wetlands (fill or removal of 50 cubic yards or more of material) shall be done only after a
US Army Corps of Engineers and Division of State Lands permit is obtained.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

Section 3.130. Wetland Notification Overlay Zone. 

Purpose. It is the purpose of the Wetland Notification Overlay Zone to establish a procedure that ensures that the permitting 
requirements of the Division of State Lands and the US Army Corps of Engineers are met in those wetland areas of the City 
which have not been designated Special Area Wetland. 

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

Section 3.131. Zone Boundaries. The boundaries of the Wetland Notification Overlay Zone shall conform to areas so 
designated in the Comprehensive Plan map titled 'Wetland Areas of Rockaway Beach'. 

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

Section 3.132. General Provisions. 

(1) No person shall do any site preparation work in conjunction with a use permitted in the underlying zoning district in which
the property is located, without first notifying the City of the proposed action. Site preparation work is defined as any grading,
filling, drainage, excavation or tree removal on the subject property.

(2) The required notification shall take the form of a description of the location of the property and a sketch describing the
site preparation work to be undertaken.

(3) Upon receipt of the notification, the City shall meet with the applicant and inform him/her that the subject property and
proposed site preparation activities may be subject to the jurisdiction of the Division of State Lands and the US Army Corps of
Engineers.

(4) The applicant shall contact the Division of State Lands and the US Army Corps of Engineers and seek a determination
of whether the subject property and proposed site preparation activities are subject to their jurisdiction.

(5) If the US Army Corps of Engineers and/or the Division of State Lands determines that it has jurisdiction, the applicant
shall receive a permit from these agencies before site preparation work may begin.

(6) If the Division of State Lands and/or the US Army Corps of Engineers determines that it does not have jurisdiction, the
applicant may begin site preparation work upon presenting the City with a written confirmation of such a determination, and
subject to applicable City requirements.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

3.140 Tsunami Hazard (TH) Overlay Zone 

3.141 Definitions. As used in Section 3.142: 

1. “Essential Facilities” means:

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



52 

a. Hospitals and other medical facilities having surgery and emergency treatment areas;

b. Fire and police stations;

c. Tanks or other structures containing, housing or supporting water or fire- suppression materials or equipment
required for the protection of essential or hazardous facilities or special occupancy structures;

d. Emergency vehicle shelters and garages;

e. Structures and equipment in emergency preparedness centers; and

f. Standby power generating equipment for essential facilities.

2. “Hazardous facility” means structures housing, supporting or containing sufficient quantities of toxic or explosive substances
to be of danger to the safety of the public if released.

3. “Special occupancy structures” means

a. Covered structures whose primary occupancy is public assembly with a capacity greater than 300 persons;

b. Buildings with a capacity of greater than 250 individuals for every public, private or parochial school through
secondary level or child care centers;

c. Buildings for colleges or adult education schools with a capacity of greater than 500 persons;

d. Medical facilities with 50 or more resident, incapacitated persons not included in subsection (a) through (c) of this
paragraph;

e. Jails and detention facilities; and

f. All structures and occupancies with a capacity of greater than 5,000 persons.

4. “Substantial improvement” means any repair, reconstruction, or improvement of a structure which exceeds 50 percent of the
real market value of the structure.

5. “Tsunami vertical evacuation structure” means a building or constructed earthen mound that is accessible to evacuees, has
sufficient height to place evacuees above the level of tsunami inundation, and is designed and constructed with the strength and
resiliency needed to withstand the effects of tsunami waves.

6. “Tsunami Inundation Maps (TIMs)” means the map, or maps in the DOGAMI Tsunami Inundation Map (TIM) Series, published
by the Oregon Department of Geology and Mineral Industries, which cover(s) the area within the City of Rockaway Beach. The
TIMs display five scenarios, labeled as “T-shirt sizes” (i.e., S, M, L, XL, and XXL), showing the impact of a Cascadia Subduction
Zone (CSZ) tsunami that reflects the full range of possible inundation. These size ranges are intended to be inclusive of the
range of scenarios that a community might expect during a CSZ event.

3.142 Tsunami Hazard Overlay Zone 

1. Purpose. The purpose of the Tsunami Hazard Overlay Zone is to increase the resilience of the community to a local source
(Cascadia Subduction Zone) tsunami by establishing standards, requirements, incentives, and other measures to be applied in
the review and authorization of land use and development activities in areas subject to tsunami hazards. The standards
established by this section are intended to limit, direct and encourage the development of land uses within areas subject to
tsunami hazards in a manner that will:

a. Reduce loss of life;

b. Reduce damage to private and public property;

c. Reduce social, emotional, and economic disruptions; and

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



53 

d. Increase the ability of the community to respond and recover.

Significant public and private investment has been made in development in areas which are now known to be subject to tsunami 
hazards. It is not the intent or purpose of this section to require the relocation of or otherwise regulate existing development 
within the Tsunami Hazard Overlay Zone. However, it is the intent of this section to control, direct and encourage new 
development and redevelopment such that, over time, the community’s exposure to tsunami risk will be reduced. 

2. Applicability of Tsunami Hazard Overlay Zone. All lands identified as subject to inundation from the XXL magnitude local
source tsunami event as set forth on the applicable Tsunami Inundation Map (TIM) published by the Oregon Department of
Geology and Mineral Industries (DOGAMI), Open File Report 0-13-19, Tsunami inundation scenarios for Oregon, 2013, are
subject to the requirements of this section. The TIM applicable to the City of Rockaway Beach (TIM-Till-04, Plate 1, Local
Source Tsunami Inundation Map for Rockaway Beach, Oregon) is hereby incorporated into this section by reference.

3. Uses. In the Tsunami Hazard Overlay Zone, except for the prohibited uses set forth in subsection (4), all uses permitted
pursuant to the provisions of the underlying zone may be permitted, subject to the additional requirements and limitations of this
section.

4. Prohibited Uses. Unless authorized in accordance with subsection (5), the following uses are prohibited in the specified
portions of the Tsunami Hazard Overlay Zone:

a. In areas identified as subject to inundation from the L magnitude local source tsunami event as set forth on the
Tsunami Inundation Map (TIM), the following uses are prohibited:

i. Hospitals and other medical facilities having surgery and emergency treatment areas.

ii. Fire and police stations.

iii. Structures and equipment in government communication centers and other facilities required for
emergency response.

iv. Buildings with a capacity greater than 250 individuals for every public, private or parochial school through
secondary level or child care centers.

v. Buildings for colleges or adult education schools with a capacity of greater than 500 persons.

vi. Jails and detention facilities.

b. In areas identified as subject to inundation from the M magnitude local source tsunami event as set forth on the
Tsunami Inundation Map (TIM), the following uses are prohibited:

i. Tanks or other structures containing, housing or supporting water or fire- suppression materials or
equipment required for the protection of essential or hazardous facilities or special occupancy structures.

ii. Emergency vehicle shelters and garages.

iii. Structures and equipment in emergency preparedness centers.

iv. Standby power generating equipment for essential facilities.

v. Covered structures whose primary occupancy is public assembly with a capacity of greater than 300
persons.

vi. Medical facilities with 50 or more resident, incapacitated patients.

c. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 7, the requirements of this subsection shall not have the effect of rendering any
lawfully established use or structure nonconforming.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



54 

5. Use Exceptions. A use listed in subsection (4) of this section may be permitted upon authorization of a Use Exception in
accordance with the following requirements:

a. Public schools may be permitted upon findings that there is a need for the school to be within the boundaries of a
school district and fulfilling that need cannot otherwise be accomplished.

b. Fire or police stations may be permitted upon findings that there is a need for a strategic location.

c. Other uses prohibited by subsection (4) of this section may be permitted upon the following findings:

i. There are no reasonable, lower-risk alternative sites available for the proposed use;

ii. Adequate evacuation measures will be provided such that life safety risk to building occupants is minimized;
and,

iii. The buildings will be designed and constructed in a manner to minimize the risk of structural failure during
the design earthquake and tsunami event.

d. Applications, review, decisions, and appeals for Use Exceptions authorized by this subsection shall be in
accordance with the requirements for a Type III procedure as set forth in Section 11.060.

6. Evacuation Route Improvement Requirements. Except existing single unit dwellings on existing lots and parcels, all
new development, substantial improvements and land divisions in the Tsunami Hazard Overlay Zone shall incorporate
evacuation measures and improvements, including necessary vegetation management, which are consistent with and
conform to the adopted Tsunami Evacuation Facilities Improvement Plan. Such measures may include:

a. On-site improvements:

i. Improvements necessary to ensure adequate pedestrian access from the development site to evacuation
routes designated in the Evacuation Route Plan in all weather and lighting conditions.

ii. Frontage improvements to designated evacuation routes that are located on or contiguous to the proposed
development site, where such improvements are identified in the Tsunami Evacuation Facilities Improvement
Plan. Such improvements shall be proportional to the evacuation needs created by the proposed
development.

b. Off-site improvements: Improvements to portions of designated evacuation routes that are needed to serve, but are
not contiguous to, the proposed development site, where such improvements are identified in the Tsunami Evacuation
Facilities Improvement Plan. Such improvements shall be proportional to the evacuation needs created by the
proposed development.

c. Evacuation route signage consistent with the standards set forth in the Tsunami Evacuation Facilities Improvement
Plan. Such signage shall be adequate to provide necessary evacuation information consistent with the proposed use of
the site.

d. Evacuation route improvements and measures required by this subsection may include the following:

i. Improved streets and/or all-weather surface paths of sufficient width and grade to ensure pedestrian access
to designated evacuation routes in all lighting conditions;

ii. Improved streets and paths shall provide and maintain horizontal clearances sufficient to prevent the
obstruction of such paths from downed trees and structure failures likely to occur during a Cascadia
earthquake; and

iii. Such other improvements and measures identified in the Evacuation Route Plan.

7. Tsunami Evacuation Structures

a. All tsunami evacuation structures shall be of sufficient height to place evacuees above the level of inundation for the XXL

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



55 

local source tsunami event. 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



56 

b. Tsunami evacuation structures are not subject to the building height limitations as set forth in Article 3.

8. Flexible Development Option

a. The purpose of the Flexible Development Option is to provide incentives for, and to encourage and promote, site planning
and development within the Tsunami Hazard Overlay Zone that results in lower risk exposure to tsunami hazard than would
otherwise be achieved through the conventional application of the requirements of this chapter. The Flexible Development
Option is intended to:

i. Allow for and encourage development designs that incorporate enhanced evacuation measures, appropriate building
siting and design, and other features that reduce the risks to life and property from tsunami hazard; and

ii. Permit greater flexibility in the siting of buildings and other physical improvements and in the creation of new lots and
parcels in order to allow the full realization of permitted development while reducing risks to life and property from
tsunami hazard.

b. The Flexible Development Option may be applied to the development of any lot, parcel, or tract of land that is wholly or
partially within the Tsunami Hazard Overlay Zone.

c. Overall residential density shall be as set forth in the underlying zone or zones. Density shall be computed based on total
gross land area of the subject property, excluding street right-of-way.

d. Yards, setbacks, lot area, lot width and depth, lot coverage, building height and similar dimensional requirements may be
reduced, adjusted or otherwise modified as necessary to achieve the design objectives of the development and fulfill the
purposes of this section.

e. Applications, review, decisions, and appeals for the Flexible Development Option shall be in accordance with the
requirements for a Type II procedure as set forth in Section 11.030.

f. Approval of an application for a Flexible Development Option shall be based on findings that the following criteria are satisfied:

i. The applicable requirements of sub-paragraphs (b) and (d) of this subsection are met; and

ii. The development will provide tsunami hazard mitigation and/or other risk reduction measures at a level greater than
would otherwise be provided under conventional land development procedures. Such measures may include, but are
not limited to:

1. Providing evacuation measures, improvements, way finding techniques and signage at a level greater than
required by subsection (6) of this section;

2. Providing tsunami evacuation structure(s) which are accessible to and provide capacity for evacuees from
off-site;

3. Incorporating building designs or techniques which exceed minimum structural specialty code requirements
in a manner that increases the capacity of structures to withstand the forces of a local source tsunami; and

4. Concentrating or clustering development in lower risk portions or areas of the subject property, and limiting
or avoiding development in higher risk areas.

[Section 3.140-3.142 Added. by Ordinance #19-433, July 10, 2019] 

3.150 Public Facilities Zone (PF) 

1. Purpose and Applicability.

A. Purpose. The Public Facilities Zone is intended to provide area for buildings and facilities that are owned and
operated by Federal, State, or local governments, public utilities, and special districts, which are used to provide
governmental or public services. This zone also provides for school sites, public park and recreational facilities,
natural areas, trails, wetlands, and similar types of open space owned and managed by a local government, school
district or special district.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



57 

B. Applicability. The PF Zone is identified on the City’s official Zoning Map. The properties identified within the PF
Zone shall comply with the provisions of this chapter.

2. Permitted and Conditional Uses.

A. Permitted Uses. The land uses listed in Table 3.150.1 are permitted in the PF Zone, subject to the provisions of
this code.

B. Existing Uses. Uses and structures previously established within the Public Facilities Zone may continue.

Table 3.150.1 – Permitted and Conditional Uses 

Land Use PF 

Publicly owned buildings such as City Hall, County courthouse, administrative buildings, library, museum, fire 
station, police station, emergency service buildings, public safety training facilities, and similar structures, but 
excluding correctional facilities 

P 

Public parks, playgrounds, swimming pool, skateboard park, pedestrian/bicycle trails and similar public recreation 
facilities 

P 

Publicly owned and operated community meeting halls, lodges, and conference halls open to and used by the 
general public 

P 

Public reservoirs, well sites, pump stations, utilities (above and below ground), utility treatment/processing facilities 
and similar utility buildings or structures 

P 

Institution of higher education P 

Schools P 

Trails, natural areas, open space, future park sites, and similar public or special district-owned lands with no or 
minimal improvements 

P 

Accessory uses and buildings customarily used to support a permitted use such as public restrooms, showers, 
temporary bicycle storage lockers, and vehicle charging stations 

P 

Parking lots and parking areas to serve a permitted use P 

Public utility maintenance facilities and operation yards with outdoor storage of materials and supplies, including 
fuel and chemical storage tanks 

P 

Ball fields, sport complexes, and similar outdoor recreational areas that have night lighting, and do not include 
amplified sound systems 

P 

Publicly owned and operated wireless and broadcast communication facilities P 

County solid waste disposal sites or solid waste transfer sites N 

Correctional facilities for adults and juveniles including work farms and training centers N 

Key to Permitted Uses 

P = Permitted 

N = Not Permitted 

3. Development Standards.

Development standards provide building separation for fire protection/security, building maintenance, sunlight and air circulation, 
noise buffering, and visual separation. 

Table 3.150.2 

Standard PF 

Lot Area No requirement 

Lot Width No requirement 

Lot Depth No requirement 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



58 

Table 3.150.2 

Standard PF 

Front Yard 
Setback 

None, except when abutting to a Residential Zone, then the front yard setback to a building or 
parking area shall be the required setback of the abutting Residential Zone 

Side and Rear 
Yard Setback 

None, except when abutting a Residential Zone, then the side or rear setback to a building or 
parking area is 10 feet. The required side and rear yard setback shall be increased by one-half foot 
for each foot by which the structure exceeds 20 feet in height 

Building Height 35 feet except where a setback of 100 feet can be provided the building height may be a maximum 
of 55 feet. If the abutting zoning district allows buildings taller than 35 feet, the height of the abutting 
zone may be applied to the PF Zone 

Landscaping No minimum requirement 

[Section 3.150 Added. by Ordinance #19-435, June 10, 2020] 

Article 4. Supplementary Provisions. 

Section 4.010. Access Requirement. Every lot shall abut a street or alley for at least 25 feet, or have vehicular access by 
means of a recorded easement. 

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

Section 4.020. Clear Vision Areas. A clear vision area shall be maintained on the corners of all property at the intersection of 
two streets or a street and a railroad. 

(1) A clear vision area shall consist of a triangular area, two sides of which are lot lines, measured from the corner
intersection of the street lot lines for a distance specified in this regulation (15 feet), or, where the lot lines have rounded corners,
the lot lines extended in a straight line to a point of intersection and so measured, and the third side of each is a line across the
corner of the lot joining the non-intersecting ends of the other two sides of the triangle.

(2) A clear vision area shall contain no planting, fence, wall structure, or temporary or permanent obstruction exceeding 2.5
feet in height, measured from the street center line grade, except that trees exceeding this height may be located in this area
provided all branches and foliage are removed to a height of 8 feet above the grade level.

(3) The minimum distance for the clear vision area shall be 15 feet from the intersection of the streets as illustrated below.

[Section (3) amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985]

Section 4.030. Maintenance of Minimum Ordinance Requirements. No lot area, yard, other open space, or off-street 
parking or loading area existing on or after the effective date of this ordinance shall be reduced below the minimum required for 
it by this ordinance. 

Section 4.040. Dual Use of Required Open Space. No required open space shall be used for construction of 
buildings. Satellite receivers shall not be located in the front yard or street side yard. 

[Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1990] 

Section 4.041. Shoreland Development Criteria. The Planning Commission shall review all development within 50 feet of the 
shore of any lake in the Rockaway Beach Urban Growth Boundary to ensure that the development: 

(1) Maintains existing riparian vegetation in accordance with Section 4.150.

(2) Maintains the scenic quality of existing undeveloped shoreline area such as along the east side of Lake Lytle; or
improves the appearance of developed shoreline areas such as those adjacent to Clear Lake or Seaview Lake.

(3) Does not require the fill of any wetland or aquatic areas, except for water-dependent uses.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



59 

(4) Existing public access to the shoreline shall be maintained in accordance with Section 4.140. New commercial
development shall make provision for public access to the shoreline.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990]) 

Section 4.043. Multi-Unit Siting Criteria. In any zone where a multi-unit dwelling is proposed, the Planning Commission shall 
review the plans under the following criteria: 

(1) The placement of the structure takes advantage of natural features such as streams, shorelines, or hillsides. Existing
trees are retained wherever feasible.

(2) Ingress and egress points shall be located to minimize impact on any adjacent residential uses.

(3) Parking areas are located to minimize impact on any adjacent residential uses. Parking areas which provide for eight or
more vehicles shall be screened from adjacent residential uses by means of a fence or sight-obscuring hedge.

(4) A minimum of 25% of the lot area or the percentage of open space required by the land use zone shall be devoted to
open space, whichever is greater.

(5) Where the proposed structure is located in a residential zone the following setbacks shall be met:

(a) Front Yard ....................................................................... one-story structure 10 feet 

. ........................................................................................ two-story structure 15 feet 

. ..................................................................................... three-story structure 20 feet 

(b) Rear Yard ....................................................................... one-story structure 10 feet 

. ........................................................................................ two-story structure 15 feet 

. ..................................................................................... three-story structure 20 feet 

(c) Side Yard ........................................................................... one-story structure 5 feet 

. ........................................................................................ two-story structure 10 feet 

. ..................................................................................... three-story structure 15 feet 

(6) Multi-unit siting approval shall be void one year after the date of approval unless a building permit has been obtained.

(7) Native vegetation is encouraged in required open space. Hardscape features such as benches, walkways, and outdoor 

seating areas shall be compliant with the American with Disabilities Act Accessibility Guidelines.

[Amended by Ordinance 09-407 October 14, 2009]

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



60 

Section 4.044 Townhouse Projects 

(1) Sufficient Infrastructure. Applicants must demonstrate that Sufficient Infrastructure is provided, or will be provided, upon

submittal of a townhouse development application.

(2) Design Standards for Townhouses.

(a) Entry Orientation. The main entrance of each townhouse must:

(i) Be within 8 feet of the longest street-facing wall of the dwelling unit, if the lot has public street frontage; and

(ii) Either:

(A) Face the street (see Figure 1);

(B) Be at an angle of up to 45 degrees from the street (see Figure 2);

(C) Face a common open space or private access or driveway that is abutted by dwellings on at least two sides; or

(D) Open onto a porch (see Figure 3). The porch must:

• Be at least 25 square feet in area; and

• Have at least one entrance facing the street or have a roof

(b) Unit definition. Each townhouse must include at least one of the following on at least one street-facing façade (see Figure

4):

(i) A roof dormer a minimum of 4 feet in width, or

(ii) A balcony a minimum of 2 feet in depth and 4 feet in width and accessible from an interior room, or

(iii) A bay window that extends from the facade a minimum of 2 feet, or

(iv) An offset of the facade of a minimum of 2 feet in depth, either from the neighboring townhouse or within the façade of

a single townhouse, or

(v) An entryway that is recessed a minimum of 3 feet, or

(vi) A covered entryway with a minimum depth of 4 feet, or

(vii) A porch meeting the standards of subsection (2)(a)(D) of this section (4.04X.02).

Balconies and bay windows may encroach into a required setback area. 
Figure 1. Main Entrance Facing the Street 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



61 

Figure 2. Main Entrance at 45°Angle from the Street 

Figure 3. Main Entrance Opening onto a Porch 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



62 

Figure 4. Townhouse Unit Definition 

(c) Windows. A minimum of 15 percent of the area of all street-facing facades on each individual unit must include windows
or entrance doors. Half of the window area in the door of an attached garage may count toward meeting this standard
(see Figure 5).

Figure 5. Window Coverage 

(d) Driveway Access and Parking. Townhouses with frontage on a public street shall meet the following standards:

(i) Garages on the front façade of a townhouse, off-street parking areas in the front yard, and driveways in front of a
townhouse are allowed if they meet the following standards (see Figure 6).

(A) Each townhouse lot has a street frontage of at least 15 feet on a local street.
(B) A maximum of one (1) driveway approach is allowed for every townhouse. Driveway approaches and/or

driveways may be shared.
(C) Outdoor on-site parking and maneuvering areas do not exceed 12 feet wide on any lot.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



63 

(D) The garage width does not exceed 12 feet, as measured from the inside of the garage door frame.

Figure 6. Townhouses with Parking in Front Yard 

(ii) The following standards apply to driveways and parking areas for townhouse projects that do not meet all of the
standards in subsection (i).

(A) Off-street parking areas shall be accessed on the back façade or located in the rear yard. No off-street parking
shall be allowed in the front yard or side yard of a townhouse.

(B) A townhouse project that includes a corner lot shall take access from a single driveway approach on the side of
the corner lot. See Figure 7.

(C) Townhouse projects that do not include a corner lot shall consolidate access for all lots into a single driveway.
The driveway and approach are not allowed in the area directly between the front façade and front lot line of any
of the townhouses. See Figure 8.

(D) A townhouse project that includes consolidated access or shared driveways shall grant access easements to
allow normal vehicular access and emergency access.

(iii) Townhouse projects in which all units take exclusive access from a rear alley are exempt from compliance with
subsection (ii).

(3) Process. Townhouse structures are reviewed for compliance with these standards as part of the building permit application.

Figure 7. Townhouses on Corner Lot with Shared Access 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



64 

Figure 8. Townhouses with Consolidated Access 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



65 

Section 4.045. Triplex and Quadplex Dwellings 

(1) Sufficient Infrastructure. Applicants must demonstrate that Sufficient Infrastructure is provided, or will be provided, upon
submittal of a townhouse development application.

(2) Design Standards for Triplex and Quadplex Dwellings.

(a) Entry Orientation. At least one main entrance for each triplex or quadplex structure must meet the standards in
subsections (i) and (ii) below. Any detached structure for which more than 50 percent of its street-facing facade is
separated from the street property line by a dwelling is exempt from meeting these standards.

(i) The entrance must be within 8 feet of the longest street-facing wall of the dwelling unit; and
(ii) The entrance must either:

(A) Face the street (see Figure 9);
(B) Be at an angle of up to 45 degrees from the street (see Figure 10);
(C) Face a common open space that is adjacent to the street and is abutted by dwellings on at least two sides (see

Figure 11); or
(D) Open onto a porch (see Figure 12). The porch must:

• Be at least 25 square feet in area; and

• Have at least one entrance facing the street or have a roof.
Figure 9. Main Entrance Facing the Street 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



66 

Figure 10. Main Entrance at 45° Angle from the Street 

Figure 11. Main Entrance Facing Common Open Space 

Figure 12. Main Entrance Opening onto a Porch 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



67 

(b) Windows. A minimum of 15 percent of the area of all street-facing facades must include windows or entrance doors.
Facades separated from the street property line by a dwelling are exempt from meeting this standard. See Figure 13.

Figure 13. Window Coverage 

(c) Garages and Off-Street Parking Areas. Garages and off-street parking areas shall not be located between a building and
a public street (other than an alley), except in compliance with the standards in subsections (i) and (ii) of this subsection
(2)(c).

(i) The garage or off-street parking area is separated from the street property line by a dwelling; or
(ii) The combined width of all garages and outdoor on-site parking and maneuvering areas does not exceed a total of 50

percent of the street frontage (see Figure 14).

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



68 

Figure 14. Width of Garages and Parking Areas 

(d) Driveway Approach. Driveway approaches must comply with the following:

(i) The total width of all driveway approaches must not exceed 32 feet per frontage, as measured at the property line
(see Figure 15). For lots or parcels with more than one frontage, see (d)(iii) of this subsection (Section 4.04X(2)).

(ii) Driveway approaches may be separated when located on a local street (see Figure 15). If approaches are separated,
they must meet driveway spacing standards applicable to local streets.

(iii) In addition, lots or parcels with more than one frontage must comply with the following:
(A) Lots or parcels must access the street with the lowest transportation classification for vehicle traffic. For lots or

parcels abutting an improved alley (defined as an alley that meets the jurisdiction’s standards for width and
pavement), access must be taken from the alley (see Figure 16).

(B) Lots or parcels with frontages only on collectors and/or arterial streets must meet local access standards
applicable to collectors and/or arterials.

(C) Triplexes and quadplexes on lots or parcels with frontages only on local streets may have either:

• Two driveway approaches not exceeding 32 feet in total width on one frontage; or

• One maximum 16-foot-wide driveway approach per frontage (see Figure 17).

(3) Process. Triplexes and quadplexes are reviewed for compliance with these standards as part of the building permit
application.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



69 

Figure 15. Driveway Approach Width and Separation on Local Street 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



70 

Figure 16. Alley Access 

Figure 17. Driveway Approach Options for Multiple Local Street Frontages 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



71 

Section 4.046. Cottage Clusters. 

(1) Sufficient Infrastructure. Applicants must demonstrate that Sufficient Infrastructure is provided, or will be provided, upon
submittal of a townhouse development application.

(2) Development Standards for Cottage Clusters.

(a) Setbacks and Building Separation

(i) Setbacks. The following standards are maximum setbacks for cottage clusters in all zones:
(A) Front setbacks: 10 feet
(B) Side setbacks: 5 feet
(C) Rear setbacks: 10 feet

(ii) Building Separation. Cottages shall be separated by a minimum distance of six (6) feet. The minimum distance
between all other structures, including accessory structures, shall be in accordance with building code requirements

(b) Average Unit Size. The maximum average floor area for a cottage cluster is 1,400 square feet per dwelling unit.
Community buildings shall be included in the average floor area calculation for a cottage cluster.

(3) Design Standards. Cottage clusters shall meet the design standards in subsections (a) through (h) of this section (3). No
other design standards shall apply to cottage clusters unless noted in this section.

(a) Cottage Orientation. Cottages must be clustered around a common courtyard, meaning they abut the associated common
courtyard or are directly connected to it by a pedestrian path, and must meet the following standards (see Figure 18):

(i) Each cottage within a cluster must either abut the common courtyard or must be directly connected to it by a
pedestrian path.

(ii) A minimum of 50 percent of cottages within a cluster must be oriented to the common courtyard and must:

(A) Have a main entrance facing the common courtyard;
(B) Be within 10 feet from the common courtyard, measured from the façade of the cottage to the nearest edge of

the common courtyard; and
(C) Be connected to the common courtyard by a pedestrian path.

(iii) Cottages within 20 feet of a street property line may have their entrances facing the street.
(iv) Cottages not facing the common courtyard or the street must have their main entrances facing a pedestrian path that

is directly connected to the common courtyard.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



72 

Figure 18. Cottage Cluster Orientation and Common Courtyard Standards 

(b) Common Courtyard Design Standards. Each cottage cluster must share a common courtyard in order to provide a sense
of openness and community of residents. Common courtyards must meet the following standards (see Figure 19):

(i) The common courtyard must be a single, contiguous piece.
(ii) Cottages must abut the common courtyard on at least two sides of the courtyard.
(iii) The common courtyard must contain a minimum of 150 square feet per cottage within the associated cluster (as

defined in subsection (a) of this section (3)).
(iv) The common courtyard must be a minimum of 15 feet wide at its narrowest dimension.
(v) The common courtyard shall be developed with a mix of landscaping, lawn area, pedestrian paths, and/or paved

courtyard area, and may also include recreational amenities. Impervious elements of the common courtyard shall not
exceed 75 percent of the total common courtyard area.

(vi) Pedestrian paths must be included in a common courtyard. Paths that are contiguous to a courtyard shall count
toward the courtyard’s minimum dimension and area. Parking areas, required setbacks, and driveways do not qualify
as part of a common courtyard.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



73 

Figure 19. Cottage Cluster Parking Design Standards 

(c) Community Buildings. Cottage cluster projects may include community buildings for the shared use of residents that
provide space for accessory uses such as community meeting rooms, guest housing, exercise rooms, day care, or
community eating areas. Community buildings must meet the following standards:

(i) Each cottage cluster is permitted one community building, which shall count towards the maximum average floor
area, pursuant to subsection (2)(b).

(ii) A community building that meets the development code’s definition of a dwelling unit must meet the maximum 900
square foot footprint limitation that applies to cottages, unless a covenant is recorded against the property stating that
the structure is not a legal dwelling unit and will not be used as a primary dwelling.

(d) Pedestrian Access.

(i) An accessible pedestrian path must be provided that connects the main entrance of each cottage to the following:

(A) The common courtyard;
(B) Shared parking areas;
(C) Community buildings; and
(D) Sidewalks in public rights-of-way abutting the site or rights-of-way if there are no sidewalks.

(ii) The pedestrian path must be hard-surfaced and a minimum of four (4) feet wide.

(e) Windows. Cottages within 20 feet of a street property line must meet any window coverage requirement that applies to
detached single unit dwellings in the same zone.

(f) Parking Design (see Figure 20).

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



74 

(i) Clustered parking. Off-street parking may be arranged in clusters, subject to the following standards:

(A) Cottage cluster projects with fewer than 16 cottages are permitted parking clusters of not more than five (5)
contiguous spaces.

(B) Cottage cluster projects with 16 cottages or more are permitted parking clusters of not more than eight (8)
contiguous spaces.

(C) Parking clusters must be separated from other spaces by at least four (4) feet of landscaping.
(D) Clustered parking areas may be covered.

(ii) Parking location and access.

(A) Off-street parking spaces and vehicle maneuvering areas shall not be located:

• within of 20 feet from any street property line, except alley property lines;

• between a street property line and the front façade of cottages located closest to the street property line.
This standard does not apply to alleys.

(B) Off-street parking spaces shall not be located within 10 feet of any other property line, except alley property lines.
Driveways and drive aisles are permitted within 10 feet of other property lines.

(iii) Screening. Landscaping, fencing, or walls at least three feet tall shall separate clustered parking areas and parking
structures from common courtyards and public streets.

(iv) Garages and carports.

(A) Garages and carports (whether shared or individual) must not abut common courtyards.
(B) Individual attached garages up to 200 square feet shall be exempted from the calculation of maximum building

footprint for cottages.
(C) Individual detached garages must not exceed 400 square feet in floor area.
(D) Garage doors for attached and detached individual garages must not exceed 20 feet in width.

(g) Accessory Structures. Accessory structures must not exceed 400 square feet in floor area.

(h) Existing Structures. On a lot or parcel to be used for a cottage cluster project, an existing detached single unit dwelling on
the same lot at the time of proposed development of the cottage cluster may remain within the cottage cluster project area
under the following conditions:

(i) The existing dwelling may be nonconforming with respect to the requirements of this code.
(ii) The existing dwelling may be expanded up to the maximum height allowed by the zone district or the maximum

building footprint of 900 square feet; however, existing dwellings that exceed the maximum height and/or footprint of
this code may not be expanded.

(iii) The floor area of the existing dwelling shall not count towards the maximum average floor area of a cottage cluster.
(iv) The existing dwelling shall be excluded from the calculation of orientation toward the common courtyard, per

subsection (a)(1) of this section (3).

(4) Process. Cottage clusters are reviewed for compliance with these standards as part of the building permit application.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



75 

Section 4.050. Sign Requirements. 

1. Placement. No sign shall be placed in or extend over a required street right-of-way except sidewalks. Signs over sidewalks 
shall not be less than 8 feet from the sidewalk grade. Where no sidewalk exists, the 6 feet of right-of-way on either side of the 
street shall be considered the sidewalk.

2. Measurements.  The following shall be used in measuring a permanent sign to determine compliance with this Chapter:
a. Signs shall be limited to the following:

i. Commercial uses, other than motel, hotel, or timeshare condominium; one square foot of sign area for each 
lineal foot of street frontage, but not to exceed 75 square feet in area.

ii. Motel, hotel, or timeshare condominiums; 75 feet in area.
iii. Light industrial; 24 square feet in area.
iv. Nonresidential uses such as churches or schools; 12 square feet in area.
v. Multi-unit and condominiums; 12 square feet in area.
vi. Home occupation; 1 square foot in area.

b. Sign area shall be calculated such that one side of an opposing-sided or non-parallel sign may be used for the 
purposes of measuring square footage. The larger side must be used for the determining factor.

c. Off premise signs shall be no larger than 24 square feet in area.
3. Sandwich board signs. For the purposes of this section, “sandwich board sign” means a sign which consists of two panels 

hinged or attached at the top or side, designed to be movable and stand on the ground.
a. One nonilluminated sandwich board sign, with each face not exceeding eight square feet in area, shall be allowed per 

business.
b. Sandwich board signs must be placed directly in front of the associated establishment.
c. The sandwich board sign shall not be located within a street or street right-of -way, except that where sidewalks exist, 

such a sign may be located on a public sidewalk. The sign shall not obstruct pedestrian traffic. If located on a public 
or private sidewalk, it shall be placed either adjacent to the curb or adjacent to the building so as to allow a 36- inch 
minimum walkway.

d. Sandwich board sign area shall not be deducted from the aggregate sign area allowed in Section 4.050(3).
e. Nonprofit and community organizations without an associated establishment may display a sandwich board sign 

during special events in public open spaces related to the event. All dimensions and placement standards outlined in 
Sections (a) through (d) shall apply.

4. Short Term Rental (STR) Signs. Signage requirements specific to Short Term Rentals (STRs) are governed by Section 
113.04(C) of the Rockaway Beach Code of Ordinances. All sign regulations for STRs shall follow the requirements outlined in 
that section, as defined and enforced separately from the standards in Section 4.050.

5. Prohibitions.  The following are expressly prohibited, unless specifically stated otherwise in this Chapter:
a. There shall be no moving or flashing signs.
b. Light from a sign shall be directed away from a residential use or zone and shall not be located so as to detract from 

a motorist's view.
c. External light sources for a sign shall be directed downward and shielded to limit direct illumination of any object other 

than the sign.
6. Nonconforming Signs.  Nonconforming permanent signs existing at the time this 2025 Ordinance becomes effective, may 

continue, subject to the restrictions in this section:
a. A nonconforming sign shall not be:

i. Expanded in size or height that increases nonconformity; or
ii. Relocated.

b. A nonconforming permanent sign may be maintained or altered, including changing the face or repair, provided no 
changes are made that would increase nonconformity.

i. If a nonconforming sign is destroyed by wind, fire, rain or by any other natural disaster, the sign shall not be 
replaced and shall lose its nonconformity and any remaining portions shall be removed; any new signage 
erected in its place shall comply with the provisions of this Chapter.

7. Exempt Signs.  The following signs are exempt from regulations under this Chapter:
a. Signs erected or maintained by or on behalf of a federal, state, county, or local governmental body.

 [Amended by Ordinance #18-432, January 8, 2020; Am. by Ord. 2024-06, December 11, 2024] 

Section 4.060. Off-Street Parking and Off-Street Loading Requirements. At the time a new structure is erected, or the use 
of an existing structure is enlarged, off-street parking spaces, loading spaces, and access thereto shall be provided as set forth 
in this section, unless greater requirements are otherwise established. 

If such facilities have been provided in connection with an existing use, they shall not be reduced below the requirements of this 
ordinance except as exempted in Subsection (12). 

(1) Requirements for types of buildings and uses not specifically listed herein shall be determined by the Planning
Commission, based upon the requirements of comparable uses listed.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



76 

(2) In the event several uses occupy a single structure or parcel of land, the total requirements shall be the sum of the
requirements of the several uses computed separately, except where the Planning Commission determines that the various
uses are to be used at different times of the day, such that the same parking spaces may be reduced by the number of spaces
required by the smaller use.

(3) Owners of two or more uses, structures, or parcels of land may agree to utilize the same parking and loading spaces
when the hours of operation do not overlap, provided that satisfactory legal evidence is presented to the Planning Commission
in the form of deeds, leases, or contracts to establish the joint use.

(4) Required parking spaces for dwellings shall be located on the same lot with the dwelling. Other required parking spaces
shall be located not further than 200 feet from the building or use they are required to serve.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



77 

 

(5) Required parking spaces shall be available for the parking of operable passenger automobiles of residents, customers, 
patrons, and employees only, and shall not be used for storage of vehicles or materials or for the parking of trucks used in 
conducting the business or use. Spaces required for employees shall be applicable to each shift. 

 
(6) Areas used for standing and maneuvering of vehicles shall have durable surfaces maintained adequately for all weather 
use and be drained to prevent the ponding of water or the collection of water in a public right-of-way, or the flowing of water 
across public sidewalks. 

 
(7) Except for parking to serve residential uses, parking and loading areas adjacent to or within residential zones or uses, or 
adjacent to city parks or natural areas, shall be designed to minimize disturbances of residents by the erection between the uses 
of a sight-obscuring fence of at least four feet and not more than six feet in height, or a buffer of natural vegetation such as trees 
or shrubs, except that clear vision areas shall be preserved. 

 
(8) Parking spaces along the outer boundaries of a lot shall be contained by a curb or bumper rail at least four inches high. 

 
(9) Artificial lighting which may be provided shall not create or reflect substantial glare in a residential zone or on any 
adjacent dwelling, community park, or designated natural area. 

 
(10) Uses located on US Highway 101 shall have parking facilities designed so that vehicles do not back into the right-of- 
way. 

 
[Amended by Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985] 

 
(11) Passenger loading. A driveway designed for continuous forward flow of passenger vehicles for the purpose of loading 
and unloading children shall be located on the site of any school having a capacity greater than 25 students. 

 
(12) Loading of merchandise, materials, or supplies. Buildings or structures which receive and distribute material or 
merchandise by truck shall provide and maintain off-street loading berths in sufficient number and size to adequately handle the 
needs of the particular use. Off-street parking areas used to fulfill the requirements of this ordinance may be used for loading 
and unloading operations during periods of the day when not required to take care of the parking needs. Parking spaces 
designated 'loading zone only' or 'trucks and delivery only' shall be provided in addition to the required number of spaces. 

 
(13) Retail and service connected businesses excluding residences, hotels, motels, and other transient lodging located in the 
C-1 Zone within the area between North Third Avenue and South Second Avenue shall be exempt from off-street parking 
requirements. Residences, hotels, motels, and other transient lodging shall provide the required off-street parking. 

 
[Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1990], [Amended by Ordinance #09-407 October 13, 2009] (Amended by 

Ordinance #13-416, February 27, 2013) 

 
(14) Parking spaces shall be of the following dimensions: 

 
(a) Spaces for normal-sized vehicles: 18 feet by 9 feet. 

 
(b) Spaces for compact vehicles (designated as such) shall be 16 feet by 8 feet. 

 
(15) Spaces for compact vehicles shall be allowed in parking lots with four or more spaces. Up to 50% of the total spaces 
may be designated for compact cars. 

 
(16) In any parking lot with four or more parking spaces not less than 10% of the gross site area of the lot(s) or parcel(s) 
devoted to the project site, shall be maintained in natural vegetation landscaping areas contained within concrete curbs installed 
and maintained at entrances, at the ends of bays, and adjacent to property lines. Native vegetation is encouraged. 

 
(17) Vehicular access points shall be consolidated to the minimum number necessary to serve the use. 

 
(18) Off-Street Parking Space Requirements. 

 
(a) Single unit dwelling .................................................... Two spaces per dwelling unit. 
(b) Duplex, townhouse or cottage cluster……………………………One space per dwelling unit. 
(c) Triplex…………………………………………………………..…..One space for lots less than 3,000 square feet; Two spaces for 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



78 

lots greater than or equal to 3,000 and less than 5,000 square feet; Three spaces for lots greater than or equal to 5,000 
square feet 

(d) Quadplex…………………………………………………………..One space for lots less than 3,000 square feet; Two spaces for
lots greater than or equal to 3,000 and less than 5,000 square feet; Three spaces for lots greater than or equal to 5,000 
square feet and less than 7,000 square feet; Four spaces for lots greater than or equal to 7,000 square feet. 

(e) 
Motel, hotel, inn ......................................................... One and one-quarter spaces for

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



79 

guest cottage,. ...................................................... each guest accommodation plus 

or rooming house ...................................................... two spaces for any manager's 

. .............................................................................. dwelling. 

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 29, 1990; Am. by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025] 

(f) Hospital, nursing One space for each three beds 

home ................................................................ plus one space for each employee.* 

(g) Church, club, or......................................................... One space for each six seats, 

similar place of. ........................................................... or one space for each 50 sq. 

assembly ........................................................................................ ft. of floor space. 

(h) Library ....................................................................... One space for each 400 sq. ft. 

. ..................................................................................... of floor area plus one space 

. .................................................................................................. for each employee.* 

(i) Dance hall, skating .................................................... One space for each 500 sq. ft. 

rink or similar use ....................................................... of dance floor or skating area 

. .......................................................................... plus one space for each employee 

(j) Bowling alley ............................................................ Two spaces for each alley plus 

. ................................................................................ one space for each employee.* 

(k) Retail store, .............................................................. One space for each 400 sq. ft. 

eating or drinking .......................................................... of floor area, plus one space 

establishment...................................................... for each employee.* [Amended by 

. .................................................................................... Ordinance #235, June 25, 1985] 

(l) Service or repair. ...................................................... One space for each 600 sq. ft. 

shop, retail store ........................................................... of floor area plus one space 

handling bulky ............................................................................ for each employee.* 

merchandise 

(m) Bank or office ............................................................ One space for each 600 sq. ft. 

(not medical or. ............................................................. of floor area plus one space 

dental). ....................................................................................... for each employee.* 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



80 

(n) Medical or dental ....................................................... One space for each 300 sq. ft. 

clinic .............................................................................. of floor area plus one space 

. ...................................................................................................for each employee. 

(o) Schools (grades ........................................................ One space per employee plus 

1-9). .............................................................................. adequate parking for busses 

. ..................................................................................................... kept on premises. 

(p) Schools (grades ....................................................... One space for each employee 

10-12). ......................................................................... plus one space for each four 

. .................................................................................................................. students. 

(q) Manufacturing uses,. ............................................ One space for each employee on 

testing, research,. ................................................................ largest shift, plus visitor 

processing, or. .......................................................... parking as may be determined 

assembly .................................................................... by the Planning Commission. 

*Employees per shift or on duty.

Section 4.065. Street and Drainage Standards. At the time an owner or developer wishes to develop any platted street in the 
City, they shall comply with the Rockaway Beach Public Works Technical Specifications and Design Standards. Street and road 
construction shall provide for drainage and shall not be diverted so as to create a drainage problem for other property owners. 

[Amended by Ordinance #203, April 28, 1981) ( Amended by Ordinance #13-416, February 27, 2013) 

(1) Stormwater drainage from new development shall be directed to a system approved by the City Public Works
Supervisor.

(2) Any stormwater drainage system shall be designed to prevent erosion of soils and to minimize the impact of
stormwater on adjacent properties. Where any stormwater swale is vegetated, landscaping with native vegetation is
encouraged.

[Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1990], [Amended by Ordinance 09-407 October 13, 2009] (Amended by 
Ordinance #13-416, February 27, 2013) 

Section 4.070. Fence Requirements. 

(1) Fences may be constructed up to the property line, unless jointly owned by adjoining property owners in which case it
may be on the property line.

(2) All fences or portions thereof shall be located in such a way as to not be detrimental to abutting property, and shall not
obstruct views from adjacent property.

(3) Fences shall not be made of barbed wire or other sharp or dangerous material.

(4) Fences greater than six feet in height shall require a building permit. (Amended by Ordinance No. 01-371, September
12, 2001) (Amended by Ordinance #13-416, February 27, 2013)

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



81 

Section 4.090. Home Occupations. The home occupation provision is included in recognition of the needs of many people 
who are engaged in small scale business ventures which could not be sustained if it were necessary to lease commercial 
quarters for them, or which, in the nature of the home occupation, cannot be expanded to full scale enterprise. 

It is the intent of this section that home occupations be allowed which are unobtrusive by nature, which do not cause disruption 
of the surrounding neighborhood, or have an adverse effect on the adjacent properties or environment. 

(1) Standards. A home occupation shall mean any occupation or profession carried on by a person residing on the
premises provided the following conditions are satisfied:

(a) No sign is used other than a nameplate not over one square foot in area.

(b) There is no display or outside storage that would indicate that the lot is being used in whole or primarily for purposes
other than residential.

(c) The lot, including the building, retains the characteristics of a residential zone.

(d) No on-site retail sales shall be permitted in conjunction with a home occupation.

(e) No persons other than residents of the dwelling located on the subject property shall be engaged in the home
occupation, and in no event shall the number of persons engaged in the home occupation exceed five.

(2) Complaint Procedures. The Planning Commission shall review home occupations upon receipt of two written complaints
from two separate households located within 250 feet of the boundary of the affected property, or a complaint from the Building
Official of the City. Complaints shall set forth the nature of the objection. The complaints shall be considered by the Planning
Commission at a public hearing. The hearing procedure shall be the same as outlined in Article 11. [Amended by Ordinance
No. 94-312, June 8, 1994] Criteria for judging objections shall include:

(a) Generation of excessive traffic.

(b) Monopoly of on-street parking areas.

(c) Frequent deliveries and pickups by motor freight.

(d) Noise in excess of that created by normal residential use (either in terms of volume or hours of occurrence).

(e) Smoke, fumes, or odors in excess of those created by normal residential use.

(f) Other offensive activities not in harmony with a residential neighborhood.

(3) Action by Planning Commission. The Planning Commission, upon hearing the evidence may:

(a) Approve the use as it exists.

(b) Require the use to be terminated.

(c) Impose appropriate restrictions, such as limiting the hours of operation, establishing a phasing out of the use, or other
measures insuring compatibility with the neighborhood.

(d) The determination of the Planning Commission becomes final 10 days after the date of decision, unless appealed to the
City Council, in accordance with Article 11. [Amended by Ordinance No. 94-312, June 8, 1994] (Amended by Ordinance #13-
416, February 27, 2013)

Section 4.091. Standard for Manufactured Homes. At the time a manufactured home is sited in any applicable zone the 
following standards shall apply: 

a) The manufactured home shall be multi-sectional and enclose a space of not less than 1000 square feet.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



82 

 

b) The manufactured home shall be placed on a foundation enclosed at the perimeter. 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



83 

c) The manufactured home shall have a pitched roof with a nominal pitch of at least three feet in height for each twelve feet 
in width.

d) The manufactured home shall be certified by the manufacturer to have an exterior thermal envelope meeting 
performance standards which reduce levels equivalent to the performance standards required of single unit homes constructed 
under the state building code as defined in ORS 455.010.

e) All other requirements of the Zone shall apply.

[Section 4.091 added by Ordinance #94-308, February 9, 1994] [Amended by Ordinance 09-407 October 14, 2009] 

Section 4.095. Manufactured Dwelling Siting Criteria. At the time a manufactured dwelling is sited in any applicable zone, 
the following standards shall apply: 

[Amended by Ordinance #94-308, February 9, 1994] 

(1) A manufactured dwelling shall conform to all state standards at the time of construction, and shall comply with all state
and city rules and regulations regarding siting.

[Amended by Ordinance #94-308, February 9, 1994] 

(2) A manufactured dwelling used for permanent residency shall have a minimum size of 600 sq. ft. of floor space.

(3) A manufactured dwelling shall be securely anchored to a permanent foundation system recommended by the
manufacturer of the manufactured dwelling. This foundation system shall include provisons for tie-downs to protect the
manufactured dwelling against wind and storm damage. Plans and specifications for the foundation system shall be submitted
to the Building Official in conjunction with the placement permit application. Lacking a continuous foundation, the unit shall have
a continuous skirting of non-decaying, non-corroding material extending at least 6 inches into the ground or to an impervious
surface. The skirting or continuous foundation shall have provisions for ventilation and access to the space under the unit, but
such opening shall be secure against the entrance of animals. The construction of the tie-downs and skirting or continuous
foundation, whichever is applicable, shall be completed within 30 days following placement of the unit upon the site.

(4) A storage space having an area of at least 96 square feet shall be provided in an accessory building. The building shall
be substantially compatible with the manufactured dwelling and shall be constructed and completed within 90 days following
placement of the manufactured dwelling on the site.

(5) A minimum of two off-street parking spaces shall be provided for manufactured dwellings.

(6) Additions may be attached to the manufactured dwelling provided such additions are structurally compatible with the
manufactured dwelling. A building permit is required for all additions.

(7) Cabanas and awnings compatible with a manufactured dwelling may be added at any time.

(8) No manufactured dwelling shall be placed on any lot until water and sewer service have been applied for and the proper
hookups made.

(9) No manufactured dwelling shall be occupied prior to the issuance of a placement permit.

(10) No roof shall be constructed over the manufactured dwelling which is independent of the unit.

(11) No manufactured dwelling shall be sited which is more than 5 years old.

[Section 4.095 (11), added by Ordinance #94-308, February 9, 1994] 

[Section 4.095 amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

Section 4.096. Recreational Vehicle Siting Criteria. At the time a recreational vehicle is sited in an RMD zone, the following 
standards shall apply: 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



84 

 

(1) The recreational vehicle shall comply with all state installation and placement requirements. 

 
(2) A minimum of two off-street parking spaces shall be provided for each recreational vehicle. 

 
(3) A storage space having an area of at least 96 sq. ft. shall be provided in an accessory building. The building shall be 
compatible with the recreational vehicle and shall be constructed and completed within 90 days following placement of the 
recreational vehicle on the site. 

 
(4) No recreational vehicle shall be occupied prior to the issuance of a placement permit. 

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

Section 4.100. Recreation Vehicle Parks. 

 
(1) Recreation vehicle (RV) camping areas or parks shall be allowed as conditional uses in the R-3 zone. 

 
(2) RV areas shall be at least one acre in size. 

 
(3) RV areas shall be connected to City water and sewer, and shall have toilet facilities, lavatories and showers with hot 
water in a ratio of one of each fixture per 10 RV spaces. 

 
(4) Each RV space shall be at least 1,000 sq. ft., exclusive of common streets, restroom areas or common open space 
areas. 

 
(5) A minimum distance of 10 feet shall separate the location of one recreational vehicle within its space from the interior 
road right-of-way. 

 
(6) A minimum distance of 10 feet shall separate the location of a recreational vehicle within its space from any community 
or service buildings constructed in conjunction with the recreational vehicle park. 

 
(7) Each site shall have direct access to an interior road right-of-way. 

 
(8) All recreational vehicles in the park shall be assigned to a space. No space shall have more than one recreational 
vehicle assigned to it. 

 
(9) Roads shall have a minimum paving width of 20 feet and be constructed to standards required by the Public Works 
Superintendent. [Amended by Ordinance NO. 94-312, June 8, 1994] 

 
(10) A buffer of at least 10 feet shall be maintained around the perimeter of the park where abutting a residential 
zone. Within the buffer, either a sight-obscuring fence or dense evergreen vegetation, which attains a mature height of at least 
eight feet shall be provided. 

 
(11) Wherever possible, existing tree cover and natural vegetation shall be maintained. 

 
(12) Where RV parks are to be located near shoreline areas, recreational vehicle spaces and community and service 
buildings shall be set back from the shoreline at least 25 feet, and shall maintain public access to the water. 

 
(13) 50% of the total area shall be open space or landscaped area. 

 
(14) All standards of the Oregon Department of Commerce for recreational vehicle parks shall be met. 

 
(15) Preliminary plans which contain all the information specified by OAR 814-29-080 shall be submitted to the City when 
requesting a conditional use. 

 
[Section 4.100 amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] (Amended by Ordinance #13-416, February 27, 2013) 

 
Section 4.110. Manufactured Dwelling Park Standards. This section is intended to regulate location of manufactured 
dwelling parks and to provide additional standards of development for such areas recognizing that a manufactured dwelling park 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



85 

is a unique type of residential use which deserves special consideration due to its impact upon the community, its road and 
utilities. 

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(1) Location Standards. At the time a manufactured dwelling park is sited in any applicable zone, the following standards
shall apply

[Section 4.110(1) amended by Ordinance #94-308, February 9, 1994] 

(a) The minimum lot area for a manufactured dwelling

park shall be one acre. 

(b) Spaces in manufactured dwelling parks shall be sized as follows:

(i). ......... Spaces for double-wide units (units with a width of 16 feet or greater) shall be a minimum of 5,000 sq. ft. 

(ii). ........Spaces for single-wide units (units with a width greater than 8 feet) shall be a minimum of 3,500 sq. ft. 

(iii). ....... Spaces for park model units (park model units are defined as small manufactured dwellings designed for 

permanent occupancy and does not include recreational vehicles) shall be a minimum of 3,000 sq. ft. 

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(2) Setback Requirements.

(a) Manufactured dwellings shall be located within their designated spaces in such a way that there shall be a minimum of
ten feet between any manufactured dwelling and any other building in the manufactured dwelling park other than structures
accessory to an individual manufactured dwelling.

(b) Manufactured dwellings shall be located a minimum of ten feet from any street or road and conform to the clear vision
requirements of Section 4.020.

(c) Manufactured dwellings shall be located no less than twenty feet from any property line. A vegetated buffer which
attains a mature height of at least eight feet and having a width of at least ten feet shall be provided within this twenty foot
setback. Any buffer shall conform to the clear vision requirements of Section 4.020.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(3) Access Requirements.

(a) Interior access drives shall be provided within the park, shall be continuous unless provided with adequate turn-around
area or cul-de-sac, and shall have a minimum width of 24 feet.

(b) Walkways, not less than four feet wide, shall be provided from each manufactured dwelling space to service buildings
and along one side of all access drives.

(c) All access drives and walkways within the manufactured dwelling park shall be surfaced according to standards
established by the City.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(4) Required Improvements.

(a) Each manufactured dwelling space shall have a pad with adequate base, with crushed rock or better surface. The pad
shall have a minimum area equal to that of the manufactured dwelling which will be located on the space.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



86 

(b) Off-street parking shall be provided with a minimum of two parking spaces for each manufactured dwelling
space. Parking spaces shall be of crushed rock or better surfacing. Required access drives shall not be considered as fulfilling
this requirement.

(c) Provisions for storage shall be made as follows:

(i). ......... A storage building with a minimum floor area of 96 square feet shall be provided for each manufactured 
dwelling space; and 

(ii). ........ A centralized storage area for such items as boats, trailers and camping vehicles shall be provided. Such 
a storage area shall contain a minimum of 100 sq. ft. for each manufactured dwelling space and be enclosed by a sight- 
obscuring fence or a vegetative buffer approved by the Planning Commission. 

(d) All manufactured dwelling parks shall be served by the City's sewer system and water system. The design and layout of
sewer and water lines is subject to the review and approval of the Public Works Superintendent. [Amended by Ordinance No.
94-312, June 8, 1994]

(e) Drainage improvements shall be made as may be required by the Public Works Superintendent. [Amended by
Ordinance No. 94-312, June 8, 1994]

(f) Signs are limited to one identification sign with a maximum area on one side of 12 sq. ft., and limited to 8 feet above the
ground level. Such a sign may be indirectly illuminated, but shall not contain exposed neon or similar tubing and shall not flash,
rotate, or move in any way.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(5) Plans Required Applications for manufactured dwelling park permits shall be accompanied by complete plans and
specifications of the proposed park and all permanent buildings, indicating the proposed methods of compliance with these
requirements. Such plans shall be to a scale of not less than 1 inch to 50 feet. A performance bond may be required in an
amount to be determined by the Planning Commission to insure that a development proposed is completed as approved and
within the time limit agreed to.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

Section 4.120. Shoreline Stabilization Standards. 

(A) General Standards.

(1) Preferred Methods. Proper management of existing streamside vegetation is the preferred method of stabilization,
followed by planting of vegetation. Where vegetative protection is inappropriate (because of the high erosion rate, the use of the
site, or other factors), structural means, such as rip-rap, may be used as a last resort.

In the placement of stabilization materials, factors to be considered include, but are not limited t effects on bird and 
wildlife habitat, uses of lands and waters adjacent to the bank, effects on fishing areas, effects on aquatic habitat, relative 
effectiveness of the various structures, engineering feasibility, erosion, flooding and sedimentation of adjacent areas. 

(2) Emergency repair to shoreline stabilization facilities is permitted, notwithstanding the other regulations in these
standards, subject to those standards imposed by the State of Oregon, Division of State Lands, and the US Army Corps of
Engineers.

[Section 4.120 added by Ordinance #221, August 24, 1982, amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(B) Standards for Revegetation and Vegetation Management.

(1) Plant species shall be selected to insure that they provide suitable stabilization and value for wildlife. Justification shall
be presented as to the necessity and feasibility for use of a bank with a slope greater than 2:1 (horizontal to vertical). Trees,
shrubs and grasses native to the area are generally preferred.

(2) The area to be revegetated should be protected from traffic or other activities that would hinder plant growth.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



87 

[Added by Ordinance #221, August 24, 1982] 

(C) Standards for Rip-Rap and Seawalls.

(1) There is a critical need to protect a structure that is threatened by erosion hazard.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990]

(2) Good engineering and construction practices shall be used in the placement of rip-rap, with regard to slope, size,
composition and quality of material, excavation of the toe trench, placement of a gravel fill blanket and operation of equipment in
the water. State and federal regulations should be consulted in this regard.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(3) Rip-rapped banks should be vegetated where feasible.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(4) Shoreline protection measures shall not restrict existing public access to public shorelines.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(5) Shoreline protection measures shall be designed to minimize their impacts on the aesthetic qualities of the
shoreline. 

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

(6) Shoreline protection measures shall be designed and constructed to minimize negative impacts on adjacent
property. 

(7) Shoreline protection measures shall be designed and constructed to avoid long-term or recurring costs to the
public. 

(8) Bankline protection is not in itself a way to increase land surface area. Where severe erosion has occurred, fill
may be used to obtain the desired bank slope and restore the previous bankline. Any extension of the bankline into traditional 
aquatic areas shall be subject to the standards for fill. 

(9) Construction of shoreline protection measures shall be coordinated with state and federal agencies and local
interests to minimize the effects on aquatic resources and habitats. Relevant state and federal water quality standards shall be 
met. Stream channelization should be avoided. 

(10) Beachfront protective structures for beach and dune areas shall be permitted only where development existed as
of January 1, 1977. 'Development' means houses, commercial and industrial buildings, and vacant subdivision lots which are 
physically improved through construction of streets and provision of utilities to the lot and includes areas where a Goal 18 
exception has been approved. 

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

Section 4.130. Foredune Grading. Grading or sand movement necessary to maintain views or to prevent sand inundation 
may be allowed for structures in foredune areas only if the area is committed to development, or is within an acknowledged 
urban growth boundary, and only as part of an overall plan for managing foredune grading. A foredune grading plan prepared 
by a qualified expert shall include the following elements based on consideration of factors affecting the stability of the shoreline 
to be managed including sources of sand, ocean flooding, and patterns of accretion and erosion (including wind erosion), and 
effects of beachfront protective structures and jetties. The plan shall: 

(1) Cover an entire beach and foredune area subject to an accretion problem, including adjacent areas potentially affected
by changes in flooding, erosion or accretion as a result of dune grading;

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



88 

 

(2) Specify minimum dune height and width requirements to be maintained for protection from flooding and erosion. The 
minimum height for flood protection is 4 feet above the 100 year flood elevation; 

 
(3) Identify and set priorities for low and narrow dune areas which need to be built up; 

 
(4) Prescribe standards for redistribution of sand and temporary and permanent stabilization measures including the timing 
of these activities; and 

 
(5) Prohibit removal of sand from the beach-foredune system. Foredune grading plans may be submitted to the Tillamook 
County Soil and Water Conservation Service for their comments. 

 
The foredune grading plan must be adopted as an amendment to the Comprehensive Plan before construction can 

begin. 

 
(6) Foredune grading in the Nedonna Beach area must conform to the requirements of the adopted Nedonna Beach 
Foredune Grading Plan. 

 
[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

 
Section 4.135. Dune Construction Standards. Removal of vegetation shall be limited to that which is necessary to perform 
construction activities, and shall not be done earlier than 30 days prior to the start of construction. If construction takes place 
between the months of November and May, temporary sand control measures such as mulching, fencing or matting shall be 
employed. Immediately after construction, the site shall be revegetated. 

 
[Added by Ordinance #243, May 13, 1986] 

 
Section 4.140. Maintenance of Access. The City shall review under ORS 271.080 - 271.230, proposals for the vacation of 
public easements or rights-of-way which provide access to or along ocean beaches or lakes. The City shall review under the 
provisions of ORS 271.300 - 271.360, proposals for the sale, exchange, or transfer of public ownership which provides access 
to ocean beaches or lakes. Existing public ownership rights-of-way and similar public easements which provide access to or 
along ocean beaches or lakes shall be retained or replaced, if they are sold, exchanged or transferred. Rights-of-way may be 
vacated to permit redevelopment of shoreland areas provided public access across the affected site is retained. 

 
[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

 
Section 4.150. Riparian Vegetation. Riparian vegetation adjacent to the lakes and streams in Rockaway Beach shall be 
protected in accordance with the following provisions: 

 
(1) The following areas of riparian vegetation are defined: 

 
(a) Fifteen feet on either side of McMillan, Steinhilber, Finney, Rock, Heitmiller, Saltair, and Spring Creeks and any other 
known stream bed. [Amended by Ordinance No. 95-325A, May 10, 1995.] 

 
(b) Fifteen feet adjacent to Seaview Lake, Marie Lake and the unnamed lake at Minnihaha Avenue. 

 
(c) Twenty-five feet adjacent to Spring Lake and Lake Lytle where there are no adjacent wetlands. 

 
(d) The extent of wetland vegetation adjacent to Crescent Lake, Lake Lytle, Clear Lake and that portion of Spring Lake that 
is bordered by wetlands. 

 
(2) All structures and uses shall be located outside of areas listed in (1) above with the following exceptions: 

 
(a) Where direct water access is required in conjunction with a water-dependent use; or 

 
(b) Access to a lot where the proposed access is only reasonable alternative; or 

 
(c) Structural shoreline stabilization; or 

 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



89 

(d) Trails or other pedestrian walkways that provide access to the water.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



90 

(3) For areas described in (1)( a),( b), and (c) above, all trees 6 inches in diameter at four and one-half feet above grade,
and 50% of the understory vegetation shall be retained within the areas listed with the following exceptions:

(a) Removal of dead, diseased, or dying trees, or trees that pose an erosion hazard.

(b) Removal of vegetation necessary to provide for uses listed in (2), above.

(c) Vegetation removal in conjunction with an approved in-water project.

(d) The removal of noxious weeds as defined by the City's nuisance ordinance.

(4) For all areas described in (1) d) above, all riparian vegetation shall be retained with the following exceptions:

(a) Removal of vegetation necessary to provide for uses listed in (2) above.

(b) Removal of dead, diseased, or dying trees.

(c) Vegetation removed in conjunction with an approved in- 

water project. 

(4) For all areas described in (1)(d) above, all riparian vegetation shall be retained with the following exceptions:

(a) Removal of vegetation necessary to provide for uses listed in (2) above.

(b) Removal of dead, diseased, or dying trees.

(c) Vegetation removed in conjunction with an approved in-water project.

(5) The City may approve the removal of riparian vegetation when vegetation removal and a plan to re-vegetate the riparian
area has been reviewed and approved by the Oregon department of Fish and Wildlife.

(Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990) (Amended by Ordinance #13-416, February 27, 2013) 

Section 4.160. Archeological Site Protection. 

(1) The City Recorder shall review building permits, and other proposed land use actions, that may affect known
archeological sites. If it is determined that a proposed building permit or land use action may affect a known archeological site,
the City shall notify the State Historic Preservation Office. Such notification shall request assistance in determining whether the
proposed action will in fact affect the identified archeological site. If the State Historic Preservation Office determines that a site
would be affected, it shall be requested to also develop appropriate measures protect the site and its contents (appropriate
measures are defined in Section 4.160 (3)).

No permit shall be issued unless one of the following has occurred: 

(a) The State Historic Preservation Office determines that the proposed action will not affect the archeological site; or

(b) The State Historic Preservation Office has developed a program for the preservation or excavation of the site and the
implementation of that program is made a condition of approval for either the building permit, or land use action, e.g., conditional
use permit; or

(c) The City has received no comment from the State Historic Preservation Office within twenty days of the date of written
notification.

(2) Native American cairns, graves, and other significant archeological resources, uncovered during construction or
excavation shall be preserved until a plan for their excavation or reinterment has been developed by the State Historic
Preservation Office. In development of the plan, the State Historic Preservation Office shall consider the appropriate measures
listed in Section 4.160(3).

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



91 

(3) In the development of a program to protect an archeological site, the State Historic Preservation Office shall give
consideration to the following appropriate measures:

(a) Paving over the site without disturbance of any human remains or cultural objects.

(b) Redesigning the proposed construction or excavation so as to avoid disturbing the site.

(c) Setting the site aside for non-impacting portions of the proposed development, such as storage.

(d) If permitted pursuant to the substantive and procedural requirements of ORS 97.750, contracting with a qualified
archeologist to excavate the site and remove any cultural objects and human remains at the developer's expense.

[Section 4.160 added by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

Section 4.170. Accessory Dwelling Units. 

(1) Purpose. Accessory dwelling units are allowed in certain situations to:

• Create new housing units while respecting the look and scale of single-dwelling development;

• Increase the housing stock of existing neighborhoods in a manner that is less intense than alternatives;

• Increase the stock of affordable units for permanent residents.

• Provide for occupation of second and vacation homes by allowing for a permanent resident on site for security and
maintenance.

• Allow more efficient use of existing housing stock and infrastructure;

• Provide a means for residents, particularly seniors, single parents, and families with grown children, to remain in their
homes and neighborhoods, and obtain extra income, security, companionship and services; and

• Provide a broader range of accessible and more affordable housing.

(2) Where These Regulations Apply.

An accessory dwelling unit may be added to a house or attached house in an R-1, R-2, R-3, R-R, or RMD zone. 

(3) General Requirements.

A. Number of residents. The total number of individuals that reside in both units may not exceed the number that is allowed for a
household.

B. Other uses.

1. Home occupation. An accessory dwelling unit is prohibited on a site with a home occupation.

2. Type A accessory short-term rental. An accessory dwelling unit is not allowed to be a short term rental unit (less than
90 days lease) or a travelers accommodation or vacation rental unit.

(4) Development Standards.

A. Purpose. Standards for creating accessory dwelling units address the following purposes:

• Ensure that accessory dwelling units are compatible with the desired character and livability of Rockaway Beach’s
residential zones;

• Respect the general building scale and placement of structures to allow sharing of common space on the lot, such as
driveways and yards;

• Ensure that accessory dwelling units are smaller in size than houses, attached houses, or manufactured homes; and

• Provide adequate flexibility to site buildings so that they fit the topography of sites.

B. Generally. The development standards for accessory dwelling units are stated in this section. If not addressed in this section,
the base zone development standards apply.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



92 

C. Requirements for all accessory dwelling units. All accessory dwelling units must meet the following:

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



93 

1. Location of entrances. Only one entrance may be located on the facade of the house, attached house, or
manufactured home facing the street, unless the house, attached house, or manufactured home contained additional
entrances before the accessory dwelling unit was created. An exception to this regulation is entrances that do not have
access from the ground such as entrances from balconies or decks. Detached accessory dwelling units are exempt
from this standard.

2. Parking. No additional parking space are required for the accessory dwelling unit. Existing required parking for the
house, attached house, or manufactured home must be maintained or replaced on-site.

3. Maximum size. The size of the accessory dwelling unit may be no more than 75 percent of the living area of the
primary dwelling unit or 800 square feet of living area, whichever is less. The measurements are based on what the
square footage of the primary dwelling unit and accessory dwelling unit will be after the accessory dwelling unit is
created.

4. Detached accessory dwelling units must meet the development standards for the base zone.

(5) Density. In the residential zones, accessory dwelling units are not included in the minimum or maximum density
calculations for a site.

[Section 4.170 Added by Ordinance #18-432, January 8, 2020] 

Section 4.180. Mobile Food Unit Pods. 

(A) Purpose. The purpose of this section is to facilitate and control the ability of mobile food unit pods to operate while ensuring
such use is compatible with nearby properties, fosters an aesthetically appealing streetscape, and does not create a dangerous
traffic condition.

(B) Definitions.

(1) Mobile Food Unit Pod. An outdoor commercial center with two (2) or more mobile Food Units in a shared location.

(C) Mobile Food Unit Pods. Mobile food unit pods may be permitted administratively in appropriate zoning districts. A property
owner may request a permit from the Planning Department to develop a mobile food unit pod subject to the following standards:

(1) Site Plan. The property owner has provided the Planning Department with a detailed site plan of the mobile food unit pod
showing the location and dimensional relationships of the property lines, all proposed mobile vendor locations, building
setbacks, vehicle parking (if required/provided), sidewalk location, and proposed dining or sitting areas.

(2) Site Improvement Requirements.

(a) Site Design. Where parking is required, sites shall be improved with a barrier between vehicular and customer
service areas, including ordering and dining areas. The barrier may be implied or physical and constructed with
landscaping elements; gated fencing; changes in ground surface texture, material or color; or similar treatments. Sites
which are not already paved with gravel or another hard surface shall improve their parking areas with gravel or other
pavement designed in accordance with the Off-Street Parking and Off-Street Loading requirements. With respect to
landscaping requirements, the entire Mobile Food Unit Pod shall be considered a parking lot and perimeter landscaping
will be required in accordance with Parking Lot Landscape Standards.

(b) Sanitation. Adequate restroom facilities shall be provided either on-site or through a shared use agreement with a
neighboring business. Portable toilets are encouraged to be screened from view of the public.

(c) Utilities. Above ground utility connections shall not interfere with pedestrian or vehicular safety and shall not be
located in customer service areas or customer parking areas.

(d) Mobile Food Unit Pods shall not have continuous curb cuts or exacerbate a dangerous pedestrian condition. New
pods may close continuous curb cuts or improve pedestrian conditions with temporary materials subject to approval of
the City Planning Department. Acceptable materials include planters, plinths, benches, pavers, and other furniture.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



94 

Temporary improvements installed by mobile vendor courts shall not reduce access for pedestrians with disabilities. 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



95 

(D) Exemptions. The provisions of the Mobile Food Unit Pod ordinance do not apply to:

(1) The placing and maintenance of unattended stands or sales devices for the sale or display of newspapers,
magazines, periodicals and paperbound books.

(2) The distribution of free samples of goods, wares and merchandise by any individual from his person.

(3) Special events authorized by a special event permit from the City of Rockaway Beach, OR.

(4) Fireworks sales.

(5) Children's lemonade stands.

(6) Temporary tent sales that operate for less than three (3) days. A tent permit from the Planning Department and Fire
Marshal inspection is required.

(7) Temporary sales for non-profit entities that operate for less than five (5) consecutive days.

(8) Non-profit organizations that prepare and donate or give away food for free.

(E) Prohibited Conduct. The following conduct is prohibited for Mobile Food Units:

(1) Obstruct pedestrian or vehicular traffic flow.

(2) Obstruct traffic signals or regulatory signs.

(3) Use of any device that produces a loud and raucous noise or operate any loudspeaker, light or light system, public
address system, radio, sound amplifier, or similar device to attract public attention.

(4) Conduct business in such a way as would restrict or interfere with the ingress or egress of the abutting property
owner or tenant, create a nuisance, increase traffic congestion or delay, constitute a hazard to traffic, life or property, or
obstruct adequate access to emergency and sanitation vehicles.

(F) Suspension and Revocation of Mobile Food Unit Pod Permit. Any permit issued under these regulations may be suspended
or revoked by the Planning Department for any of the following reasons:

(1) Fraud, misrepresentation or knowingly false statement contained in the application for the permit or during
presentations to the Planning Department.

(2) Conducting the business of mobile vending in a manner contrary to the conditions of the permit.

(3) Conducting the business of vending in such a manner as to create a public nuisance, cause a breach of the peace,
constitute a danger to the public health, safety, welfare or interfere with the rights of abutting property owners.

(4) Cancellation of health department authorization for a food or beverage vending unit due to uncorrected health or
sanitation violations.

[Section 4.180 Added by Ordinance #18-432, January 8, 2020] 

Article 5. Exceptions 

Section 5.010. Zone Boundaries. If a zone boundary as shown on the map divides a lot between two zones, the entire lot 
shall be deemed to be in the zone in which the greater area of the lot lies, provided that this adjustment involves a distance not 
to exceed 20 feet from the mapped zone boundary. 

Section 5.020. Authorization of Similar Uses. The Planning Commission may permit in a particular zone a use not listed in 
this ordinance, provided the use is of the same general type as the uses permitted there by this ordinance. 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



96 

Section 5.030. General Provisions Regarding Accessory Uses. An accessory use shall comply with all requirements for a 
principal use, except as this ordinance specifically allows to the contrary, and shall comply with the following limitations: 

(1) A guest house may be maintained accessory to a dwelling provided there are no cooking facilities in the guest house. A
guest house may not be occupied as a permanent residence.

(2) An accessory structure separated from the main building may be located in the required rear and side yard, except in the
required street side yard of a corner lot, provided it is no closer than five feet to a property line, no higher than 12 feet, and no
larger than 120 square feet.

(3) A City Zoning Permit shall be obtained prior to the construction of any structure for which a building permit is not required.

[Amended by Ordinance 09-407 October 14, 2009] 

Section 5.040. Projections from Buildings. Architectural features such as cornices, eaves, canopies, sunshades, gutters, 
chimneys, and flues shall not project more than 24 inches into a required yard, except that unsupported eaves may extend up to 
one half the distance of a required setback. 

Section 5.050. General Exception to Lot Size Requirements. 

(1) No parcel of land less than 1,750 square feet shall support a residential use, except townhouses where the average lot size for
townhouses in a townhouse project shall be a minimum of 1,500 square feet. [Amended by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

(2) If a lot does not meet the minimum lot size requirements of the zone in which the property is located, residential use
shall be limited to a single unit dwelling or duplex or to the number of dwelling units consistent with the density limitations of
the zone.

(3) A single unit dwelling may be converted to middle housing per OAR 660-046-0230. [Added by Ord. 2025-02, June
11, 2025]

(4) If two or more contiguous lots held in a single ownership at the time of the passage of this ordinance (January 24,
1978) exceed the minimum lot size requirement of the zone in which the property is located, then a lot or groups of lots may be
conveyed or sold separately only if the resulting lots or groups of contiguous lots meet the minimum lot size requirement.

(5) When substandard lots have been aggregated after the passage of this ordinance (January 24, 1978) to meet minimum
lot size requirements of the zone, any remaining lots shall meet the minimum lot size requirements of the zone.

[Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1990] (Amended by Ordinance #13-416, February 27, 2013) 

Section 5.060. General Exceptions to Yard Requirements. 

(1) The following exceptions to the front yard requirements for a dwelling are authorized for a lot in any zone:

(a) The required front yard for a dwelling need not exceed the average depth of the nearest front yards of dwellings within
100 feet on both sides of the proposed dwelling on the same side of the street. However, in no event shall the permitted
setback be less than 10 feet.

(b) The minimum ocean setback line shall be determined by averaging the minimum distances from the Statutory
Vegetation Line (ORS 390.770) to structures located 200 feet in either direction along the shoreline from the subject property
boundaries, and applying that average setback to establish a line on the subject property parallel with the Statutory Vegetation
Line. The distances used for this methodology shall be determined by a licensed professional surveyor.

In measuring structures, the most oceanward point of a structure which is higher than 36 inches above the existing grade shall 
be used. 

(2) The required width of a side yard may be reduced to 10 percent of the width of the lot, but not less than 3 feet, except for
the street side of a corner lot which must maintain an adequate clear vision area. For townhouses, the minimum side yard along
a common wall lot line where units are attached shall be 0 feet. [Amended by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



97 

(3) Uncovered access stairs and associated landings required to meet building code for safety may project up to ½ the
distance into a required setback, but in no instance shall the setback be less than 3 feet from any property line.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] (Amended by Ordinance #13-416, February 27, 2013) 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



98 

Section 5.070. General Exception to Building Height Limitations. Projections such as chimneys, antennas, flagpoles, and 
other similar objects (not including satellite dishes) not used for human occupancy are not subject to the building height 
limitations of this ordinance. 

[Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1990] 

Section 5.080. Planning Commission Exception. The Planning Commission may authorize construction without a variance 
to the front lot line on oceanfront lots (the front lot line is considered the lot line on the street side at the opposite end of the lot 
from the oceanfront), in order to protect the structure from ocean erosion, and to maintain the structure within the oceanfront 
building line. 

[Amended by Ordinance #162, April 10, 1979] 

Article 6. Conditional Uses. 

Section 6.010. Authorization to Grant or Deny Conditional Uses. Conditional uses listed in this ordinance may be 
permitted, enlarged, or otherwise altered upon authorization by the Planning Commission in accordance with the standards and 
procedures set forth in Section 6.010 through Section 6.030. In the case of a use existing prior to the effective date of this 
ordinance and classified in this ordinance as a conditional use, any change in use or lot area or an alteration of structure shall 
conform with the requirements dealing with conditional uses. 

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

Section 6.020. Conditional Use Review Criteria. Before a conditional use is approved, findings will be made that the use will 
comply with the following: 

(1) The proposed use is consistent with the policies of the Comprehensive Plan;

(2) The location, size, design and operating characteristics of the proposed use are such that the development will have a 
minimum impact on surrounding properties. This standard is not applicable to multi-unit dwellings, manufactured dwelling 
subdivisions and manufactured dwelling parks;

(3) The use will not generate excessive traffic when compared to the traffic generated by uses permitted outright and 
adjacent streets have the capacity to accommodate the traffic generated;

(4) Public facilities and services are adequate to accommodate the proposed use;

(5) The site's physical characteristics in terms of topography and soils is appropriate for the intended use; and

(6) The site has adequate area to accommodate the proposed use. The site layout has been designed to provide 
appropriate access points, on site drives, parking areas, loading areas, storage facilities, setbacks, buffers, utilities, or other 
facilities which are required by City ordinances or desired by the applicant.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

Section 6.030. Conditional Use Procedure. 

(1) A property owner may initiate a request for a conditional use or the modification of a conditional use by filing an
application with the City Recorder, using forms prescribed pursuant to Section 11.030. The Planning Commission may require
other drawings or information necessary to an understanding of the proposed use and its relationship to surrounding properties.

(2) The procedure for reviewing a conditional use is as follows:

(a) Public notice shall be given in accordance with Section 11.040.

(b) A public hearing shall be held in accordance with Section 11.060.

(c) A decision on the conditional use application shall be made in accordance with Section 11.060(6).

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



99 

(d) A decision of the Planning Commission may be appealed in accordance with Section 11.070.

(e) A Conditional Use Permit shall be null and void after two years, unless substantial construction has taken place.

(3) In permitting a conditional use, or the modification of a conditional use, other than a housing type, the Planning
Commission may impose, in addition to those standards and requirements expressly specified for that use, other conditions
which are necessary to protect the adjacent property, an identified resource, or the City as a whole.

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] (Amended by Ordinance #13-416, February 27, 2013) 

Section 6.040. Non-Profit Conference Ground or Center. In addition to standards governing conditional uses, the following 
standards shall also apply: 

(1) A minimum lot size of 5 acres.

(2) Sixty (60) percent of the site is devoted to open space.

(3) No structure, tent site, or recreational vehicle site shall be located within 50 feet of a property line.

(4) Transient lodging, such as dormitories, tent sites, or recreational vehicle sites shall be restricted to the use by
participants at the conference ground.

[Added by Ordinance #252, June 23, 1987] 

Article 7. Nonconforming Uses. 

Section 7.010. Continuation of Nonconforming Use. Subject to the provisions of ORS 215.130 and subsequent provisions 
of this article, a nonconforming use or structure may be continued. The extension of a nonconforming use to a portion of a 
structure which was arranged or designed for the nonconforming use at the time of passage of this ordinance, is not considered 
an enlargement or expansion of a nonconforming use, up to 20% in floor area, or in those cases not involving a structure, up to 
10% in land area as existing on the effective date of this ordinance. 

Section 7.020. Discontinuance of Nonconforming Use. 

(1) If a nonconforming use involving a structure is discontinued for a period of one year, further use of the property shall
conform to this ordinance.

(2) If a nonconforming use not involving a structure is discontinued for a period of six months, further use of the property
shall conform to this ordinance.

Section 7.030. Change of Nonconforming Use. 

(1) If a nonconforming use not involving a structure is replaced by another use, the new use shall conform to this
ordinance.

(2) If a nonconforming use involving a structure is replaced by another use, the new use shall conform to this ordinance
unless the Planning Commission determines that such structure is suitable only for another nonconforming use no more
detrimental to surrounding properties than the one to be replaced.

(3) Non-conforming single-unit dwellings may be converted to middle housing through additions or conversions of internal space,
provided that the addition or conversion does not increase nonconformance with applicable standards of this ordinance.
[Added by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025]

Section 7.040. Destruction of a Nonconforming Use or Structure. If a nonconforming use or structure or a structure 
containing a nonconforming use is damaged or is destroyed by any cause other than the action of the property owner and / or 
his agents and it is not reconstructed within two years, a future structure or use on the site shall conform to this ordinance. 

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



100 

Section 7.050. Completion of Structure. Nothing contained in this ordinance shall require any change in the plans, 
construction, alteration, or designated use of a structure for which a building permit has been issued and construction work has 
commenced prior to the adoption of this ordinance, provided the building, if nonconforming or intended for a nonconforming use, 
is completed and in use within two years from the time the building permit is issued. 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



101 

Section 7.060. Alterations Necessary to Comply With Other Laws. Alterations of nonconforming uses may be allowed 
when the Planning Commission determines that alterations are necessary to comply with other City, state, or federal 
requirements. 

Section 7.070. Enlargement or Expansion of a Nonconforming Use. The Planning Commission, pursuant to the procedures 
of Article 6, Conditional Uses, may authorize the enlargement or expansion of a nonconforming use up to 20% of the existing 
building's floor area or for uses not involving a building up to 10% of the existing site's lot area. 

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

Article 8. Variances. 

Section 8.010. Purpose. 

(1) The purpose of a variance is to provide relief when a strict application of the zoning requirements would impose unusual
practical difficulties or unnecessary physical hardships on the applicant. Practical difficulties and unnecessary hardships may
result from the size, shape, or dimensions of a site, or the location of existing structures thereon; from geographic, topographic,
or other physical conditions on the site or in the immediate vicinity or from population densities, street location, or traffic
conditions in the immediate vicinity.

(2) The power to grant variances does not extend to use regulations. In other words, no variance shall be granted to allow
the use of property for a purpose not authorized within the zone in which the proposed use would be located.

Section 8.020. Criteria. 

(1) Variances to a requirement of this chapter with respect to lot area and dimensions, setbacks, yard area, lot coverage,
height of structures, vision clearance, fences and walls, and other quantitative requirements may be granted only if, on the basis
of the application, investigation, and evidence submitted by the applicant, that all four expressly written findings are made:

(a) That a strict or literal interpretation and enforcement of the specified requirement would result in practical difficulty or
unnecessary hardship and would be inconsistent with the objectives of the Comprehensive Plan; and

(b) That there are exceptional or extraordinary circumstances or conditions applicable to the property involved or to the
intended use of the property which do not apply generally to other properties in the same zone; and

(c) That the granting of the variance will not be detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare or materially injurious to
properties or improvements in the near vicinity; and

(d) That the granting of the variance would support policies contained within the Comprehensive Plan.

Variances in accordance with this subsection should not ordinarily be granted if the special circumstances upon which the 
applicant relies are a result of the actions of the applicant or owner. 

(2) Variances to requirements of this chapter with respect to off-street parking and loading facilities may be authorized as
applied for or as modified, if, on the basis of the application, investigation, and the evidence submitted, the following express
written findings are made:

(a) That neither present nor anticipated future traffic volumes generated by the use of the site or use of sites in the vicinity
reasonably require strict or literal interpretation and enforcement of the requirements of this chapter.

(b) That the granting of the variance will not result in the parking or loading of vehicles on public streets in such a manner as
to materially interfere with the free flow of traffic on the streets.

(c) That the granting of the variance will not create a safety hazard or any other condition inconsistent with the general
purpose of this chapter.

Where a variance request is being reviewed under Section 8.020(2), only the criteria of Section 8.020(2) shall be 
addressed. The criteria of Section 8.020(1) are not applicable. 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



102 

[Section 8.020(2) amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



103 

Section 8.030. Conditions. Reasonable conditions may be imposed in connection with a variance as deemed necessary to 
protect the best interests of the surrounding property or neighborhood and otherwise secure the purpose and requirements of 
this section. Guarantees and evidence may be required that such conditions will be and are being complied with. 

[Added Section 8.040, this section was omitted in blue book) 

Section 8.040 Application. Application for a variance in conformance with Section 11.030 shall be filed with the City Recorder 
on the form prescribed by the City, by any person with a legal interest in the property. 

Section 8.050. Variance Review Procedures. The following procedures shall be followed in reviewing a request for a 
variance: 

(1) Public notice shall be given in accordance with Section 11.040.

(2) A public hearing shall be held in accordance with Section 11.060.

(3) A decision on the variance application shall be made in accordance with Section 11.060(6).

(4) A decision of the planning commission may be appealed to the City Council in accordance with Section 11.070.

[Section 8.050 amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

Section 8.080. Compliance With Conditions of Approval. Compliance with conditions of imposed in the variance, and 
adherence to the submitted plans as approved is required. Any departure from these conditions of approval and approved plans 
constitutes a violation of this chapter. 

Section 8.090. Vested Interest in Approved Variances. A valid variance supersedes conflicting provisions of subsequent 
rezonings or amendments to this chapter unless specifically provided otherwise by the provisions of this section or in the 
conditions of approval of the variance. 

Section 8.100. Revocation. Variances shall be automatically revoked if not exercized within one year of the date of approval. 

Section 8.110. Limitation on Refiling of Application. Applications for which a substantially similar application has been 
denied shall be heard by the Planning Commission only after a period of six months has elapsed. 

Section 8.120. Time Limit for an Approved Variance. The variance shall be null and void after one year, unless substantial 
construction has taken place. 

Article 9. Amendments. 

Section 9.010. Authorization to Initiate Amendments. An amendment to the text of this ordinance or to a zoning map may 
be initiated by the City Council, Planning Commission, or by application of the property owner(s), contract purchaser(s), or 
his/her/their authorized agent. 

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

Section 9.015. Burden of Proof. The burden of proof is placed upon the initiator of the amendment. That burden shall be to 
prove: 

(1) The proposed amendment fully accords with applicable Comprehensive Plan goals and policies; and

(2) The proposed amendment is required to meet a land use need.

[Section amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

Section 9.020. Amendment Procedures. The following procedures shall be observed in consideration of an amendment 
request: 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



104 

(1) A request shall be initiated by filing an application with the City pursuant to Section 11.030.

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



105 

(2) Notice of a public hearing shall be given pursuant to Section 11.040.

(3) The Planning Commission shall hold a public hearing on the request pursuant to Section 11.060.

(4) The Planning Commission will foward its recommendation to the City Council and the City Council will hold a public
hearing pursuant to Section 11.060.

(5) The City Council will make a decision on the request pursuant to Section 11.060(6).

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

Section 9.030. Record of Amendments. The City Recorder shall maintain records of amendments to the text and zoning 
map. 

[Amended by Ordinance #193, December 9, 1980] 

Section 9.040. Limitation of Reapplications. No application of property owner(s), contract purchaser(s), or his/her/their 
authorized agent, for an amendment to the text of this ordinance or to the zoning map shall be considered by the Planning 
Commission within the one-year period immediately following a previous denial of such request, except the Planning 
Commission may permit a new application, if in the opinion of the Planning Commission, new evidence of a change of 
circumstances warrant it. 

[Amended by Ordinance #193, December 9, 1980] 

Section 9.050. Change of Zone for Manufactured Dwelling Parks. If an applicant would change the zone of property which 
includes all or part of a manufactured dwelling park as defined by ORS 446.003, the City shall give written notice by first class 
mail to each existing mailing address for tenants of the manufactured dwelling park at least 20 days but not more than 40 days, 
before the date of the first hearing on the application. The failure of a tenant to receive notice which was mailed shall not 
invalidate any zone change. 

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

Article 10. Planned Unit Development (PUD) 

Section 10.010. Intent. This article is intended to provide for developments incorporating a single type or variety of housing 
types and related uses which are planned and developed as a unit. Such developments may consist of individual lots as part of 
a larger holding or as common building sites. Commonly owned land which is an essential and major element of the plan should 
be related to and preserve the long-term value of the homes and other development. It is the intent of this section to foster a 
more innovative approach to land development than is possible under the traditional lot by lot methods. 

Section 10.020. Purpose. The purpose of this article is to provide a more desirable environment through the application of 
flexible and diversified land development standards following an overall comprehensive site development plan. 

Section 10.030. Permitted Buildings and Uses. The following buildings and uses may be permitted as hereinafter 
provided. Buildings and uses may be permitted either singly or in combination provided the overall density of the Planned Unit 
Development does not exceed the density of the parent zone as provided in this ordinance. 

(1) Single unit dwellings, middle housing, and multi-unit dwellings. [Amended by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025].

(2) Accessory buildings and uses.

(3) Commercial uses only when supported mainly by the PUD and only when economic feasibility can be

shown.

(4) Buildings or uses listed as permitted outright or conditionally in the parent zone on which the PUD is located.

Section 10.040. Development Standards. 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



106 

 

(1) Minimum Lot Size. Planned Unit Developments shall be established only on parcels of land which are suitable for the 
proposed development and are determined by the planning commission to be in keeping with the intent of this ordinance. (This 
says 'site size' in 143, not 'lot size') 

 
(2) Open Spaces. In all residential developments, or in combination residential-commercial developments, 50% of the total 
area should be devoted to open space. Of this area, 25% of said open space may be utilized privately by individual owners or 
users of the PUD; however, 75% of this area should be common or shared open space. The Planning Commission may 
increase or decrease the open space requirement depending on the particular site and the needs of the development. In no 
case should the open space be less than 40% of the site. 

 
(3) Density. The maximum density of a planned development over 20 acres shall be 15 dwelling units per acre. A 
planned development less than 20 acres shall have no density maximum. When calculating density, the gross area is used 
(total area including street dedications). Areas of public uses may be included in calculating allowable density. [Amended 
by Ord. 2025-02, June 11, 2025] 

 
(4) Subdivision of Lot Sizes. Minimum area, width, depth, and frontage requirements for subdivision lots in a PUD may be 
less than the minimums set forth elsewhere in City ordinances, provided that the overall density is in conformance, and that lots 
conform to the approved preliminary development plan. 

 
(5) Off-Street Parking. Parking spaces shall conform to all provisions of this ordinance, except that the Planning 
Commission may authorize exceptions where warranted by unusual circumstances. 

 
(6) Signs. All signs of any type within a PUD are subject to design review and approval of the Planning Commission. They 
shall consider each sign on its merits based on its aesthetic impact on the area, potential traffic hazards, potential violation of 
property and privacy rights of adjoining property owners, and need for said sign. 

 
(7) Height Guidelines. The same restrictions shall prevail as permitted outright in the zone in which such development 
occurs, except that the Planning Commission may allow a variance of heights where it is determined that surrounding property 
will not be harmed. 

 
(8) Streets and Roads. Necessary streets and roads within the PUD shall be dedicated to the public and constructed to 
City standards or shall be private roads maintained by an owner’s association and constructed to standards as determined by 
the Planning Commission and City Engineer. 

 
(9) Dedication and Maintenance of Facilities. The Planning Commission, or on appeal, the City Council may, as a 
condition of approval for a PUD require that portions of the tract or tracts under consideration be set aside, improved, conveyed 
or dedicated to the following uses: 

 
(a) Recreation Facilities: The Planning Commission may require that suitable area for parks or playgrounds be set aside, 
improved, or permanently reserved for the owners, residents, employees or patrons of the PUD. 

 
(b) Common Area: Whenever common area is provided, the Planning Commission or City Council may require that an 
association of owners or tenants be created into a non-profit corporation under the laws of the State of Oregon, which shall 
adopt such Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws and adopt and impose such Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions on 
such common areas that are acceptable to the Planning Commission. Said association, if required, may undertake other 
functions. It shall be created in such a manner that owners of property shall automatically be members and shall be subject to 
assessments levied to maintain said common areas for the purposes intended. The period of existence of such association 
shall not be less than 20 years, and it shall continue thereafter and until a majority vote of the members shall terminate it. 

 
(c) Easements: Easements necessary to the orderly extension of public utilities may be required as a condition of 
approval. 

 
(10) Approvals. The Planning Commission shall submit the preliminary development plan to the Fire District, City Engineer, 
County Sanitarian, power company, and other utilities which will serve the PUD and shall consider their recommendations in 
regard to approval of the proposal. 

 
Section 10.050. Procedure - Preliminary Development Plan. 

 
(1) The applicant shall submit four copies of the preliminary development plan to the Planning Commission prior to formal 
application for rezoning. Applications shall be accompanied by a fee prescribed in Section 11.050 of this ordinance. This plan 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



107 

 

and any written statements shall contain at least the following information: 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



108 

 

(a) Proposed land uses and densities. 

 
(b) Location and approximate dimensions and heights of structures. 

 
(c) Plan of open spaces or common spaces. 

 
(d) Map showing existing features of site and topography. 

 
(e) Proposed method of utilities service and drainage. 

 
(f) Road and circulation plan including off-street parking. 

 
(g) Relation of the proposed development to the surrounding area and the Comprehensive Plan. 

 
(h) Lot layout. 

 
(i) A schedule, if it is proposed that the final development plan will be executed in stages. 

 
(2) The Planning Commission shall consider the preliminary development plan at a public meeting, at which time they shall 
determine whether the proposal conforms to City ordinances. In addition, in considering the plan, the Planning Commission 
shall seek to determine that: 

 
(a) There are special physical conditions or objectives of development which the proposal will satisfy to warrant a departure 
from the standard ordinance requirements. 

 
(b) Resulting development will not be inconsistent with the Comprehensive Plan provisions or zoning objectives of the area. 

 
(c) The proposed development will be in substantial harmony with the surrounding area, including vegetation and 
topography and any important natural areas such as marshes or wildlife habitats. 

 
(d) The plan can be completed within a reasonable period of time. 

 
(e) Any proposed commercial development can be justified economically. 

 
(f) The streets are adequate to support the anticipated traffic and the development will not overload the streets outside the 
planned area. 

 
(g) Proposed utility and drainage facilities are adequate for the population densities and type of development proposed. 

 
(3) The Planning Commission shall notify the applicant whether, in its opinion, the foregoing provisions have been satisfied 
and, if not, whether they can be satisfied with further plan revision. 

 
(4) Following this preliminary meeting, the applicant may proceed with his/her request for approval of the planned 
development by filing an application for an amendment to this ordinance with the City Recorder. 

 
Section 10.060. Procedure - Final Approval. 

 
(1) Within one year after concept approval or modified approval of a preliminary development plan, the applicant shall file a 
final plan for the entire development or, when submission in stages has been authorized, for the first unit of the PUD, with the 
Planning Commission. The final plan shall conform in all respects with the approved preliminary development plan. The final 
plan shall include all information included in the preliminary plan, plus the following: 

 
(a) Contour map showing at least 2-foot intervals. 

 
(b) Grading plan showing future contours if existing grade is to be changed more than two feet. 

 
(c) Existing and proposed utility lines. 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



109 

 

(d) Preliminary subdivision plan if property is to be subdivided. 

 
(e) Location and dimensions of pedestrian ways, roads, malls, common open space, recreation area and parks. 

 
(f) Location, dimensions, and arrangement of off-street parking including width of aisles, spaces, and other design criteria. 

 
(g) Preliminary planting and landscaping plan. 

 
(h) Preliminary architectural plans and elevations of typical structures. 

 
(i) The applicant shall also submit drafts of appropriate deed restrictions or protective covenants to provide for the 
maintenance of common areas and to assure that the objectives of the PUD shall be followed. 

 
(2) Upon receipt of the final development plan, the Planning Commission shall examine such plan and determine whether it 
conforms to all applicable criteria and standards and whether it conforms in all substantial respects to the previously approved 
preliminary development plan, or require such changes in the proposed development or impose such conditions of approval as 
are, in its judgment, necessary to insure conformity to the applicable criteria and standards. In so doing, the Planning 
Commission may permit the applicant to revise the plan and resubmit it as a final development plan within 30 days. 

 
[Amended by Ordinance #18-432, January 8, 2020] 

 
Section 10.080. Adherence to Approved Plan and Modification Thereof. 

 
(1) Building permits in a PUD shall be issued only on the basis of the approved plan. Any changes in the approved plan 
shall be submitted to the Planning Commission for processing as an amendment to this ordinance. 

 
(2) A performance bond may be required, in an amount to be determined by the Planning Commission, to insure that a 
development proposal is completed as approved and within the time limits agreed to. 

 
(3) The developer shall show to the satisfaction of the Planning Commission that the proposal will be carried out in such a 
way that no significant damage will be done to the lakes, streams, beaches or wetlands in the City. Special attention will be paid 
to the impact of the PUD on slide-prone hillsides to insure that the damage will not be caused to surrounding property. 

 
Article 11. Administrative Provisions. 

Section 11.020. Building Permits. 

(1) No permit shall be issued by the Building Official for the construction, reconstruction, alteration or change of use of a 
structure or lot that does not conform to the requirements of this ordinance. 

 
(2) Building permits are required for any change, alteration or addition that affects the foundation, roofline, area of structure, 
or enclosure of existing porches, decks, patios, or carports. 

 
(3) No building permit shall be issued for any new construction, or any alteration or addition to an existing structure that 
increases the structural area toward any lot line, unless an official survey accompanies the application for a building permit. The 
survey shall also show the elevation of the building site. 

 
(4) Construction on property for which a permit has been issued must be started within 120 days from the date of 
issue. Construction must not be abandoned for over 120 days, or a new permit must be obtained at one-half the original 
fee. Building permits may be renewed only once. 

 
(5) If manufactured dwellings, recreational vehicles, or other temporary structures are used during the construction, water 
and sewer facilities must be installed within 90 days. 

 
[Section (5) amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

 
(6) Premises may not be occupied unless furnished with water and sewer facilities. 

 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



110 

 

Section 11.030. Application Information and Procedures. 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



111 

 

(1) An application for a permit or zone change provided for in this ordinance shall consist of: 

 
(a) A complete application form; and 

 
(b) Proof that the property affected by the application is in the exclusive ownership of the applicant, or that the applicant has 
the consent of all partners in ownership of the affected property; and 

 
(c) The required filing fee. 

 
(2) If the application is complete when first submitted, or the applicant submits the requested additional information within 
180 days of the date the application was first submitted, approval or denial of the application shall be based on standards and 
criteria that were applicable at the time the application was first submitted. 

 
(3) If an application for a permit or zone change is incomplete, the City shall notify the applicant of the additional information 
required within 30 days of the receipt of the application. The applicant shall be given the opportunity to submit the additional 
information required. The application shall be deemed complete upon receipt of such additional information required. If the 
applicant refuses to submit the required additional information, the application shall be deemed complete on the 31st day after 
the governing body first received the application. 

 
(4) Where a proposed development requires more than one permit, or zone change request from the City, the applicant may 
request that the City consider all necessary permit and zone change requests in a consolidated manner. If the applicant 
requests that the City consolidate its review of the development proposal, all necessary public hearings before the Planning 
Commission shall be held on the same date. 

 
(5) All documents or evidence provided by the applicant shall be submitted to the City and be made available to the public 
at the time the notice of public hearing required by Section 11.040 is provided. 

 
[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

 
Section 11.040. Notice of Public Hearing. 

 
(1) Content of Legal Notice. Notice of a public hearing shall be reasonably calculated to give actual notice and shall 
contain the following information: 

 
(a) The name of the applicant. 

 
(b) The date, time, place of hearing and who is holding the public hearing. 

 
(c) A description reasonably calculated to inform a person of the location of the property for which a permit or other action is 
pending, including the street address, and the subdivision lot and block designation, or tax map designation of the County 
Assessor. This is not required for legislative actions under this ordinance. 

 
(d) A concise description of the proposed development action. 

 
(e) A listing of the applicable criteria from the Zoning Ordinance and Comprehensive Plan known to apply to the issue. 

 
(f) A statement that a failure to raise an issue in person or by letter precludes appeal and that failure to specify as to which 
criteria the comment is directed precludes an appeal based on that criteria. 

 
(g) A statement describing where the complete application, criteria and other relevant information is available for review and 
how written comments may be submitted. 

 
(h) The name and phone number of a local government representative to contact for more information. 

 
(i) A statement that a copy of the application, all documents and evidence relied upon by the applicant and applicable 
criteria are available for inspection at no cost, and that copies can be provided at reasonable cost. 

 
(j) A statement that a copy of the staff report will be available for inspection at no cost at least seven days prior to the 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



112 

 

hearing, and that copies can be provided at reasonable cost. 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



113 

 

(k) A general explanation of the requirements for submission of testimony and the procedure for conduct of hearings. 

 
(2) Mailed Notice. 

 
(a) Mailed notice shall be sent to property owners with the following distances from the exterior boundary of the subject 
property: 

 
(i) Legislative change to the Zoning Ordinance ............................................... None. 

 
(ii) Quasi-judicial change to the ZoningOrdinance ..................................... 200 feet. 

 
(iii) Conditional use: .................................................................................... 200 feet. 

 
(iv) Variance request: .................................................................................. 200 feet. 

 
(v) Appeals: ................................................................................... parties of record. 

 
(b) Mailed notice shall be sent to the applicant. 

 
(c) Addresses for a mailed notice required by this ordinance shall be obtained from the County Assessor's Real Property 
Tax records. The failure of a property owner to receive notice shall not invalidate an action if a good faith attempt was made to 
comply with the requirements of this ordinance for notice. 

 
(3) Published Notice. 

 
(a) Notice shall be given for the proposed actions described below by publication in a newspaper of general circulation of 
the City of Rockaway Beach. 

 
(i) Legislative changes to the Zoning Ordinance. 

 
(ii) Quasi-judicial change to the Zoning Ordinance. 

 
(iii) Conditional use. 

 
(iv) Variance subject to a public hearing. 

 
(v) Appeal of a Planning Commission decision. 

 

(4) Deadlines for Public Notice. Notice shall be mailed or published not less than 20 days prior to the hearing requiring 
the notice. 

 
[Amended by Ordinance #18-432, January 8, 2020] 

 
Section 11.050. Date of Public Hearing. The Planning Commission shall hold a public hearing within 40 days of the filing of a 
complete application, unless the applicant grants an extension. [Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

 
Section 11.055. Availability of Staff Reports. Any staff report to be used at a public hearing shall be available at least seven 
days prior to the hearing. If additional documents or evidence are provided in support of the application, any party shall be 
entitled to a continuance of the hearing. This continuance period shall not be counted as part of the 120 day time limit in Section 
11.080. [Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

 
Section 11.060. Public Hearing Procedure and Requirements. 

 
(1) Public hearings conducted under this ordinance shall follow the procedures and requirements of this section. 

 
(2) The following Procedural Entitlements shall be provided at the public hearing: 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



114 

 

(a) An impartial review as free from conflicts of interest, personal bias, and pre-hearing ex-parte contact as is reasonably 
possible. 

 
(b) No member of a hearing body shall participate in a discussion of the proposal or vote on the proposal when any of the 
following conditions exist: 

 
(i). ....... Any of the following have a direct or substantial financial interest in the proposal: the hearing body 

member or the member's spouse, brother, sister, child, parent, father-in-law, mother-in-law, any business in which the member 
is then serving or has served within the last two years, or any business with which the member is negotiating for or has an 
arrangement or understanding concerning prospective partnership or employment. 

 
(ii). ........ The member owns property within the area entitled to receive notice of the public hearing. 

 
(iii). ....... The member has a direct private interest in the proposal. 

 
(iv). ....... For any other valid reason, the member has determined that participation in the hearing and decision 

cannot be in an impartial manner. 

 
(c) Hearing body members shall reveal any pre-hearing or ex-parte contacts with regard to any matter at the 
commencement of the first public hearing following the pre-hearing or ex-parte contact where action will be considered or taken 
on the matter. If such contacts have not impaired the member's impartiality or ability to vote on the matter, the member shall so 
state and shall participate in the public hearing. If the member determines that such contact has affected his impartiality or 
ability to vote on the matter, the member shall remove himself from the deliberations. Disqualifications due to ex-parte contact 
may be ordered by a majority of the members present. The person who is the subject of the motion may not vote on the motion. 

 
(d) A party to a hearing, or a member of a hearing body, may challenge the qualifications of a member of the hearing body 
to participate in the hearing and decision regarding the matter. The challenge shall state the facts relied upon by the challenger 
relating to a person's bias, pre-judgment, personal interest, ex-parte contact or other facts from which the challenger has 
concluded that the member of the hearing body cannot participate in an impartial manner. The hearing body shall deliberate 
and vote on such a challenge. The person who is the subject of the challenge may not vote on the motion. 

 
(e) A party to a hearing may rebut the substance of the communication that formed the basis for an ex-parte contact 
declared by a member of the hearing body. 

 
(f) No officer or employee of the City who has a financial or other private interest in a proposal shall participate in 
discussion with or give an official opinion to the hearing body on the proposal without first declaring for the record the nature and 
extent of each interest. 

 
(g) A reasonable opportunity for those persons potentially affected by the proposal to present evidence. 

 
(h) A reasonable opportunity for rebuttal of new material. 

 
(3) Rights of Disqualified Member of the Hearing Body. 

 
(a) An abstaining or disqualified member of the hearing body may be counted for purposes of forming a quorum. A member 
who represents personal interest at a hearing may do so only by abstaining from voting on the proposal, physically joining the 
audience and vacating the seat on the hearing body, and making full disclosure of his or her status and position at the time of 
addressing the hearing body. 

 
(b) A member absent during the presentation of evidence in a hearing may not participate in the deliberations or final 
decision regarding the matter of the hearing unless the member has reviewed the evidence received. 

 
(4) Burden and Nature of Proof. The burden of proof is upon the proponent. The proposal must be supported by proof 
that it conforms to the applicable provisions of this ordinance, especially the specific criteria set forth for the particular type of 
decision under consideration. 

 
(5) Nature of Proceedings. An order of proceedings for a hearing will depend in part on the nature of the hearing. The 
following shall be supplemented by administrative procedures as appropriate. 

 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



115 

 

(a) Before receiving information on the issue, the following shall be addressed: 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



116 

 

(i). .......... Any objections on jurisdictional grounds shall be noted in the record and if there is objection, the person 
presiding has the discretion to proceed or terminate. 

 
(ii). ........ Any abstentions or disqualifications shall be determined, based on conflict of interest, personal bias, or 

ex-parte contacts. 

 
(iii). ....... A statement by the person presiding that: 

 
(a). ........ Describes the applicable substantive criteria against which the application will be reviewed. 

 
(b). ........ Testimony and evidence must be directed toward the criteria which will be used to review the land 

use action, or other criteria in the Plan or land use regulation which a party believes to apply to the land use action; and 

 
(c). ........ Failure to raise an issue or address a criteria with sufficient specificity to afford the decision 

makers and parties to the hearing an opportunity to respond to the issues during the hearing precludes an appeal based on that 
issue or criteria. 

 
(d). ........ Describes the review and appeal process provided for by this ordinance. 

 
(b) Presentation. 

 
(i). .......... The presiding officer shall preserve order at the public hearing and shall decide questions of order subject 

to a majority vote. 

 
(ii). ........ The presiding officer may set reasonable time limits for oral presentations. The presiding officer may 

determine not to receive cumulative, repetitive, immaterial or derogatory testimony. 

 
(c) Evidence shall be received from the staff and from proponents and opponents. 

 
(i). .......... Evidence shall be admissible if it is of a type commonly relied upon by reasonable and prudent persons in 

the conduct of serious affairs. Erroneous evidence shall not invalidate or preclude action unless shown to have prejudiced the 
substantial rights of a party to the hearing. 

 
(ii). ........ Members of the hearing body may take official notice of judicially cognizable facts of a general or 

technical nature within their specialized knowledge. Such notice shall be stated and may be rebutted. 

 
(iii). ....... The presiding officer may approve or deny a request from a person attending the hearing to ask a 

question. Unless the presiding officer specifies otherwise, if the request to ask a question is approved, the presiding officer will 
direct the question to the person submitting testimony. 

 
(d) The hearing body may recess a hearing in order to obtain additional information or to serve further notice upon other 
property owners or persons it decides may be interested in the proposal being considered. The time and date when the hearing 
is to resume shall be announced. 

 
(e) The hearing body may view the area in dispute with notification to the parties, of the time, manner and circumstances of 
such a visit. 

 
(f) At the conclusion of the public hearing, a participant in the public hearing may request that the record remain open for at 
least seven days for the purpose of submitting additional evidence. Such a request may only be made at the first de novo 
hearing held in conjunction with a permit application or Zoning Ordinance text or map amendment. 

 
Whenever the record is supplemented in this manner, any person may raise new issues which relate to the new evidence, 
testimony or criteria for decision making which apply to the matter at issue. This extension of time shall not be counted as part 
of the 120 day limit in Section 11.060. 

 
(g) When the hearing has been closed, the hearing body shall openly discuss the issue and may further question a person 
submitting information or the staff, if opportunity for rebuttal is provided. 

 
(i). .......... No testimony shall be accepted after the close of the public hearing unless the hearing body provides an 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



117 

 

opportunity for review and rebuttal of that testimony. 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



118 

 

(6) Decision. Following the procedure described in Section 11.060(1)-(5), the hearing body shall approve, approve with 
conditions, or deny the application. If the hearing is in the nature of an appeal, the hearing body may affirm, affirm with 
modifications, or additional conditions, reverse, or remand the decision that is on appeal. 

 
(a) The decision of the hearing body shall be by a written order signed by the chair or his/her designee. 

 
(b) The order shall incorporate findings of fact and conclusions that include: 

 
(i). .......... A statement of the applicable criteria and standards against which the proposal was tested. 

 
(ii). ........ A statement of the facts which the hearing body relied upon in establishing compliance or noncompliance 

with each applicable criteria or standard, briefly state how those facts support the decision. 

 
(iii). ....... In the case of a denial, it shall be sufficient to address only those criteria upon which the applicant failed 

to carry the burden of proof or, when appropriate, the facts in the record that support denial. 

 
(c) The written order is the final decision on the matter and the date of the order is the date that it is signed. The order 
becomes effective on the expiration of the appeal period, unless an appeal has been filed. 

 

(7) Record of Proceedings. The secretary to the hearing body shall be present at each hearing and shall cause the 
proceedings to be recorded stenographically or electronically. 

 
(a) Testimony shall be transcribed if required for judicial review or if ordered by the hearing body. 

 
(b) The hearing body shall, where practicable, retain as part of the hearing record each item of physical or documentary 
evidence presented and shall have the items marked to show the identity of the person offering the same and whether 
presented on behalf of a proponent or opponent. Exhibits received into evidence shall be retained in the hearing file until after 
the applicable appeal period has expired, at which time the exhibits may be released to the person identified thereon, or 
otherwise disposed of. 

 
(c) The findings shall be included in the record. 

 
(d) A person shall have access to the record of proceedings at reasonable times, places and circumstances. A person shall 
be entitled to make copies of the record at the person's own expense. 

 
(8) Notice of Decision. Notice of a decision of a hearing body shall be provided to all parties to the hearing within five 
working days of the date that the final order was signed. The notice of the decision shall include: 

 
(a) A brief description of the decision reached. 

 
(b) A statement that the decision may be appealed by filing, with the City, an appeal within 15 calendar days of the date the 
final order was signed. 

 
(c) A description of the requirements for an appeal, including the type of appeal that may be requested. 

 
(d) A statement that an appeal may only be filed concerning criteria that were addressed at the initial public hearing. 

 
(e) A statement that the complete case, including the final order, is available for review at the City. 

[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

Section 11.070. Request for Review of a Decision (Appeals). 

 
(1) A decision of a City administrative officer regarding a requirement of this ordinance may be appealed to the Planning 
Commission by an affected party filing an appeal with the City Recorder within 15 days of the date that notice of the decision 
was mailed by the City. The notice of appeal that is filed with the City shall indicate the interpretation that is being 
appealed. The matter at issue will be a determination of the appropriateness of the interpretation of the requirements of this 
ordinance. 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



119 

 

(2) A decision of the Planning Commission may be appealed to the City Council by a party to the hearing by filing an appeal 
within 15 days of the date the final order is signed. The notice of appeal filed with the City shall contain the information outlined 
in Section 11.070(3). 

 
(3) An appeal of a Planning Commission decision shall contain: 

 
(a) An identification of the decision sought to be reviewed, including the date of the decision; 

 
(b) A statement of the interest of the person seeking review and that he/she was a party to the initial proceedings; 

 
(c) The specific grounds relied upon for the review, including a statement that the criteria against which review is being 
requested were addressed at the Planning Commission hearing; and 

 
(d) If de novo review or review by additional testimony and other evidence is requested, a statement relating the request to 
the factors listed in Section 11.070(6). 

 
(4) Scope of Review. The City Council shall determine, as a non-public hearing item, that the scope of the review will be 
one of the following: 

 
(a) Restricted to the record made in the decision being appealed. 

 
(b) Limited to the presentation of additional evidence on such issues as the reviewing body determines necessary for a 
proper resolution of the matter. 

 
(c) A de novo hearing. 

 
(d) A remand of the matter to the hearing body for additional consideration. 

 
(5) Review on the Record. 

 
(a) Unless otherwise provided for by the City Council, review of the decision on appeal shall be confined to the record of the 
proceeding as specified in this section. The record shall include: 

 
(i). ......... All exhibits, materials, pleadings, memoranda, and motions submitted by any party and received or 

considered in reaching the decision under review. 

 
(ii). ........The final order and findings of fact adopted in support of the decision being appealed. 

 
(iii) The request for an appeal filed by the appellant. 

 
(iv). ..... The minutes of the public hearing. The reviewing body may request that a transcript of the hearing be 

prepared. 

 
(b) All parties to the initial hearing shall receive a notice of the proposed review of the record. The notice shall indicate the 
date, time and place of the review and the issues that are the subject of the review. 

 
(c) The City Council shall makes its decision based upon the record after first granting the right of argument, but not the 
introduction of additional evidence, to parties to the hearing. 

 
(d) In considering the appeal, the City Council need only consider those matters specifically raised by the appellant. The 
reviewing body may consider other matters if it so desires. 

 
(e) The appellant shall bear the burden of proof. 

 
(6) Review Consisting of Additional Evidence or De Novo Review. 

 
(a) The City Council may hear the entire matter de novo; or it may admit additional testimony and other evidence without 
holding a de novo hearing. The City Council shall grant a request for a new hearing only where it finds that: 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



120 

 

(i). ......... The additional testimony or other evidence could not reasonably have been presented at the prior 
hearing; or 

 
(ii). ........ A hearing is necessary to fully and properly evaluate a significant issue relevant to the proposed 

development action; and 

 
(iii). ....... The request is not necessitated by improper conduct of the requesting party or by a failure to present 

evidence that was available at the time of the previous review. 

 
(b) Hearings on appeal, either de novo or limited to additional evidence on specific issues, shall be conducted in 
accordance with the requirements of Sections 11.040 - 11.060. 

 
(7) Review Body Decision. 

 
(a) Upon review, the City Council may affirm, reverse, or modify in whole or in part, a determination or requirement of the 
decision that is under review. When the City Council modifies or renders a decision that reverses a decision of the Planning 
Commission, the City Council shall set forth its findings and state its reasons for taking the action and shall be in conformance 
with the requirements of Section 11.060(6). When the City Council elects to remand the matter back to the Planning 
Commission for further consideration as it deems necessary, it shall include a statement explaining the error found to have 
materially affected the outcome of the original decision and the action necessary to rectify such. 

 
(b) Notice of the City Council decision shall be provided to all parties to the hearing within five working days of the date that 
the final order is signed. The notice of the decision shall include: 

 
(i). ......... A brief description of the decision reached. 

 
(ii). ........A statement that the decision may be appealed to the Land Use Board of Appeals by filing a notice of 

intent to appeal within 21 days. 

 
(iii). ....... A statement that the complete case, including the final order, is available for review at the City. 

 
[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

 
Section 11.080. Final Action on Application for Permit or Zone Change Request. The City shall take final action on an 
application for a permit or a zone change within 120 days of the receipt of a complete application. The 120 day period does not 
apply to an amendment to the Comprehensive Plan or Zoning Ordinance, or the adoption of a new land use regulation. At the 
request of the applicant, the 120 day period may be extended for a reasonable period of time. 

 
[Amended by Ordinance #277, August 28, 1990] 

 
Section 11.090. Filing Fees. Following permit fees will be set by the Council by resolution. 

 
(1) Zoning amendment proposed by property owner 

 
(2) Conditional use request 

 
(3) Variance request 

 
(4) Planned development 

 
(5) Appeal 

 
(6) Plan review 

 
(7) Street vacation request 

 
[Amended by Ordinance #93-299, March 24, 1990] 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



121 

 

Section 11.100. Authorization of Similar Uses. The Planning Commission may permit in a particular zone a use not listed in 
the ordinance, provided the use is of the same general type as the uses permitted there by this ordinance. However, this 
section does not authorize the inclusion in a zone where it is not listed of a use specifically listed in another zone. 

 
Section 11.200. Interpretation. Where a provision of this ordinance is less restrictive than another ordinance or requirement 
of the City, the provision or requirements which are more restrictive shall govern. 
In the interpretation and application of this ordinance all provisions shall be 

(1) Considered as minimum requirements; 

(2) Liberally construed in favor of the governing body, and; 

(3) Deemed neither to limit nor repeal any other powers granted under state statutes, including Oregon State Specialty 

Codes 

 
[Amended by Ordinance #18-431, September 12, 2018] 

 

 
Section 11.300. Severability. The provisions of this ordinance are severable. If a section, sentence, clause, or phrase of this 
ordinance is adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, the decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining 
portions of this ordinance. 

 
Section 11.400. Repeal and Continuity. Interim Zoning Ordinance No. 92, and all amendments thereto, are hereby repealed, 
effective upon the date of the enactment of this Ordinance No. 143. All violations of Ordinance No. 92 or previous zoning 
ordinances of this City, including nonconforming uses, shall continue as violations of this ordinance unless specifically 
authorized herein, and all permits, including temporary permits, and conditional uses granted under previous ordinances shall 
continue in effect and no rights shall be acquired by the repeal of Ordinance No. 92 that are not specifically approved herein. 

 
Section 11.500. Enforcement and Penalties. 

 
(1) Enforcement. It shall be the duty of the City Council to enforce this ordinance. All departments, officials and public 
employees of the City of Rockaway Beach, vested with the duty or authority to issue permits shall conform to the provisions of 
this ordinance and shall issue no permit, certificate or license for any use, building or purpose which violates or fails to comply 
with conditions or standards imposed by this ordinance. Any permit, certificate, or license issued in conflict with the provisions 
of this ordinance, intentionally or otherwise, shall be void. 

 
(2) Penalties for Violation. Any person, firm or corporation, whether as principal, agent, employee or otherwise, violating 
or causing the violation of any of the provisions of this ordinance, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction thereof 
shall be punishable by a fine of not more than $200.00 or by imprisonment in the county jail for a term not to exceed 100 days or 
both such fine and imprisonment. Such person, firm or corporation shall be deemed guilty of a separate offense for each and 
every day during any portion of which any violation of this ordinance is committed or continued by such person, firm or 
corporation and shall be punishable as herein provided. 

 
(3) Injunctive Relief. The foregoing sanctions shall not be exclusive, and where the public health, safety, morals or general 
welfare will be better served thereby, the City Council may institute such proceedings for injunctive relief against a continuing 
violation as may be authorized by the statutes of the State of Oregon. In the enforcement of provisions prohibiting nuisances 
caused by odor, sound, vibration and the like, the City Council may seek injunction against the specific device, activity or 
practice causing the nuisance. 

 
(4) Evidence. In any prosecution for causing or maintaining any condition or use of, or activity on, or constructing, moving 
or maintaining any structure on, any premises in violation of this zoning ordinance, a person in possession or control of the 
premises, as owner or lessee at the time of the violation, or continuance thereof, shall be presumed to be the person who 
constructed, moved, caused or maintained the unlawful activity, use, condition or structure. This presumption shall be 
rebuttable and either the City or the defendant in such prosecution shall have the right to show that the offense was committed 
by some person other than, or in addition to, an owner or lessee or other person in possession or control of the premises; but 
this shall not be construed as relieving a person in possession and control of property from any duty imposed upon him or her by 
this ordinance. For the purposes hereof, the person to whom the premises are taxed according to the records of the Tillamook 
County Assessor and/or Tillamook County Tax Collector shall be prima facie the person in possession or control of the 
premises. 

 
Where premises on which the violation is committed are commercial or industrial premises on which a sign is situated 

identifying the commercial or industrial activity conducted thereon, or displaying the real or assumed business name of a person 
or proprietor thereof, the same shall constitute prima facie evidence that the person whose name is thus displayed is in 
possession or control of the premises as owner or lessee, but this shall not be construed to relieve from responsibility any agent, 
manager, employee or other person who actually committed the violation. 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



122 

 

(5) Abatement. Where, because of the absence of the responsible person, or persons from the City or from the state, as 
the case may be, the courts of the City of Rockaway Beach or the State of Oregon cannot secure effective jurisdiction over the 
person or persons responsible for the cause or continuation of a structure or condition erected or maintained in violation of this 
ordinance, or where the City Council deems it important to the public interest that the unlawful structure or condition be removed 
or corrected without delay, the City Council may, after notice and hearing, order the removal of the unlawful structure or 
condition and, if such removal or correction is not effected within the time prescribed in the order, the City Council shall cause 
such abatement, going upon the premises with such men or equipment as may be necessary and the City Council shall 
thereafter by ordinance assess the cost of abatement against the real property. The lien of the assessment shall be enforced in 
the same manner as in the case of street improvement liens. Notice of hearing shall be sufficient if given 30 days in advance of 
the hearing, either by personal delivery or by mailing the same to the last known address of the owner of the property as shown 
by the County Assessor's and/or County Tax Collector's records. The order shall be served upon the owner or responsible 
person in the manner prescribed for the notice of hearing, and the owner or responsible person shall have such period of time 
after service of the order but no less than 30 days, as the City Council may deem to be reasonably necessary to accomplish the 
requirements of the order. The notice of hearing and the abatement order shall contain a notice to the property owner, or other 
persons served, that the City of Rockaway Beach shall not be responsible for the condition or storage of the component parts of, 
or personal property situated within, the structure following abatement by the City. The remedy of abatement shall be in addition 
to, and not in lieu of, the other remedies prescribed by this section. 

 
[Amended by Ordinance #181, March 25, 1980] 

Ordinance 2025-02 - Exhibit C



Ordinance 2025-03   Page 1 of 2 

 
CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH, OREGON 

ORDINANCE NO. 2025-03 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH SUBDIVISION 

ORDINANCE RELATED TO MIDDLE HOUSING 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Rockaway Beach (“City”) recognizes that certain amendments to 

the Rockaway Beach Subdivision Ordinance are needed to implement HB 2001 (2019), as 

directed by Senate Bill (SB) 406 (“Proposed Amendments”); and 

 

WHEREAS, at a minimum, cities and unincorporated communities within Tillamook 

County served by water and sewer must permit all forms of middle housing - duplexes, triplexes, 

quadplexes, townhouses, and cottage clusters - in zones where single-family dwellings are 

permitted, consistent with the state’s adopted rules for Middle Housing in Large Cities; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Proposed Amendments also put in place design standards for triplex, 

quadplex, townhouse, and cottage cluster projects consistent with the Oregon Department of 

Land Conservation and Development’s Model Code for Large Cities; and 

 

 WHEREAS, through regular Planning Commission meetings in September 2024 and 

March 2025, City staff and consultants Cascadia Partners worked with the Planning Commission 

to develop the Proposed Amendments to address updates for middle housing; and  

 

WHEREAS, on March 13, 2025, the City provided proper notice of the Proposed 

Amendments to the Department of Land Conservation and Development; and 

 

 WHEREAS, on April 17, 2025, the Rockaway Beach Planning Commission conducted a 

properly noticed public hearing on the Proposed Amendments, and having received no 

objections, recommended that City Council adopt the Proposed Amendments; and 

 

WHEREAS, on   , 2025, the City Council conducted a properly 

noticed public hearing and first and second reading on the Proposed Amendments; and 

 

WHEREAS, based upon all materials relevant to the proposal, staff reports, findings 

made by the Rockway Beach Planning Commission, and testimony and comments submitted at 

the public hearings, both orally and in writing, the Rockaway Beach City Council has made the 

findings of fact as set forth in Exhibit A. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, The City of Rockaway Beach ordains as follows: 

 

Section 1.  Findings.  The City Council hereby adopts the Findings of Fact set forth in the above 

recitals and attached as Exhibit A as its basis for adopting the Proposed Amendments to the 

Rockaway Beach Subdivision Ordinance.   

 

Section 2.  Amendments.  The Rockaway Beach Subdivision Ordinance is hereby amended, as 

shown in attached Exhibit B, to now read in full as shown in Exhibit C. 

 

 



Ordinance 2025-03   Page 2 of 2 

Section 3.  Unamended Provisions.  All unamended provisions of the Subdivision Ordinance 

shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

Section 4.  Severability.  A determination of invalidity or unconstitutionality by a court of 

competent jurisdiction of any clause, sentence, paragraph, section, or part of this ordinance shall 

not affect the validity of the remaining parts to this ordinance.  

 

Section 5.  Effective Date.  Pursuant to the Rockaway Beach City Charter, this ordinance shall 

become effective on the thirtieth day after its adoption. 

 

1st reading by the Rockaway Beach City Council     . 

2nd reading by the Rockaway Beach City Council     . 

 

Adopted and Approved by the Rockaway Beach City Council     . 

 

 

          

Charles McNeilly, Mayor 

 

 

City Council   Aye/Nay 

Penny Cheek        / 

Kiley Konruff          / 

Tom Martine             / 

Mary McGinnis        / 

VACANT        / 

 

 

 

Attest: 

 

 

      

Melissa Thompson, City Recorder 



Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, and 2025-04 Page 1 of 6 
Staff Report 

CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION 

STAFF REPORT Middle Housing Zoning Ordinance, Subdivision 
Ordinance, and Comprehensive Plan Changes 
Case File: Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, and 2025-04 
DLCD PAPA File: Amendment 001-25 
Hearing Date: June 11, 2025 

APPLICANT: City of Rockaway Beach 

NATURE OF THE APPLICATION AND BACKGROUND ON THE REQUEST: The City of Rockaway 
Beach is proposing to amend the City of Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance, Subdivision Ordinance, and 
Comprehensive Plan.  The amendments to the Ordinances and Comprehensive Plan are necessary to meet state 
requirements for duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, townhouses and cottage clusters.  The City must take action to 
amend its development code and Comprehensive Plan policies by June 30, 2025, as directed by Senate Bill (SB) 
406. The bill directs cities and unincorporated communities within Tillamook County served by water and sewer
to permit all forms of middle housing—duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, townhouses, and cottage clusters—in zones
where single family dwellings are permitted, consistent with the state’s adopted rules for Middle Housing in Large
Cities which are implemented through state rules (OAR Division 660-046) and Middle Housing Model Code
adopted by reference.

Zoning Ordinance Amendments: 
• Section 1.030.  Definitions
• Section 2.020.  Classification of Zones
• Section 3.010.  Single Family Zone (R-1)
• Section 3.020.  Residential Zone (R-2)
• Section 3.030.  Residential/Resort Zone (R-R)
• Section 3.040.  Special Residential/Resort Zone (SRR)
• Section 3.050.  Commercial Zone (C-1)
• Section 3.090.  Lower Density Residential Zone (R-3)
• Section 3.091.  Residential Manufactured Dwelling Zone (RMD)
• Section 3.142.  Tsunami Hazard Overlay Zone
• Section 4.043.  Multifamily Sitting Criteria
• Section 4.044.  Townhouse Projects
• Section 4.045.  Triplex and Quadplex Dwellings
• Section 4.046.  Cottage Clusters
• Section 4.060.  Off-Street Parking and Off-Street Loading Requirements
• Section 5.050.  General Exceptions to Lot Size Requirements
• Section 5.060.  General Exceptions to Yard Requirements
• Section 7.030.  Change of Nonconforming Uses
• Section 10.030.  Permitted Buildings and Uses
• Section 10.040.  Development Standards

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A



 
 

Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, and 2025-04  Page 2 of 6 
Staff Report 

Subdivision Ordinance Amendments: 
• Middle Housing Land Divisions 

o Section 43.  Applicability 
o Section 44.  Process 
o Section 45.  Submittal Requirements 
o Section 46.  Decision Criteria 
o Section 47.  Decision 
o Section 48.  Conditions of Approval 
o Section 49.  Process for Final Plat Approval 
o Section 50.  Appeals 

 
Comprehensive Plan Amendments: 

• Beaches and Dunes Policy 
• Land Use Categories 
• The Manhattan Residential/Resort Area 
• The Special Residential/Resort Area 
• The Single Family or Duplex Residential Area 
• The Saltair Creek Residential/Resort Area (R-R) 
• The East Rockaway Beach Residential Area (R) 
• Housing Element 
• Policies 

 
Staff recommend to the Rockaway Beach City Council on June 11, 2025, adoption of the above listed amendments. 
 
RELEVANT CRITERIA:  The following standards apply to this request: 
 

Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance.  Article 9.  Amendments. 
Section 9.010. Authorization to Initiate Amendments. An amendment to the text of this ordinance or to a 
zoning map may be initiated by the City Council, Planning Commission, or by application of the property 
owner(s), contract purchaser(s), or his/her/their authorized agent. 
 
Section 9.015. Burden of Proof. The burden of proof is placed upon the initiator of the amendment. That 
burden shall be to prove: 

1. The proposed amendment fully accords with applicable Comprehensive Plan goals and policies; 
and 

2. The proposed amendment is required to meet a land use need. 
 

• Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan.  The Planning Process. 
Amendments to the text of the comprehensive plan shall be made only where findings have been adopted 
that the following criteria are met:  

A. The amendment is consistent with the comprehensive plan’s goals and policies; and  
B. The amendment is necessary to meet a land use need.  

 
• Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goals.  1-19. 

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A



 
 

Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, and 2025-04  Page 3 of 6 
Staff Report 

NOTIFICATION:  The Department of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD) was provided notice of 
the proposed legislative amendments on March 13, 2025.  Notice of this public hearing was posted online on the 
City website and was published in the Headlight Hearld. 
 
COMMENTS:  Comments from the Department of Land Conversation and Development and the Oregon Fair 
Housing Council are attached to this report. 
 
DISCUSSION OF REQUEST:  This draft set of amendments to the City of Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance, 
Subdivision Ordinance, and Comprehensive Plan, implement HB 2001 (2019), as directed by Senate Bill (SB) 406.  
At a minimum, cities and unincorporated communities within Tillamook County served by water and sewer must 
permit all forms of middle housing - duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, townhouses, and cottage clusters - in zones 
where single-family dwellings are permitted, consistent with the state’s adopted rules for Middle Housing in Large 
Cities.  The amendments also put in place design standards for triplex, quadplex, townhouse, and cottage cluster 
projects consistent with DLCD’s Model Code for Large Cities. 
 
FINDINGS:  Planning staff finds the following: 
 

1. The amendment is consistent with applicable Comprehensive Plan goals and policies. 
 
FINDING: This criterion has been met.  As stated in this report, the proposed amendments to the City of 
Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance, Subdivision Ordinance, and Comprehensive Plan are necessary to 
meet state requirements for duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, townhouses and cottage clusters, as directed 
by Senate Bill (SB) 406.  The proposed amendments correspond with one another to allow for consistency 
of the Comprehensive Plan.  The amendments are consistent with current Comprehensive Plan policies as 
follows: 
 

o Cluster development is to be encouraged, thus saving energy in construction, maintenance and 
heating. 

o The City shall support all efforts to provide low or moderate income housing in and around 
Rockaway Beach, and shall cooperate with the Tillamook County Housing Authority, and 
Northwest Oregon Housing Association. 

o The Land use Element of the comprehensive plan and the zoning ordinance shall designate areas 
within the City where multifamily dwellings may be located, and where mobile home parks may 
be developed. It is assumed that low cost multi-family housing developed with public or private 
financing can be located anywhere other multi-family housing is allowed. 

 
2. The amendment is required to meet a land use need. 

 
FINDING: This criterion has been met.  As stated in this report, the proposed amendments to the City of 
Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance, Subdivision Ordinance, and Comprehensive Plan are necessary to 
meet state requirements for duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, townhouses and cottage clusters, as directed 
by Senate Bill (SB) 406.  The bill directs cities and unincorporated communities within Tillamook County 
served by water and sewer to permit all forms of middle housing—duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, 
townhouses, and cottage clusters—in zones where single family dwellings are permitted, consistent with 
the state’s adopted rules for Middle Housing in Large Cities which are implemented through state rules 
(OAR Division 660-046) and Middle Housing Model Code adopted by reference. 

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A



 
 

Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, and 2025-04  Page 4 of 6 
Staff Report 

 
3. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 1.  Citizen Involvement: to develop a citizen involvement 

program that ensures the opportunity for citizens to be involved in all phases of the planning process. 
 
FINDING: This criterion has been met.  The Rockaway Beach City Council, Planning Commission and 
the public had numerous opportunities to become aware and engaged in the process related to the required 
middle housing amendments.  These opportunities included work sessions, a Town Hall meeting, a public 
hearing with the Planning Commission and this public hearing.  Additionally, notice of this public hearing 
was posted online on the City website and was published in the Headlight Hearld. 
 

4. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 2.  Land Use Planning: to establish a land use planning 
process and policy framework as a basis for all decisions and actions related to use of land and to assure 
an adequate factual basis for such decisions and actions. 
 
FINDING: This criterion has been met.  The proposed amendments reflect due consideration of housing 
related state laws and administrative rules consistent with providing a factual basis for land use decisions.   
 

5. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 3.  Agricultural Lands 
 
FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

6. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 4.  Forest Lands 
 
FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

7. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 5.  Natural Resources, Scenic and Historic Areas, and Open 
Spaces  
 
FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

8. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 6.  Air, Water and Land Resources Quality 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

9. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 7.  Areas Subject to Natural Hazards 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

10. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 8.  Recreational Needs 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

11. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 9.  Economic Development 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A



 
 

Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, and 2025-04  Page 5 of 6 
Staff Report 

12. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 10.  Housing:  to provide for the housing needs of the citizens 
of the state 

 
FINDING: This criterion has been met.  The proposed amendments will allow duplexes, triplexes, 
quadplexes, townhouses, and cottage clusters in zones where single-family dwellings are permitted.  These 
amendments are made at the direction of the state to make room for middle housing to address the state’s 
housing shortfall and meet the public need.  The allowance of middle housing in all residentially zoned 
areas should address the housing production needs identified in the 2019 Housing Needs Analysis (HNA).  
At the time the HNA was drafted, “66-80% of the total housing stock [was] owned by part-time residents”.  
While the Buildable Lands Inventory (BLI) identified a surplus of residential buildable lands, low wages 
and high housing costs have been barriers to housing production for full-time residents.   
 

13. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 11.  Public Facilities and Services: to plan efficient 
arrangement of public facilities and services to serve as a framework for urban and rural development. 

 
FINDING: This criterion has been met.  The proposed amendments address the coordination for public 
facilities and services necessary to provide for middle housing within the UGB.   
 

14. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 12.  Transportation 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

15. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 13.  Energy Conservation 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

16. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 14.  Urbanization 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

17. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 15.  Wilamette River Greenway 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

18. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 16.  Estuarine Resources 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

19. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 17.  Coastal Shorelands 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

20. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 18.  Beaches and Dunes 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 
 

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A



 
 

Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, and 2025-04  Page 6 of 6 
Staff Report 

21. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 6.  Ocean Resources 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 
CONCLUSION:  The findings of the planning staff support the proposed amendments to the City of Rockaway 
Beach Zoning Ordinance, Subdivision Ordinance, and Comprehensive Plan, which were recommended for approval 
by the Rockaway Beach Planning Commission on April 17, 2025.   
 
The amendments are consistent with the applicable criteria. 
 
Accordingly, the City of Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance, Subdivision Ordinance, and Comprehensive Plan 
shall be updated to reflect the changes as presented. 
 
In making a decision, the Rockaway Beach Council Commission may recommend approval of the amendments to 
the City of Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance, Subdivision Ordinance, and Comprehensive Plan, as recommended 
by planning staff or with modifications. 

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A



You don't often get email from cityplanner@corb.us. Learn why this is important

From: MARQUARDT Ryan * DLCD
To: City Planner
Cc: ESTES Brett * DLCD
Subject: RE: HB 4064
Date: Wednesday, May 14, 2025 8:20:17 AM

Hi Mary,
Apologies that it took me a while to do a more in-depth review. Everything in the zoning
code amendments looks to be in good shape.
 
I have one observation about the middle housing land division amendments. The
codification of ORS 92.031 looks good overall. There are some parts of the amendments
that go beyond what is in ORS (e.g. existing conditions requirements, city manager
approval process). While I don’t see those as inherently problematic, the city does assume
some risk in codifying requirements, processes, and criteria beyond what is established in
statute. We’d recommend consulting the city’s legal counsel if you have questions or
concerns about this.
 
Ryan Marquardt, AICP
Housing Planner | Housing Accountability and Production Office
Pronouns: he/him
Cell: 971-375-5659 | Main: 503-373-0050
ryan.marquardt@dlcd.oregon.gov | www.oregon.gov/LCD
 
From: City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us> 
Sent: Thursday, April 17, 2025 3:14 PM
To: MARQUARDT Ryan * DLCD <Ryan.Marquardt@dlcd.oregon.gov>
Subject: RE: HB 4064

 

Hi Ryan,
 
Thank you for your response.  I look forward to hearing if you have any concerns regarding our
middle housing code once you’ve had a chance to review it more thoroughly.
 
 

Mary Johnson
City Planner
City of Rockaway Beach
(503) 374-1752
276 S Hwy 101 | PO Box 5 | Rockaway Beach, OR 97136
www.corb.us | cityplanner@corb.us  

 
PUBLIC RECORDS LAW DISCLOSURE: Emails are generally public records and therefore subject to public disclosure unless exempt
from disclosure under Oregon Public Records Law. Emails can be sent inadvertently to unintended recipients and contain confidential or
privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient (or authorized to receive for the recipient), please advise by return email and
delete immediately without reading or forwarding to others.
 
 

From: MARQUARDT Ryan * DLCD <Ryan.Marquardt@dlcd.oregon.gov> 

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A



Sent: Thursday, April 17, 2025 11:02 AM
To: City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us>
Cc: ESTES Brett * DLCD <Brett.Estes@dlcd.oregon.gov>
Subject: RE: HB 4064

 
Hi Mary,
Regarding the middle housing code revisions – the amendments look good. On the whole,
it appears that the amendments are in alignment with OAR 660-046 and ORS 92.031,
though I didn’t do a line-by-line reading of the amendments compared with the state statute
and rules.
 
Regarding manufactured dwellings and regulations in 4.091 and 4.095 – it does appear that
these sections are out of compliance with SB 406. See highlighted text in ORS 197.478(4)
for the regulations that can apply to a manufactured dwelling  -
https://www.oregonlegislature.gov/bills_laws/ors/ors197.html#:~:text=
(4)%20A%20local%20government%20may%20not%20subject,Dwelling%20Code%20as%
20defined%20in%20ORS%20455.010. Consistent with ORS 197.646, the city should
review manufactured housing consistent with the ORS until amendments to these code
sections are adopted.
 
In the next week, I’ll try to do a more thorough review of the middle housing amendments.
Please let me know if you have any questions at this point.
Thanks!
-Ryan
 
Ryan Marquardt, AICP
Housing Planner | Housing Accountability and Production Office
Pronouns: he/him
Cell: 971-375-5659 | Main: 503-373-0050
ryan.marquardt@dlcd.oregon.gov | www.oregon.gov/LCD
 
From: ESTES Brett * DLCD <Brett.Estes@dlcd.oregon.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, April 17, 2025 10:14 AM
To: City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us>
Cc: MARQUARDT Ryan * DLCD <Ryan.Marquardt@dlcd.oregon.gov>
Subject: RE: HB 4064

 
Hi Mary,
 
I am pulling in Ryan Marquardt on this question to see if he can fill in any gaps on this issue the
consultant raised.  Ryan, see below from Mary in Rockaway Beach.
 
Mary, I would note that Ryan is also working to review the code amendments going to Planning
Commission.  He is doing his best to get any comments to you as soon as possible.  I wanted to
let you know that the amendments are being looked at.

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A



 
Thanks!
Brett
 
Brett Estes   
North Coast Regional Representative | Coastal Division
Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development
635 Capitol Street NE, Suite 150 | Salem, OR 97301-2540
Cell: 503-881-0667 | Main: 503-373-0050
brett.estes@dlcd.oregon.gov | www.oregon.gov/LCD
 
From: City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us> 
Sent: Thursday, April 17, 2025 9:33 AM
To: ESTES Brett * DLCD <Brett.Estes@dlcd.oregon.gov>
Subject: HB 4064

 
Hi Brett,
 
When our consultants were reviewing our code for SB 406, they noted that our manufactured
dwelling sitting criteria is out of compliance with HB 4064 – noting that our standards are no
longer authorized by statute unless they also apply to site-built homes.
 
I was curious if DLCD had any guidance or information they could share on this?  I plan to make
updates to this once we finish the SB406 and PICM updates.
 
Thanks,
 
 

Mary Johnson
City Planner
City of Rockaway Beach
(503) 374-1752
276 S Hwy 101 | PO Box 5 | Rockaway Beach, OR 97136
www.corb.us | cityplanner@corb.us  

 
PUBLIC RECORDS LAW DISCLOSURE: Emails are generally public records and therefore subject to public disclosure unless exempt
from disclosure under Oregon Public Records Law. Emails can be sent inadvertently to unintended recipients and contain confidential or
privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient (or authorized to receive for the recipient), please advise by return email and
delete immediately without reading or forwarding to others.
 

 

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A



From: Mathew Hogan from Fair Housing Council of Oregon
To: City Planner
Subject: RE: PAPA file Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, & 2025-04
Date: Thursday, April 17, 2025 9:33:29 AM

I look forward to it. Thanks for all your communication, Mary!

Mathew Hogan
Fair Housing Council of Oregon
Phone: (406) 439 0950

For the latest on the PAPA Project and our feedback & technical advice methodology,
please read the PAPAs section at our partner website, here.

On Thu, Apr 17, 2025 at 9:29 AM, City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us> wrote: 

Hi Mathew,

 

Of course – we are working with Cascadia Partners.  I’ve added their contacts below.

 

Also, I will be adding a supplemental staff report for this evening’s meeting to address Goal 10.  I’ll
send you a copy shortly.

 

Jamin Kimmell jamin@cascadia-partners.com;

Rachel Cotton rachel@cascadia-partners.com

 

 

Mary Johnson
City Planner

City of Rockaway Beach
(503) 374-1752
276 S Hwy 101 | PO Box 5 | Rockaway Beach, OR 97136

www.corb.us | cityplanner@corb.us  

 

PUBLIC RECORDS LAW DISCLOSURE: Emails are generally public records and therefore subject to public disclosure unless
exempt from disclosure under Oregon Public Records Law. Emails can be sent inadvertently to unintended recipients and contain
confidential or privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient (or authorized to receive for the recipient), please advise by
return email and delete immediately without reading or forwarding to others.

 

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A



 

From: Mathew Hogan from Fair Housing Council of Oregon <mathew.jamesfhco@gmail.com> 
Sent: Thursday, April 17, 2025 9:25 AM
To: City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us>
Subject: RE: PAPA file Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, & 2025-04

Good morning Mary,
I was thing about this amendment, and I was wondering if you could share  who
your consultants are.

Mathew Hogan
Fair Housing Council of Oregon
Phone: (406) 439 0950

 

For the latest on the PAPA Project and our feedback & technical advice
methodology, please read the PAPAs section at our partner website, here.

On Wed, Apr 16, 2025 at 4:00 PM, Mathew Hogan from Fair Housing Council of Oregon
<mathew.jamesfhco@gmail.com> wrote:

Hi Mary, Thank you for the prompt reply. Yes, you will need to cite the HNA and
BLI so that you can find how this will impact housing based on what it says in
those documents. We will need to see more as far as Goal 10 is concerned.
Please see this link for help
https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/UP/Documents/HB_2001_Findings_Guidance.pdf.

Mathew Hogan
Fair Housing Council of Oregon
Phone: (406) 439 0950

 

For the latest on the PAPA Project and our feedback & technical advice
methodology, please read the PAPAs section at our partner website, here.

On Wed, Apr 16, 2025 at 2:06 PM, City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us> wrote:

Hi Matthew,

 

Thanks for reviewing the report.  I had prepared a slightly more detailed version, but our
consultants advised that I should hold off on that until the Council hearing.  I’ve attached it
here and am curious if you think this sufficiently addresses Goal 10?  I didn’t reference the
HNA or BLI, so I’m not sure if it is enough.

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A



 

Thanks for your thoughts.

 

 

Mary Johnson
City Planner

City of Rockaway Beach
(503) 374-1752
276 S Hwy 101 | PO Box 5 | Rockaway Beach, OR 97136

www.corb.us | cityplanner@corb.us  

 

PUBLIC RECORDS LAW DISCLOSURE: Emails are generally public records and therefore subject to public disclosure
unless exempt from disclosure under Oregon Public Records Law. Emails can be sent inadvertently to unintended recipients and
contain confidential or privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient (or authorized to receive for the recipient),
please advise by return email and delete immediately without reading or forwarding to others.

 

 

From: Mathew Hogan from Fair Housing Council of Oregon <mathew.jamesfhco@gmail.com>
Sent: Wednesday, April 16, 2025 2:00 PM
To: City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us>
Subject: RE: PAPA file Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, & 2025-04

Hi Mary,
Thank you for sending the link to the Staff Report. It's a great amendment, I
think the board here would just like to see the section addressing Goal 10 be a
bit more specific.
It currently says that you will address Goal 10 when you implement the
ordinance but it should be addressed at this stage.
How, specifically, will Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, & 2025-04 meet the city's
housing goals? Many cities make reference to Housing Needs Assessment
(HNA) or their Buildable Lands Inventory (BLI).
This may be helpful to you, Findings Guidance. Let me know if I can help in
some way, we would love to submit a positive letter in support of this
amendment for the hearing on 4/17/25.

Powered by HubSpot.

On Tue, Apr 8, 2025 at 10:05 AM, City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us> wrote:

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A



Hi Mathew,

 

The staff report is not yet available.  Please check back on our website this Thursday for all
of the requested documents.  Here’s the link to the page where they will be posted:
Planning Commission – City of Rockaway Beach

 

 

Mary Johnson
City Planner

City of Rockaway Beach
(503) 374-1752
276 S Hwy 101 | PO Box 5 | Rockaway Beach, OR 97136

www.corb.us | cityplanner@corb.us  

 

PUBLIC RECORDS LAW DISCLOSURE: Emails are generally public records and therefore subject to public disclosure
unless exempt from disclosure under Oregon Public Records Law. Emails can be sent inadvertently to unintended recipients
and contain confidential or privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient (or authorized to receive for the
recipient), please advise by return email and delete immediately without reading or forwarding to others.

 

 

From: Mathew Hogan from Fair Housing Council of Oregon
<mathew.jamesfhco@gmail.com> 
Sent: Tuesday, April 8, 2025 9:57 AM
To: City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us>
Subject: PAPA file Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, & 2025-04

Good morning Mary,

My name is Mathew Hogan and I am conducting outreach for the Fair Housing
Council of Oregon (FHCO). I was hoping to obtain the staff report and all
corresponding attachments for Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, & 2025-04 the “Text
changes to the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance and Subdivision
Ordinance to make room for Middle Housing Types in Tillamook County in response
to SB406.“ when available. We will be reviewing the staff report predominantly for
Statewide Planning Goal 10 compliance.

If we do have any commentary or concerns my colleagues and I will be in touch to
advise. We hope this can be a collaborative process. Please confirm receipt of this e-
mail, and I look forward to hearing from you soon.

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A



Very Respectfully,

Mathew Hogan
Fair Housing Council of Oregon
Phone: (503) 928-8597
E-mail: Mathew.JamesFHCO@gmail.com
For the latest on the PAPA Project and our feedback & technical advice methodology, please read the
PAPAs section at our partner website, here.

Powered by HubSpot.

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A



 
 SUBDIVISION AND LAND PARTITION  
 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
[…] 
 
MINOR LAND PARTITION 
 
[…] 
 
Section 42. Proposed Name of Subdivision. 

 
No tentative subdivision plat or subdivision plan or subdivision shall be approved which bears a name approved by 
the County Surveyor or County Assessor, which is the same as similar to or pronounced the same as the name of 
any other subdivision in Tillamook County unless the land platted is contiguous to and platted by the same party that 
platted the subdivision bearing that name, or unless the party files and records the consent of the party that platted 
the contiguous subdivision bearing that name. All subdivision plats must continue the lot numbers and if used, the 
block numbers of the subdivision plat of the same name last filed. 
 
 
MIDDLE HOUSING LAND DIVISIONS 
 
Section 43. Applicability 
 
A middle housing land division applies to partition or subdivision of duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, or cottage 
cluster dwellings and projects within residential zoning districts.  
 
Section 44. Process 
 
(1) Unless an applicant requests that the application be reviewed under the procedures set forth in this Article, a 

middle housing land division shall be processed as provided under ORS 197.360 through ORS 197.380, in-lieu 
of the procedures set forth in this Article.  

 
(2) A middle housing land division application may be submitted when: 

 
(a) The site is developed with middle housing; 

 
(b) The site has an active building permit to construct middle housing; 

 
(c) The application is being reviewed concurrently with a building permit application for construction of middle 

housing; or  

 
(d) The application is being reviewed with a site plan for proposed detached middle housing in compliance with 

Section 45 of this Article. 
 
(3) Completeness Review. The City Recorder, or his or her designee, shall review the application submittal and 

advise the applicant in writing whether the application is complete or incomplete within 21 calendar days after the 
City receives the application submittal. 

 
(a) If the application for a land division is incomplete, the local government shall notify the applicant of exactly 

what information is missing within 21 days of receipt of the application and allow the applicant to submit 
the missing information. For purposes of computation of time under this section, the application shall be 
deemed complete on the date the applicant submits the requested information or refuses in writing to 
submit it. 
 

(b) If the application was complete when first submitted or the applicant submits the additional information within 
180 days of the date the application was first submitted, approval or denial of the application shall be 
based upon the standards and criteria that were in effect at the time the application was first submitted. 

 
 

(4) Notification.  
 
(a) The City Recorder, or his or her designee, shall provide written notice of the receipt of the completed 

application for a Middle Housing Land Division or Expedited Land Division to all of the following: 
 

(i) The applicant and/or authorized representative; 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit B



 
(ii) The owner(s) of record of the subject property; 

 
(iii) Owners of record within 100 feet of the perimeter of the subject property; and 

 
(iv) Any state agency, local government or special district responsible for providing public facilities or 

services to the development. 
 

(b) The notice shall state:  
 

(i) The street address or other easily understood geographical reference to the subject property;  
 

(ii) The place, date and time that comments are due; 
 

(iii) A time and place where copies of all evidence submitted by the applicant will be available for review;  
 

(iv) The applicable criteria for the decision;  
 

(v) The name and telephone number of a local government contact person;  
 

(vi) A brief summary of the local decision-making process for the Middle Housing Land Division;  
 

(vii) The deadline for submitting written comments;  
 

(viii) That issues that may provide the basis for an appeal to the hearings officer must be raised in writing 
prior to the expiration of the comment period; and  

 
(ix) That issues must be raised with sufficient specificity to enable the local government to respond to the 

issue. 
 

(c) After notification according to the procedure set out above, the City Recorder, or his or her designee, shall 
provide a 14-day period for submission of written comments prior to the decision. 
 

Section 45. Submittal Requirements 
 
The following submittal requirements shall apply to a middle housing land division application:  
 
(1) General Information: 

(a) Vicinity map showing all streets, property lines, streams, and other pertinent data to locate the proposal. 

(b) North arrow and scale of drawing. 

(c) Tax map and tax lot number or tax account of the subject property.   

(d) Dimensions and size in square feet or acres of the subject property and of all proposed parcels. 

(2) Existing Conditions 

(a) Location of all existing easements within the property.   

(b) Location of City utilities (water, sewer, and storm drainage) within or adjacent to the property proposed for 
use to serve the development. 

(c) The location and direction of water courses or drainage swales on the subject property.  

(d) Existing use of the property, including location of existing structures with dimensions of the structures and 
distances from property lines.  It shall be noted whether the existing structures are to remain or be 
removed from the property.   

(e) The location, width, and names of all existing streets, flag lot accessways, and public accessways abutting 
the perimeter of the lot; 

(f) Driveway locations, bike paths, transit stops, sidewalks, and other bike and pedestrian pathways, curbs, and 
easements; 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit B



(3) Proposed Site Plan: 

(a) Locations, approximate dimensions and area in square feet of all proposed lots.  All lots shall be numbered 
consecutively; 

(b) Location, width, and purpose of any proposed easements;   

(c) The location, width, and names of all existing streets, flag lot accessways, and public accessways abutting 
the perimeter of the subject property; 

(d) The location and use of all buildings and accessory structures that will be located on each proposed lot, 
indicating the distance of such buildings and accessory structures to proposed lot lines and to adjacent 
structures on abutting lots; 

(e) The location, dimensions, and use of all existing and proposed public areas, including, but not limited to, 
stormwater management facilities and detention facilities; 

(f) Landscaping plan indicating location of existing vegetation and proposed improvements.  

(g) Statement of improvements to be made or installed including streets, sidewalks, bikeways, trails, lighting, 
tree planting, landscaping, and time such improvements are to be made or completed. 

(h) Written statement outlining proposals for ownership and maintenance of all open space areas and any 
commonly owned facilities. 

(4) Proposed Site Plan for Detached Middle Housing. Middle housing land division applications being reviewed with 
a site plan for proposed detached middle housing under subsection 44(2)(d) must include the following to identify 
the buildable area for each resulting lot or parcel: 

(a) Existing and proposed easements. 

(b) Percent of lot coverage allocated for each child lot or parcels. 

(c) Setback dimensions for all existing and proposed buildings. 

Section 46. Decision Criteria 
 
The tentative plan of a middle housing land division shall be approved if all of the following criteria are met: 

 
(1) The middle housing land division is for an existing or proposed middle housing development. 
 
(2) The existing or proposed middle housing development will comply with the applicable provisions of the Building 

Code and the Oregon residential specialty code, as those standards apply to the buildings and accessory 
structures on the proposed lots subsequent to division. 

 
(3) The tentative plan results in exactly one dwelling unit on each proposed lot, except for lots or tracts used as 

common areas. 
 

(4) Separate utilities are provided for each dwelling unit. 
 

(5) All access and utility easements necessary to serve each dwelling unit are provided on the tentative plan for: 
 

(a) Locating, accessing, servicing, and replacing all utilities 
(b) Pedestrian access from the primary entrance of each dwelling unit to a public or private street; 
(c) Any driveways or off-street parking;  
(d) Any common use areas or shared building elements; and 
(e) Any common area. 
 

(6) The type of middle housing on the existing lot is not altered by the proposed middle housing land division. 
 

 
Section 47. Decision. 
 
The City Recorder, or his or her designee, shall make a decision to approve or deny the application within 63 days of 
receiving a completed application, based on whether it satisfies the applicable requirements of This Article.  
 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit B



(1) Approval may include conditions to ensure that the application meets the applicable regulations.  
 

(2) For Middle Housing Land Division applications, the City Recorder, or his or her designee:  

(a) Shall not hold a hearing on the application; and  

(b) Shall issue a written determination of compliance or noncompliance with applicable land use regulations that 
includes a summary statement explaining the determination. 

(3) The decision shall include a statement of the facts upon which the decision authority relied to determine whether 
the application satisfied or failed to satisfy each applicable approval criteria.  

(4) Notice of the decision shall be provided to the applicant and to those who received notice under subsection 44(4) 
within 63 days of the date of a completed application. The notice of decision shall include:  

(a) The summary statement included with the written decision; and  

(b) An explanation of appeal rights under ORS 197.375 (Appeal of decision on application for expedited land 
division).  

 
Section 48. Conditions of Approval. 
 
Conditions may not be placed on the approval of a middle housing land division except to: 
 
(1) Prohibit further division of the resulting lots; 

(2) Prohibit the construction of an accessory dwelling unit on any of the resulting lots; 

(3) Require dedication of right-of-way when an existing street abutting the property does not conform to the 
requirements of city standards; 

(4) Require boundary street improvements when an existing street abutting the property does not conform to the 
requirements of city standards; and 

(5) Require a notation on the final plat indicating that the approval of the land division was given under ORS 
92.031. 

 
Section 49. Process for Final Plat Approval 

 
(1) A final plat shall be submitted to the City Recorder.  After the final plat has been submitted, the City Staff shall 

review and compare it with the approved tentative plat to ascertain whether the final plat conforms substantially 
to the approved tentative plat and with such conditions of approval as may have been imposed.   

(2) No final plat shall be approved unless: 

(a) The plat is in substantial conformance with this Ordinance and the provisions of the tentative plat as 
approved, including any conditions imposed in connection therewith;  

(b) The plat contains land free and clear of all liens and encumbrances. All dedications to the public of all public 
improvements, including but not limited to streets, roads, sewage disposal and water supply systems, the 
donation of which is required by this Ordinance or was made a condition of the approval of the tentative plat; 

(c)  Any common areas or improvements to be held jointly by the future owners of the lots or by a Homeowners 
Association are indicated on the plat with the appropriate references to the structure of ownership. Any 
bylaws or agreements subject to approval by the City will be approved before the City Recorder signs the 
plat.  

(d) The City received adequate assurances that the applicant has agreed to make all public improvements 
which are required as conditions of approval of the tentative plan, including but not limited to streets, alleys, 
pedestrian ways, storm drainage, sewer, and water systems. The provisions for providing adequate 
assurance are subject to the Public Works Department and City Engineer requirements.  

(e) A notice in the form of a restrictive covenant must be recorded with the County which states: 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit B



i) The middle housing lot or parcel cannot be further divided. 

ii) No more than one dwelling unit of middle housing can be developed on each middle housing lot. 

iii) Accessory dwelling units are not permitted. 

iv) The dwelling developed on the middle housing lot or parcel is a unit of middle housing and is not an 
attached or detached dwelling unit or any other housing type. 

(f) If the middle housing land division application is being reviewed with a site plan for proposed detached 
middle housing, the covenant described in subsection (2)(e) of this section must limit the buildable area for 
each resulting lot or parcel in compliance with the site plan submitted. 

(3) If the City Recorder finds that conditions specified in subsection (2) of this section have not been met, the 
applicant shall be advised of the changes that must be made and afforded the opportunity to comply.  Rejection 
of a final plat shall not affect the tentative plan approval.   

(4) When the City Recorder finds that the final plat is in substantial conformity to the approved tentative plan and is 
otherwise in lawful form, and is approved by the City Engineer, the City Recorder shall sign and date the final 
plat. 

(5) Following endorsement of the plat by the City Recorder and the City Engineer, the applicant shall submit the 
plats to the Tillamook County Surveyor for final review and compliance with applicable state and county 
regulations.   

(6) Effective Date for Final Plat Approval.  The approval process for a development shall become final upon the 
recording of the approved final plat with the County, together with any required documents.  A copy of the 
recorded plat and documents shall be submitted to the City.  Approved final plats shall become void one year 
after final City approval if they are not recorded.  

(7) A middle housing land division tentative plan is void if and only if a final plat is not approved within 3 years of the 
tentative approval. 

Section 50. Appeals 
 
Any appeal of a middle housing land division must be as provided in ORS 197.375.   

 
 

 
IMPROVEMENTS 

 
[Renumber remaining sections] 

 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit B



Subdivision & Land Partitioning Ordinance Amended June 11, 2025 Page 1 of 27 

 
 SUBDIVISION AND LAND PARTITION  

 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
Section 1. TITLE. This ordinance shall be known as the 'Subdivision and Land Partitioning Ordinance' of the City of 
Rockaway Beach, Oregon. 

 
Section 2. PURPOSE. The purpose of this ordinance is to enact subdivision and land partitioning regulations for the 
City which will provide for better living conditions within new land divisions; assure necessary streets, open space, 
utilities and public areas and provide for their installation or improvement; enhance and secure property values in 
land divisions and adjacent land; simplify and make land descriptions more certain and in general to promote the 
health, safety, convenience and general welfare of the people of Rockaway Beach. 

 
Section 3. COMPLIANCE REQUIRED. 

 
1. No person shall sell any lot in any subdivision or convey any interest in a parcel in any partition until the plat of the 
subdivision or partition has been acknowledged and recorded with the recording officer of Tillamook County. 

 
2. No person shall sell any lot in any subdivision or convey any interest in a parcel in any partition by reference to or 
exhibition or other use of a plat of such subdivision or partition before the plat for such subdivision or partition has 
been so recorded. In negotiating to sell a lot in a subdivision or convey any interest in a parcel in any partition under 
ORS 92.016(1) and (2), a person may use the approved tentative plan for such subdivision or partition. 

 
Section 4. DEFINITIONS. 

 
As used in this ordinance, unless the context otherwise requires, the following words and phrases shall mean: 

 
(1) Building Line: A line on a plat or map indicating the limit beyond which buildings or structures may not be 
erected. 

 
(2) City: The City of Rockaway Beach, a municipal corporation of the State of Oregon, where the provision involves 
a duty owed the City in either its governmental or its corporate capacity; otherwise, that officer, department or agency 
of the City indicated by the context, or where the context does not clearly indicate a specific officer, department or 
agency, then the City Recorder of said City. 

 
(3) City Recorder: The duly appointed administrative officer of the City of Rockaway Beach or a person designated 
by the City Council to fulfill his obligations as set forth in this ordinance. 

 
(4) City Engineer: The duly appointed Engineer of the City of Rockaway Beach. 

 
(5) Easement: A grant of the right to use a strip of land for specific purposes. 

 
(6) Lot: A unit of land that is created by a subdivision of land. 

 
(a) Reversed Corner Lot: A corner lot the side street line of which is substantially a continuation of the front lot line 

of the first lot to its rear. 

 
(b) Through Lot: A lot having frontage on two parallel or approximately parallel streets other than an alley. 

 
(7) Map: A final diagram, drawing or other writing concerning a major or minor partition. 

 
(8) ORS: Oregon Revised Statutes - (State Law) 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit C



Subdivision & Land Partitioning Ordinance Amended June 11, 2025 Page 2 of 27 

(9) Parcel: A unit of land that is created by a partitioning of land. 

 
(10) Partition: Either an act of partitioning land or an area or tract of land partitioned as defined in this Section. 

 
(a) Major Partition: A partition which includes the creation of a street. 

 
(b) Minor Partition: A partition that does not include the creation of a street. 

 
(11) Partition Land: To divide land into two or three parcels of land within a calendar year, but does not include: 

 
(a) A division of land resulting from a lien foreclosure, foreclosure of a recorded contract for the sale of real 

property or the creation of cemetery lots. 

 
(b) An adjustment of a property line by the relocation of a common boundary where an additional unit of land is 

not created and where the existing unit of land reduced in size by the adjustment complies with any applicable zoning 
ordinance requirement. 

 
(c) A sale or grant by a person to a public agency or public body for State highway, County road, City street or 

other right of purposes provided such road or right-of-way conforms with the Comprehensive Plan and ORS 
215.213(2)(g) to (s) and ORS 215.283(2)(p) to (r). 

 
(12) Partition Plat. A final map and other writing containing all the descriptions, locations, specification, provisions 
and information concerning a major or minor partition. 

 
(13) Pedestrian Way: A right-of-way for pedestrian traffic. 

 
(14) Person: A natural person, firm, partnership, association, social or fraternal organization, corporation, trust, 
estate, receiver, syndicate, branch of government, or any group or combination acting as a unit. 

 
(15) Planning Commission: The City Planning and Zoning Commission of the City. 

 
(16) Plat: A final subdivision plat, replat or partition plat. 

 
(17) Replat: A final map of the reconfiguration of lots and easements of a recorded subdivision or partition plat and 
other writings containing all the description, locations, specifications, dedications, and provisions and information 
concerning a recorded subdivision. 

 
(18) Right-of-Way: The area between the boundary lines of a street or other easement. 

 
(19) Roadway: The portion of a street right-of-way developed for vehicular traffic. 

 
(20) Sidewalk: A pedestrian walkway with rock or paved surfacing. 

 
(21) Street: A public or private way being the entire width from lot line to lot line that is created to provide ingress or 
egress for persons to one or more lots, parcels, areas or tracts of land and including the term 'road', 'highway', 'lane', 
'avenue', 'alley' or similar designations. 

 
(a) Alley: A narrow street through a block which affords only secondary means of access to abutting property at 

the rear or sides thereof. 

 
(b) Arterial: A street of considerable continuity which is primarily a traffic artery for intercommunication among 

large areas 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit C



Subdivision & Land Partitioning Ordinance Amended June 11, 2025 Page 3 of 27 

(c) Collector: A street supplementary to the arterial street system and a means of intercommunication between 
this system and smaller area; used to some extent for through traffic and to some extent for access to abutting 
properties. 

 
(d) Cul-de-sac: (Dead End Street) A short street having one end open to traffic and being terminated by a 

vehicle turnaround. 

 
(e) Half street: The dedication of a portion only of the width of a street, usually along the edge of a subdivision, 

where the remaining portion of a street has been or could be dedicated in another subdivision. 

 
(f) Marginal access street: A minor street parallel and adjacent to a major arterial street, providing access to 

abutting properties, but protected from through traffic. 

 
(g) Minor street: A street intended primarily for access to abutting properties. 

 
(22) Subdivide Land: To divide an area or tract of land into four or more lots within a calendar year. 

 
(23) Subdivision: Either an act of subdividing land or an area or tract of land subdivided as defined in this section. 

 
(24) Subdivision Plat: A final map and other writing containing all the descriptions, locations, specifications, 
dedications, provisions and information concerning a subdivision. 

 
Section 5. PROCEDURE FOR REVIEW. 

 
(1) Prior to the filing of a tentative plan, a subdivider shall submit to the City Recorder plans and other information 

concerning a proposed or contemplated development. The City Recorder shall then, within thirty-five (35) days, 
schedule a conference with the subdivider, City Engineer, and City Planner on such plans and other data, and make 
recommendations to the subdivider as shall seem proper regarding such plans or other data, and shall recommend 
consultation by the subdivider with other public or private agencies as may be disclosed by the plans to be 
interested. This subdivision conference is an optional procedure which may be elected by the subdivider and is not 
required by this ordinance. 

 
(2) The applicant shall submit ten (10) copies of a tentative plan, a completed application form and a fee as 

required by Section 57. The tentative plan shall follow the format outlined in Sections 6 and 7. 

 
(3) The City shall review the submitted tentative plan to determine whether the application is complete. If the 

application is complete, a public hearing before the Planning Commission shall be scheduled. If the application is 
incomplete, the applicant will be informed of the additional information that is required. Upon submission of that 
information, a public hearing will be scheduled. 

 
(4) Public notice shall be mailed to property owners within 200 feet of the boundary of the proposed subdivision. 

The content of the public notice shall be in accordance with Section 11.040(1) of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 
(5) The City Recorder shall transmit one (1) copy of the tentative subdivision plan to the City Engineer, all affected 

special districts and any county, state or federal agency that may have an interest in the proposed subdivision. 
Written comments will be incorporated into the record of the public hearing. 

 
(6) The City Recorder shall notify the subdivider of the requirement to file a statement of water rights and if a 

water rights is appurtenant, a copy of the acknowledgment from the Water Resources Department must be attached 
before the county recording officer may accept the plat of the subdivision for recording pursuant to ORS 92.120. 

 
(7) The Planning Commission shall hold a public hearing on the tentative subdivision plan in accordance with 

Section 11.060 of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 
(8) The Planning Commission shall make a decision on the tentative subdivision plan in accordance with Section 

11.060 of the Zoning Ordinance. 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit C



Subdivision & Land Partitioning Ordinance Amended June 11, 2025 Page 4 of 27 

(9) A decision of the Planning Commission may be appealed to the City Council in accordance with Section 
11.070 of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 
(10) The tentative subdivision plan approval shall be binding on the City and the subdivider for the purpose of 

preparing a final plat, provided that there are no changes of the plat of the subdivision and that it complies with all 
conditions set forth by the city in its tentative subdivision plan approval. 

 
(11) The tentative subdivision plan shall be valid for one year from the date of its approval. The Planning 

Commission, upon written request by the applicant, may grant an extension of the tentative subdivision plan approval 
for a period of one year. In granting an extension, the Planning Commission shall make a written finding that the 
facts upon which the approval was based have not changed to an extent sufficient to warrant refiling of the tentative 
plan. 

 
(12) Any final subdivision not submitted prior to the expiration of the tentative subdivision plan approval shall be 

considered void. 

 
Section 6. TENTATIVE PLAN SCALE Tentative plans shall be to a scale of one inch equals 50 feet or better except 
tracts over 10 acres which may be to a scale of one inch equals 100 feet, and shall be clearly and legibly produced. 

 
Section 7. INFORMATION ON TENTATIVE PLAN 

 
(1) Proposed name, date, northpoint and scale of drawing. 

 
(2) Location of the subdivision sufficient to define its location and boundaries and a legal description of the tract 

boundaries. 

 
(3) Name and address of the subdivider. 

 
(4) Appropriate identification of the drawing as a tentative plan. 

 
(5) Name, business address, and number of the registered engineer or licensed surveyor who prepared the plan 

of the proposed subdivision. 

 
(6) The locations, names, widths, approximate radii of curves and grades of all existing and proposed streets and 

easements in the proposed subdivision and along the boundaries thereof, and the names of adjoining platted 
subdivisions and portions of the subdivisions as shall be necessary to show the alignment of streets and alleys 
therein with the streets and alleys in the proposed subdivision. 

 

(7) Names of the record owners of all contiguous land. 

 
(8) The approximate location and character of all existing and proposed easements and public utility facilities 

except water and sewer lines in the subdivision or adjacent thereto. 

 
(9) The location and approximate dimensions of each lot and each to be numbered. 

 
(10) Setback lines, if any, proposed by the subdivider. 

 
(11) The outline of any existing buildings and their use showing those which will remain. 

 
(12) Contour lines where the data is made available by the city. 

 
(13) The location of at least one temporary bench mark within the subdivision boundaries. 

 
(14) City limit or Urban Growth Boundary lines crossing or bounding the subdivision. 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit C



Subdivision & Land Partitioning Ordinance Amended June 11, 2025 Page 5 of 27 

(15) Approximate location of all areas subject to inundation or storm water overflow and the location, width, high 
water elevation flood flow and direction of flow of all watercourses. 

 
(16) Any area proposed to be cut or filled or otherwise graded or protected from flooding. 

 
(17) If impractical to show on the preliminary plat, a key map showing the location of the tract in relationship to 

section and township lines and to adjacent property and major physical features such as streets, railroads and 
watercourses. 

 
(18) Streets to be held for private use shall be so indicated and all reservations or restrictions relating to such 

private streets shall be fully described. 

 
Section 8. PARTIAL DEVELOPMENT If the subdivision proposal pertains to only part of the tract owned or 
controlled by a subdivider, the Planning Commission may require a sketch of a tentative layout for streets in the 
unsubdivided portion. 

 
Section 9. INFORMATION IN STATEMENT The statement to accompany the tentative plan shall contain the 
following information: 

 
(1) A general explanation of the improvements and public utilities, including water supply and sewage disposal 

proposed to be installed. 

 
(2) Deviations from subdivision ordinance, if any. 

 
(3) Public areas proposed, if any. 

 
(4) A preliminary draft of restrictive covenants proposed, if any. 

 
Section 10. Supplemental Proposals With Tentative Plan Any of the following may be required to the Planning 
Commission to supplement the plan of a subdivision. 

 
(1) Approximate center line profiles with extensions for a reasonable distance beyond the limits of the proposed 

subdivision showing the finished grade of streets and the nature and extent of street construction. 

 
(2) A plan for domestic water supply lines and related water service facilities. 

 
(3) Proposals for sewage disposal, storm water drainage and flood control, including profiles of proposed 

drainageways. 

 
(4) If lot areas are to be graded, a plan showing the nature of the cuts and fills and information on the character of 

the soil. 

 
(5) Proposals for other improvements such as electric utilities and sidewalks. 

 
(6) Site investigations as required by the Hazards Overlay Zone provisions of the Zoning Ordinance. Where such 

an investigation indicates the potential for erosion, an erosion control plan shall also be submitted. 

 
(7) If an area is to be graded, a plan showing the nature of the cuts and fills and evidence provided in a site 

investigation that such a grading will be stable. 

 
SUBDIVISION, FINAL PLAT 

 
Section 11. Procedure For Review 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit C



Subdivision & Land Partitioning Ordinance Amended June 11, 2025 Page 6 of 27 

(1) Within one (1) year after approval of the preliminary plat, or such extension as may have been granted by the 
City, the subdivider shall cause the proposed subdivision, or any part thereof to be surveyed and a plat thereof 
prepared in conformance with the preliminary plat as approved or conditionally approved. 

 
An original reproducible drawing and five (5) blueline or blackline prints of the plat shall be submitted to the 

City. The tracing and prints are in addition to those required by Oregon Statutes. 

 
The final plat shall conform to the requirements of Section 12 - 15. 

 
No subdivider shall submit a plat of a subdivision for record, until all the requirements of ORS 209.250 and the 

plat requirements of the subdivision have been met. 

 
(2) The City Recorder shall forward a copy of the plat and other data submitted to the City Engineer who shall 

examine it to determine that the subdivision as shown is substantially the same as it appeared on the tentative plan, 
as approved; that all provisions of the law and this ordinance applicable at the time of approval of the tentative plan 
have been complied with; and that the plan is technically correct. 

 
The City Engineer may make checks in the field as he may desire to verify that the map is sufficiently correct 

on the ground and he may enter the property for this purpose. 

 
If the City Engineer determines that full conformity has not been made, the City shall advise the subdivider of 

the changes or additions that must be made for these purposes, and shall afford the subdivider an opportunity to 
make the changes or additions. If the City Engineer determines that full conformity has been made, he shall so 
certify on the plat and shall transmit the plat to the City for further review. 

 
(3) The Planning Commission shall review the final plat to determine that it conforms with the preliminary plat and 

with changes permitted and all requirements imposed as a condition of its acceptance. 

 
If the Planning Commission determines that the plat submitted does not conform to the tentative plan or applicable 

conditions, the subdivider shall be afforded an opportunity to make corrections. 

 
(4) Prior to the approval of the final plat by the Planning Commission, the subdivider shall complete improvements 

as proposed or enter into an agreement for improvements together with a bond, pursuant to the provisions of 
Sections 21 & 22. 

 
(5) If the final plat conforms to the preliminary plat and applicable conditions have been met, the Chairman of the 

Planning Commission shall sign and date the final plat. 

 
(6) The applicant shall deliver the final plat to the County Surveyor for review according to the requirements of 

ORS 92. Approval of the plat shall be null and void if the plat is not recorded within 90 days after the date the last 
required approving signature has been obtained. 

 
(7) The subdivision is considered complete after the final plat is recorded by the County Clerk. 

 
(8) The County Surveyor shall furnish the City with a copy of the recorded plat. 

 
Section 12. FORM OF PLAT. 

 
(1) The subdivision plat shall be prepared in accordance with the requirements of Section 54, State laws, 

including but not limited to ORS 92.080 and ORS 92.120. 

 
(2) The format of the plat shall be as follows 

 
Permanent black india type ink or silver halide permanent photocopy, upon material that is 18 inches by 24 inches 

in size with an additional three inch binding edge on the left side when required by the County Clerk or the County 
Surveyor, that is suitable for binding and copying purposes, and that has such characteristics of strength and 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit C



Subdivision & Land Partitioning Ordinance Amended June 11, 2025 Page 7 of 27 

permanency as may be required by the County Surveyor. The subdivision or partition plat shall be of such a scale as 
required by the County Surveyor. The lettering of the approvals, the dedication, the affidavit of the surveyor, and all 
other information shall be of such a size or type as will be clearly legible, but no part shall come nearer any edge of 
the sheet than one (1) inch. The subdivision plat may be placed on as many sheets as necessary, but a face sheet 
and index page shall be included for subdivision plats upon three or more sheets. 

 
(3) The plat shall contain the information is contained in Section 13, 14 & 15. 

 
Section 13. Information on Final Plat 

 
(1) The name of the subdivision, the date the plat was prepared, the scale, northpoint, legend and existing 

features such as highways and railroads. 

 
(2) Legal description of the subdivision boundaries. 

 
(3) Reference and bearings, to adjoining surveys. 

 
(4) The locations and descriptions of all monuments found or set shall be carefully recorded upon all plats and the 

proper courses and distances of all boundary lines shall be shown. 

 
(5) Exact location and width of streets and easements intersecting the boundary of the subdivision. 

 
(6) Subdivision block and lot boundary lines. 

 
Numbering of lots and blocks, as follows: 

 
a. Lot numbers beginning with the number '1' and numbered consecutively in each block. Number sequence 

to generally follow the same system as sections are numbered in a township 

 
b. Block numbers beginning with the number '1' and continuing consecutively without omission or duplication 

throughout the subdivision only when the subdivision is a continued phase of a previously recorded subdivision 
bearing the same name that previously used block numbers or letters. The numbers shall be solid, of sufficient size 
and thickness to stand out and so placed not to obliterate any figure, block and lot numbers, in addition to a 
subdivision of the same name, shall be a continuation of the numbering in the original subdivision. 

 
(7) Acreage of each parcel. 

 
(8) Street right-or-way center lines with dimensions to the nearest 1/100th of a foot, bearings or deflection angles, 

radii, arc, points of curvature, chord bearings and distances, and tangent bearings. Subdivision boundaries, lot 
boundaries, and street bearings shall be shown to the nearest 30 seconds. 

 
(9) The name and width of the streets being dedicated, the width of any existing right-of-way, and the width on 

each side of the center line. For streets on curvature, curve data shall be based on the street center line. In addition 
to the center line dimensions, the radius and central angle shall be indicated. 

 
(10) Easements denoted by fine dotted lines, clearly identified and, if already of record, their recorded reference. 

If an easement is not of record, there shall be written statement of the easement. The width of the easement, its 
length and bearing, and sufficient ties to locate the easement with respect to the subdivision must be shown. If the 
easement is being dedicated by the map, it shall be properly referenced in the owner's certificate of dedication. 

 
(11) Locations and widths of drainage channels, railroad rights-of-way, reserve strips at the end of stubbed streets 

or along the edge of partial width streets on the boundary of the subdivision. 

 
(12) Parcels to be dedicated shall be distinguished from lots intended for sale with acreage and alphabetical 

symbols for each parcel indicate. 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit C



Subdivision & Land Partitioning Ordinance Amended June 11, 2025 Page 8 of 27 

(13) Any conditions specified by the Planning Commission upon granting preliminary approval. 

 
(14) A statement of water rights noted on the subdivision plat. 

 
Section 14. Certification The following certificates shall appear on the plat as submitted. The certificates may be 
combined where appropriate. 

 
(1) A certificate signed and acknowledged by all parties having any record title interest in the land subdivided, 

consenting to the preparation and recordation of the plat. 

 
(2) A certificate signed and acknowledged as above, offering for dedication all parcels of land shown on the final 

plat and intended for any public use except those parcels other than streets, which are intended for the exclusive use 
of the lot owners in the subdivision, their licensees, visitors, tenants and servants. 

 
(3) A certificate signed and acknowledged by the engineer or surveyor responsible for the survey and plat, the 

signature of such engineer or surveyor, to be accompanied by his seal. 

 
(4) Provisions for additional certificates and acknowledgments required by law. 

 
Section 15. SUPPLEMENTAL DATA At the time of the submission of the final plat, the subdivider shall also submit 
to the City the following: 

 
(1) A preliminary title report issued by a recognized title insurance company in the name of the owner of the land, 

showing all parties whose consent is necessary and their interest in the premises. 

 
(2) Sheets and drawings showing the following: 

 
(a) Traverse data including the coordinates of the boundary of the subdivision and ties to section corners, 

donation land claim corners, if any, or triangulation systems, and showing the error of closure, if any. 

 
(b) The computation of all distances, angles and courses shown on the final plat. 

 
(c) Ties to existing monuments, proposed monuments, adjacent subdivisions, street corners, and State 

highway stationing. 

 
(d) Coordinates of all block corners and all street center points. 

 
(3) A copy of any deed restrictions applicable to the subdivision. 

 
(4) A list of all taxes and assessments on the tract which have become a lien on the tract. 

 
(5) A copy of the acknowledgment from the State Water Resources Dept. under ORS 97.122, if the person 

offering the subdivision or partition plat for filing indicates on the statement of water rights that a water right is 
appurtenant to the subdivision. 

 
Section 16. AGREEMENT FOR IMPROVEMENTS Before City Council's approval of a final plat, the subdivider shall 
either install required improvements and repair existing streets and other public facilities damaged in the development 
of the property or execute and record an agreement between himself and the City, specifying the period within which 
required improvements and repairs shall be completed and providing that, if the work is not completed within the 
period specified, the City may complete the work and recover the full cost and expense, together with court costs and 
attorney fees necessary to collect said amounts from the land divider. The agreement shall also provide for 
reimbursement to the City for the cost of inspection by the City of the improvements to be installed. The agreement 
may also provide for the construction of the improvements in units and for an extension of time under conditions 
therein specified. 

 
Section 17. Bond. 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit C



Subdivision & Land Partitioning Ordinance Amended June 11, 2025 Page 9 of 27 

(1) The subdivider shall file with the agreement to assure his full and faithful performance thereof, one of the 
following: 

 
(a) A personal bond cosigned by at least one additional person who shall not be related to the subdivider by 

blood, marriage or other legal arrangement. The subdivider and cosigner shall submit evidence of financial 
responsibility and the financial resources of those signing the bond to provide reasonable assurance of the ability of 
the subdivider to proceed in accordance with the agreement. 

 
(b) A surety bond executed by a surety company authorized to transact business in the State of Oregon. 

 
(c) Cash. 

 
(2) The assurance of full and faithful performance shall be for a sum approved by the Public Works Director 

sufficient to cover the cost of the improvements, engineering, inspection and incidental expenses, and to cover 
replacement and repair of existing streets and other public improvements damaged in the development of the 
subdivision and must be approved by the City Attorney as to form. 

 
(3) In the event the subdivider fails to complete all improvement work in accordance with the provisions of this 

ordinance, and the City has to complete same, or if the subdivider fails to reimburse the City for the cost of 
inspection, engineering and incidental expenses, and to cover cost of replacement and repair of existing streets or 
other improvements damaged in the development of the subdivision, the City shall call on the surety for 
reimbursement, or shall appropriate from any cash deposit funds for reimbursements. In any such case, if the 
amount of surety bond or cash deposit exceeds all cost and expense incurred by the City, it shall release the 
remainder of the bond or cash deposit, and if the amount of the surety bond or cash deposit is less than the cost and 
expense incurred by the City, the subdivider shall be liable to the City for the difference. 

 
MAJOR LAND PARTITION 

 
(Includes Creation of a Street) 

 
Section 18. MINIMUM STANDARDS. The minimum standards for design and improvements in a major land 
partitioning shall conform to Sections 32-42 & 51-53. The Planning Commission may approve the creation of a street 
to be established by deed without full compliance with the regulations applicable to subdivisions provided any of the 
following conditions exists: 

 
(1) The establishment of the public street is initiated by the City Council or Board of County Commissioners and is 

declared essential for the purpose of general traffic circulation, and the partitioning of land is an incidental effect 
rather than the primary objective of the street. 

 
(2) The tract in which the street is to be dedicated is a major partition within a solitary ownership situation either of 

not over one acre or of such size and characteristics for more than three dwelling units. 

 
(3) The street is the only reasonable method by which the rear portion of an extraordinarily deep land parcel of a 

size to warrant partitioning into not over two parcels may be provided with access. 

 
Section 19. PROCEDURE FOR REVIEW. The minimum standards for design and improvements in a major land 
partitioning shall conform to Sections 32-42 & 51-53. The Planning Commission may approve the creation of a street 
to be established by deed without full compliance with the regulations applicable to subdivisions provided any of the 
following conditions exists: 

 
(1) The applicant shall submit ten copies of a tentative partition plan, a completed application form and the fee 

required by Section 57. The tentative partition plan shall follow the format outlined in Section 20 & 21. 

 
(2) The City shall review the submitted tentative partition plan to determine whether the application is complete. If 

the application is complete, a public hearing before the Planning Commission shall be scheduled. If the application is 
incomplete, the applicant will be informed of the additional information that is required. Upon submission of the 
information, a public hearing shall be scheduled. 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit C



Subdivision & Land Partitioning Ordinance Amended June 11, 2025 Page 10 of 27 

(3) Public notice shall be mailed to property owners within 200 feet of the boundary of the proposed partition. The 
content of the public notice shall be in accordance with Section 11.040(1) of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 
(4) The City Recorder may transmit one copy of the tentative partition plan to the City Engineer, and affected 

special districts and any county, state or federal agency that may have an interest in the proposed partition. Written 
comments will be incorporated into the record of the public hearing. 

 
(5) The City Recorder shall notify the partitioner of the requirement to file a statement of water right and if a water 

right is appurtenant, a copy of the acknowledgment from the Water Resources Department must be attached before 
the county recording officer may accept the plat of the subdivision for the recording pursuant to ORS 92.120. 

 
(6) The Planning Commission shall hold a public hearing on the tentative partition in accordance with Section 

11.060 of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 
(7) The Planning Commission shall make a decision on the tentative partition in accordance with Section 11.060 

of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 
(8) A decision of the Planning Commission may be appealed to the City Council in accordance with Section 

11.070 of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 
(9) The tentative partition plan approval shall be binding on the City and the partitioner for the purpose of 

preparing a final partition plat, provided that there are no changes of the plan of the partition and that it complies with 
all conditions set forth by the City in its tentative partition plan approval. 

 
(10) Any final partition not submitted prior to the expiration of the tentative plan approval shall be considered valid. 

 
The tentative partition plan shall be valid for one year from the date of its approval. The Planning Commission, 

upon written request by the applicant may grant an extension of the tentative plan approval for a period of one year. 
In granting an extension, the Planning Commission shall make a written finding that the facts upon which the 
approval was based have not changed to an extent sufficient to warrant refiling of the tentative plan. 

 
(11) The applicant shall submit a final partition plat prior to the expiration of the tentative partition plan approval. 

 
(12) The final partition plat shall conform to the information requirements of Section 25. The Planning Commission 

shall review the final partition plat to determine that it conforms with the tentative plan and any applicable conditions. 
The Planning Commission may request that the City Engineer review the final partition plat in conformance with 
Section 11(2). 

 
If the Planning Commission determines that the partition plat submitted does not conform to the tentative plan 

or applicable conditions, the applicant shall be afforded an opportunity to make corrections. 

 
(13) Prior to the approval of the final partition plat, the applicant shall complete improvements as proposed or 

enter into an agreement for improvements together with a bond, pursuant to the provisions of Section 21 and 22. 

 
(14) If the final plat conforms to the tentative plan and applicable conditions, the Chair of the Planning Commission 

shall sign and date the final plat. 

 
(15) The applicant shall deliver the final plat to the County Surveyor for review and recording according to the 

requirements of ORS 92. Approval of the final plat shall be null and void if the plat is not recorded within 90 days 
after the date the last required approving signature has been obtained. 

 
(16) The major partition is considered complete after the final plat is recorded by the County Clerk. 

 
(17) The County Surveyor shall furnish the City with a copy of the recorded plat. 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit C



Subdivision & Land Partitioning Ordinance Amended June 11, 2025 Page 11 of 27 

Section 20. SCALE. The preliminary plat map shall be drawn on a tracing 18 inches by 24 inches or an even 
multiple thereof at a scale of one (1) inch equals 50 feet or, for areas over 10 acres, one (1) inch equals 100 feet. 

 
Section 21. INFORMATION ON TENTATIVE PARTITION PLAN. 

 
(1) The date, northpoint, and scale of the drawing. 

 
(2) Names and addresses of the owner, partitioners, engineer and or surveyor employed in the preparation of the 

plan. 

 
(3) The amount of acreage in the original parcel and the acreage of the resulting parcels, and dimensions of all 

parcels. 

 
(4) The location, names and widths of all streets and easements adjacent to and within the parcel to be 

partitioned. 

 
(5) The existing use or uses of the property, including locations of all structures on the property. 

 
(6) The width and location of all proposed easements for drainage or public purposes. 

 
(7) Approximate location of physical features such as wetlands and streams on the property, when required by 

the City Recorder. 

 
(8) Location, name, width, approximate radius of curves and grade of all proposed streets, the relationship of 

such streets to any projected or existing streets adjoining the proposed partition. 

 
Section 22. TENTATIVE PARTITION PLAN SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS, SUPPLEMENTAL DATA 

 
Any of the following may be required by the City to supplement the tentative partition plan of a major partition. 

 
(1) Contour lines at two (2) foot contour intervals. 

 
(2) Approximate center line profiles with extensions for a reasonable distance beyond the limits of the proposed 

major partition showing the finished grade of streets and the nature and extent of street construction. 

 
(3) Site investigations as required by the Hazards Overlay Zone provisions of the Zoning Ordinance. Where such 

an investigation indicates the potential for erosion and erosion control plan shall also be submitted. 

 
If the area is to be graded, a plan showing the nature of cuts and fills and evidence provided in a site 

investigation that such grading will be stable. 

 
Section 23. MAJOR LAND PARTITION, FINAL PLAT - PROCEDURE FOR REVIEW. 

 
(1) Within one year after approval of the preliminary plat, or such extension as may have been granted by the 

City, the partitioner shall cause the proposed partition to be surveyed and a plat thereof prepared in conformance with 
the preliminary plat as approved or conditionally approved. 

 
An original reproducible drawing and five (5) blueline or blackline prints of the plat shall be submitted to the 

City. The tracing and prints are in addition to those required by Oregon Statutes. 

 
The final plat shall conform to the requirements of Sections 24, 25 and 26. 

 
No partitioner shall submit a plat of a partition for record, until all requirements of ORS 209.250 and the plat 

requirements of the partition have been met 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit C



Subdivision & Land Partitioning Ordinance Amended June 11, 2025 Page 12 of 27 

(2) The City Recorder shall forward a copy of the plat and other data to the City Engineer, who shall examine it to 
determine that the partition as shown is substantially the same as it appeared on the preliminary plat, as approved; 
that all provisions of the law and this ordinance applicable at the time of approval of the preliminary plat have been 
complied with; and that the plan is technically correct. 

 
The City Engineer may make checks in the field as he may desire to verify that the map is sufficiently correct 

on the ground and he may enter the property for this purpose. 

 
If the City Engineer determines that full conformity has not been made, the City shall advise the applicant of the 

changes or additions that must be made for these purposes, and shall afford the applicant an opportunity to make the 
changes or additions. If the City Engineer determines that full conformity has been made, he shall so certify on the 
plat and shall transmit the plat to the City for further review. 

 
(3) The Planning Commission shall review the final plat to determine that it conforms with the preliminary plat and 

with changes permitted and all requirements imposed as a condition of its acceptance. 

 
If the Planning Commission determines that the plat submitted does not conform to the preliminary plat or 

applicable conditions, the applicant shall be afforded an opportunity to make corrections. 

 
(4) Prior to the approval of the final plat by the Planning Commission, the applicant shall complete improvements 

as proposed or enter into an agreement for improvements together with a bond, pursuant to the provisions of 
Sections 16 and 17. 

 
(5) If the final plat conforms to the preliminary plat and applicable conditions have been met, the President of the 

Planning Commission shall sign and date the final plat. 

 
(6) The applicant shall deliver the final plat to the County Surveyor for review and recording according to the 

requirements of ORS 92. Approval of the plat shall be null and void if the plat is not recorded within 90 days after the 
date the last required approving signature has been obtained. 

 
(7) The partition is considered complete after the final plat is recorded by the County Clerk. 

 
(8) The County Surveyor shall furnish the City with a copy of the recorded plat. 

 
Section 24. FORM OF PLAT. 

 
(1) The partition plat shall be prepared in accordance with the requirements of Section 54 and State laws, 

including but not limited to ORS 92.080 and ORS 92.120. 

 
(2) The format of the plat shall be as follows: 

 
Permanent black india type ink or silver halide permanent photocopy, upon material that is 18 inches by 24 

inches in size with an additional three inch binding edge on the left side when required by the County Clerk or the 
County Surveyor, that is suitable for binding and copying purposes, and that has such characteristics of strength and 
permanency as may be required by the County Surveyor. The partition plat shall be of such a scale as required by 
the County Surveyor. The lettering of the approvals, the dedication, the affidavit of the surveyor, and all other 
information shall be of such a size or type as will be clearly legible, but no part shall come nearer any edge of the 
sheet than one (1) inch. The partition plat may be placed on as many sheets as necessary, but a face sheet and 
index page shall be included for partition plats of three (3) or more sheets. 

 
(3) The plat shall contain the information contained in Section 25 and 26. 

 
Section 25. INFORMATION ON FINAL PARTITION PLAT. 

 
(1) The name of the partition, the date the plat was prepared, the scale, northpoint, legend and existing features 

such as highways and railroads. 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit C



Subdivision & Land Partitioning Ordinance Amended June 11, 2025 Page 13 of 27 

(2) Legal description of the partition boundaries. 

 
(3) Reference and bearings to adjoining surveys. 

 
(4) The locations and descriptions of all monuments found or set shall be carefully recorded upon all plats and 

the proper courses and distances of all boundary lines shall be shown. 

 
(5) Exact location and width of streets and easements intersecting the boundary of the subdivision. 

 
(6) Partition and lot boundary lines. 

 
Numbering of lots as follows: 

 
a. Lot numbers beginning with the number '1' and numbered consecutively in each block. Number sequence 

to generally follow the same system as sections are numbered in a township. 

 
(7) Acreage of each parcel. 

 
(8) Street right-of-way center lines with dimensions to the nearest .01 of a foot, bearings or deflection angles, 

radii, arc, points of curvature, chord bearings and distances, and tangent bearings. Partition boundaries, lot 
boundaries, and street bearings shall be shown to the nearest 30 seconds. 

 
(9) The name and width of the streets being dedicated, the width of any existing right-of-way, and the width on 

each side of the center line. For streets on curvature, curve data shall be based on the street center line. In addition 
to the center line dimensions, the radius and central angle shall be indicated. 

 
(10) Easements denoted by fine dotted lines, clearly identified and, if already of record, their recorded reference. 

If an easement is not of record, there shall be written statement of the easement. The width of the easement, its 
length and bearing, and sufficient ties to locate the easement with respect to the partition must be shown. If the 
easement is being dedicated by the map, it shall be properly referenced in the owner's certificate of dedication. 

 
(11) Locations and widths of drainage channels, railroad rights-of-way, reserve strips at the end of stubbed streets 

or along the edge of partial width streets on the boundary of the partition. 

 
(12) Parcels to be dedicated shall be distinguished from lots intended for sale with acreage and alphabetical 

symbols for each parcel indicated. 

 
(13) Any conditions specified by the Commission or Council upon granting preliminary approval. 

 
(14) A statement of water rights noted on the partition plat. 

 
Section 26. Certification and Supplemental Data. The certification and supplemental data shall be submitted with the 
final map as required by Section 14 & 15. 

 
MINOR LAND PARTITION 

 
(Includes Creation of a Street) 

Section 27. Procedure for Review. 

(1) The applicant shall submit ten copies of a tentative partition plan, a completed application form and the fee 
required by Section 57. The tentative partitions plan shall follow the format outlined in Section 29. 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit C



Subdivision & Land Partitioning Ordinance Amended June 11, 2025 Page 14 of 27 

(2) The City shall review the tentative partition plan to determine its conformity with the minimum standards of 
Section 28. The City Recorder shall coordinate his review with county, state and federal agencies and special 
districts that may have an interest in the partition. 

 
(3) The City Recorder may approve, deny or attach conditions to the approval of a tentative partition plan. The 

City Recorder may apply only those conditions necessary to bring the tentative partition plan in conformance with the 
minimum standards of Section 28. The City Recorder's decision shall meet the requirements of 11.060(6) of the 
Zoning Ordinance. 

 
(4) A decision of the City Recorder may be appealed by the applicant to the Planning Commission in 

conformance with the provisions of Section 11.070(1) of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 
(5) The tentative partition plan approval shall be binding on the City and the partitioner for the purpose of 

preparing a final partition plat, provided that there are no changes of the plan of the partition and it complies with all 
conditions set forth by the City in its tentative partition plan approval. 

 
(6) The tentative partition plan shall be valid for one year from the date of its approval. The City Recorder may, 

upon written request by the applicant, grant an extension of the tentative plan approval for a period of one year. In 
granting an extension, the City Recorder shall make a written finding that the facts upon which the approval was 
based have not changed to an extent sufficient to warrant refiling of the tentative plan. 

 
(7) The applicant shall submit a final partition plat prior to the expiration of the tentative partition plan approval. 

 
(8) No partitioner shall submit a plat of a partition for record until all requirements of ORS 209.250 and the plat 

requirements of the partition have been met. 

 
(9) The final partition plat shall conform to the information requirements of Section 42. The City Recorder shall 

review the final partition plat to determine that it conforms with the tentative plan and any applicable conditions. 

 
(10) If the City Recorder determines that the partition plat submitted does not conform to the tentative plan or 

applicable conditions, the applicant shall be afforded an opportunity to make corrections. 

 
(11) If the final plat conforms to the tentative plan and applicable conditions, the City Recorder shall sign and date 

the final plat. 

 
(12) The applicant shall deliver the final plat to the County Surveyor for review and recording according to the 

requirements of ORS 92. 

 
(13) The partition is considered complete after the final plat is recorded by the County Clerk. 

 
(14) The County Surveyor shall furnish the City with a copy of the recorded plat. 

 
Section 28. Minimum Standards. The minimum standards for design and improvements in a minor land partitioning 
shall conform to Sections 34, 35, 37, 38, 41 and 53. 

 
Section 29. Information on Tentative Partition Plan. The tentative partition plan shall include the following 
information: 

 
The preliminary plat shall include the following information: 

 
(1) A sketch of the original parcel of land (all contiguously owned land) on an 8 1/2' by 11' sheet of paper. If a 

surveyor has prepared a preliminary or final survey for the property, the sketch may be submitted at one of the 
following standard survey sizes: 8 1/2' x 13', 11' x 17', or 18' x 24'. 

 
(2) The date, northpoint, and scale of the drawing. 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit C



Subdivision & Land Partitioning Ordinance Amended June 11, 2025 Page 15 of 27 

(3) Names and addresses of the owner, applicants, engineer and or surveyor employed in the preparation of the 
plan. 

 
(4) The amount of acreage in the original parcel and the acreage of the resulting parcels, and dimensions of all 

parcels. 

 
(5) The location, names and widths of all streets and easements adjacent to and within the parcel to be 

partitioned. 

 
(6) The existing use or uses of the property, including locations of all structures on the property. 

 
(7) The width and location of all proposed easements for drainage or public purposes. 

 
(8) Approximate location of physical features such as wetlands and streams on the property, when required by 

the City Recorder. 

 
(9) When required, a site investigation as required by the Hazards Overlay Zone provisions of the Zoning 

Ordinance. 

 
Section 30. Form of Plat. 

 
(1) The partition plat shall be prepared in accordance with the requirements of this Section 54, and State laws, 

including but not limited to ORS 92.080 and ORS 92.120. 

 
(2) The format of the plat shall be as follows: 

 
Permanent black india type ink or silver halide permanent photocopy, upon material that is 18 inches by 24 inches 

in size with an additional three (3) inch binding edge on the left side when required by the County Clerk or the County 
Surveyor, that is suitable for binding and copying purposes, and that has such characteristics of strength and 
permanency as may be required by the County Surveyor. The subdivision or partition plat shall be of such a scale as 
required by the County Surveyor. The lettering of the approvals, the dedication, the affidavit of the surveyor, and all 
other information shall be of such a size or type as will be clearly legible, but no part shall come nearer any edge of 
the sheet than one (1) inch. The partition plat may be placed on as many sheets as necessary, but a face sheet and 
index page shall be included for partition plats of three (3) or more sheets. 

 
(3) The plat shall contain the information contained in Section 31. 

 
Section 31. Information on Final Plat. The following information shall be shown on the final plat: 

 
(1) The date, northpoint and scale of the partition plat. 

 
(2) The partition plat number. 

 
(3) Legal description of the partition boundaries. 

 
(4) Reference and bearings to adjoining surveys. 

 
(5) The locations and descriptions of all monuments found or set shall be carefully recorded upon all plats and the 

proper courses and distances of all boundary lines shall be shown. 

 
(6) Exact location and width of streets and easements intersecting the boundary of the partition. 

 
(7) Lot boundary lines and their dimensions. 

 
(8) Acreage of each lot. 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit C



Subdivision & Land Partitioning Ordinance Amended June 11, 2025 Page 16 of 27 

(9) Easements denoted by fine dotted lines, clearly identified and, if already of record, their recorded reference. If 
an easement is not of record, there shall be a written statement of the easement. The width of the easement, its 
length and bearing, and sufficient ties to locate the easement with respect to the partition must be shown. If the 
easement is being dedicated by the map, it shall be properly referenced in the owner's certificate of dedication. 

 
(10) Any conditions specified by the City upon granting preliminary approval. 

 
(11) A statement of water rights noted on the partition plat. 

 
(12) Certifications as required by the County Surveyor. 

 
(13) A copy of the acknowledgment from State Water Resources Department under ORS 97.122 if the person 

offering the partition plat for filing indicates on the statement of water rights that a water right is appurtenant to the 
partition. 

 
Section 32. Principles of Acceptability A land division, whether by a subdivision, creation of a street, or a 
partitioning, shall conform to any development plans, shall take into consideration any preliminary plans made in 
anticipation thereof, and shall conform to the design standards established by this ordinance. The City Engineer shall 
prepare and submit to the City Council specifications to supplement the standards of this ordinance, based on 
standard engineering practices, concerning streets, drainage facilities, sidewalks, sewer and water systems. 

 
Section 33. Streets. 

 
(1) The location, width and grade of streets shall be considered in their relation to existing and planned streets, to 

topographical conditions, to public convenience and safety, and to the proposed use of land to be served by the 
streets. The street system shall assure an adequate traffic circulation system with intersection angles, grades, 
tangents and curves appropriate for the traffic to be carried considering the terrain. Where location is not shown in a 
development plan, the arrangement of streets shall either: 

 
a. Provide for the continuation or appropriate projection of existing principal streets in surrounding areas; or 

 

b. Conform to a plan for the neighborhood approved or adopted by the Planning Commission to meet a particular 
situation where topographical or other conditions make continuance or conformance to existing streets impractical. 

 
(2) Street Widths. Street widths shall conform with City standards, except where it can be shown by the land 

divider, to the satisfaction of the Planning Commission, that the topography or the small number of lots or parcels 
served and the probable future traffic development are such as to unquestionably justify a narrower width. Increased 
widths may be required where streets are to serve commercial property, or where probable traffic conditions warrant. 
Approval or determination of street and area classification shall be made by the Planning Commission taking into 
consideration the zoning designations imposed by the Comprehensive Plan and the Development Code, the present 
use and development of the property in the area, the logical and reasonable prospective development of the area 
based upon public needs and trends, and the public safety and welfare. 

 
(3) Alignment. As far as is practical, streets other than minor streets shall be in alignment with existing streets by 

continuations of the center lines thereof. Staggered street alignment resulting in 'T' intersections shall, wherever 
practical, leave a minimum distance of 200 feet between the center lines of streets having approximately the same 
direction, and in no case, shall be less than 150 feet. 

 
(4) Future Street Extension. Where necessary to give access to, or permit a satisfactory future division of 

adjoining land, streets shall extend to the boundary of the subdivision or partition, and the resulting dead-end streets 
may be approved without a turnaround. Reserve strips including street plugs may be required to preserve the 
objectives of street extensions. 

 
(5) Intersection Angles. Streets shall intersect at angles as practical except where topography requires a lesser 

angle, but in no case shall the acute angle be less than 60 degrees unless there is a special intersection design. An 
arterial or collector street intersecting with another street shall have at least 100 feet of tangent adjacent to the 
intersection unless topography requires a lesser distance. Other streets, except alleys, shall have at least 50 feet of 
tangent adjacent to the intersection unless topography requires a lesser distance. Intersections which contain an 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit C



Subdivision & Land Partitioning Ordinance Amended June 11, 2025 Page 17 of 27 

acute angle of less than 80 degrees or which include an arterial street shall have a minimum corner radius sufficient 
to allow for a roadway radius of 20 feet and maintain a uniform width between the roadway and the right-of-way line. 
Ordinarily, the intersection of more than two streets at any one point will not be approved. 

 
(6) Existing Streets. Whenever existing streets adjacent to or within a tract are of inadequate width, additional 

right-of-way shall be provided at the time of the land division. 

 
(7) Reserved Strips. No reserved strips controlling the access to public ways will be approved unless the strips 

are necessary for the protection of the public welfare, and in these cases they may be required. The control and 
disposal of the land comprising the strips shall be placed within the jurisdiction of the City under conditions approved 
by the Planning Commission. 

 
(8) Half Streets. Half streets shall be prohibited except they may be approved where essential to the reasonable 

development of the subdivision or partitions when in conformity with the other requirements of these regulations, and 
when the Planning Commission finds it will be practical to require the dedication of the other half when the adjoining 
property is divided. Whenever a half street is adjacent to a tract to be divided, the other half of the street shall be 
platted within the tract. Reserve strips may be required to preserve the objectives of half streets. 

 
(9) Cul-de-Sac. A cul-de-sac shall be as short as possible and shall have a maximum length of 400 feet and 

serve building sites for not more than 18 dwelling units. A cul-de-sac shall terminate with a circular turnaround. 

 
(10) Alleys. When any lots or parcels are proposed for commercial or industrial usage, alleys of at least 20 feet in 

width may be required at the rear thereof with adequate ingress and egress for truck traffic unless alternative 
commitments for off-street service truck facilities without alleys are approved. Intersecting alleys shall not be 
permitted. 

 
(11) Grades and Curves. Grades shall not exceed 6% on arterials, 10% on collector streets, or 12% on other 

streets. Center line radii of curves shall not be less than 300 feet on major arterials, 200 feet on secondary arterials, 
or 100 feet on other streets, and shall be to an even 10 feet. Where existing conditions, particularly the topography, 
make it otherwise impracticable to provide buildable sites, the Planning Commission may accept steeper grades and 
sharper curves. In flat areas, allowance shall be made for finished street grades having a minimum slope, preferably, 
of at least .5%. 

 
(12) Marginal Access Streets. Where a land division abuts or contains an existing or proposed arterial street, the 

Planning Commission may require marginal access streets, reverse frontage lots with suitable depth, screen planting 
contained in a non-access reservation along the rear or side property line, or other treatment necessary for adequate 
protection of residential properties and to afford separation of through and local traffic. 

 
(13) Street Names. All street names shall be approved by the Planning Commission for conformance with the 

established pattern and to avoid duplication and confusion. 

 
(14) Private Streets. The design and improvement of any private street shall be subject to all requirements 

prescribed by this ordinance for public streets. The land divider shall provide for the permanent maintenance of any 
street required for access to property in a private street subdivision or a major partition. 

 
Section 34. Utility Easements. Easements for sewer, drainage, water mains, public utility installations, including 
overhead or underground systems, and other like public purposes shall be dedicated, reserved or granted by the land 
divider in widths not less than five (5) feet on each side of the rear lot or parcel lines, alongside lot or parcel lines and 
in planting strips wherever necessary, provided that easements of width, such as for anchorage, may be allowed 
when the purposes of easements may be accomplished by easements of lesser width as approved by the City. 

 
Section 35. Building Sites. 

 
(1) Size and Shape. The size, width, shape and orientation of building sites shall be consistent with the 

residential lot size provisions of the Development Code with the following exceptions. 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit C



Subdivision & Land Partitioning Ordinance Amended June 11, 2025 Page 18 of 27 

(a) In areas that will not be served by a public sewer, minimum lot and parcel sizes shall permit compliance 
with the requirements of the Department of Environmental Quality and shall take into consideration problems of 
sewage disposal, particularly problems of soil structure and water table as related to sewage disposal by septic tank. 

 
(b) Where property is zoned and planned for business or industrial use, other widths and areas may be 

permitted at the discretion of the Planning Commission. Depth and width of properties reserved or laid out for 
commercial and industrial purposes shall be adequate to provide for the off-street service and parking facilities 
required by the type of use and development contemplated. 

 
(2) Access. Each lot and parcel shall abut upon a street other than an alley for a width of at least 25 feet. 

 
(3) Through Lots and Parcels. Through lots and parcels shall be avoided except where they are essential to 

provide separation of residential development from major traffic arteries or adjacent non-residential activities or to 
overcome specific disadvantages of topography and orientation. A planting screen easement at least ten (10) feet 
wide and across which there shall be no right of access may be required along the line of building sites abutting such 
a traffic artery or other incompatible use. 

 
(4) Lot and Parcel Side Lines. The lines of lots and parcels, as far as is practicable, shall run at right angles to 

the street upon which they face, except that on curved streets they shall be radial to the curve. 

 
Section 36. Blocks. 

 
(1) General. The length, width and shape of blocks shall take into account the need for adequate building site 

size and street width and shall recognize the limitations of the topography. 

 
(2) Size. No block shall be more than 1,000 feet in length between street corner lines unless it is adjacent to an 

arterial street or unless the topography or the location of adjoining streets justifies an exception. The recommended 
minimum length of blocks along an arterial street is 1,800 feet. A block shall have sufficient width to provide for two 
tiers of building sites unless topography or the location of adjoining streets justifies an exception. 

 
(3) Walkways. The applicant may be required to dedicate and improve ten (10) foot walkways across blocks over 

600 feet in length or to provide access to school, park, or other public areas. 

 
Section 37. Large Building Sites. In dividing tracts into large lots or parcels which at some future time are likely to be 
redivided, the Planning Commission may require that the blocks be of such size and shape, be so divided into 
building sites and contain such site restrictions as will provide for extension and opening of streets at intervals which 
will permit a subsequent division of any tract into lots or parcels of smaller size. 

 
Section 38. Water Courses. The land divider shall, subject to riparian rights, dedicate a right-of-way for storm 
drainage purposes, conforming substantially with the lines of any natural water course or channel, stream or creek 
that traverses the subdivision or partitions, or, at the option of the land divider, provide, by dedication, further and 
sufficient easements or construction, or both to dispose of the surface and storm waters. 

 
Section 39. Land for Public Purposes. 

 
(1) The Planning Commission may require the reservation for public acquisition, at a cost not to exceed acreage 

values in the area prior to subdivision, or appropriate areas within the subdivision for a period not to exceed one year 
providing the City has an interest or has been advised of interest on the part of the State Highway Commission, 
school district or other public agency to acquire a portion of the area within the proposed subdivision for a public 
purpose, including substantial assurance that positive steps will be taken in the reasonable future for the acquisition. 

 
(2) The Planning Commission may require the dedication of suitable areas for the parks and playgrounds that will 

be required for the use of the population which is intended to occupy the subdivision. 

 
Section 40. Unsuitable Land. 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit C



Subdivision & Land Partitioning Ordinance Amended June 11, 2025 Page 19 of 27 

The Planning Commission may refuse to approve a subdivision or partition when the only practical use which can be 
made of the property proposed to be subdivided or partitioned is a use prohibited by this code or law, or if the 
property is deemed unhealthful or unfit for human habitation or occupancy by the County or State health authorities, 
or, if the property is deemed unhealthful or unfit for human habitation or occupancy by the county or state health 
authorities. 

 
Section 41. Land Subject to Inundation. If any portion of land proposed for development is subject to overflow, 
inundation or flood hazard by, or collection of, storm waters, an adequate system of storm drains, levees, dikes and 
pumping systems shall be provided. 

 
Section 42. Proposed Name of Subdivision. 

 
No tentative subdivision plat or subdivision plan or subdivision shall be approved which bears a name approved by 
the County Surveyor or County Assessor, which is the same as similar to or pronounced the same as the name of 
any other subdivision in Tillamook County unless the land platted is contiguous to and platted by the same party that 
platted the subdivision bearing that name, or unless the party files and records the consent of the party that platted 
the contiguous subdivision bearing that name. All subdivision plats must continue the lot numbers and if used, the 
block numbers of the subdivision plat of the same name last filed. 

 
 
MIDDLE HOUSING LAND DIVISIONS 
 
Section 43. Applicability 
 
A middle housing land division applies to partition or subdivision of duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, or cottage cluster 
dwellings and projects within residential zoning districts.  
 
Section 44. Process 
 
(1) Unless an applicant requests that the application be reviewed under the procedures set forth in this Article, a 

middle housing land division shall be processed as provided under ORS 197.360 through ORS 197.380, in-
lieu of the procedures set forth in this Article.  

 
(2) A middle housing land division application may be submitted when: 

 
(a) The site is developed with middle housing; 

 
(b) The site has an active building permit to construct middle housing; 

 
(c) The application is being reviewed concurrently with a building permit application for construction of middle 

housing; or  
 

(d) The application is being reviewed with a site plan for proposed detached middle housing in compliance 
with Section 45 of this Article. 

 
(3) Completeness Review. The City Recorder, or his or her designee, shall review the application submittal and 

advise the applicant in writing whether the application is complete or incomplete within 21 calendar days after 
the City receives the application submittal. 

 
(a) If the application for a land division is incomplete, the local government shall notify the applicant of exactly 

what information is missing within 21 days of receipt of the application and allow the applicant to 
submit the missing information. For purposes of computation of time under this section, the 
application shall be deemed complete on the date the applicant submits the requested information or 
refuses in writing to submit it. 

 
(b) If the application was complete when first submitted or the applicant submits the additional information 

within 180 days of the date the application was first submitted, approval or denial of the application 
shall be based upon the standards and criteria that were in effect at the time the application was first 
submitted. 

 
 

(4) Notification.  
 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit C



Subdivision & Land Partitioning Ordinance Amended June 11, 2025 Page 20 of 27 

(a) The City Recorder, or his or her designee, shall provide written notice of the receipt of the completed 
application for a Middle Housing Land Division or Expedited Land Division to all of the following: 

 
(i) The applicant and/or authorized representative; 

 
(ii) The owner(s) of record of the subject property; 

 
(iii) Owners of record within 100 feet of the perimeter of the subject property; and 

 
(iv) Any state agency, local government or special district responsible for providing public facilities or 

services to the development. 
 

(b) The notice shall state:  
 

(i) The street address or other easily understood geographical reference to the subject property;  
 

(ii) The place, date and time that comments are due; 
 

(iii) A time and place where copies of all evidence submitted by the applicant will be available for review;  
 

(iv) The applicable criteria for the decision;  
 

(v) The name and telephone number of a local government contact person;  
 

(vi) A brief summary of the local decision-making process for the Middle Housing Land Division;  
 

(vii) The deadline for submitting written comments;  
 

(viii) That issues that may provide the basis for an appeal to the hearings officer must be raised in writing 
prior to the expiration of the comment period; and  

 
(ix) That issues must be raised with sufficient specificity to enable the local government to respond to the 

issue. 
 

(c) After notification according to the procedure set out above, the City Recorder, or his or her designee, shall 
provide a 14-day period for submission of written comments prior to the decision. 

 
Section 45. Submittal Requirements 
 
The following submittal requirements shall apply to a middle housing land division application:  
 
(1) General Information: 

(a) Vicinity map showing all streets, property lines, streams, and other pertinent data to locate the proposal. 

(b) North arrow and scale of drawing. 

(c) Tax map and tax lot number or tax account of the subject property.   

(d) Dimensions and size in square feet or acres of the subject property and of all proposed parcels. 

(2) Existing Conditions 

(a) Location of all existing easements within the property.   

(b) Location of City utilities (water, sewer, and storm drainage) within or adjacent to the property proposed for 
use to serve the development. 

(c) The location and direction of water courses or drainage swales on the subject property.  

(d) Existing use of the property, including location of existing structures with dimensions of the structures and 
distances from property lines.  It shall be noted whether the existing structures are to remain or be 
removed from the property.   

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit C



Subdivision & Land Partitioning Ordinance Amended June 11, 2025 Page 21 of 27 

(e) The location, width, and names of all existing streets, flag lot accessways, and public accessways abutting 
the perimeter of the lot; 

(f) Driveway locations, bike paths, transit stops, sidewalks, and other bike and pedestrian pathways, curbs, 
and easements; 

(3) Proposed Site Plan: 

(a) Locations, approximate dimensions and area in square feet of all proposed lots.  All lots shall be numbered 
consecutively; 

(b) Location, width, and purpose of any proposed easements;   

(c) The location, width, and names of all existing streets, flag lot accessways, and public accessways abutting 
the perimeter of the subject property; 

(d) The location and use of all buildings and accessory structures that will be located on each proposed lot, 
indicating the distance of such buildings and accessory structures to proposed lot lines and to 
adjacent structures on abutting lots; 

(e) The location, dimensions, and use of all existing and proposed public areas, including, but not limited to, 
stormwater management facilities and detention facilities; 

(f) Landscaping plan indicating location of existing vegetation and proposed improvements.  

(g) Statement of improvements to be made or installed including streets, sidewalks, bikeways, trails, lighting, 
tree planting, landscaping, and time such improvements are to be made or completed. 

(h) Written statement outlining proposals for ownership and maintenance of all open space areas and any 
commonly owned facilities. 

(4) Proposed Site Plan for Detached Middle Housing. Middle housing land division applications being reviewed 
with a site plan for proposed detached middle housing under subsection 44(2)(d) must include the following to 
identify the buildable area for each resulting lot or parcel: 

(a) Existing and proposed easements. 

(b) Percent of lot coverage allocated for each child lot or parcels. 

(c) Setback dimensions for all existing and proposed buildings. 

Section 46. Decision Criteria 
 
The tentative plan of a middle housing land division shall be approved if all of the following criteria are met: 

 
(1) The middle housing land division is for an existing or proposed middle housing development. 
 
(2) The existing or proposed middle housing development will comply with the applicable provisions of the 

Building Code and the Oregon residential specialty code, as those standards apply to the buildings and 
accessory structures on the proposed lots subsequent to division. 

 
(3) The tentative plan results in exactly one dwelling unit on each proposed lot, except for lots or tracts used as 

common areas. 
 

(4) Separate utilities are provided for each dwelling unit. 
 

(5) All access and utility easements necessary to serve each dwelling unit are provided on the tentative plan for: 
 

(a) Locating, accessing, servicing, and replacing all utilities 
(b) Pedestrian access from the primary entrance of each dwelling unit to a public or private street; 
(c) Any driveways or off-street parking;  
(d) Any common use areas or shared building elements; and 
(e) Any common area. 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit C



Subdivision & Land Partitioning Ordinance Amended June 11, 2025 Page 22 of 27 

 
(6) The type of middle housing on the existing lot is not altered by the proposed middle housing land division. 

 
 
Section 47. Decision. 
 
The City Recorder, or his or her designee, shall make a decision to approve or deny the application within 63 days of 
receiving a completed application, based on whether it satisfies the applicable requirements of This Article.  
 
(1) Approval may include conditions to ensure that the application meets the applicable regulations.  

 
(2) For Middle Housing Land Division applications, the City Recorder, or his or her designee:  

(a) Shall not hold a hearing on the application; and  

(b) Shall issue a written determination of compliance or noncompliance with applicable land use regulations 
that includes a summary statement explaining the determination. 

(3) The decision shall include a statement of the facts upon which the decision authority relied to determine 
whether the application satisfied or failed to satisfy each applicable approval criteria.  

(4) Notice of the decision shall be provided to the applicant and to those who received notice under subsection 
44(4) within 63 days of the date of a completed application. The notice of decision shall include:  

(a) The summary statement included with the written decision; and  

(b) An explanation of appeal rights under ORS 197.375 (Appeal of decision on application for expedited land 
division).  

 
Section 48. Conditions of Approval. 
 
Conditions may not be placed on the approval of a middle housing land division except to: 
 

(1) Prohibit further division of the resulting lots; 

(2) Prohibit the construction of an accessory dwelling unit on any of the resulting lots; 

(3) Require dedication of right-of-way when an existing street abutting the property does not conform to the 
requirements of city standards; 

(4) Require boundary street improvements when an existing street abutting the property does not conform to the 
requirements of city standards; and 

(5) Require a notation on the final plat indicating that the approval of the land division was given under ORS 
92.031. 

 
Section 49. Process for Final Plat Approval 

 
(1) A final plat shall be submitted to the City Recorder.  After the final plat has been submitted, the City Staff shall 

review and compare it with the approved tentative plat to ascertain whether the final plat conforms 
substantially to the approved tentative plat and with such conditions of approval as may have been imposed.   

(2) No final plat shall be approved unless: 

(a) The plat is in substantial conformance with this Ordinance and the provisions of the tentative plat as 
approved, including any conditions imposed in connection therewith;  

(b) The plat contains land free and clear of all liens and encumbrances. All dedications to the public of all 
public improvements, including but not limited to streets, roads, sewage disposal and water supply 
systems, the donation of which is required by this Ordinance or was made a condition of the approval of 
the tentative plat; 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit C



Subdivision & Land Partitioning Ordinance Amended June 11, 2025 Page 23 of 27 

(c)  Any common areas or improvements to be held jointly by the future owners of the lots or by a 
Homeowners Association are indicated on the plat with the appropriate references to the structure of 
ownership. Any bylaws or agreements subject to approval by the City will be approved before the City 
Recorder signs the plat.  

(d) The City received adequate assurances that the applicant has agreed to make all public improvements 
which are required as conditions of approval of the tentative plan, including but not limited to streets, 
alleys, pedestrian ways, storm drainage, sewer, and water systems. The provisions for providing 
adequate assurance are subject to the Public Works Department and City Engineer requirements.  

(e) A notice in the form of a restrictive covenant must be recorded with the County which states: 

i) The middle housing lot or parcel cannot be further divided. 

ii) No more than one dwelling unit of middle housing can be developed on each middle housing lot. 

iii) Accessory dwelling units are not permitted. 

iv) The dwelling developed on the middle housing lot or parcel is a unit of middle housing and is not an 
attached or detached dwelling unit or any other housing type. 

(f) If the middle housing land division application is being reviewed with a site plan for proposed detached 
middle housing, the covenant described in subsection (2)(e) of this section must limit the buildable area 
for each resulting lot or parcel in compliance with the site plan submitted. 

(3) If the City Recorder finds that conditions specified in subsection (2) of this section have not been met, the 
applicant shall be advised of the changes that must be made and afforded the opportunity to comply.  
Rejection of a final plat shall not affect the tentative plan approval.   

(4) When the City Recorder finds that the final plat is in substantial conformity to the approved tentative plan and 
is otherwise in lawful form, and is approved by the City Engineer, the City Recorder shall sign and date the 
final plat. 

(5) Following endorsement of the plat by the City Recorder and the City Engineer, the applicant shall submit the 
plats to the Tillamook County Surveyor for final review and compliance with applicable state and county 
regulations.   

(6) Effective Date for Final Plat Approval.  The approval process for a development shall become final upon the 
recording of the approved final plat with the County, together with any required documents.  A copy of the 
recorded plat and documents shall be submitted to the City.  Approved final plats shall become void one year 
after final City approval if they are not recorded.  

(7) A middle housing land division tentative plan is void if and only if a final plat is not approved within 3 years of 
the tentative approval. 

Section 50. Appeals 
 
Any appeal of a middle housing land division must be as provided in ORS 197.375.   
 
 
 
  

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit C



Subdivision & Land Partitioning Ordinance Amended June 11, 2025 Page 24 of 27 

 
IMPROVEMENTS 

 
Section 51. Improvement Standards and Approval In addition to other requirements, all improvements shall conform 
to the requirements of this ordinance and any other improvement standards or specifications adopted by the City, and 
shall be installed in accordance with the following procedure: 

 
(1) Improvement work shall not be commenced until plans have been checked for adequacy and approved by the 

City. To the extent necessary for the evaluation of the proposal, the plans may be required before approval of the 
preliminary plat of a subdivision or partition. All plans shall be prepared in accordance with requirements of the City. 

 
(2) Improvement work shall not be commenced until the City has been notified in advance, and if work has been 

discontinued for any reason, it shall not be resumed until the City has been notified. 

 
(3) All required improvements shall be constructed under the inspection, and to the satisfaction, of the City. The 

City may require changes in typical section and details if unusual conditions arise during construction to warrant such 
change in the interests of the City. 

 
(4) All underground utilities, sanitary sewers and storm drains installed in streets shall be constructed prior to the 

surfacing of such streets. Stubs for service connections for all underground utilities and sanitary sewers shall be 
placed to such length as will obviate the necessity for disturbing the street improvements when service connections 
are made. 

 
(5) A map showing all public improvements as built shall be filed with the City Recorder upon completion of the 

improvements. 

 
Section 52. Improvement Requirements. Improvements to be installed at the expense of the subdivider or applicant 
and at the time of subdivision or partition: 

 
(1) Streets. Public streets, including alleys, within the subdivision and public streets adjacent but only partially 

within the subdivision shall be improved. Upon completion of the street improvement, monuments shall be re- 
established and protected in monument boxes at every public street intersection and all points of curvature and points 
of tangency on their center lines. 

 
(2) Structures. Structures specified as necessary by the City, for drainage, access and public safety shall be 

installed. 

 
(3) Sidewalks. Sidewalks shall be installed along both sides of each street and in pedestrian ways unless a 

variance has been granted by the Planning Commission. 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit C



Subdivision & Land Partitioning Ordinance Amended June 11, 2025 Page 25 of 27 

(4) Sewers. Sanitary sewer facilities connecting with the existing City sewer system and storm water sewers, of 
design, layout and location approved by the City, shall be installed. 

 
(5) Water. Water mains and fire hydrants of design, layout and locations approved by the City shall be installed. 

 
(6) Railroad Crossings. Provision shall be made for all railroad crossings necessary to provide access to or 

including the preparation of all documents necessary for application to the Oregon State Public Utilities 
Commissioner for the establishment and improvement of such crossing. The cost of such railroad crossing 
improvement including, but not limited to, the construction of signals, and other protective devices required by the 
Public Utilities Commissioner, shall, except for that portion payable by the railroad company, be borne by the 
subdivider or applicant. 

 
(7) Underground Utilities. This provision shall apply only to utility lines to be installed to provide service within the 

area to subdivided. Utility lines, including, but not limited to, electricity, communications, street lighting and cable 
television, shall be required to be placed underground. Appurtenances and associated equipment such as surface- 
mounted transformers, pedestal-mounted terminal boxes and meter cabinets may be placed above the ground. The 
Planning Commission may waive the requirements of this section if topographical, soil, or other conditions make such 
underground installations unreasonable or impractical. The applicant shall make all necessary arrangements with the 
serving utility or agency for underground installations provided hereunder; all such installations shall be made in 
accordance with the tariff provisions of the utility, as prescribed by the State Public Utilities Commissioner. 

 
(8) Street Lighting. Street lighting of an approved type shall be installed on all streets at locations approved by 

the City. 

 
(9) Street trees. Street trees may be required by the City. 

 
(10) Street Name Signs. All streets shall be legibly marked with street name signs, not less than two (2) in 

number at each intersection, according to specifications furnished by the City. 

 
(11) Improvement of Easements. Whenever the safety of adjoining property may demand, any easement for 

drainage or flood control purposes shall be improved in a manner approved by the City. 

 
(12) Off-Site Street Improvements. All off-site street improvements, where required shall conform to the standards 

of the City. 

 
Section 53. Monuments. 

 
(1) All monuments shall be set according to the provisions of ORS 92.060. In making the survey for the 

subdivision or partition, the surveyor shall set sufficient permanent monuments prior to recording so that the survey or 
any part thereof may be retraced according to Oregon Revised Statutes. 

 
(2) Interior boundary and lot monuments for the subdivision or partition shall be marked by a registered land 

surveyor in accordance with ORS 92.060, and referenced in the plat. If the monuments are in place at the time the 
subdivision or partition is recorded, no performance bond is necessary. If monumentation is delayed beyond the date 
on which the subdivision is recorded, a bond must be posted to assure that the monuments will be set by a certain 
date, in accordance with ORS 92.065. The City shall determine the length of time and estimated amount of bond or 
cash deposit to guarantee payment of the cost of setting the interior monuments in the subdivision or partition. 

 
Section 54. Survey Requirements. 

 
(1) The survey and plat of the subdivision or partition shall be made by a registered professional land surveyor. 

 
(2) The plat of the subdivision or partition shall be of such scale that all survey and mathematical information, and 

all other details may be clearly and legibly shown thereon. 

 
(3) The survey for the plat of the subdivision or partition shall be of such accuracy that the linear error of closure 

shall not exceed one foot in 10,000 feet. 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit C



Subdivision & Land Partitioning Ordinance Amended June 11, 2025 Page 26 of 27 

(4) All dimensions to be in feet and decimals of a foot, to the nearest .01 of a foot. 

 
(5) In addition to showing bearing in degree, minutes and seconds of a degree and distances in feet and 

hundredths of a foot, the following curve information shall be shown on the subdivision or partition plat either on the 
face of the map or in a separate table: 

 
(a) Arch length; 

 
(b) Chord length; 

 
(c) Chord bearing; 

 
(d) Radius; and 

 
(e) Central angle. 

 
(6) The surveyor submitting any subdivision, condominium or partition plat that is within one-half mile of an 

established geodetic control monument, that has been approved by the National Geodetic Survey or has been 
approved and filed with the County Surveyor, shall by field survey according to Federal Geodetic Control Committee 
guidelines for Third Order Class II show the measured angles and distances from the geodetic control monument to 
the initial point of a subdivision or condominium or to a monumented boundary corner of a partition. If there is an 
azimuth mark for the geodetic control monument or if there is another geodetic control monument that is intervisible 
to the primary geodetic control monument, the bearing shall be based, if practicable, on the bearings between the 
geodetic control monument and the azimuth mark or the intervisible geodetic control monument. 

 
(7) Not withstanding the provisions of Subsection (F) of this Section, the County Surveyor may waive the 

requirement of a distance and bearing to a geodetic control monument if the subdivision or condominium, or partition 
thereof, has previously furnished the required information. 

 
VARIANCES, FEES AND ENFORCEMENT 

 
Section 55. VARIANCE PROCEDURE. 

 
(1) A property owner may initiate a request for a variance from the requirements of this ordinance by filing an 

application with the City pursuant to Section 12.070 of the Development Code. The Application shall be submitted at 
the same time as the application for a preliminary plat for a subdivision or major partition. 

 
(2) Public notice shall be mailed to property owners within 200 feet of the boundary of a proposed subdivision and 

200 feet of the boundary of a proposed partition. The content of the public notice shall be in accordance with Section 
11.040(1) of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 
(3) The Planning Commission shall hold a public hearing on the variance request in accordance with Section 

11.060 of the Zoning Ordinance. For subdivisions and major partitions the hearing shall be held in conjunction with 
the hearing held on the subdivision or partition request. 

 
(4) Planning Commission shall make a decision on the variance request in accordance with Section 11.060(6) of 

the Zoning Ordinance. 

 
(5) A decision of the Planning Commission may be appealed to the City Council in accordance with Section 

11.070 of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 
Section 56. VARIANCE CRITERIA. Variances to the requirements of this ordinance may be granted where the 
following criteria are met: 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit C



Subdivision & Land Partitioning Ordinance Amended June 11, 2025 Page 27 of 27 

(1) Exceptional or extraordinary circumstances apply to the property which do not apply generally to other 
properties in the same vicinity, and result from tract size or shape, topography or other circumstances over which the 
owners of property since enactment of this ordinance have had no control. 

 
(2) The variance is necessary for the preservation of a property right of the applicant substantially the same as 

owners of other property in the same vicinity possess. 

 
(3) The variance would not be materially detrimental to the purposes of this ordinance, or to property in the same 

vicinity in which the property is located, or otherwise conflict with the objectives of any City plan or policy. 

 
(4) The variance requested is the minimum variance which would alleviate hardship. 

 
Section 57. FILING FEES. 

 
It shall be the responsibility of the applicant to pay for the full cost of processing permit applications. Such fees shall 
not be refundable. The applicant shall be billed for costs incurred at the conclusion of the City action on the permit 
request. However, in no case shall the actual cost exceed the cost to the City. Fees shall not include the cost of 
preparing transcripts for appeals. Fees for preparation of written transcripts shall not exceed the actual cost of 
preparing the transcript, up to $500, plus one half of the actual cost over $500. 

 
Minimum Filing Fees: 

 
Subdivision $150 

 
Major Partition $100 

 
Minor Partition $50 

 
Variance $75 

 
Appeal (No appeal Fee is $75 

 
Required for an appeal of the City Recorder's decision, 

on a minor partition, to the Planning Commission) 

Section 58. SEVERABILITY. 

 
The provisions of this ordinance are severable. Should any section, clause, or provision of the ordinance be declared 
by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, the same shall not affect the validity of the ordinance as a whole or 
any part thereof, other than the part so declared to be invalid. 

 
Section 59. PENALTIES FOR VIOLATION. 

 
In addition to penalties provided by State law, a person who violates or fails to comply with a provision of this 
ordinance shall, upon conviction thereof, be punished by a fine of not more than $500 or imprisonment for not more 
than 100 days, or both. A violation of the ordinance shall be considered a separate offense for each day the violation 
continues. 

Ordinance 2025-03 - Exhibit C



Ordinance 2025-04   Page 1 of 2 

 
CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH, OREGON 

ORDINANCE NO. 2025-04 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN RELATED TO MIDDLE HOUSING 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Rockaway Beach (“City”) recognizes that certain amendments to 

the Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan are needed to implement HB 2001 (2019), as directed 

by Senate Bill (SB) 406 (“Proposed Amendments”); and 

 

WHEREAS, at a minimum, cities and unincorporated communities within Tillamook 

County served by water and sewer must permit all forms of middle housing - duplexes, triplexes, 

quadplexes, townhouses, and cottage clusters - in zones where single-family dwellings are 

permitted, consistent with the state’s adopted rules for Middle Housing in Large Cities; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Proposed Amendments also put in place design standards for triplex, 

quadplex, townhouse, and cottage cluster projects consistent with the Oregon Department of 

Land Conservation and Development’s Model Code for Large Cities; and 

 

 WHEREAS, through regular Planning Commission meetings in September 2024 and 

March 2025, City staff and consultants Cascadia Partners worked with the Planning Commission 

to develop the Proposed Amendments to address updates for middle housing;  

 

WHEREAS, on March 13, 2025, the City provided proper notice of the Proposed 

Amendments to the Department of Land Conservation and Development;  

 

 WHEREAS, on April 17, 2025, the Rockaway Beach Planning Commission conducted a 

properly noticed public hearing on the Proposed Amendments, and having received no 

objections, recommended that City Council adopt the Proposed Amendments; 

 

WHEREAS, on   , 2025, the City Council conducted a properly 

noticed public hearing and first and second reading on the Proposed Amendments; and 

 

WHEREAS, based upon all materials relevant to the proposal, staff reports, findings 

made by the Rockway Beach Planning Commission, and testimony and comments submitted at 

the public hearings, both orally and in writing, the Rockaway Beach City Council has made the 

findings of fact as set forth in Exhibit A. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, The City of Rockaway Beach ordains as follows: 

 

Section 1.  Findings.  The City Council hereby adopts the Findings of Fact set forth in the above 

recitals and attached as Exhibit A as its basis for adopting the Proposed Amendments to the 

Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan.   

 

Section 2.  Amendments.  The Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan is hereby amended, as 

shown in attached Exhibit B, to now read in full as shown in Exhibit C. 

 

 



Ordinance 2025-04   Page 2 of 2 

Section 3.  Unamended Provisions.  All unamended provisions of the Comprehensive Plan shall 

remain in full force and effect. 

 

Section 4.  Severability.  A determination of invalidity or unconstitutionality by a court of 

competent jurisdiction of any clause, sentence, paragraph, section, or part of this ordinance shall 

not affect the validity of the remaining parts to this ordinance.  

 

Section 5.  Effective Date.  Pursuant to the Rockaway Beach City Charter, this ordinance shall 

become effective on the thirtieth day after its adoption. 

 

1st reading by the Rockaway Beach City Council     . 

2nd reading by the Rockaway Beach City Council     . 

 

Adopted and Approved by the Rockaway Beach City Council     . 

 

 

          

Charles McNeilly, Mayor 

 

 

City Council   Aye/Nay 

Penny Cheek        / 

Kiley Konruff          / 

Tom Martine             / 

Mary McGinnis        / 

VACANT        / 

 

 

 

Attest: 

 

 

      

Melissa Thompson, City Recorder 



Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, and 2025-04 Page 1 of 6 
Staff Report 

CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION 

STAFF REPORT Middle Housing Zoning Ordinance, Subdivision 
Ordinance, and Comprehensive Plan Changes 
Case File: Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, and 2025-04 
DLCD PAPA File: Amendment 001-25 
Hearing Date: June 11, 2025 

APPLICANT: City of Rockaway Beach 

NATURE OF THE APPLICATION AND BACKGROUND ON THE REQUEST: The City of Rockaway 
Beach is proposing to amend the City of Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance, Subdivision Ordinance, and 
Comprehensive Plan.  The amendments to the Ordinances and Comprehensive Plan are necessary to meet state 
requirements for duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, townhouses and cottage clusters.  The City must take action to 
amend its development code and Comprehensive Plan policies by June 30, 2025, as directed by Senate Bill (SB) 
406. The bill directs cities and unincorporated communities within Tillamook County served by water and sewer
to permit all forms of middle housing—duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, townhouses, and cottage clusters—in zones
where single family dwellings are permitted, consistent with the state’s adopted rules for Middle Housing in Large
Cities which are implemented through state rules (OAR Division 660-046) and Middle Housing Model Code
adopted by reference.

Zoning Ordinance Amendments: 
• Section 1.030.  Definitions
• Section 2.020.  Classification of Zones
• Section 3.010.  Single Family Zone (R-1)
• Section 3.020.  Residential Zone (R-2)
• Section 3.030.  Residential/Resort Zone (R-R)
• Section 3.040.  Special Residential/Resort Zone (SRR)
• Section 3.050.  Commercial Zone (C-1)
• Section 3.090.  Lower Density Residential Zone (R-3)
• Section 3.091.  Residential Manufactured Dwelling Zone (RMD)
• Section 3.142.  Tsunami Hazard Overlay Zone
• Section 4.043.  Multifamily Sitting Criteria
• Section 4.044.  Townhouse Projects
• Section 4.045.  Triplex and Quadplex Dwellings
• Section 4.046.  Cottage Clusters
• Section 4.060.  Off-Street Parking and Off-Street Loading Requirements
• Section 5.050.  General Exceptions to Lot Size Requirements
• Section 5.060.  General Exceptions to Yard Requirements
• Section 7.030.  Change of Nonconforming Uses
• Section 10.030.  Permitted Buildings and Uses
• Section 10.040.  Development Standards

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A



 
 

Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, and 2025-04  Page 2 of 6 
Staff Report 

Subdivision Ordinance Amendments: 
• Middle Housing Land Divisions 

o Section 43.  Applicability 
o Section 44.  Process 
o Section 45.  Submittal Requirements 
o Section 46.  Decision Criteria 
o Section 47.  Decision 
o Section 48.  Conditions of Approval 
o Section 49.  Process for Final Plat Approval 
o Section 50.  Appeals 

 
Comprehensive Plan Amendments: 

• Beaches and Dunes Policy 
• Land Use Categories 
• The Manhattan Residential/Resort Area 
• The Special Residential/Resort Area 
• The Single Family or Duplex Residential Area 
• The Saltair Creek Residential/Resort Area (R-R) 
• The East Rockaway Beach Residential Area (R) 
• Housing Element 
• Policies 

 
Staff recommend to the Rockaway Beach City Council on June 11, 2025, adoption of the above listed amendments. 
 
RELEVANT CRITERIA:  The following standards apply to this request: 
 

Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance.  Article 9.  Amendments. 
Section 9.010. Authorization to Initiate Amendments. An amendment to the text of this ordinance or to a 
zoning map may be initiated by the City Council, Planning Commission, or by application of the property 
owner(s), contract purchaser(s), or his/her/their authorized agent. 
 
Section 9.015. Burden of Proof. The burden of proof is placed upon the initiator of the amendment. That 
burden shall be to prove: 

1. The proposed amendment fully accords with applicable Comprehensive Plan goals and policies; 
and 

2. The proposed amendment is required to meet a land use need. 
 

• Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan.  The Planning Process. 
Amendments to the text of the comprehensive plan shall be made only where findings have been adopted 
that the following criteria are met:  

A. The amendment is consistent with the comprehensive plan’s goals and policies; and  
B. The amendment is necessary to meet a land use need.  

 
• Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goals.  1-19. 

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A



 
 

Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, and 2025-04  Page 3 of 6 
Staff Report 

NOTIFICATION:  The Department of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD) was provided notice of 
the proposed legislative amendments on March 13, 2025.  Notice of this public hearing was posted online on the 
City website and was published in the Headlight Hearld. 
 
COMMENTS:  Comments from the Department of Land Conversation and Development and the Oregon Fair 
Housing Council are attached to this report. 
 
DISCUSSION OF REQUEST:  This draft set of amendments to the City of Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance, 
Subdivision Ordinance, and Comprehensive Plan, implement HB 2001 (2019), as directed by Senate Bill (SB) 406.  
At a minimum, cities and unincorporated communities within Tillamook County served by water and sewer must 
permit all forms of middle housing - duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, townhouses, and cottage clusters - in zones 
where single-family dwellings are permitted, consistent with the state’s adopted rules for Middle Housing in Large 
Cities.  The amendments also put in place design standards for triplex, quadplex, townhouse, and cottage cluster 
projects consistent with DLCD’s Model Code for Large Cities. 
 
FINDINGS:  Planning staff finds the following: 
 

1. The amendment is consistent with applicable Comprehensive Plan goals and policies. 
 
FINDING: This criterion has been met.  As stated in this report, the proposed amendments to the City of 
Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance, Subdivision Ordinance, and Comprehensive Plan are necessary to 
meet state requirements for duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, townhouses and cottage clusters, as directed 
by Senate Bill (SB) 406.  The proposed amendments correspond with one another to allow for consistency 
of the Comprehensive Plan.  The amendments are consistent with current Comprehensive Plan policies as 
follows: 
 

o Cluster development is to be encouraged, thus saving energy in construction, maintenance and 
heating. 

o The City shall support all efforts to provide low or moderate income housing in and around 
Rockaway Beach, and shall cooperate with the Tillamook County Housing Authority, and 
Northwest Oregon Housing Association. 

o The Land use Element of the comprehensive plan and the zoning ordinance shall designate areas 
within the City where multifamily dwellings may be located, and where mobile home parks may 
be developed. It is assumed that low cost multi-family housing developed with public or private 
financing can be located anywhere other multi-family housing is allowed. 

 
2. The amendment is required to meet a land use need. 

 
FINDING: This criterion has been met.  As stated in this report, the proposed amendments to the City of 
Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance, Subdivision Ordinance, and Comprehensive Plan are necessary to 
meet state requirements for duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, townhouses and cottage clusters, as directed 
by Senate Bill (SB) 406.  The bill directs cities and unincorporated communities within Tillamook County 
served by water and sewer to permit all forms of middle housing—duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, 
townhouses, and cottage clusters—in zones where single family dwellings are permitted, consistent with 
the state’s adopted rules for Middle Housing in Large Cities which are implemented through state rules 
(OAR Division 660-046) and Middle Housing Model Code adopted by reference. 

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A



 
 

Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, and 2025-04  Page 4 of 6 
Staff Report 

 
3. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 1.  Citizen Involvement: to develop a citizen involvement 

program that ensures the opportunity for citizens to be involved in all phases of the planning process. 
 
FINDING: This criterion has been met.  The Rockaway Beach City Council, Planning Commission and 
the public had numerous opportunities to become aware and engaged in the process related to the required 
middle housing amendments.  These opportunities included work sessions, a Town Hall meeting, a public 
hearing with the Planning Commission and this public hearing.  Additionally, notice of this public hearing 
was posted online on the City website and was published in the Headlight Hearld. 
 

4. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 2.  Land Use Planning: to establish a land use planning 
process and policy framework as a basis for all decisions and actions related to use of land and to assure 
an adequate factual basis for such decisions and actions. 
 
FINDING: This criterion has been met.  The proposed amendments reflect due consideration of housing 
related state laws and administrative rules consistent with providing a factual basis for land use decisions.   
 

5. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 3.  Agricultural Lands 
 
FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

6. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 4.  Forest Lands 
 
FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

7. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 5.  Natural Resources, Scenic and Historic Areas, and Open 
Spaces  
 
FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

8. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 6.  Air, Water and Land Resources Quality 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

9. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 7.  Areas Subject to Natural Hazards 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

10. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 8.  Recreational Needs 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

11. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 9.  Economic Development 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A



 
 

Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, and 2025-04  Page 5 of 6 
Staff Report 

12. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 10.  Housing:  to provide for the housing needs of the citizens 
of the state 

 
FINDING: This criterion has been met.  The proposed amendments will allow duplexes, triplexes, 
quadplexes, townhouses, and cottage clusters in zones where single-family dwellings are permitted.  These 
amendments are made at the direction of the state to make room for middle housing to address the state’s 
housing shortfall and meet the public need.  The allowance of middle housing in all residentially zoned 
areas should address the housing production needs identified in the 2019 Housing Needs Analysis (HNA).  
At the time the HNA was drafted, “66-80% of the total housing stock [was] owned by part-time residents”.  
While the Buildable Lands Inventory (BLI) identified a surplus of residential buildable lands, low wages 
and high housing costs have been barriers to housing production for full-time residents.   
 

13. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 11.  Public Facilities and Services: to plan efficient 
arrangement of public facilities and services to serve as a framework for urban and rural development. 

 
FINDING: This criterion has been met.  The proposed amendments address the coordination for public 
facilities and services necessary to provide for middle housing within the UGB.   
 

14. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 12.  Transportation 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

15. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 13.  Energy Conservation 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

16. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 14.  Urbanization 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

17. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 15.  Wilamette River Greenway 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

18. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 16.  Estuarine Resources 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

19. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 17.  Coastal Shorelands 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 

20. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 18.  Beaches and Dunes 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 
 

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A



 
 

Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, and 2025-04  Page 6 of 6 
Staff Report 

21. Oregon’s Statewide Land Use Planning Goal 6.  Ocean Resources 
 

FINDING: This criterion is not applicable.   
 
CONCLUSION:  The findings of the planning staff support the proposed amendments to the City of Rockaway 
Beach Zoning Ordinance, Subdivision Ordinance, and Comprehensive Plan, which were recommended for approval 
by the Rockaway Beach Planning Commission on April 17, 2025.   
 
The amendments are consistent with the applicable criteria. 
 
Accordingly, the City of Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance, Subdivision Ordinance, and Comprehensive Plan 
shall be updated to reflect the changes as presented. 
 
In making a decision, the Rockaway Beach Council Commission may recommend approval of the amendments to 
the City of Rockaway Beach Zoning Ordinance, Subdivision Ordinance, and Comprehensive Plan, as recommended 
by planning staff or with modifications. 

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A



You don't often get email from cityplanner@corb.us. Learn why this is important

From: MARQUARDT Ryan * DLCD
To: City Planner
Cc: ESTES Brett * DLCD
Subject: RE: HB 4064
Date: Wednesday, May 14, 2025 8:20:17 AM

Hi Mary,
Apologies that it took me a while to do a more in-depth review. Everything in the zoning
code amendments looks to be in good shape.
 
I have one observation about the middle housing land division amendments. The
codification of ORS 92.031 looks good overall. There are some parts of the amendments
that go beyond what is in ORS (e.g. existing conditions requirements, city manager
approval process). While I don’t see those as inherently problematic, the city does assume
some risk in codifying requirements, processes, and criteria beyond what is established in
statute. We’d recommend consulting the city’s legal counsel if you have questions or
concerns about this.
 
Ryan Marquardt, AICP
Housing Planner | Housing Accountability and Production Office
Pronouns: he/him
Cell: 971-375-5659 | Main: 503-373-0050
ryan.marquardt@dlcd.oregon.gov | www.oregon.gov/LCD
 
From: City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us> 
Sent: Thursday, April 17, 2025 3:14 PM
To: MARQUARDT Ryan * DLCD <Ryan.Marquardt@dlcd.oregon.gov>
Subject: RE: HB 4064

 

Hi Ryan,
 
Thank you for your response.  I look forward to hearing if you have any concerns regarding our
middle housing code once you’ve had a chance to review it more thoroughly.
 
 

Mary Johnson
City Planner
City of Rockaway Beach
(503) 374-1752
276 S Hwy 101 | PO Box 5 | Rockaway Beach, OR 97136
www.corb.us | cityplanner@corb.us  

 
PUBLIC RECORDS LAW DISCLOSURE: Emails are generally public records and therefore subject to public disclosure unless exempt
from disclosure under Oregon Public Records Law. Emails can be sent inadvertently to unintended recipients and contain confidential or
privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient (or authorized to receive for the recipient), please advise by return email and
delete immediately without reading or forwarding to others.
 
 

From: MARQUARDT Ryan * DLCD <Ryan.Marquardt@dlcd.oregon.gov> 

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A

mailto:cityplanner@corb.us
https://aka.ms/LearnAboutSenderIdentification
mailto:Ryan.Marquardt@dlcd.oregon.gov
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us
mailto:Brett.Estes@dlcd.oregon.gov
mailto:ryan.marquardt@dlcd.oregon.gov
http://www.oregon.gov/LCD
http://www.corb.us/
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us
mailto:Ryan.Marquardt@dlcd.oregon.gov


Sent: Thursday, April 17, 2025 11:02 AM
To: City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us>
Cc: ESTES Brett * DLCD <Brett.Estes@dlcd.oregon.gov>
Subject: RE: HB 4064

 
Hi Mary,
Regarding the middle housing code revisions – the amendments look good. On the whole,
it appears that the amendments are in alignment with OAR 660-046 and ORS 92.031,
though I didn’t do a line-by-line reading of the amendments compared with the state statute
and rules.
 
Regarding manufactured dwellings and regulations in 4.091 and 4.095 – it does appear that
these sections are out of compliance with SB 406. See highlighted text in ORS 197.478(4)
for the regulations that can apply to a manufactured dwelling  -
https://www.oregonlegislature.gov/bills_laws/ors/ors197.html#:~:text=
(4)%20A%20local%20government%20may%20not%20subject,Dwelling%20Code%20as%
20defined%20in%20ORS%20455.010. Consistent with ORS 197.646, the city should
review manufactured housing consistent with the ORS until amendments to these code
sections are adopted.
 
In the next week, I’ll try to do a more thorough review of the middle housing amendments.
Please let me know if you have any questions at this point.
Thanks!
-Ryan
 
Ryan Marquardt, AICP
Housing Planner | Housing Accountability and Production Office
Pronouns: he/him
Cell: 971-375-5659 | Main: 503-373-0050
ryan.marquardt@dlcd.oregon.gov | www.oregon.gov/LCD
 
From: ESTES Brett * DLCD <Brett.Estes@dlcd.oregon.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, April 17, 2025 10:14 AM
To: City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us>
Cc: MARQUARDT Ryan * DLCD <Ryan.Marquardt@dlcd.oregon.gov>
Subject: RE: HB 4064

 
Hi Mary,
 
I am pulling in Ryan Marquardt on this question to see if he can fill in any gaps on this issue the
consultant raised.  Ryan, see below from Mary in Rockaway Beach.
 
Mary, I would note that Ryan is also working to review the code amendments going to Planning
Commission.  He is doing his best to get any comments to you as soon as possible.  I wanted to
let you know that the amendments are being looked at.

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A

mailto:cityplanner@corb.us
mailto:Brett.Estes@dlcd.oregon.gov
https://www.oregonlegislature.gov/bills_laws/ors/ors197.html#:~:text=(4)%20A%20local%20government%20may%20not%20subject,Dwelling%20Code%20as%20defined%20in%20ORS%20455.010
https://www.oregonlegislature.gov/bills_laws/ors/ors197.html#:~:text=(4)%20A%20local%20government%20may%20not%20subject,Dwelling%20Code%20as%20defined%20in%20ORS%20455.010
https://www.oregonlegislature.gov/bills_laws/ors/ors197.html#:~:text=(4)%20A%20local%20government%20may%20not%20subject,Dwelling%20Code%20as%20defined%20in%20ORS%20455.010
mailto:ryan.marquardt@dlcd.oregon.gov
http://www.oregon.gov/LCD
mailto:Brett.Estes@dlcd.oregon.gov
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us
mailto:Ryan.Marquardt@dlcd.oregon.gov


 
Thanks!
Brett
 
Brett Estes   
North Coast Regional Representative | Coastal Division
Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development
635 Capitol Street NE, Suite 150 | Salem, OR 97301-2540
Cell: 503-881-0667 | Main: 503-373-0050
brett.estes@dlcd.oregon.gov | www.oregon.gov/LCD
 
From: City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us> 
Sent: Thursday, April 17, 2025 9:33 AM
To: ESTES Brett * DLCD <Brett.Estes@dlcd.oregon.gov>
Subject: HB 4064

 
Hi Brett,
 
When our consultants were reviewing our code for SB 406, they noted that our manufactured
dwelling sitting criteria is out of compliance with HB 4064 – noting that our standards are no
longer authorized by statute unless they also apply to site-built homes.
 
I was curious if DLCD had any guidance or information they could share on this?  I plan to make
updates to this once we finish the SB406 and PICM updates.
 
Thanks,
 
 

Mary Johnson
City Planner
City of Rockaway Beach
(503) 374-1752
276 S Hwy 101 | PO Box 5 | Rockaway Beach, OR 97136
www.corb.us | cityplanner@corb.us  

 
PUBLIC RECORDS LAW DISCLOSURE: Emails are generally public records and therefore subject to public disclosure unless exempt
from disclosure under Oregon Public Records Law. Emails can be sent inadvertently to unintended recipients and contain confidential or
privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient (or authorized to receive for the recipient), please advise by return email and
delete immediately without reading or forwarding to others.
 

 

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A

mailto:brett.estes@dlcd.oregon.gov
http://www.oregon.gov/LCD
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us
mailto:Brett.Estes@dlcd.oregon.gov
http://www.corb.us/
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us


From: Mathew Hogan from Fair Housing Council of Oregon
To: City Planner
Subject: RE: PAPA file Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, & 2025-04
Date: Thursday, April 17, 2025 9:33:29 AM

I look forward to it. Thanks for all your communication, Mary!

Mathew Hogan
Fair Housing Council of Oregon
Phone: (406) 439 0950

For the latest on the PAPA Project and our feedback & technical advice methodology,
please read the PAPAs section at our partner website, here.

On Thu, Apr 17, 2025 at 9:29 AM, City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us> wrote: 

Hi Mathew,

 

Of course – we are working with Cascadia Partners.  I’ve added their contacts below.

 

Also, I will be adding a supplemental staff report for this evening’s meeting to address Goal 10.  I’ll
send you a copy shortly.

 

Jamin Kimmell jamin@cascadia-partners.com;

Rachel Cotton rachel@cascadia-partners.com

 

 

Mary Johnson
City Planner

City of Rockaway Beach
(503) 374-1752
276 S Hwy 101 | PO Box 5 | Rockaway Beach, OR 97136

www.corb.us | cityplanner@corb.us  

 

PUBLIC RECORDS LAW DISCLOSURE: Emails are generally public records and therefore subject to public disclosure unless
exempt from disclosure under Oregon Public Records Law. Emails can be sent inadvertently to unintended recipients and contain
confidential or privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient (or authorized to receive for the recipient), please advise by
return email and delete immediately without reading or forwarding to others.

 

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A

mailto:mathew.jamesfhco@gmail.com
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us
https://tinyurl.com/HLAdvocates
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us
mailto:jamin@cascadia-partners.com
mailto:rachel@cascadia-partners.com
http://www.corb.us/
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us


 

From: Mathew Hogan from Fair Housing Council of Oregon <mathew.jamesfhco@gmail.com> 
Sent: Thursday, April 17, 2025 9:25 AM
To: City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us>
Subject: RE: PAPA file Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, & 2025-04

Good morning Mary,
I was thing about this amendment, and I was wondering if you could share  who
your consultants are.

Mathew Hogan
Fair Housing Council of Oregon
Phone: (406) 439 0950

 

For the latest on the PAPA Project and our feedback & technical advice
methodology, please read the PAPAs section at our partner website, here.

On Wed, Apr 16, 2025 at 4:00 PM, Mathew Hogan from Fair Housing Council of Oregon
<mathew.jamesfhco@gmail.com> wrote:

Hi Mary, Thank you for the prompt reply. Yes, you will need to cite the HNA and
BLI so that you can find how this will impact housing based on what it says in
those documents. We will need to see more as far as Goal 10 is concerned.
Please see this link for help
https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/UP/Documents/HB_2001_Findings_Guidance.pdf.

Mathew Hogan
Fair Housing Council of Oregon
Phone: (406) 439 0950

 

For the latest on the PAPA Project and our feedback & technical advice
methodology, please read the PAPAs section at our partner website, here.

On Wed, Apr 16, 2025 at 2:06 PM, City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us> wrote:

Hi Matthew,

 

Thanks for reviewing the report.  I had prepared a slightly more detailed version, but our
consultants advised that I should hold off on that until the Council hearing.  I’ve attached it
here and am curious if you think this sufficiently addresses Goal 10?  I didn’t reference the
HNA or BLI, so I’m not sure if it is enough.

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A

mailto:mathew.jamesfhco@gmail.com
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us
https://tinyurl.com/HLAdvocates
mailto:mathew.jamesfhco@gmail.com
https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/UP/Documents/HB_2001_Findings_Guidance.pdf
https://tinyurl.com/HLAdvocates
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us


 

Thanks for your thoughts.

 

 

Mary Johnson
City Planner

City of Rockaway Beach
(503) 374-1752
276 S Hwy 101 | PO Box 5 | Rockaway Beach, OR 97136

www.corb.us | cityplanner@corb.us  

 

PUBLIC RECORDS LAW DISCLOSURE: Emails are generally public records and therefore subject to public disclosure
unless exempt from disclosure under Oregon Public Records Law. Emails can be sent inadvertently to unintended recipients and
contain confidential or privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient (or authorized to receive for the recipient),
please advise by return email and delete immediately without reading or forwarding to others.

 

 

From: Mathew Hogan from Fair Housing Council of Oregon <mathew.jamesfhco@gmail.com>
Sent: Wednesday, April 16, 2025 2:00 PM
To: City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us>
Subject: RE: PAPA file Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, & 2025-04

Hi Mary,
Thank you for sending the link to the Staff Report. It's a great amendment, I
think the board here would just like to see the section addressing Goal 10 be a
bit more specific.
It currently says that you will address Goal 10 when you implement the
ordinance but it should be addressed at this stage.
How, specifically, will Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, & 2025-04 meet the city's
housing goals? Many cities make reference to Housing Needs Assessment
(HNA) or their Buildable Lands Inventory (BLI).
This may be helpful to you, Findings Guidance. Let me know if I can help in
some way, we would love to submit a positive letter in support of this
amendment for the hearing on 4/17/25.

Powered by HubSpot.

On Tue, Apr 8, 2025 at 10:05 AM, City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us> wrote:

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A

http://www.corb.us/
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us
mailto:mathew.jamesfhco@gmail.com
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us
https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/UP/Documents/HB_2001_Findings_Guidance.pdf
https://app.hubspot.com/signup-hubspot/sales?uuid=ca5143d7-cf10-4bd4-b040-8d1e858196e7&utm_medium=virality&utm_campaign=hubspot-email-plugin-virality
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us


Hi Mathew,

 

The staff report is not yet available.  Please check back on our website this Thursday for all
of the requested documents.  Here’s the link to the page where they will be posted:
Planning Commission – City of Rockaway Beach

 

 

Mary Johnson
City Planner

City of Rockaway Beach
(503) 374-1752
276 S Hwy 101 | PO Box 5 | Rockaway Beach, OR 97136

www.corb.us | cityplanner@corb.us  

 

PUBLIC RECORDS LAW DISCLOSURE: Emails are generally public records and therefore subject to public disclosure
unless exempt from disclosure under Oregon Public Records Law. Emails can be sent inadvertently to unintended recipients
and contain confidential or privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient (or authorized to receive for the
recipient), please advise by return email and delete immediately without reading or forwarding to others.

 

 

From: Mathew Hogan from Fair Housing Council of Oregon
<mathew.jamesfhco@gmail.com> 
Sent: Tuesday, April 8, 2025 9:57 AM
To: City Planner <cityplanner@corb.us>
Subject: PAPA file Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, & 2025-04

Good morning Mary,

My name is Mathew Hogan and I am conducting outreach for the Fair Housing
Council of Oregon (FHCO). I was hoping to obtain the staff report and all
corresponding attachments for Ordinance 2025-02, 2025-03, & 2025-04 the “Text
changes to the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance and Subdivision
Ordinance to make room for Middle Housing Types in Tillamook County in response
to SB406.“ when available. We will be reviewing the staff report predominantly for
Statewide Planning Goal 10 compliance.

If we do have any commentary or concerns my colleagues and I will be in touch to
advise. We hope this can be a collaborative process. Please confirm receipt of this e-
mail, and I look forward to hearing from you soon.

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A

https://corb.us/planning-commission/
http://www.corb.us/
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us
mailto:mathew.jamesfhco@gmail.com
mailto:cityplanner@corb.us


Very Respectfully,

Mathew Hogan
Fair Housing Council of Oregon
Phone: (503) 928-8597
E-mail: Mathew.JamesFHCO@gmail.com
For the latest on the PAPA Project and our feedback & technical advice methodology, please read the
PAPAs section at our partner website, here.

Powered by HubSpot.

Ordinance 2025-02/03/04 - Exhibit A

tel:(503)%20928-4943
mailto:Sbrmdz@protonmail.com
mailto:athew.JamesFHCO@gmail.com
https://housinglandadvocates.wordpress.com/what-we-do/
https://app.hubspot.com/signup-hubspot/sales?uuid=df7818d2-985b-4a00-8ed8-7be795156ff6&utm_medium=virality&utm_campaign=hubspot-email-plugin-virality


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF 

ROCKAWAY BEACH 

 

 

COMPREHENSIVE 

PLAN 

ORDINANCE 194 AMENDED BY ORDINANCE 08-01 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit B



2 
 

 

[…] 

 

Beaches and Dunes Policies 

The following policies shall apply to the City’s beaches: 

 

[…] 

14. Rockaway Beach shall protect the groundwater in dune areas from drawdown, 

which could lead to loss of stabilizing vegetation, loss of water quality, or 

intrusion of salt water into water supplies, by reviewing all proposed wells to 

ensure that findings are made to address the above factors. Building permits 

for single family unit dwellings and middle housing are exempt from this 

requirement if appropriate findings are provided at the time of subdivision 

approval. [Policy 14, added by Ord. 243, May 13, 1986.] 

 

[…] 

 

Land Use Categories 

Land use categories are intended to establish certain uses for certain areas based on 

neighborhood characteristics, physical limitations, the availability of public services such 

as streets, sewer and water, the desires to build a strong economy and maintain a clean 

environment, and other factors. 

 

The plan establishes rather high density limits (generally up to 24 units per acre, with 

exceptions for middle housing) in the developed areas. The basic philosophy is that there 

is little land available in the City that does not pose limitations to development, and those 

areas where development can occur should be more intensively used than sensitive lands 

such as the wetlands around the lakes, and steep slopes. 

 

[…] 

 

The Manhattan Residential/Resort Area 

This area extends from the northern City limits of Rockaway Beach south to NW 18th 

Ave. on the west side of US Highway 101, and south to NW 10th Ave. on the east side of 

the highway. [Manhattan Residential/Resort Area, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

This is a mixed use area combining commercial activity on the east side of the highway, 

with motels, weekend cabins and permanent residences throughout the area. Essentially, 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit B



3 
 

it is a thin strip of land bounded by the Pacific Ocean on the west and Crescent Lake and 

Lake Lytle on the east, separated by the federal highway and the railroad tracks. 

 

The area is also characterized by poor traffic circulation in the northern part west of the 

railroad tracks. There are no north-south streets throughout most of this area, and the 

streets that exist are not capable of handling large amounts of traffic. 

 

1. Expansion of existing motels or other tourist facilities should be planned to 

provide sufficient parking and circulation space. 

 

2. Density in the area is designated to be high, with a maximum of 24 dwelling 

units per acre. Maximum density does not apply to duplexes, triplexes, 

quadplexes, or cottage clusters. Maximum density for townhouses is 25 

dwelling units per acre. (Specific lot size requirements to be established by the 

zoning ordinance.) 

 

3. Development adjacent to the wetlands associated with Crescent Lake shall be 

undertaken in a manner that protects those wetlands. [Policy 3, amended by Ord. 

277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

4. Permitted uses in this area are residences (single-family, duplex unit, 

middle housing, and multi-unitfamily structures), hotels and motels, and 

limited commercial uses along US Highway 101, which are resort oriented. 

 

5. Previous policies concerning dunes and wetlands are applicable in this area. 

 

6. An area between NE 17th and NE 21st on the east side of US Highway 101 

shall be designated for commercial uses. [Policy 6, added by Ordinance No. 

277, passed August 29, 1990.] 

 

The Special Residential/Resort Area 

This area extends from NW 18th Ave. to NW 11th Ave. on the west side of US Highway 

101. This area is similar in character to the area north of it, but through the citizen 

involvement process it has been determined that it should have a specific policy [Special 

Residential/Resort Area, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.]: 

 

1. No new motels shall be allowed to establish in this area, but existing motels 

shall be allowed to reasonably expand with planning commission review to 

insure that proper parking and street access is permitted. 

 

2. Restaurants and other retail commercial uses shall be allowed with conditions 

to insure that they are compatible with the area. Additional motel units may be 

added to an existing motel if the owner can satisfy the planning commission 

with regard to parking and traffic requirements. The additions do not require a 

conditional use permit. 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit B



4 
 

3. Density in this area is designated to be the same as the Manhattan 

Residential/Resort Area, 24 dwellings per acre. Maximum 

density does not apply to duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, or 

cottage clusters. Maximum density for townhouses is 25 

dwelling units per acre. 

 

4. Uses permitted in this area are residential (single-family, duplex and multi- 

family structures), and the expansion of existing motel uses. [Policy 4, 

amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

 

The Single Family or Duplex Low Density Residential Area 

This area extends from NW 11th Ave. to N 6th Ave., west of US Highway 101. This area 

is in the vicinity of the “Ridge”, or high stabilized sand dune in the northern part of the 

City. It is a stable neighborhood composed primarily of single-family homes. There are 

large motels on either end of this area, and a limited amount of vacant land dispersed 

among existing structures. The last community questionnaire indicated a strong desire of 

the townspeople to keep the area a single-family neighborhood. [Single-Family or Duplex 

Residential Area, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] However, SB406 was enacted 

by the Oregon Legislature in 2023 to improve housing availability and affordability in 

Tillamook County. It requires “middle housing”–including duplexes, triplexes, 

quadplexes, townhouses and cottage clusters—to  be allowed in the city’s residential 

zones. The Low-Density Residential area will accommodate single-unit homes and 

middle housing types. 

 

1. The area should remain one of primarily single-family homes, although 

duplexes may be allowed on a conditional use basis. 

 

2. The density of this area should not exceed 24 dwelling units per acre. [Policy 

2, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] Maximum density does not apply 

to duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, or cottage clusters. Maximum density for 

townhouses is 25 dwelling units per acre. 

 

3. [Policy 3, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

4. [Policy 4, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

[…] 

 

The Saltair Creek Residential/Resort Area (R/R) 

This area extends from S. 3rd Avenue to Alder Street, and is entirely west of US Highway 

101. [Saltair Creek Residential/Resort Area, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

This is primarily an area of small beach cottages and homes, on small lots. The streets are 

very narrow (S. Pacific is 20 feet wide, S. Miller is 30 feet wide), and as such cannot 

accommodate large traffic volume. There are presently few commercial land uses in this 

area, and little vacant property. 

 

1. Active and conditionally stable foredunes are identified in Figure 2 (after page 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit B



5 
 

19). Much of the land in this area falls into this category, and therefore the 

beaches and dunes policy applies. 

 

2. The Clear Lake ocean outlet in this area poses some flooding hazards that 

must be considered for any construction in the vicinity. 

 

3. This area should remain primarily resort residential, with a density limitation 

of 24 dwelling units per acre. This density limitation does not apply to 

duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, or cottage clusters. Maximum density for 

townhouses is 25 dwelling units per acre. Motels should be allowed 

conditionally with attention paid to vehicle access on the narrow streets. 

Off-street parking is especially important. 

[…] 

 

The East Rockaway Beach Residential Area [R] 

This area comprises a large portion of the City’s residential area east of US Highway 

101; it extends from S. 7th Avenue to N. 6th Avenue and from NE 12th Avenue to NE 24th 

Avenue. The area includes fairly large tracts of undeveloped land east of Crescent Lake. 

Development in these areas may be limited by the existence of steep slopes and wetlands. 

[East Rockaway Beach Residential Area, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

1. Densities in these areas are designated from 9 dwelling units per acre in the 

area zoned R-3 to 24 dwelling units per acre for multi-family unit dwellings 

permitted as conditional uses in the R-2 area. [Policy 1, amended by Ord. 277, 

Aug. 29, 1990.] Density limits do not apply to duplexes, triplexes, 

quadplexes, or cottage clusters in these areas. Maximum density for 

townhouses is 25 dwelling units per acre. 

 

2. Riparian vegetation shall be protected by city riparian corridor regulations. 

Rockaway Beach will consider options in the future to adopt local standards to 

protect riparian corridors and wetlands, inventoried on the Rockaway Beach 

Local Wetland Inventory (LWI), consistent with Statewide Planning Goal 5 

which balance protection of these resources with community development 

objectives. [Policy 2, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

3. [Policy 3, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

4. [Policy 4, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

5. Special consideration must also be given to development on steep slope areas 

to insure that landslide hazard and erosion is minimized. As part of the 

approval of a subdivision or planned unit development the planning 

commission may require that a grading and erosion control plan be prepared 

and implemented. [Policy 5, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

6. [Policy 6, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

7. The City encourages the use of planned developments for the development of 

larger parcels in order to provide for the clustering of development as a means 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit B



6 
 

of minimizing the impact on sensitive areas such as steep slopes and wetland 

areas. [Policy 7, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

8. [Policy 8, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

9. Multi-familyunit structures built closer to the downtown area should 

include dwellings for the elderly, who can benefit from proximity to the 

shopping areas. 

 

10. [Policy 10, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

[…] 

 

Housing Element 

The state-wide goal applicable to this plan element is: “To provide for the housing needs 

of citizens of the state.” 

 

The housing needs of Rockaway Beach differ from communities elsewhere primarily 

because of its coastal location, its lack of industry other than tourism, and its size. 

Rockaway Beach is a resort area, with approximately 65 percent of its housing used on a 

weekend or vacation basis. A large percentage of its permanent residents, about 30 

percent, are senior citizens, which is typical of communities in the coastal area. The 

major housing needs of the City are basically two-fold: 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit B



7 
 

1. Housing for low-income workers employed by tourist-oriented businesses, 

and 

2. Housing for low-income senior citizens. 

 

The City’s housing strategy is to: 

 

• Permit development on smaller lots, 5,000 square feet; 

 

• To permit development of duplex middle housing and multi-family unit 

dwellings throughout most of the City on an outright or conditional use 
basis; 

 

• To encourage higher densities, generally 24 dwellings per acre, for 

middle housing and multi- family unit development; 

 

• To permit manufactured dwellings on individual lots in some zones; and 

 

• To designate zones that provide manufactured dwelling subdivisions and 
manufactured dwelling parks. 

 

The City has also encouraged the development of low cost federally subsidized land in 

conjunction with the school district. Up to the present time, housing development in the 

City has mostly been in the form of single-family dwellings. 

 

[…] 

 

Policies 

1. The City shall support all efforts to provide low or moderate income housing 

in and around Rockaway Beach, and shall cooperate with the Tillamook 

County Housing Authority, and Northwest Oregon Housing Association. 

 

2. The Land use Element of the comprehensive plan and the zoning ordinance 

shall designate areas within the City where multifamily dwellings may be 

located, and where mobile home parks may be developed. It is assumed that 

low cost multi-family housing developed with public or private financing can 

be located anywhere other multi-family housing is allowed. 

 

3. [Policy 3, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] The City shall designate 

sufficient buildable land within the UGB to meet housing needs identified in 

the Urbanization Report (ECONorthwest, June 2007). Approval standards for 

needed housing shall be clear and objective, as required by state statute and 

the Goal 10 (Housing) administrative rule. 

4. Manufactured dwellings shall be permitted in areas zoned for single-family 

dwellings, subject to clear and objective design standards. [Policy 4, amended 

by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

5. Federal and state housing programs should be used to upgrade the existing 

housing in Rockaway Beach and to provide new dwellings. 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit B



8 
 

 

6. The City shall review the impacts of vacation rentals on the demand for public 

facilities and services, neighborhood identity and community, and the City’s 

tax structure. [Policy 6, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

7. The City shall encourage the development of middle housing in its residential 

zones. 

 

 

[…] 

 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit B



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF 

ROCKAWAY BEACH 

 

 

COMPREHENSIVE 

PLAN 

 

AMENDED JUNE 2025

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 2 
 

 

 

Introduction 

The City of Rockaway enjoys a beautiful beachside setting on the north Oregon coast. 

Throughout the years the town’s choice location has been the main reason for its growth 

and development. As Oregon’s population and rate of tourism increases, the pressures of 

growth will increase for Rockaway and other coastal resorts. 

 

If this growth assumes haphazard patterns, unnecessary burdens on public facilities and 

incompatible uses of land will be inevitable. Comprehensive planning gives the 

community control over these types of problems before they occur. According to Oregon 

law, a comprehensive plan includes maps and policy statements, linking those factors that 

affect land use. 

 

This plan establishes such policies, in keeping with the Statewide Planning Goals 

originally adopted in 1974-5 by the Oregon Land Conservation and Development 

Commission. The Statewide Planning Goals have been amended substantially over the 

years, and most have corresponding administrative rules. 

 

The comprehensive plan is designed to perform several functions: 

 

• Govern the city staff, planning commission, and city council on development 

proposals 

 

• Provide a capital improvement program on water, sewer, drainage and street 
proposals for the budget committee and city council; 

 

• Suggest some useful ideas for the enhancement of the city, and 

 

• Establish a land use planning process or procedure for making decisions, 

involving citizens and agencies in that process. 

 

The plan is set up to comply with the Statewide Planning Goals and guidelines of Senate 

Bill 100 (ORS 197). The goals stated at the start of each element are mandatory 

requirements under state law. 

 

 

2007 Comprehensive Plan Review and Update 

In 2007, the City contracted with ECO Northwest to prepare the Rockaway Beach 

Urbanization Study (Urbanization Study). The Urbanization Study is a background 

document to the comprehensive plan. Key findings from this study include the following: 

 

• Rockaway Beach is expected to grow from 1,394 year-round residents in 

2007 to 1,709 residents in 2027, an increase of 315 residents at an average 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 3 
 

annual rate of 1.02% The numbers are based on forecasts done by the 

state Office of Economic Analysis for Counties. They are, at best, 

estimates and may not have any basis in terms of actual trends. The City 

of Rockaway Beach should review these numbers every five years, and if 

there is a considerable discrepancy, initiate a process with the county to 

potentially reallocate. Since the number of vacation homes is 

disproportionate to the number of homes occupied by permanent residents 

and since tourism is the only industry of Rockaway Beach, it is vital that 

higher numbers be factored into public facility planning, utilizing the best 

available information. Employment is expected to grow from 342 jobs to 

419 jobs, an increase of 77 jobs at an average annual rate of 1.02%. 

 

• Rockaway Beach has about 162 buildable acres within the UGB. More 

than 96% of the land available in the Rockaway Beach UGB is zoned for 
residential uses. 

 

• Rockaway Beach will need about 160 new dwelling units to accommodate 

planned population growth between 2007 and 2027. The forecast shows 

that an average of eight new dwelling units will be needed annually. 

Rockaway Beach will need about 24 gross buildable residential acres to 

accommodate new housing for residents between 2007 and 2027. This 

forecast does review both a low and a high scenario for the demand for 

second homes for recreational and investment purposes. The Buildable 

Lands Inventory indicates that the City has a surplus of approximately 57 

residential acres. 

• Rockaway Beach will need about 12 gross buildable acres of commercial 

land to meet planned employment needs. The Buildable Lands Inventory 

indicates that the City has a shortfall of approximately five commercial 

acres. Therefore, some land that is currently designated for residential use 

will need to be re-designated for commercial land. 

Rockaway Beach considered the data and analysis found in the Urbanization 

Report to support amendments to the 2007 comprehensive plan amendment 

package. 

 

Specific policies that pertain to the land use planning process are as follows: 

 

Citizen Involvement 

1. Citizens shall be given the opportunity to be involved in all phases of the 

comprehensive planning process, the citizen Involvement Program emphasizes 

the following points: 

 

A. All planning decisions shall be made in open, well publicized 

meetings; 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 4 
 

B. Minutes shall be kept of all planning commission meetings, and shall 

be made available to citizens. 

C. During the development or amendment of the plan or supporting 

ordinances, the planning commission (the City’s committee for citizen 

involvement or CCI) shall take a lead roll in the preparation of 

documents; 

D. Planning commission members shall be chosen in an open, well- 

publicized manner; 

E. Through public meetings, the press and other means of 

communication, townspeople shall be informed of the workings of the 

city government and the planning process; 

F. All planning information and policies shall be written in a manner that 

is understandable to the general public; 

G. Citizen involvement in Rockaway Beach shall receive adequate 

technical assistance and financial support from the city government 

through the budget process; 

H. The city shall take into account public input during the planning 

process and respond to those who participate, and 

I. The planning commission shall serve as the permanent citizen’s 

involvement committee. 

 

Coordination 

2. Local governments and special purpose districts, state and federal agencies 

and jurisdictions shall be given the opportunity to participate in the City’s 

planning process, and to coordinate their plans with the City. 

 

The Planning Process 

3. The Oregon Supreme Count case Baker v. the City of Milwaukie, 1975, 

established the comprehensive plan as a city’s controlling land use 

document. When the plan and zoning ordinance disagree on an area or 

subject, it is, according to the decision, the plan that takes precedence over 

the ordinance. All conflicts between the two must be resolved early in the 

planning process for either document to be of value. 

 

4. The planning process is a continuous one, consisting of the following 

phases: 

 

A. Identification of problems and issues; 

B. Development of information and data; 

C. Development of alternative policies and recommendations; 

D. Adoption of the plan by the city council; 

E. Development, adoption and application of implementing ordinances 

and other measures. Review of proposed land use actions; and 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 5 
 

F. Periodic review and evaluation of all planning documents, including 

the citizen involvement program. 

 

5. At a minimum, a major review of the comprehensive plan will be undertaken 

at an interval as required by the Land Conservation and Development 

Commission’s periodic review requirement pursuant to ORS 197.640 – 

197.649. The city may undertake other amendments to the comprehensive 

plan, as necessary, to address issues of community concern. [Planning Process 

Policy 5, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

6. Amendments to the text of the comprehensive plan shall be made only where 

findings have been adopted that the following criteria are met: 

 

A. The amendment is consistent with the comprehensive plan’s goals and 

policies; and 

B. The amendment is necessary to meet a land use need. 

 

7. Amendments to the comprehensive plan map shall be made only where 

findings have been adopted that the following criteria are met: 

 

A. The amendment is consistent with the comprehensive plan’s goals and 

policies; 

B. The amendment is necessary to meet a land use need; 

C. The land is physically suitable for the uses to be permitted in terms of 

slope, geologic stability, flood hazard and other relevant 

considerations; 

D. The area can be served by the appropriate level of public facilities and 

adjacent streets can accommodate the traffic generated by uses 

permitted; 

E. The amendment is compatible with the land use development pattern 

in the vicinity of the request. [Planning Process Policy 7, amended by 

Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

8. An exception to the requirements of the applicable state-wide planning goal 

shall be adopted as an amendment to the comprehensive plan where the City 

is proposing a plan amendment, which does not conform to the requirements 

of the goal. The exception shall be supported by the following: 

 

A. Reasons justify why the state policy embodied in the applicable goals 

should not apply; 

B. Areas which do not require a new exception cannot reasonably 

accommodate the use; 

C. The long-term environmental, economic, social, and energy 

consequences resulting from the use at the proposed site with measures 

designed to reduce adverse impacts are not significantly more adverse 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 6 
 

than would typically result from the same proposal being located in 

areas requiring a goal exception other than the proposal site; and 

D. The proposed uses are compatible with other adjacent uses or will be 

so rendered through measures designed to reduce adverse impact. 

 

Notice of public hearing on proposed amendments shall state the nature of the 

goal exception being taken and a summary of the issues that are involved. 

[Planning Process Policy 8, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

9. The planning commission and the city council shall hold public hearings on 

proposed amendments to the comprehensive plan text or map. Notice of 

public will be published in a newspaper of general circulation that serves the 

city at least ten days prior to the public hearing. [Planning Process Policy 9, 

amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

 

Implementation 

The relationship or the difference between the plan and the zoning ordinance is often 

misunderstood. The plan can be viewed as a “constitution” for all land use within the 

city. It is intended to be general and directive in scope, as opposed to the zoning 

ordinance which is intended to be more specific. 

 

Other types of implementation measures are the subdivision ordinance, which prescribes 

standards for the subdivision of land, and any specific ordinances or actions which carry 

out the intent of the comprehensive plan. 

 

Zoning and subdivision ordinances may be revised as need arises so long as the change is 

consistent with the plan. Changes to implementing measures must follow the amendment 

procedure set out in each document. [Implementation section, amended by Ord. 277, 

Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

 

General Considerations 

The main thrust of a community comprehensive plan pertains to land use and to public 

facilities and services. However, there are other more general planning considerations 

which must be included in a comprehensive plan; considerations such as energy 

conservation, economy, air, land and water resources. 

 

This section of the comprehensive plan takes into account these general considerations, 

and provides policies relating these considerations to other parts of the plan. 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 7 
 

Economic Considerations 

The state-wide economic planning goal encourages “improvement” and “diversity” of the 

economy of the state. The economic base of Rockaway Beach is tourism, and has been so 

historically. Whereas neighboring communities rely on agriculture, forestry, fishing or 

port activities for their livelihood, Rockaway Beach’s lakes and Pacific beaches have 

provided the City with a specific economy. Without a harbor, farmland or industry other 

than recreation, Rockaway Beach shares with the cities of Lincoln City, Seaside and 

Cannon Beach the tourist trade of the north Oregon coast. People come to Rockaway 

Beach to fish, to walk on the beach, to “get away from it all”. Rockaway Beach is 

primarily a family resort, with inexpensive room rates and unsophisticated recreation. 

[Economic considerations, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

Chapter 5 of the Rockaway Beach Urbanization Study (ECO Northwest 2007) is the 

community’s “Economic Opportunities Analysis.” This analysis was prepared in 

accordance with the Economic Development Rule (OAR Chapter 660, Division 009) and 

identifies the types of employment opportunities that are appropriate for Rockaway 

Beach, given its locational characteristics and local policy preferences. The EOA (pp. 5- 

17 to 5-18) summarizes key conclusions regarding Rockaway Beach’s economic future: 

 

The mix of productive factors present in Rockaway Beach, relative to other 

communities and regions in Oregon, are the foundation of the region’s 

comparative advantage. Primary comparative advantages in Rockaway Beach are 

its location on Highway 101, location along the northern Oregon Coast, and 

proximity to Portland and the Willamette Valley. These factors make Rockaway 

Beach attractive to residents and visitors to the Oregon Coast. 

The characteristics of Rockaway Beach will affect the types of businesses most 

likely to locate in Rockaway Beach: 

 

•  Retail and Services: Tourism and seasonal housing will drive the 

growth of retail and services to serve visitors and residents of Rockaway 

Beach. Examples include: specialty retailers, firms engaged in recreational 

or entertainment services, restaurants, gas stations, financial services, and 

other small retailers. 

 

•  Health Services: Growth in population and changing 

demographics may drive the growth of Health services in Rockaway 

Beach. Health services for the aging population, especially residential 

facilities for people over 70 years, may locate in Rockaway Beach because 

of its location and amenities. 

The report by the Oregon Downtown Development Association “Resources Team 

Report for Rockaway Beach, Oregon” identified the following types of businesses 

as having the greatest chances for success in Rockaway Beach’s downtown: 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 8 
 

• Retail: Bookstore/gift shop; specialty apparel and accessories; gifts, 

cards, unique arts; specialized sporting goods for beach activities; local 

arts and crafts; beach toys and apparel; quality antiques and gifts; and 

toys like kites and games. 

 

• Service: Entertainment lines, gym and fitness center; bowling alley; 
movie theater/dance hall; and a microbrewery. 

 

• Restaurants: Coffee shop; bakery; specialty foods; and family-style 

restaurants. 

The report recommended that these businesses have the best chance of success if 

they are flexible and responsive to customer needs. For instance, they should 

serve residents and visitors and they could offer multiple complementary product 

lines. These services will also need to have good visibility from Highway 101 to 

attract tourists passing through the City. 

 

The Urbanization Study (pp. 5-21 to 5-22) describes kinds of commercial and 

retail sites that will be needed to accommodate planned retail and service growth 

needs over the 20-year planning period. Rockaway Beach needs to designate 

approximately 12 gross buildable acres of land to meet the needs of from 8-18 

future businesses. Table 5-9 is taken from the Urbanization Study and summarizes 

commercial site needs. 

 

Table 5-9. Needed commercial sites by site size, 
Rockaway Beach, 2007-2027  

 Est.  Total 
Size of Acres Average Sites 

Firm Needed Site Size Needed 
>20 3 2-4 ac 1 

10-19 3 1-2 ac 1-2 

 1-9 6 <1 ac 6-16 

Total 12 8-18 

 

Source: Estimates by ECONorthwest 

 

In 2007, Rockaway Beach had less than four acres of buildable commercial land 

remaining within the urban growth boundary. Therefore, the City needs to designate 

approximately four additional acres for commercial use. To address this unmet need, 

Rockaway Beach needs to re-designate land for commercial use east of Highway 101, 

encourage appropriate redevelopment of existing commercial areas, and require 

condominium developments in commercial areas to construct ground floor commercial 

space. (Urbanization Study, p.6-5). 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 9 
 

Policies Relating to the Economy 

1. The City shall support economic development activities which enhance its tourism 

oriented economic base. 

 

2. The City shall encourage the expansion of tourist accommodations, with particular 

emphasis on those accommodations that incorporate meeting room or conference 

facilities. 

 

3. The City will work with the local business community to strengthen the downtown 

commercial area as an important tourist and commercial center. To achieve this 

objective, consideration should be given to the following: 

 

A. Upgrading the physical appearance of the area and its buildings including 

consideration of a unifying theme that reflects the historic development of 

the City; 

 

B. Provision of additional conveniently located off-street parking; and 

 

C. Development of a pedestrian oriented environment, through the provision 

of pedestrian amenities. 

 

4. The City supports the efforts of the Chamber of Commerce and local business 

persons to expand visitor attractions and events that are available to tourists. 

 

5. The City will cooperate with the Chamber of Commerce in developing a marketing 

program that effectively promotes the City’s attractions and facilities. Such a program 

should be fully coordinated with other communities in the area. 

 

6. The City will provide sufficient commercial land to allow for the reasonable 

expansion of the community’s businesses. Care should be taken to ensure that future 

commercial development is well designed and relates well to the surrounding 

neighborhoods and the natural environment. 

 

7. The City will encourage local residents to develop small scale home occupations. 

 

8. The City will use its designation as part of the Tillamook Enterprise Zone to attract 

new businesses to Rockaway Beach. 

 

9. The City will cooperate with the Tillamook Economic Development Committee in its 

efforts to strengthen and diversify the economy of Tillamook County. 

 

10. The City will work with the Tillamook Economic Development Committee to see 

that projects supportive of Rockaway Beach’s economy are incorporated into the 

Oregon Tourism Alliance’s overall strategy. 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 10 
 

11. The City recognizes that its retirement community represents an important element 

of the economy. The City will cooperate with community groups on making 

community improvements that will enhance the City’s attractiveness as a retirement 

community. Particular attention should be given to enhancing the medical facilities 

available in the region. 

 

[Policies Relating to the Economy, amended by Ord. 277, August 29, 1990.] 

 

12. To meet commercial retail and service land needs the City should: 

 

A. Amend the Comprehensive Plan and Zoning maps to increase the supply of 

commercial land by approximately four acres; 

B. Encourage commercial redevelopment of existing commercial areas; and 

C. Require condominiums in commercially zoned areas to have ground floor 

commercial space. 

 

Air, Water and Land Resource Considerations 

The state-wide goals applicable to this discussion are: 

 

• “To maintain and improve the quality of the air, water and land resources of the 

state. 

 

• To preserve and maintain agricultural lands. 

• To conserve forest lands for forest uses.” 

The high quality of air, land and water resources in Rockaway Beach can be protected by 

the joint efforts of local and state government. Oregon’s Department of Environmental 

Quality regulates the abatement of air and water pollution, establishes clean air standards 

and sewer and water regulations. 

 

Water Quality 

City ordinances regarding land use can maintain land resource quality and guard against 

degradation of water quality. 

 

Sanitary sewer service and drinking water facilities are regulated by the federal 

government and state agencies. All development within the City must utilize these 

services. Information on each of these is contained in the public facilities element. 

 

Air Quality 

Air quality has never been a problem in the Rockaway Beach area due to population and 

its location on the ocean. Its population is small. The major source of air pollution is the 

automobile. Reduced use of the automobile and continued enforcement of federal 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 11 
 

automobile engine emission regulations can help eliminate this as a source of pollution. 

Should an industry propose to locate in Rockaway, its potential for pollution – thermal, 

acoustic, water or air would come under city and DEQ scrutiny. The importance of 

Rockaway’s air quality to residents and visitors must be considered in any development 

proposal. 

 

Forest Resources 

Forest resources are obviously important to the Rockaway area. The forest industry has a 

long tradition in the area. Rockaway is bordered on the east by forest lands. Considering 

the fragile terrain of much of Rockaway – the dunes on the west and the steep hillsides on 

the east – owners should be encouraged to leave undeveloped land in its natural state in 

order to prevent erosion, provide habitat for wildlife, enhance the natural beauty of the 

area, and provide recreation space. 

 

Agricultural Land 

There is no agricultural land in Rockaway (soil conservation Class I-IV). Some minor 

grazing takes place near the south side of Lake Lytle, but the area is not considered to be 

a functioning farm unit. 

 

Wetlands and Riparian Corridors 

Rockaway Beach completed its Local Wetlands Inventory (LWI) in June, 1993. Riparian 

vegetation shall be protected by city riparian corridor regulations. For future city 

consideration, Statewide Planning Goal 5 and the Goal 5 administrative rule set forth 

options for protecting riparian corridors and locally significant wetlands identified on the 

LWI. 
 

Policies  

1. The City will cooperate with the Department of Environmental Quality 

to ensure that applicable state and federal air and water quality standards 

and requirements are met [Policy 1, as amended by Ord. 223, Aug. 24, 

1982; and Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

2. The City shall continue to improve its sanitary sewer system, in 

conformance with applicable state and federal requirements. [Policy 2, 

amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

3. The City recognizes that Rockaway Beach lies in a critical groundwater 

area and shall refuse to permit uses which the Department of 

Environmental Quality determines could pollute or adversely affect the 

aquifer. The city shall rely on the Department of Environmental Quality 

and other qualified experts to determine the impacts of proposed uses and 

to develop a program to protect the aquifer from such uses. [Policy 3, 

amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 12 
 

 

4. Cluster developments shall be encouraged, especially in area with steep 

slopes, or wetlands, as a means of minimizing the potential adverse 

impacts of development in such areas. [Policy 4, amended by Ord. 277, 

Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

5. Cluster developments around Lake Lytle, Crescent Lake and Spring 

Lake shall be encouraged in order to prevent filling of wetlands, protect 

riparian vegetation and minimize the impact of development on the visual 

quality of the lakes. [Policy 5, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

6. The City will control storm run-off, sedimentation and erosion resulting 

from development through its subdivision ordinance. [Policy 6, amended 

by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990] 

 

7. The City will continue to cooperate with Tillamook County in finding 

long-term solutions to the disposal of solid waste, including efforts to 

increase recycling. [Policy 6, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

8. The City will cooperate with the Department of Environmental Quality 

in preventing and abating noise pollution problems in the city. [Policy 8, 

as amended by Ord. 223, Aug. 24, 1982; and Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

9. The City’s actions shall be consistent with state and federal hazardous 

waste regulations. [Policy 9, added by Ordinance No. 277, passed August 

29, 1990.] 

 

10. Rockaway Beach will consider options in the future to adopt local 

standards to protect riparian corridors and wetlands inventoried on the 

Rockaway Beach Local Wetlands Inventory) consistent with Statewide 

Planning Goal 5 which balance protection of these resources with 

community development objectives. 

 

Energy Considerations 

The state-wide goal applicable to this discussion is: - “To conserve energy.” 

 

The economic base of Rockaway Beach – recreation and tourism does not place a burden 

on energy resources locally, the way a manufacturing economy might, but the lifeline of a 

coastal resort economy is transportation. Tourist and summer residents have to get to 

Rockaway Beach and the most common type of transportation for this is the automobile, 

a voracious-consumer of non-renewable petroleum-resources. The City of Rockaway 

Beach is in no position to alter the transportation habits of its visitors beyond the 

immediate area, but improved facilities for pedestrians and cyclists and expanded bus 

service might relieve dependence on the auto within the City itself. 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 13 
 

There are other means of energy conservation amenable to city policies and actions. 

Several are dealt with in other elements of the plan. 

 

1. Cluster development is to be encouraged, thus saving energy in construction, 

maintenance and heating. 

 

2. Land use planning designed to maintain an identifiable downtown commercial 

core saves energy by concentrating activity and by encouraging foot traffic rather 

than driving. 

 

3. Development of vacant land within the urbanized area of Rockaway Beach 

before the development of un-urbanizable tracts is also encouraged for its energy 

savings. 

 

4. Enforcement of the building code also serves to conserve energy. The 

insulation requirements for new construction reduce energy consumption for 

heating and cooling. 

 

5. The City shall cooperate in area efforts to recycle materials such as metals, 

glass and paper. [Policy 5, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

6. Providing sidewalks and centralized parking facilities in the downtown and 

other areas can contribute to energy conservation by encouraging people to walk 

to several destinations. 

 

 

 

Land Use Element 

The state-wide goals applicable to this plan element are: 

 

• To establish a land use planning process and policy framework as 
a basis for all decisions and actions related to use of land and to 

assure an adequate factual base for such decisions and actions. 

 

• To conserve open space and protect natural and scenic resources. 

• To protect life and property from natural disasters and hazards. 

 

• To provide for an orderly and efficient transition from rural to 
urban land use.” 

 

The land use element of this comprehensive plan is based on the patterns of existing land 

use. Effective land use planning encourages the positive aspects of existing land use. It 

also establishes guidelines for future growth, which are intended to prevent the 

recurrence of past land use conflicts and abuses. 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 14 
 

 

Before the land use element of a comprehensive plan can be developed, existing land 

uses must be identified. Undeveloped land must be analyzed for building suitability, and 

a system of land use designation (for present and future application) must be developed in 

accordance with existing land uses and expressed community needs. 

Development Suitability 

Physical Limitations 

The natural attractions of the Rockaway Beach area have traditionally drawn people to 

the area; the beaches, bays, rivers, lakes and mountains appeal to residents and visitors 

alike, and that appeal translates into a demand for land. Quite naturally, the most 

desirable land was developed first – primarily that on the ocean front. Development then 

spread to other areas physically suited to building, until now. Rockaway Beach is faced 

with a very straightforward problem: most undeveloped land in the area suffers 

substantial physical limitations to building suitability. Compressible soils, poor drainage 

and landslide hazards are some of the special construction problems often facing today’s 

builder in Rockaway Beach. The physical limitations map (fig. #1) shows four areas that 

present problems to development: 1) beaches, 2) dunes, 3) wetlands and flood areas and 

4) steep slopes. 

The Local Wetlands Inventory (LWI) shows the location, quantity and quality of streams 

and wetlands within the Rockaway Beach UGB. 

 

These problems and opportunities are discussed in some detail in Part II of the 

comprehensive plan. 

 

Beaches and Dunes 

Implementation Requirement 2, of the Beaches and Dunes goal states 

 

“Local government and state and federal agencies shall prohibit residential 

developments and commercial and industrial building on beaches, active 

foredunes, or other foredunes, which are conditionally stable and that are subject 

to ocean undercutting or wave overtopping, and on interdune areas (deflation 

plains) that are subject to ocean flooding. Other development in these areas shall 

be permitted only if the findings required in (1) above are presented and it is 

demonstrated that the proposed development: 

 

a) is adequately protected from any geologic hazards, wind 

erosion, undercutting, ocean flooding and storm waves; or 

is of minimal value; and 

 

b) is designed to minimize adverse environmental effects.” 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 15 
 

There are a number of active foredunes and other foredunes which are 

conditionally stable and that are subject to ocean undercutting and wave 

overtopping, and on interdune areas (deflation Plains) that are subject to ocean 

flooding. These dune areas are described by FIRM rate maps as being located V 

zones (velocity zones) and AO zones (areas of shallow flooding). These areas of 

the City’s foredunes are shown on the map (fig. #2). This line was developed by 

examination of aerial photography, flood maps, and field work. 

 

The City is taking an exception to a portion of the requirement to permit 

residential, commercial development and industrial on active foredunes and other 

foredunes which are conditionally stable and that are subject to ocean 

undercutting or wave overtopping and on interdune areas (deflation plains) that 

are subject to ocean flooding. This exception is being taken for the following 

areas: 

 

NEDONNA BEACH 

1) The subdivisions of Nedonna Beach subdivision , Nedonna 

First, Second, Third, Fourth, Fifth, Sixth and Seventh 

Additions, and other lawful parcels, lie within active foredunes 

and other foredunes, which are conditionally stable and that are 

subject to ocean undercutting and wave overtopping and on 

interdune areas (deflation plains) that are subject to ocean 

flooding. The lots are located within either a velocity zone (V 

zone) or areas of shallow marine flooding (AO zone) as 

described by FIRM maps. See Appendix I for boundary 

description of this exception area. 

 

2) ROCKAWAY BEACH 

The subdivision of Manhattan Subdivision , Highland Park 

Subdivision, Lake Lytle Subdivision, Sea View Park 

Subdivision, Elmore Park Subdivision, Midway Beach 

Subdivision, Tillamook Beach Subdivision, and other lawful 

parcels lie within active foredunes and other foredunes, which 

are conditionally stable and that are subject to ocean 

undercutting and wave overtopping, and on interdune areas 

(deflation plains) that are subject to ocean flooding. The lots 

are located within either a velocity zone (V zone) or areas of 

shallow marine flooding (AO zone) as described by FIRM 

maps. See Appendix 1 for boundary description of this 

exception area. 

 

3) TWIN ROCKS 

The subdivisions of Rose City Beach Subdivision, Twin Rocks 

Subdivision, Oceanlake Park Subdivision, and other lawful 

parcels, lie within foredunes, which are conditionally stable 

and are subject to wave overtopping, and on interdune areas 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 16 
 

(deflation plains) that are subject to ocean flooding. The lots 

are located within areas of shallow marine flooding (AO zone) 

as described by FIRM maps. In addition, one lot, Tax Lot 

6100, Map IN10-5CB, which is located within active foredunes 

and other foredunes that are conditionally stable and that are 

subject to ocean undercutting. The lot is located within a 

velocity zone (V zone) as described by FIRM maps. [Beaches 

Policy, amended by Ord. 223, Aug. 24, 1982; and Ord. 243, 

May 13, 1986, II Dunes Policy, amended by Ord. 243, May 13, 

1986, Beaches Policy; Dunes Policy, titles amended by Ord. 

243, May 13, 1986.] See Appendix 1 for boundary description 

of this exception area. 

 

Documentation for these Statewide Planning Goal exceptions and findings related to 

Implementation Requirement 1 are included as part of the comprehensive plan in 

Appendix 1. 

 

Beaches and Dunes Policies 

The following policies shall apply to the City’s beaches: 

 

1. Beach uses other than recreation shall be prohibited. 

 

2. Vehicle access to the beach shall be restricted to emergency purposes. 

[Policy 1, amended by Ord. 243, May 13, 1986.] 

 

3. Beachfront protective structures (rip-rap, seawalls) shall be permitted only 

if: 

A. Visual impacts are minimized; 

B. Necessary access to the beach is maintained; 

C. Negative impacts on adjacent property are minimized; and 

D. Long-term or recurring costs to the public are avoided. [Policy 3, 

amended by Ord. 243, May 13, 1986.] 

E. Development existed on January 1, 1977, consistent with Goal 18, 

Implementation Requirement 2. 

 

4. Residential developments and commercial and industrial buildings on 

active foredunes or other foredunes, which are conditionally stable and 

that are subject to ocean undercutting or wave overtopping, and on 

interdune areas that are subject to ocean flooding shall be permitted only 

where consistent with the exceptions the City has taken to Goal 18 

requirements. 

 

Development other than residential and commercial buildings in these 

areas shall be permitted only if it is demonstrated that the proposed 

development: 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 17 
 

 

A. Is adequately protected from any geologic hazards, wind erosion, 

undercutting, ocean flooding and storm wave; or is of minimal value; 

and 

B. Is designed to minimize adverse environmental effects. [Policy 3, 

added by Ord. 243, May 13, 1986.] 

 

The state Beaches and Dunes Goal, Implementation Requirement 1, states that “The 

following findings shall be made for all development in beach and dune areas, other than 

older stabilized dunes: 

 

a. The type and use proposed and the adverse effects it might have on the 

site and adjacent areas; 

b. Temporary and permanent stabilization programs and planned 

maintenance of new existing vegetation; 

c. Methods for protecting the surrounding area from adverse effects of 

the development; and 

d. Hazards to life, public and private property, and the natural 

environment, which may be caused by the proposed use.” 

 

These findings will be made either by site-specific investigation for areas 

listed in Beaches and Dunes Policy 5 or by findings adopted as part of the 

comprehensive plan. [Policy 4, added by Ord. 243, May 13, 1986.] 

 

5. Site-specific investigations shall be required for future construction in: 

 

A. All beach front properties. 

B. All areas lying within velocity flood zones (V10, V14, V19) as 

delineated on the HUD Flood Insurance Rate Map. 

C. Any site on which proposed excavation will produce cut slopes greater 

than five feet in height or steeper than two horizontal to one vertical 

(2:1). [Policy 5, amended by Ord. 243, May 13, 1986.] 

 

6. Vegetation removal shall be kept to the minimum required for the 

placement of structures. Structures shall be designed as much as possible 

to minimize the removal of existing vegetation. [Policy 6, amended by 

Ord. 243, May 13, 1986.] 

 

7. A detailed description of a dune stabilization program shall be a part of the 

application for a building permit for any proposed development, which 

potentially will reduce the level of stability of a dune area and threaten 

adjacent property. The re-vegetation program shall be designed to return 

areas at least to their predevelopment levels of stability within a specified 

period of time. The programs shall be initiated as soon as possible during 

or following construction. The City may submit site investigations or re- 

vegetation programs to the Soil Conservation Service or other agency for 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 18 
 

verification prior to issuance of a building permit. [Policy 7, amended by 

Ord. 243, 1986.] 

 

8. During construction, adequate measures shall be required and included in the 

permit application to minimize wind erosion, such as temporary ground cover. 

[Policy 8, amended by Ord. 243, May 13, 1986.] 

 

9. In addition to the recommendations of site-specific investigation reports, 

future residential and commercial construction shall be sited in accordance 

with the Ocean Setback Line (OSL). The OSL shall constitute the minimum 

setback from the ocean, unless a greater setback is required by a site specific 

investigation report or development is further limited by lot or parcel 

boundaries. The OSL shall be determined by averaging the minimum 

distances from the Statutory Vegetation Line (ORS 390.770) to structures 

located 200 feet in either direction along the shoreline from the subject 

property boundaries, and applying that average setback to establish a line on 

the subject property parallel with the Statutory Vegetation Line [Policy 9, 

amended by Ord. 243, May 13, 1986; and Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990 

 

10. All construction shall be in conformance with the recommendations of the site 

investigation report and applicable HUD Flood Management requirements. 

The developer shall establish a time period for re-vegetation of open dune 

sand. [Policy 10, amended by Ord. 243; May 13, 1986.] 

 

11. Breaching of foredunes shall be permitted only for extreme measures, such as 

fighting fires, or cleaning up oil spills. The dunes shall be restored to their 

original contour and re-vegetated after breaching occurs. [Policy 8 added by 

Ord, 223, Aug. 24, 1982; and renumbered by Ord. 243, May 13, 1986.] 

 

12. Grading or sand removal necessary to maintain views or to prevent sand 

inundation may be allowed for structures in foredune areas, only if the area is 

committed to development or is within an acknowledged urban growth 

boundary and only as part of an overall plan for managing foredune grading. 

A foredune grading plan shall include the following elements based on 

consideration of factors affecting the stability of the shoreline to be managed 

including sources of sand, ocean flooding, and patterns of accretion and 

erosion (including wind erosion) and effects of beachfront protective 

structures and jetties. The plan shall: 

 

A. Cover an entire beach and foredune area subject to an accretion 

problem, including adjacent areas potentially affected by changes in 

flooding, erosion, or accretion as a result of dune grading; 

 

B. Specify minimum dune height and width requirements to be 

maintained for protection from flooding and erosion. The minimum height 

and width requirements to be maintained for protection from flooding and 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 19 
 

erosion. The minimum height for flood protection is 4 feet above the 100 

year flood elevation. 

 

C. Identify and set priorities for low and narrow dune areas, which need 

to be built up; 

 

D. Prescribe standards for redistribution of sand and temporary and 

permanent stabilization measures including the timing of these 

activities; and 

 

E. Prohibit removal of sand from beach foredune system. Before 

construction can begin, the foredune grading plan must be adopted as 

an amendment to the comprehensive plan. [Policy 12, added by Ord. 

243, May 13, 1986; and amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

13. The Nedonna Foredune Grading Plan is adopted by reference and 

incorporated into the comprehensive plan. (This includes the Technical 

Report, Management Plan, and Grading Plan.) [Policy 13, added by Ord. 

243, May 13, 1986.] 

 

14. Rockaway Beach shall protect the groundwater in dune areas from 

drawdown, which could lead to loss of stabilizing vegetation, loss of water 

quality, or intrusion of salt water into water supplies, by reviewing all 

proposed wells to ensure that findings are made to address the above 

factors. Building permits for single unit dwellings and middle housing are 

exempt from this requirement if appropriate findings are provided at the 

time of subdivision approval. [Policy 14, added by Ord. 243, May 13, 

1986; Am. by Ord. 2025-04, June 11, 2025.] 

 

Coastal Shorelands 

1. Major marshes and significant wildlife habitat shall be protected. Uses in 

these areas shall be consistent with the protection of natural values. 

 

2. Riparian vegetation shall be maintained and where appropriate, restored and 

enhanced consistent with the provision of water-dependent uses. 

 

3. Proposed major developments adjacent to Crescent Lake and Lake Lytle shall 

provide public access to the lake consistent with the protection of riparian 

vegetation and the minimization of impacts on wetland. 

 

4. Existing public ownerships, right-of-way and similar public easements, which 

provide access to coastal beach areas or lakes shall be retained or replaced if 

sold, exchanged or transferred. 

 

5. Rights-of-way may be vacated to permit redevelopment of shoreland areas 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 20 
 

provided public access across the affected site is retained. 

 

 

6. Clustering of residential development in shoreland areas is encouraged where 

such clustering will protect identified wetlands, wildlife habitat or other 

identified coastal shoreland resources. 

 

7. The City will rely on the requirements of its flood hazard overlay zone to 

regulate development in flood hazard areas to ensure that provisions of the 

National Flood Insurance program are met. 

 

8. Where shoreline stabilization measures are required, priority shall be given to 

non-structural, rather than structural, solutions. [Coastal shorelands, amended 

by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

Hazards 

1. Where development is proposed for areas with a slope of 25% or greater, a 

site investigation report prepared by a registered geologist shall be required 

prior to the approval of a building permit, land division or other proposed 

development. 

 

2. Where development is proposed for areas containing Brenner, Coquille, 

Braillier or Peat soils, the City may require an on-site soil survey to determine 

whether significant amounts of these soils exist in locations where 

development is desired. If the detailed soil survey indicates that significant 

amounts of compressible soils exist, the developer or owner shall have a 

report prepared by a licensed civil engineer which indicates suitable 

techniques to minimize potential soil hazards to the proposed construction. 

 

3. The City will rely on the requirements of its flood hazard overlay zone to 

regulate development in flood hazard areas. [Hazards, amended by Ord. 277, 

Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

Natural Features 

1. The maintenance of natural terrain and vegetation shall be encouraged 

throughout the City. In areas with a slope exceeding 25% the City shall 

require a geological study, grading plan and erosion control plan prior to 

grading activities or tree removal to ensure that adverse impacts are 

minimized. 

 

2. Cluster development is encouraged as a method of minimizing development 

impacts in areas with sensitive natural features. 

 

3. New development shall protect existing streams, riparian corridors, wetlands, 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 21 
 

and drainage ways. Proposed developments’ drainage systems shall be 

designed to minimize the impact of storm water on adjacent properties. 

[Natural Features, added by Ord. 277, Aug 29, 1990.] 

 

Land Use Categories 

Land use categories are intended to establish certain uses for certain areas based on 

neighborhood characteristics, physical limitations, the availability of public services such 

as streets, sewer and water, the desires to build a strong economy and maintain a clean 

environment, and other factors. 

 

The plan establishes rather high density limits (generally up to 24 units per acre, with 

exceptions for middle housing) in the developed areas. The basic philosophy is that there 

is little land available in the City that does not pose limitations to development, and those 

areas where development can occur should be more intensively used than sensitive lands 

such as the wetlands around the lakes, and steep slopes. 

 

An important standard in land use designation is density, or the number of dwelling units 

that are to be permitted on a given unit of land. Density, in terms of net density per acre, 

is based on the total square footage of the site, less areas of public or private streets. 

 

Density of development determines present and future demand for public facilities and 

services such as schools, sewer and water service, police and fire protection. 

 

Density calculations shall not prevent owners of individual lots of record (prior to the 

adoption of the plan) from building on their property if their lots are substandard in size. 

The City currently allows construction on lots of less than 3,500 square feet unless the 

owner has contiguous property. The plan recognizes the ability of owners to build on 

small lots (therefore at higher densities) where this situation exists. 

 

The most important application of density standards is in areas that are largely 

undeveloped at the present time. It is not intended to prevent the use of scattered lots that 

exist in already developed areas. Density is generally expressed in number of dwelling 

units per acre, with dwelling units defined as permanent housing units, not motel units. 

The zoning ordinance of the City is the document that establishes lot size requirements, 

setbacks, and height restrictions, but the zoning ordinance must agree with the 

comprehensive plan. 

 

The Manhattan Residential/Resort Area 

This area extends from the northern City limits of Rockaway Beach south to NW 18th 

Ave. on the west side of US Highway 101, and south to NW 10th Ave. on the east side of 

the highway. [Manhattan Residential/Resort Area, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

This is a mixed use area combining commercial activity on the east side of the highway, 

with motels, weekend cabins and permanent residences throughout the area. Essentially, 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 22 
 

it is a thin strip of land bounded by the Pacific Ocean on the west and Crescent Lake and 

Lake Lytle on the east, separated by the federal highway and the railroad tracks. 

 

The area is also characterized by poor traffic circulation in the northern part west of the 

railroad tracks. There are no north-south streets throughout most of this area, and the 

streets that exist are not capable of handling large amounts of traffic. 

 

1. Expansion of existing motels or other tourist facilities should be planned to 

provide sufficient parking and circulation space. 

 

2. Density in the area is designated to be high, with a maximum of 24 dwelling 

units per acre. Maximum density does not apply to duplexes, triplexes, 

quadplexes, or cottage clusters. Maximum density for townhouses is 25 

dwelling units per acre. (Specific lot size requirements to be established by the 

zoning ordinance.) [Policy 2 Am. by Ord. 2025-04, June 11, 2025] 

 

3. Development adjacent to the wetlands associated with Crescent Lake shall be 

undertaken in a manner that protects those wetlands. [Policy 3, amended by Ord. 

277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

4. Permitted uses in this area are residences (single-unit, middle housing and 

multi-unit structures), hotels and motels, and limited commercial uses along 

US Highway 101, which are resort oriented. [Policy 4 Am. by Ord. 2025-

04, June 11, 2025] 

 

5. Previous policies concerning dunes and wetlands are applicable in this area. 

 

6. An area between NE 17th and NE 21st on the east side of US Highway 101 

shall be designated for commercial uses. [Policy 6, added by Ordinance No. 

277, passed August 29, 1990.] 

 

The Special Residential/Resort Area 

This area extends from NW 18th Ave. to NW 11th Ave. on the west side of US Highway 

101. This area is similar in character to the area north of it, but through the citizen 

involvement process it has been determined that it should have a specific policy [Special 

Residential/Resort Area, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.]: 

 

1. No new motels shall be allowed to establish in this area, but existing motels 

shall be allowed to reasonably expand with planning commission review to 

insure that proper parking and street access is permitted. 

 

2. Restaurants and other retail commercial uses shall be allowed with conditions 

to insure that they are compatible with the area. Additional motel units may be 

added to an existing motel if the owner can satisfy the planning commission 

with regard to parking and traffic requirements. The additions do not require a 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 23 
 

conditional use permit. 

 

3. Density in this area is designated to be the same as the Manhattan 

Residential/Resort Area, 24 dwellings per acre. Maximum 

density does not apply to duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, or 

cottage clusters. Maximum density for townhouses is 25 

dwelling units per acre. [Policy 3 Am. by Ord. 2025-04, June 11, 

2025.] 

 

4. Uses permitted in this area are residential, and the expansion of existing 

motel uses. [Policy 4, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990; Am. by Ord. 

2024-04, June 11, 2025.] 

 

 

Low Density Residential Area 

This area extends from NW 11th Ave. to N 6th Ave., west of US Highway 101. This area 

is in the vicinity of the “Ridge”, or high stabilized sand dune in the northern part of the 

City. It is a stable neighborhood composed primarily of single-family homes. There are 

large motels on either end of this area, and a limited amount of vacant land dispersed 

among existing structures. The last community questionnaire indicated a strong desire of 

the townspeople to keep the area a single-family neighborhood. However, SB406 was 

enacted by the Oregon Legislature in 2023 to improve housing availability and 

affordability in Tillamook County. It requires “middle housing”–including duplexes, 

triplexes, quadplexes, townhouses and cottage clusters—to be allowed in the city’s 

residential zones. The Low-Density Residential area will accommodate single-unit homes 

and middle housing types. [Single-Family or Duplex Residential Area, amended by Ord. 

277, Aug. 29, 1990. Category name and description amended by Ord. 2025-04, June 11, 

2025.] 

 

1.  [Policy 1, deleted by Ord. 2025-04, June 11, 2025] 

 

2. The density of this area should not exceed 24 dwelling units per acre. 

Maximum density does not apply to duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, or 

cottage clusters. Maximum density for townhouses is 25 dwelling units per 

acre. [Policy 2, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990; Am. by Ord. 2025-04, 

June 11, 2025] 

 

3. [Policy 3, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

4. [Policy 4, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

  

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 24 
 

 

The Downtown Commercial Area [C] 

N.6th Avenue to S. 7th Avenue, west of Beacon Street on the east side of US Highway 101 

and N. 6th Avenue to S. 3rd Avenue on the west side of US Highway 101. 

 

This area encompasses the downtown business core with its commercial uses such as the 

grocery stores, hardware store, drugstore, bank, bowling alley, taverns, restaurants and 

other primary retail uses. Public buildings, such as the post office and the City Hall are 

here, as is the state wayside and public restrooms. Most of this activity is centered around 

US Highway 101, but the side streets such as Nehalem, Miller and Pacific are important 

to the overall circulation in this area. 

 

1. The state wayside and the city parking lot can provide parking for businesses in 

the immediate downtown area. However, the City and downtown property owners 

should work together to increase the supply of off-street parking. The possibility 

of purchasing property for additional off-street parking should be explored. 

Purchases could be financed by a combination of City funds and a local 

improvements district. [Policy 1, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

2. Uses allowed in the downtown core area should be those that predominate there 

now: primary retail and service commercial activities. Large land uses, such as car 

lots, service stations and drive-in restaurants should be allowed within the 

commercial area on a conditional use basis. [Policy 2, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 

29, 1990.] 

 

3. The plan supports the location of housing in this commercial area, particularly 

in conjunction with businesses. Where new residential uses are allowed in the 

Downtown Commercial Area, ground floor retail uses should be required. 

This is common with many of the businesses that are presently there, and 

should continue. 

 

4. It is the intention of the plan to support the economy of Rockaway by 

maintaining scarce ocean front commercial property for commercial purposes, 

and to maintain an identifiable downtown commercial core. 

 

[Amended by Ord. 204, Apr. 28, 1981; and deleted by Ordinance No. 277, passed August 

29, 1990.] 

 

The Saltair Creek Residential/Resort Area (R/R) 

This area extends from S. 3rd Avenue to Alder Street, and is entirely west of US Highway 

101. [Saltair Creek Residential/Resort Area, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

This is primarily an area of small beach cottages and homes, on small lots. The streets are 

very narrow (S. Pacific is 20 feet wide, S. Miller is 30 feet wide), and as such cannot 

accommodate large traffic volume. There are presently few commercial land uses in this 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 25 
 

area, and little vacant property. 

 

1. Active and conditionally stable foredunes are identified in Figure 2 (after page 

19). Much of the land in this area falls into this category, and therefore the 

beaches and dunes policy applies. 

 

2. The Clear Lake ocean outlet in this area poses some flooding hazards that 

must be considered for any construction in the vicinity. 

 

3. This area should remain primarily resort residential, with a density limitation 

of 24 dwelling units per acre. This density limitation does not apply to 

duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, or cottage clusters. Maximum density for 

townhouses is 25 dwelling units per acre. Motels should be allowed 

conditionally with attention paid to vehicle access on the narrow streets. 

Off-street parking is especially important. [Policy 3, Am. by Ord. 2025-04, 

June 11, 2025] 

 

Nature Conservancy Area 

This is a 43 acre undeveloped, natural area between S. 7th Avenue and Alder Street, and 

US Highway 101 on the west and Reed Street on the east. It was annexed to the City in 

June, 1980 and is designated as special area wetlands. [Nature Conservancy Area, 

amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

1. To reduce the possibility of conflicts with the natural area, the city will retain 

the rights-of-way to S. 7th Avenue and Alder Street as undeveloped buffer 

areas, using them only for the placement of utilities. 

 

2. The City will use its rights to the water of Heitmiller Creek in such a way as 

to insure an adequate flow in the city’s water supply but that in no way 

diminishes the value of the Nature Conservancy Natural Area. 

 

Special Area Wetlands Zone (SA) 

1. The perimeter of Lake Lytle and Crescent Lake contains extensive wetlands 

and lowlands that are subject to flooding, provide wildlife habitat, and are a 

significant scenic resource for Rockaway Beach. Uses in this area should 

respect these qualities by being low intensity, by either having a low intensity 

impact or being water dependent, such as boat docks or launching ramps. 

Public access should be provided consistent with the protection of wetland 

values. The perimeter of Spring Lake and Clear Lake also contains wetlands 

that must be protected. [Policy 1, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990] 

 

2. All proposed development in this area must be reviewed to insure that there is 

appropriate use made of the wetlands areas, such that: 

 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 26 
 

A. Riparian vegetation shall be protected by city riparian corridor 

regulations. 

 

B. The use of piling and floating devices is the preferred method for 

locating water-dependent uses. Where fill is necessary, fill will be 

kept to the minimum necessary to locate the water-dependent use. 

 

C. Residences are located in upland areas in order to preserve the natural 

condition of the lakefront. 

 

D. State and federal agencies that have authority in these areas are 

informed of any proposed filling, dredging, or other significant 

alteration of the shorelands. (Agencies such as the US Corps of 

Engineers, Department of State Lands, Oregon Department of Fish 

and Wildlife). [Policy 2, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

3. [Policy 3, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

4. [Policy 4, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

5. [Policy 5, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

6. In order to provide better fishing access to Lake Lytle, the City shall work 

with the Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife (which stocks the lake) to 

determine if vegetarian management or other means is feasible. The 

possibility of providing improved parking and public access along US 

Highway 101 should be explored. [SA Zone as amended by Ord. 223, Aug. 

24, 1982.] 

 

Lake Lytle Wetlands Area (W) 

[Zone included in SA Zone by Ord. 223, Aug. 24, 1982.] 

 

The East Rockaway Beach Residential Area [R] 

This area comprises a large portion of the City’s residential area east of US Highway 

101; it extends from S. 7th Avenue to N. 6th Avenue and from NE 12th Avenue to NE 24th 

Avenue. The area includes fairly large tracts of undeveloped land east of Crescent Lake. 

Development in these areas may be limited by the existence of steep slopes and wetlands. 

[East Rockaway Beach Residential Area, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

1. Densities in these areas are designated from 9 dwelling units per acre in the 

area zoned R-3 to 24 dwelling units per acre for multi-unit dwellings 

permitted as conditional uses in the R-2 area. Density limits do not apply to 

duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, or cottage clusters in these areas. Maximum 

density for townhouses is 25 dwelling units per acre. [Policy 1, amended by 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 27 
 

Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990; Am. by Ord. 2025-04, June 11, 2025] 

 

2. Riparian vegetation shall be protected by city riparian corridor regulations. 

Rockaway Beach will consider options in the future to adopt local standards to 

protect riparian corridors and wetlands, inventoried on the Rockaway Beach 

Local Wetland Inventory (LWI), consistent with Statewide Planning Goal 5 

which balance protection of these resources with community development 

objectives. [Policy 2, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

3. [Policy 3, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

4. [Policy 4, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

5. Special consideration must also be given to development on steep slope areas 

to insure that landslide hazard and erosion is minimized. As part of the 

approval of a subdivision or planned unit development the planning 

commission may require that a grading and erosion control plan be prepared 

and implemented. [Policy 5, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

6. [Policy 6, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

7. The City encourages the use of planned developments for the development of 

larger parcels in order to provide for the clustering of development as a means 

of minimizing the impact on sensitive areas such as steep slopes and wetland 

areas. [Policy 7, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

8. [Policy 8, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

9. Multi-unit structures built closer to the downtown area should include 

dwellings for the elderly, who can benefit from proximity to the shopping 

areas. [Policy 9, Am. by Ord. 2025-04, June 11, 2025] 

 

10. [Policy 10, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

Conditional Use Area (CU) 

[Conditional Use Area, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

Twin Rocks Area 

[Twin Rocks Area, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

Public Facilities Zone 

 

The Public Facilities Zone is intended to provide area for buildings and facilities that are 

owned and operated by the Federal, State, or local governments, public utilities, and special 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 28 
 

districts which are used to provide governmental or public services. This zone also provides 

for school sites, public park and recreation facilities, natural areas, trails, wetlands, and 

similar types of open space owned and managed by local government, school district or 

special district. [Public Facilities Zone, added by Ord. 19-435, June 10, 2020.] 

 

Open Space, Scenic and Historic Areas and Natural Resources 

1. The City will protect the Nature Conservancy’s forested swamp site from 

incompatible uses through a special area wetlands designation. 

 

2. The City shall protect significant riparian corridors and wetlands as 

follow: 

A. The City has identified significant Goal 17 wetland areas adjacent to 

Crescent Lake, Lake Lytle, Clear Lake and Spring Lake. These wetlands 

will be protected by the City’s special area wetlands area designation. 

B. Other riparian corridors and locally significant wetlands shall be 

protected by city riparian corridor regulations. Rockaway Beach will 

consider options in the future to adopt local standards to protect riparian 

corridors and wetlands, inventoried on the Rockaway Beach Local 

Wetland Inventory (LWI), consistent with Statewide Planning Goal 5 

which balance protection of these resources with community development 

objectives 

C. However, wetlands that do not qualify as “significant” under 

Department of State Lands (DSL) administrative rules still require a 

permit from the US Army Corp of Engineers or the Department of State 

Lands before construction can begin. The City will establish a mechanism 

to ensure that appropriate state and federal permits are obtained prior to 

any site development activities in these wetlands. 

 

3. Indian cairns, graves and other significant archaeological resources uncovered 

during construction or excavation shall be preserved intact until a plan for 

their excavation or re-internment has been developed by the State Historic 

Preservation office. Upon discovery of any new archaeological sites, the City 

will address the Goal 5 requirements through a comprehensive plan 

amendment. [Open Space, et al, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

Rockaway Urban Growth Boundary Management Policies 

Description 

1. [Description 1, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

2. The urban growth boundary is the area in which the City may provide full or 

partial services (sewer, water, police and fire protection), and the area in 

which annexations may occur in the next 20 years. Extension of services 

within the area is the decision of the city council, and is contingent upon the 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 29 
 

ability of the services to support additional development. 

 

3. The city council and planning commission shall review the urban growth 

boundary as part of the periodic review of the comprehensive plan in order to 

make necessary changes and to account for changing conditions. [Description 

3, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

YEAR 2026 LAND NEED AND SUPPLY 

 

In accordance with Policy 3, and as documented in the Urbanization Report (pp. 6-4 to 6- 

5), Rockaway Beach has enough land within its urban growth boundary (UGB) to 

accommodate growth needs through the Year 2026: 

 

Table 6-5 shows total land demand for the 2007 to 2027 period. The results lead 

to the following findings: 

• Total land demand for all uses is estimated to be 108 gross 

buildable acres for the 2007-2027 period. 

 

• The City will need about 98 gross acres for residential uses 

between 2007 and 2027. Of this, 24 acres will be needed for 

primary homes of residents of Rockaway Beach and 74 acres will 

be needed for vacation homes under the high demand scenario. 

 

• The City will need about 8 gross acres for employment between 
2007 and 2027. 

 

• The City will need about 2 gross acres for public and semi-public 

uses between 2007-2027. 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 30 
 

 

Table 6-5 Estimated total land need, 

Rockaway Beach UGB, 2007-2027 
 

Land Need 

Land Use (Gross Acres) 

Residential 
Primary homes  

Single-family detached 16.3 

Manufactured 5.2 

Condo/Townhomes 1.3 

Multifamily 1.2 
Sub-total – Primary homes 23.9 

Vacation homes (high demand) 
Single-family 

 
50.0 

Multifamily 23.5 

Sub-total – Vacation homes 73.5 
Subtotal – Residential 97.5 

 

 

Non-Residential (Employment) 
Retail Services 5.0 

Industrial 0.9 

Government 2.3 
Subtotal – Non-Residential 8.2 

Other (Public/Semi-Public 
Churches 1.9 

Fraternal 0.1 
Subtotal – Public/Semi-Public 2.0 

Total Land Need 107.6 
Source: ECO Northwest  

 

  

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 31 
 

Table 6-6 shows a comparison of estimated land need and land demand for the Rockaway 

Beach UGB between 2007 and 2027. The results lead to the following findings: 

• The City has a surplus of about 57 acres of residential land 

[including seasonal home need projected at the high demand 

scenario, which is unlikely.] 

 

• The City has a deficit of 4.4 acres of land for commercial uses. 

 

Table 6-6 Comparison of land need and land supply 

Rockaway Beach UGB, 2007-2027  

Land Supply  Surplus 

Land use type demand  2007 (deficit) 

Residential  99.4  156.4   57.0 

Commercial 8.2 3.7 (4.4) 

Total 107.6 160.1 (4.4) 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 32 
 

 

In summary, Rockaway Beach has enough residential land to accommodate both year- 

round residential growth as well as seasonal units. The City appears to have a small 

deficit of commercial land. As noted in the economic development section of the plan, 

the City will meet the need for commercial land by expanding the commercial district 

east of Highway 101. Part of this need will also be met through redevelopment of existing 

commercial uses, and by requiring condominium developments to include ground floor 

commercial space. 

 

Procedure 

4. The land within the urban growth boundary but outside the City limits 

(including Nedonna and a portion of Twin Rocks) is considered to be a joint 

management area between the City and County. Tillamook County shall have 

responsibility for land use decisions in this area, including zoning, street 

improvements and standards, and subdivisions. However, the City and County 

will cooperate in regulating development through the urban growth boundary 

policies. 

 

5. Either jurisdiction initiating actions such as rezoning, subdivision, planned 

development, major sewer or water extensions or other major activities shall 

notify the other within 15 working days after receipt of the proposed activity. 

If additional time is required for a response, the jurisdiction in receipt of such 

a notice shall notify the other. This procedure shall apply to all actions within 

the urban growth boundary outside the city limits. 

 

Urbanization Criteria 

6. To preserve large parcels of land for future urban development, and to prevent 

premature and inefficient parcelization and development of the urbanizable land 

supply, new land brought into the UGA based on a demonstrated need consistent 

with state law, will remain in its County rural zoning classification until: 

 

a) the City determines that urban services are available and 

adequate to serve the subject property and support planned urban 

services, and 

b) the land is annexed to the City, and 

c) the land is zoned for urban development. 

 

6a. Pursuant to provisions in Goal 2, Land Use Planning, the City and 

County are required to have coordinated and consistent comprehensive plans, 

which establish an Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) and a plan for the Urban 

Growth Area (UGA) within the boundary. In addition, the City and County share 

a common concern regarding the accommodation of population growth and 

utilization of lands within the UGB and consider it mutually advantageous to 

establish an Urban Growth Area Management Agreement (UGAMA) for the 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 33 
 

purpose of facilitating the orderly transition from rural to urban land uses within 

the City’s UGA. Therefore, the City and County currently have an UGMA and 

the City will work with the County to develop a revised UGMA which reflects 

more clearly the policies and strategies within the Rockaway Urban Growth 

Management Policies section of the comprehensive plan. 

 

7. Changes in the urban growth boundary must be done by amendment of 

the City and County comprehensive plans consistent with the Goal 14 

administrative rule (OAR 660, Division 024) and ORS 197.298 Priorities for 

urban growth boundary expansion. 

 

Coordination 

8. The Twin Rocks Sanitary District and the Nedonna Fire Protection District may 

be involved in major land use decisions, which affect their areas of influence. 

A. Coordination with the Twin Rocks Water District. The Twin Rocks Water 

District provides fire protection services (under contract with the City of 

Rockaway Beach) and street lighting services (under contract with the 

Tillamook County PUD) to an unincorporated area known as Twin Rocks. 

The City shall consult with the district prior to annexations within the district 

boundaries to coordinate public facilities and service planning; however, upon 

annexation, the annexed area shall be withdrawn from the district and the City 

will provide, or contract for, the services presently provided by the district. 

 

B. Coordination with the Twin Rocks Sanitary District. The Twin Rocks 

Sanitary District provides sanitary sewage services to the unincorporated areas 

known as Twin Rocks. The City shall consult with the district prior to any 

annexation proposal. In order to coordinate public facilities and services 

planning. In the plan formulation process, it was evident that the sanitary 

district was concerned, lest the premature withdrawal of territory from the 

district upon annexation to the City be untimely and otherwise result in 

adverse financial consequences for the district. In order to accommodate the 

district as far as possible, the City shall: 

 

(1) Consult with the district before acting upon any proposed 

annexation of territory served by the district to determine whether 

annexation should be accompanied by a withdrawal of territory 

from the district. 

 

(2) If there be no proposal for withdrawal accompanying 

annexation, the district shall continue to provide sanitary sewage 

services to its service area, including that area annexed. 

 

(3) If there be a proposal for withdrawal accompanying 

annexation or shortly after annexation, the City and the district 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 34 
 

shall consider the respective ability of each other to provide 

sanitary sewage services, the economic, social , environmental and 

energy consequences of withdrawal to the City, the district, and the 

area proposed to be annexed, and the plant and line capacities of 

the city and district systems. 

 

(4) The City and the district recognize the need for coordinating 

Planning for Public facilities and services and the need for 

attendant fiscal security. This will occur at the time of periodic 

review. [Policy 9(B) (4), amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

C. The city shall coordinate major land use actions with the Twin 

Rocks Sanitary District, Twin Rocks water district, or Nedonna Fire 

Protection District if such actions would affect their provision of services 

to their service areas. [9.C added by Ord. 204, Apr. 28, 1981.) 

 

Extension of Services – Conversion Factors 

9. City services are an integral part of the City/County urban growth management 

strategies with extension of these services guided by the following: 

 

A) The City and County shall not authorize urban levels of development without 

the provision of necessary urban services (public water and sewer services, storm 

drainage and urban streets) to support planned levels of development. Rural levels 

of development, sited without services on urbanizable land, shall be sited in such 

a way as to not interfere with urban levels of development and services when 

conversion from urbanizable land to urban lands occurs. Shadow platting and 

other conversion tools can be used to help satisfy this provision. 

 

B) Proposed annexation areas must demonstrate that sufficient urban services are 

available or will be installed in conjunction with any land development. 

 

C) The City and County shall require property owners and/or developers to pay 

their fair share of the cost of extending community services to their property and 

to pay for or build necessary on site public facilities and site improvements. 

 

9a. It is anticipated that the City of Rockaway Beach and Tillamook 

County will cooperate in managing the urban growth area to maintain the 

potential for planned urban development on urbanizable lands until the land is 

converted to urban land. The following guiding principles will apply: 

 

A) The City/County will require provisions of urban services to residential, 

commercial, and industrial lands as these lands are urbanized. Lands adjacent to 

the City limits are generally preferred for service over areas on the fringe (near 

the UGB) so that services are extended in a logical and orderly fashion. 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 35 
 

B) Conversion of this urbanizable land to urban development generally should 

occur once public facilities and services are available and adequate to serve urban 

levels of development and the land is annexed into the City and zoned for urban 

development. The City and County, in managing land within the urbanizable and 

unincorporated portion of the Urban Growth Area may adopt language, if 

necessary, within its land use ordinance consistent with this provision. 

 

C) The following definitions are associated with the urban growth management 

policies and strategies above: 

Urban Level of Service/Development: Urban Level of Development is 

development which generally requires supporting full urban services, as 

indicated above, to be capable of reaching development levels planned for 

within the City of Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan. Any proposed 

subdivision partition shall be required to be developed with full urban 

services (i.e., public water and sewer, urban streets and adequate storm 

drainage facilities.) 

 

Urban Lands: Lands inside the City of Rockaway Beach Urban Growth 

Boundary for which sewer and water services are available and capable of 

supporting planned levels of development, including associated open 

space and unbuildable land. 

 

Urbanizable Lands: Land inside the City of Rockaway Beach Urban 

Growth Boundary that is designated for urban development for which 

sewer and water services capable of supporting planned development are 

not available. 

 

Justification for the Rockaway Beach Urban Growth Boundary 

1. The justification for the Rockaway Beach Urban Growth Boundary (UGB), 

previously found in the Comprehensive Plan Background Report is found in 

Appendix 2. 

 

Housing Element 

The state-wide goal applicable to this plan element is: “To provide for the housing needs 

of citizens of the state.” 

 

The housing needs of Rockaway Beach differ from communities elsewhere primarily 

because of its coastal location, its lack of industry other than tourism, and its size. 

Rockaway Beach is a resort area, with approximately 65 percent of its housing used on a 

weekend or vacation basis. A large percentage of its permanent residents, about 30 

percent, are senior citizens, which is typical of communities in the coastal area. The 

major housing needs of the City are basically two-fold: 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 36 
 

1. Housing for low-income workers employed by tourist-oriented businesses, 

and 

2. Housing for low-income senior citizens. 

 

The City’s housing strategy is to: 

 

• Permit development on smaller lots, 5,000 square feet; 

 

• To permit development of middle housing and multi-unit dwellings 
throughout most of the City; 

 

• To encourage higher densities for middle housing and multi- unit 

development; 

 

• To permit manufactured dwellings on individual lots in some zones; and 

 

• To designate zones that provide manufactured dwelling subdivisions and 

manufactured dwelling parks. 

 

[Housing strategy amended by Ord. 2025-04, June 11, 2025.] 

 

The City has also encouraged the development of low cost federally subsidized land in 

conjunction with the school district. Up to the present time, housing development in the 

City has mostly been in the form of single-family dwellings. 

 

Revised Housing Needs Analysis (2007) 

In 2007, the City revised its housing needs analysis based on work completed by 

ECONorthwest. The Urbanization Report (p. 4-23) summarizes the results of the 2007 

Housing Needs Analysis as follows: 

Table 4-15 shows the forecast of new dwelling units and land need by type. The 

historical residential mix was 73% single-family, 18% manufactured (mobile home), and 

9% multiple family. The needs analysis forecasts a higher level of multifamily housing 

production and shifts the housing split to 80% single-family types [including 

manufactured homes] and 20% multifamily types for residents. Rockaway Beach already 

allows for relatively high density housing; development on small lots, typically 5,000 

square feet for single-family dwellings, 3,500 square feet for duplexes, and 1,750 square 

feet per unit for multifamily dwellings. The needs analysis also forecasts increasing 

densities for all types of housing. These increases are based on national, state, and 

regional trends of building on smaller lots and increased need for multifamily housing. 

The forecast indicates that Rockaway Beach will need about 19 net residential 

acres, or about 24 gross residential acres to accommodate new housing for residents 

between 2007 and 2027. 

  

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 37 
 

 

Table 4-15. Forecast of needed new dwelling units and land need by type, 

Rockaway Beach, 2007-2027  

Density Net to Gross Density 

New (DU/net) Net Res. Gross  Res. (DU/gross 

Housing Type DU Percent res ac) Acres Factor Acres res. Ac) 

Single-family 
Single-family  

detached 98 60% 8.0 12.3 25% 16.3 6.0 

Manufactured 33 20% 8.0 4.1 20% 5.2 6.4 
Subtotal 131 80% 8.0 16.4  21.5 6.1 

Multifamily 
Condo/Townhomes 

 
16 

 
10% 

 
15.0 

 
1.1 

 
15% 

 
1.3 

 
12.8 

Multifamily 16 10% 15.0 1.1 10% 1.2 13.5 
Subtotal 32 20% 15.0 2.1  2.4 13.1 

Total 163 100% 8.8 18.5  23.9 6.8 

 

Coastal Vacation (Second or Seasonal) Homes 

A major issue faced by northern coastal communities is accommodation of second homes 

used primarily for recreational and income purposes. The Urbanization Report (pp. 4-10 

to 4-12) looked carefully at this issue and reported the following: 

 

“Rockaway Beach has a large number of homes that are used seasonally or 

recreationally. About half of Rockaway Beach’s 1,600 homes were vacant for 

recreational or seasonal reasons during the 2000 Census….The Tillamook County 

Assessor’s data suggests that the majority of recent building activity in the City has 

been for seasonal housing….The challenges that Rockaway Beach faces as a result of 

the vacation and second homes include: 

 

• Housing is less affordable to people living within Rockaway Beach. The City’s 

average wage is lower than the state average. People who can afford to purchase a 

second home can afford to pay more for housing than many people working in 

Rockaway Beach. 

• Dense multifamily residential developments are being built in the commercial 

zone. Rockaway Beach allows residential development in land zoned for 

commercial use. The high value of housing for seasonal and recreational purposes 

has resulted in redevelopment of properties in the commercial zone from 

commercial to residential uses. 

• Owners of vacation and second homes may be less likely to be directly engaged in 

the community than full-time residents. People living in Rockaway Beach may be 

more involved with community activities and concerns than owners of second 

homes, resulting in less engagement on the part of a significant share of property 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 38 
 

owners. 

The benefits of the large share of seasonal and recreational housing are predominantly 

economic in nature. Second homeowners and tourists are likely to patronize retail and 

commercial businesses in Rockaway Beach, such as stores and restaurants. In 

addition, property owners pay property taxes, which fund City services that they 

probably use less frequently than full-time residents.” 

 

The Urbanization Report (p. 4-22) projects that second and vacation homes will account 

for half of future new home construction in Rockaway Beach: 

 

“Table 4-14 presents a forecast for seasonal housing units for Rockaway Beach 

for 2007 to 2027. This forecast is based on the assumption that seasonal housing will 

continue to account for 50% of the housing stock in Rockaway Beach, as it did in 2000. 

This forecast also assumes that seasonal housing units will be developed at a greater 

density than housing for year-around residents, with a mix of 50% multifamily dwellings. 

 

Table 4-14. Forecast of seasonal units, 

Rockaway Beach, 2007-2027  

Low High 

Vacation homes Mix demand demand 

Single-family 50% 175 600 

  Multifamily 50% 175 600 

Total 100% 350 1200 
Source: ECONorthwest 

 

The high level of uncertainty in the demand for seasonal housing means that it is possible 

that this forecast for seasonal housing may be inaccurate. If development trends from 

2005 and 2006 continue over the planning period, with more than 100 permits issued 

annually, the 20-year demand for seasonal housing could be as much as 1,200 dwellings. 

This scenario represents a possible, if somewhat unlikely, future for Rockaway Beach. 

The City can set policies that limit or encourage seasonal housing development.” 

 

The Urbanization Report (p. 4-24) also projects how much buildable land is likely to be 

consumed by vacation or “seasonal” homes over the 20-year planning period: 

 

“Table 4-16 shows a forecast of land needed as a result of demand for seasonal 

housing from 2007 to 2027… . The estimated buildable land need is between 21 and 74 

gross residential acres. 

  

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 39 
 

Table 4-16. Forecast of demand for seasonal housing and land need by type, 

Rockaway Beach, 2007-2027  

Low Demand High Demand 

 
Vacation homes 

 
Mix 

Density 

(DU/gross) 
res ac) 

 
Dwellings 

Gross 

Res Acres 
 
Dwellings 

Gross 

Res 
Acres 

Single-family 50% 6.0 175 29.2 600 100.0 
Multi-family 50% 12.8 175 13.7 600 47.1 

Total 100% 8.16 350 42.9 1200 147.1 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 40 
 

Redevelopment 

Assumptions 

Percent of units 50% 50% 

Vacant acres needed 21.4 73.5 
Source: ECONorthwest 

 

The Urbanization Report (p.6-5) determines that Rockaway Beach has 157 gross 

buildable residential acres. Even under the “high demand” scenario, the existing UGB has 

more than sufficient land to accommodate project needs for year-around and seasonal 

dwellings. 

 

The following policies are meant to anticipate the needs for housing in Rockaway Beach, 

using public and private resources. Emphasis is placed on housing for the low and 

moderate income, primarily because it is the most difficult to provide in today’s housing 

market. It is a basic goal of the plan to allow flexibility in the location and density of this 

type of housing. [Housing Element, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

Policies 

1. The City shall support all efforts to provide low or moderate income housing 

in and around Rockaway Beach, and shall cooperate with the Tillamook 

County Housing Authority, and Northwest Oregon Housing Association. 

 

2. The Land use Element of the comprehensive plan and the zoning ordinance 

shall designate areas within the City where multifamily dwellings may be 

located, and where mobile home parks may be developed. It is assumed that 

low cost multi-family housing developed with public or private financing can 

be located anywhere other multi-family housing is allowed. 

 

3. [Policy 3, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] The City shall designate 

sufficient buildable land within the UGB to meet housing needs identified in 

the Urbanization Report (ECONorthwest, June 2007). Approval standards for 

needed housing shall be clear and objective, as required by state statute and 

the Goal 10 (Housing) administrative rule. 

4. Manufactured dwellings shall be permitted in areas zoned for single-family 

dwellings, subject to clear and objective design standards. [Policy 4, amended 

by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

5. Federal and state housing programs should be used to upgrade the existing 

housing in Rockaway Beach and to provide new dwellings. 

 

6. The City shall review the impacts of vacation rentals on the demand for public 

facilities and services, neighborhood identity and community, and the City’s 

tax structure. [Policy 6, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 41 
 

7. The City shall review potential impacts on buildable residential lands resulting 

from implementation of riparian corridor and wetland protection 

measures.[Policy 7, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

8. Housing development shall be located within the urban growth boundary 

established in this plan to insure that efficient, logical extensions of urban 

services such as sewerage, water, roads and fire and police protection will 

adequately serve new development. 

 

9. Street, sidewalk and other development and subdivision improvement 

standards should be realistically sized so as to not add undue costs to housing 

development. Street widths and paving techniques should reflect the density 

of development, the projected traffic loads, whether the development will be 

permanent or vacation use, and the character of the surrounding streets. 

 

10. Housing information, projections and needs and the buildable lands inventory 

must be continually reviewed and, where necessary, updated. The 2007 

Housing Needs Analysis prepared by ECONorthwest is adopted as part of the 

comprehensive plan and supersedes previous housing needs analyses. 

 

11. Efforts must be made through zoning, enforcement of the building code and 

other ordinances to repair, and where necessary, remove dilapidated structures 

in the City. 

 

12. The City shall encourage the development of middle housing in its residential 

zones. 

 

 

Transportation Element 

The statewide goal applicable to this plan element is: “To provide and encourage a safe, 

convenient and economic transportation system.” 

 

The size, geography and location of Rockaway Beach obviously limit the variety of 

transportation types available to residents and visitors. The automobile is the predominant 

form of transportation, but pedestrian and bicycle traffic, especially in the summer tourist 

season, must be considered as an important part of the overall transportation system. 

Limited public transportation is available in Rockaway Beach. Twice daily commercial 

bus service connects Rockaway Beach with other cities, and a bus system for the elderly 

has been established in Tillamook County to improve transportation access for that 

segment of the population. 

 

Although a Port of Tillamook Bay rail line extends through the City, there are no rail 

freight or passenger facilities in Rockaway Beach. In the early part of the century, rail 

service was the most important means of access to the City, for both the summer 

recreation trade and for goods. 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 42 
 

This plan element is intended to provide policies concerning all forms of transportation in 

the City, including street construction and improvement, motor vehicle, bicycle and 

pedestrian circulation, parking and the special needs of the elderly and the handicapped, 

in order to promote an efficient, safe and balanced transportation system. Only by 

addressing the need for different forms of transportation can reliance on the automobile 

be decreased and some measure of energy conservation take place. Conservation of 

energy resources can also be aided by limiting the width of pavement in street 

construction, and by encouraging cluster or higher density. 

 

Circulation 

1. Pedestrian and bicycle needs should be considered in all proposed street 

construction and in the improvement of existing rights-of-way, in order to 

increase safety and encourage the use of non-automobile transportation. 

 

2. Construction of streets and roads in steep hillside areas should follow contour 

lines and natural topography wherever possible to minimize the danger of 

slides. [Policy 2, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

3. Street and road construction should include provisions for drainage unless it is 

an area to be served by the City drainage system. Drainage in steep areas 

should not introduce storm runoff into the ground (except in culverts) and 

thereby increase the danger of landslides. Culverts shall be included in road 

projects where heavy runoff could cause erosion or slumping of the road bed. 

 

4. Streets constructed by private developers must meet all applicable City 

standards before acceptance into the city street system. [Policy 4, amended by 

Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

5. [Policy 5, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

6. [Policy 6 deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

7. Street categories in Rockaway are depicted in Rockaway Beach Technical 

Standards and are hereby incorporated by reference. 

 

 

8. In areas of steep topography or other unusual circumstances, the planning 

commission may waive the street standards in order to minimize slide or other 

hazards, especially the street width requirements. (On-street parking should be 

banned where necessary, with additional off-street parking required to 

compensate for it.) 

 

9. [Policy 9, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 43 
 

10. The City will cooperate with the State Department of Transportation in 

developing any major improvements to US Highway 101. Any major 

improvements shall give consideration to the following: 

 

A. The enhancement of vehicular and pedestrian access across US 

Highway 101; 

 

B. The maintenance or “improvement of parking facilities along US 

Highway 101; 

 

C. The provision of appropriate landscaping; and 

 

D. The minimization of short-term disruptions of downtown business and 

an enhancement of the long range viability of the downtown area. 

[Policy 10, added by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

 

 

 

Parking 

Parking needs in Rockaway are obviously most severe during the summer tourist season. 

The state Highway Division provides a wayside parking lot to provide access to the beach 

and the downtown area, but parking problems persist in the downtown area. The City has 

established a long narrow parking lot between US Highway 101 and the Southern Pacific 

railroad tracks between Nehalem Avenue and S. 3rd Avenue separated from the highway 

by a curb. 

 

 

Special Transportation Needs 

1. Sidewalks should be constructed along all heavily traveled streets, including 

US Highway 101. The state Highway Division should be encouraged to 

provide a sidewalk on the east side of the highway from S. 3rd Avenue to S. 

Stark Street. 

 

2. Pedestrian crosswalks across US Highway 101 should be clearly marked and 

defined with devices such as pedestrian refuges and curbside islands. 

 

3. Beach access should be made as easy as possible for all residents and visitors. 

The City should construct or maintain accesses where necessary to insure that 

persons of limited mobility, such as elderly and handicapped persons, can get 

to the beach. 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 44 
 

4. The City should consider placing wheelchair ramps at key points in the 

downtown area. These ramped curbs would also be of value to people using 

walkers and those with poor walking ability. 

 

5. The Tillamook County special bus service for the elderly program should be 

well-publicized. At present it serves Rockaway Beach with regular stops. The 

possibility of constructing stop shelters should be investigated. These could 

also be used by school children and passengers on the commercial inter-city 

buses. 

 

Parks and Recreation 

[Title, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

The state-wide goals applicable to this plan element are: “To encourage open space and 

protect natural and scenic resources. To satisfy the recreational needs of the citizens of 

the state and visitors.” 

 

This element of the Comprehensive Plan is intended to describe the parks, recreational 

facilities, and open space in the Rockaway Beach area, evaluate the availability of such 

areas, and maintain and expand such areas, in keeping with the appropriate state-wide 

goals. 

 

The City of Rockaway Beach is naturally endowed with various types of undeveloped 

land suitable for recreation. The beach and forest lands, the ocean, bays and rivers in the 

area afford residents and visitors a wide variety of opportunities for both active and 

passive outdoor recreation. Strolling on the beach, stalking elk in nearby forests, fishing 

or boating on Lake Lytle, or swimming in other City lakes are some of the recreation 

possibilities. These natural recreation opportunities constitute the base of the Rockaway 

Beach economy. 

 

Recognizing the scenic and recreational value of the coast, the state of Oregon long ago 

took steps to insure that the beach itself would remain a recreational resource available to 

the public. In 1915, Governor Oswald West declared the ocean beach to be a state 

highway, thus assuring free access to the waterfront. In 1967, the beach was declared a 

state recreation area. It has been state policy since that time to provide access to the beach 

and other state-owned recreational areas, and it is anticipated that the policy will be 

continued. The state Highway Division uses state revenues and federal funds to acquire 

and develop these access points. 

 

It is a basic philosophy of the land use plan that, where dwellings are close to the beach, 

such as the land west of US Highway 101, less lot area is required. This is in recognition 

that the beach and ocean provide great amounts of open space and recreation 

opportunities to the residents in these areas. 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 45 
 

Recreation opportunities are needed for residents of the City’s neighborhoods. The City 

Park is undeveloped, the ball field at the school has fallen into disrepair, and the 

downtown has no outdoor areas at present for people to sit and relax. A small park has 

been developed around the City Hall building with funds from the US Bureau of Outdoor 

Recreation. 

 

Policies 

1. The planning commission shall work closely with the state or county parks 

departments early in the design stage to assist in planning park developments 

in the urban growth boundary. The City will cooperate with the state Parks 

Division in any planning for the upgrading of the Manhattan Beach Wayside 

and restroom improvements at the Rockaway Beach state Wayside. [Policy 1, 

amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

2. Existing public ownership, rights-of-way and similar public easements, which 

provide access to the ocean beaches or coastal lakes in Rockaway Beach shall 

be retained or replaced, if sold, exchanged or transferred. Rights-of-way may 

be vacated to permit redevelopment provided public access across the affected 

site is retained. [Policy 2 as amended by Ord. 223, Aug. 24, 1982 and Ord. 

277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

3. Beach accesses of both the state and City should afford access to elderly and 

handicapped people. 

 

4. Review of county and state park development should encourage maintenance 

of natural vegetation, prevention of water or wind erosion, good traffic 

circulation, design of restrooms or other structures to be as unobtrusive as 

possible, and should be in harmonious design with the surrounding 

environment. 

 

5. The plan recognizes the state waysides and the state controlled beach as 

significant open space resources to the area. 

 

6. Local groups such as the volunteer fire department, fraternal organizations 

and the local National Guard unit should be encouraged by the City to 

participate in development of existing parks. Playground equipment, sanitary 

facilities, picnic areas and landscaping are needed. 

 

7. Preservation of open space shall be encouraged through the use of the cluster 

development concept in land development. Small play areas, parks and other 

recreational facilities should be incorporated in cluster developments and 

subdivisions for the benefit of their residents. 

 

8. [Policy 8, deleted b y Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 46 
 

9. [Policy 9, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

10. The City shall identify and provide adequate parks and recreation 

opportunities for its citizens. 

 

11. Land that becomes available for public ownership through tax foreclosure or 

other means shall be considered for potential park, open space or recreation 

use, especially in the areas around Lake Lytle and Crescent. 

 

12. [Policy 12, deleted by Ord. 204, Apr. 28, 1981; and Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

13. [Policy 13, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

14. [Policy 14, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

15. The City recognizes the Oregon Coast Hiking Trail along the beach and the 

Oregon Coast Bicycle Trail along US Highway 101 as important recreation 

opportunities for visitors and residents of the area. These resources shall be 

protected. 

 

16. [Policy 16 as amended by Ord. 204, Apr. 28, 1981; and deleted by Ord. 277, 

Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

Public Facilities and Services 

The Public Facilities Plan contains an assessment of the sewer, water and storm drainage 

systems, with improvements projected, including a capital improvements program. Policy 

statements concerning sewer and water systems are found in Ordinance Nos. 93-297 and 

06-399 respectively. 

 

General policies and recommendations on each public system are as follows: 

 

Sewerage System 

(See map 11, following pages) 

 

1. Costs of extension of the sewer system should generally be borne by those 

requesting service. This can be accomplished by the property owner or 

developer paying for the extension, or by the formation of a local 

improvement district (LID) for the purpose. 

 

2. Extension of sewer lines should consider the capacity of the treatment facility, 

and the costs to the City versus anticipated benefits. Sewer services should be 

provided only if there is adequate treatment capacity available, or if there 

would be capacity provided within one year from the installation of the sewer 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 47 
 

services as certified by the city Engineer or the Department of Environmental 

Quality. 

 

3. Sewer service shall not be provided to those areas outside the City. 

 

Water System 

(See map 1.0, next page) 

 

1. Water system extensions will be considered only for those areas inside the 

Rockaway Beach. Urban Growth Boundary [Policy 1, amended by Ord. 277, 

Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

2. The City may attach any conditions to the extension of sewer or water lines 

concerning the development (or non-development) of properties along the 

length of extensions, based on physical features of the land, density 

requirements, development limitations, and other considerations. 

 

Schools 

1. The City and School District should jointly develop sports and recreation 

facilities that could benefit each other, such as tennis courts at the high school, 

or a ball field next to the administration building. [Policy 1, amended by Ord. 

277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

2. [Policy 2, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

3. [Policy 3, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

4. The school district should consult the city planning commission prior to the 

development or disposition of any land or buildings in the City or on its 

fringe. [Policy 4, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

Solid Waste Disposal 

The City’s solid waste is trucked to the Nehalem Bay transfer station. The City is 

cooperating with Tillamook County’s efforts to improve the recycling of solid waste. 

[Solid Waste Disposal, amended by Ord. 277. Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

Police Service 

The City presently maintains a police force of three full-time officers. The City also has a 

mutual aide agreement with Tillamook County’s Sheriff Department who also furnish 

police services outside the City and in the urban growth boundary. [Police Service, 

amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Rockaway Beach Comprehensive Plan 48 
 

Fire Protection and Ambulance Service 

The City maintains a volunteer fire department, and contracts with surrounding areas 

such as Twin Rocks and Nedonna Beach. Full ambulance service is provided by the 

Tillamook County General Hospital which has state approved equipment and personnel. 

[Fire Protection and Ambulance Service, amended by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

Public Buildings 

1. [Policy 1, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

2. [Policy 2, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Senior Citizen Services 

The City supports a Rockaway Senior Citizens Center and a nutrition program. The City 

has and should continue to demonstrate its commitment to this large segment of the 

town’s population. [Senior Citizens Services, amended by Ord. 277, Aug.. 29, 1990.] 

 

Health Services 

1. [Policy 1, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

2. [Policy 2, deleted by Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] [Health Services provisions as 

amended by Ord. 204, Apr. 28, 1981; and Ord. 277, Aug. 29, 1990.] 

 

3. The city provides facilities for a public health clinic sponsored by the 

Tillamook County Health Department. 

Ordinance 2025-04 - Exhibit C



Resolution No. 2025-30  Page 1 of 1 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-30 

 

A RESOLUTION REAPPOINTING MEMBERS TO THE PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

 

WHEREAS, the Rockaway Beach Charter Chapter III, Section 7 authorizes the Mayor, 
with the approval of a majority of the Council, to make appointments to committees; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Rockaway Beach Planning Commission has two members 
whose terms are expiring on June 30, 2025; and  

 

WHEREAS, Council Meeting Rules and Procedures provide that the Mayor may 
consider reappointment of incumbents; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the Mayor wishes to nominate both members to serve another term. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH RESOLVES AS 
FOLLOWS: 

 
Section 1.  The City of Rockaway Beach City Council hereby approves the 

reappointment of Penny Cole to Planning Commission Position 3, 

 for a term ending 06/30/2029. 

 

Section 2.  The City of Rockaway Beach City Council hereby approves the  

reappointment of Lydia Hess to Planning Commission Position 7, 

 for a term ending 06/30/2029. 

 

Section 3. This Resolution shall be effective immediately upon adoption. 
 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL THE 11th DAY OF 
JUNE 2025. 

APPROVED 
 
 
              

Charles McNeilly, Mayor 
 
ATTEST     
 
      
Melissa Thompson, City Recorder 



Resolution No. 2025-31  Page 1 of 1 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-31 

 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT WITH 
EMPLOYEES REPRESENTED BY THE AMERICAN FEDERATION OF STATE, COUNTY 
AND MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES LOCAL 2734-1, AFSCME COUNCIL NO. 75 AFL-CIO 

 

 

WHEREAS, the purpose of the Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA) between the 
City and the American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees 
(AFSCME) Local 2734-1, Council 75, is for establishing wages, hours and conditions of 
employment, and establishing an equitable and peaceful procedure for the resolution of 
differences between the parties; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City’s Leadership and AFSCME bargaining teams have negotiated on 
limited and specific articles of the current CBA and reached a tentative agreement on a 
new four-year CBA for the period July 1, 2025 to June 30, 2029; and 

 

WHEREAS, the tentative agreement must be approved by the City Council before it 
becomes effective. 

 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH RESOLVES AS 
FOLLOWS: 

 
Section 1. The City of Rockaway Beach City Council hereby approves the Collective 

Bargaining Agreement with AFSCME Local 2734-1, attached as Exhibit A.  
 

Section 2. This Resolution shall be effective immediately upon adoption. 

 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL THE 11TH DAY OF JUNE 
2025. 
 

APPROVED 
 
 
             
        Charles McNeilly, Mayor 
ATTEST 
 
 
      
Melissa Thompson, City Recorder 



 

 

 

AGREEMENT 

Between 

 

 
THE 

 
CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 

 
 
 

and 

 
 
 
 

CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH 

EMPLOYEES LOCAL 2734-1, 

AFSCME COUNCIL NO. 75 AFL-

CIO 

 
 
 
 

 
July 1, 2025 to June 30, 2029 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

ARTICLE 

Preamble           Page 

 
 

Article 1, Recognition and Bargaining Unit 3 

Article 2, Management Rights 3 

Article 3, Employment Rights 4 

Article 4, Peaceful Performance of City Service 5 

Article 5, Union Security 5 

Article 6, Union Business 6 

Article 7, Hours of Work 6 

Article 8, Overtime 8 

Article 9, Holidays 8 

Article 10, Vacation Leave 9 

Article 11, Sick Leave 11 

Article 12, Bereavement Leave 12 

Article 13, Leaves of Absence 12 

Article 14, Wages 13 

Article 15, Health and Welfare 15 

Article 16, Workers' Compensation 17 

Article 17, Retirement 18 

Article 18, Uniforms, Protective Clothing 18 

Article 19, Probationary Period 18 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



Article 20, Seniority 19 

Article 21, Discipline and Discharge 20 

Article 22, Grievance Procedure 22 

Article 23, General Provisions 23 

Article 24, Contract Renewal Sessions 25 

Article 25, Subcontracting 27 

Article 26, Existing Conditions 28 

Article 27, Savings Clause 28 

Article 28, Definitions 28 

Article 29, Duration of Agreement 33 

Signature Page 33 

Appendix "A”, Salary Schedule            34 
  

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



3  

PREAMBLE 

 
This Agreement is entered into by the City of Rockaway Beach, herein after 

referred to as the "City" and City of Rockaway Beach Employees, Local 2734-1 

affiliated with American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, 

Council 75, AFL-CIO, hereinafter referred to as the "Union." 

 
This document represents the full agreement between the City and the 

Union. The purpose of the Agreement is to set forth those matters pertaining to 

wages, hours and other conditions of employment and the establishment of an 

equitable and peaceful procedure for the resolution of disputes. 
 

ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION AND BARGAINING UNIT 

 
1.1. The City recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for 

all Employees of the City, excluding supervisory, confidential and managerial 

Employees as defined by ORS 243.650 (6), (16), and (23), part-time Employees who 

work less than 20 hours per week and temporary Employees who work less than 520 

hours in any 12 consecutive months. 

 
1.2. The parties agree that this Agreement covers both strikable and non-

strikable Employees, and it is agreed that such combination shall not be construed 

to give strikable Employees the right to interest arbitration. 

 
1.3. Should the City establish a new position or change the duties of an existing 

position where such position should belong in the bargaining unit, the City shall 

notify the Union of the new position or reclassified position, including providing to 

the Union a copy of the position and proposed pay rate. In the event the Union 

does not agree with the pay rate and so notifies the City, the parties shall within 

ten (10) working days enter into negotiations. 
 

ARTICLE 2 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS 
 

The City retains all the rights, decision-making functions and authority to 

manage the affairs of the City or any part of the City. The rights of Employees in 

the bargaining unit and the Union include those specifically set forth in this 

Agreement. 

 

Without limitation, but by way of illustration, the functions and rights of the 

City shall include the following: 

 

A. To direct and supervise all operations, functions and policies in the 

departments involved and operations, functions and policies in the 

remainder of the City as they may affect Employees in the bargaining 

unit. 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



4  

B. To close or transfer an office or facility or combination of facilities or to 
relocate, reorganize or combine the work of divisions, operations or 
facilities. 

 
C. To determine the need for a reduction or increase in the workforce. 

 
D. To establish, revise and implement standards for hiring, 

classification, promotion, quality of work, safety, materials, and 

standards of conduct, equipment, uniforms, methods and 

procedures. 

 

E. To assign and distribute work. 
 

F. To assign shifts, work days, hours of work and work locations. 

 
G. To introduce new duties and to revise job classifications and duties 

within the unit. 

 
H. To determine the qualifications of new employees. 

 
I. To discipline an employee for just cause. 

 

J. To determine the need for additional educational courses, training 

programs, on-the-job training, cross-training. 
 

K. To determine the need for overtime and classifications to work 

such overtime. 

 
The exercise of the management function or right which is not specifically 

limited by this Agreement is retained by the City. 
 

ARTICLE 3 - EMPLOYMENT RIGHTS 

 
3.1. It is recognized that Employees have the right to form, join and participate 

in the activities of Employee Organizations of their own choosing for the purpose 

of representation on matters of Employee relations. Employees covered by this 

Agreement also shall have the right to refuse to join the activities of the Union or 

any other employee organization. No employee shall be interfered with, 

intimidated, restrained, coerced or discriminated against by the City or by the Union 

because of their exercise of these rights. 

 

3.2. The provisions of this Agreement shall be applied equally to all employees 

in the bargaining unit without regard to race, religion, color, sex (including 

pregnancy, childbirth, and related medical conditions), national origin, marital 

status, sexual preference, family relationship, age or physical or mental disability or 

any other basis prohibited by local, state or federal law (except when there are bona 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



5  

fide occupational qualifications). 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



6  

ARTICLE 4 - PEACEFUL PERFORMANCE OF CITY SERVICE 

 
4.1. It is recognized that continuous and uninterrupted service by the City and 

its Employees to the citizens, and orderly collective bargaining relations between the 

City and its Employees begin essential consideration of this Agreement, the Union 

agrees on behalf of itself and its members, individually and collectively, that there 

shall not be any strikes, picketing, boycotting, work stoppages, sit down or 

slowdown strikes, or a concerted refusal to render services or to work including 

overtime or any other curtailment or restriction of work at any time during the term 

of this Agreement. 

 
4.2. In the event of a violation of this Article by the Union and/or the employees, the 

Employer may, in addition to other remedies, discipline such Employees up to and 

including discharge. 

 

4.3. There will be no lock out of Employees in the bargaining unit by the City as a 

consequence of any dispute arising during the period of this Agreement. 
 

ARTICLE 5 - UNION SECURITY 

 

 
5.1. Membership or non-membership in the Union shall be the individual choice of 

the employees covered by this Agreement. 

 

5.2. The City agrees to notify the Union of all new hires in the bargaining unit within ten 

(10) calendar days from date of hire, furnishing the Union with information in accordance 

with ORS 243.804(4).  The City will allow a Union representative to meet with new 

employees for one hour within 30 days of hire.   

 
5.3. The City agrees to deduct from the paycheck of each employee Union dues. 

The City shall not be held liable for checkoff errors but shall make proper 

adjustments with the employee and the Union for errors as soon as practicable and 

upon notification from the Union. The Union agrees to indemnify and hold harmless 

the City from any action arising under this article. The amount deducted shall be 

transmitted monthly to the Union. Transmittal to include employees name, social 

security number, mailing address and amount deducted. 

 

5.4. The City agrees to furnish a bulletin board at each regular work location in 

a convenient place to be used and maintained by the Union. The Union shall limit 

its posting of notices and bulletins to such bulletin boards. The Union shall 

periodically clear the board 

0f outdated material and shall restrict posting to matters of Union business, which 

are a non-political non-inflammatory nature. 

 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



7  

 

5.5 Employees seeking to withdraw their authorization are subject to the terms 
and conditions of their Union membership. 
 

 

ARTICLE 6 - UNION BUSINESS 
 

6.1. Union Representatives shall be allowed access to Employee work locations 

for the purpose of processing grievances or for contacting Members of the Union. 

Such representatives shall make their presence known to the supervisor. Access 

shall be restricted so as to not interfere with the normal operations of the 

Department. Shop Stewards shall be allowed to perform Union business on City 

time with the consent of their supervisor or designee and it does not interfere with 

the operation of the Department. Union meetings may be held at City facilities, but 

shall not be held during work hours. Police officers may attend union meetings 

during their work hours, providing they respond to calls for service if called. See 

also Articles 21, 22 and 24. 

 

6.2. Members of the bargaining unit selected to serve as authorized 

representatives shall be certified in writing to the City. 

 
6.3. Union Orientation. The Employer must provide the Union up to one hour to 

make a presentation on the initial day of orientation in a private space. The Union 

orientation will identify the Union's status, organizational benefits, facilities. related 

information and the distribution and collection of membership applications. 
 

ARTICLE 7 - HOURS OF WORK 
 

7.1. Work week for full-time Employees shall consist of a seven (7) day work 

schedule with five (5) consecutive eight (8) hour days with two (2) consecutive days 

off or four (4) consecutive ten (10) hour days with three (3) consecutive days off or 

Four(4) consecutive nine(9) hour days and one(1) four(4) hour day. 

7.2. Employee supervisors can call Employees in for time other than their regular 

work week, but alt such time shall be compensated as overtime. 

 
7.3. All shifts shall have an established starting and quitting time and that 

schedule shall be determined by the City Manager. The City shall notify all affected 

Employees of any proposed change in starting and quitting time(s) at least five (5) 

days prior to the effective date of the change; Police Officers at least forty-eight (48) 

hours prior to a change in scheduled starting and quitting time. 

 
7.4. Subject to advance mutual agreement between an Employee and the City, 

minimum notice to change scheduled starting and quitting times may be waived. 

 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



8  

7.5. Hours of work include all paid leaves, such as vacation leave, sick leave, 

and holidays. 

 
7.6. Employees shall be granted either a thirty (30) or sixty (60) minute unpaid 

meal period during each work shift which shall not be considered on-duty working 

time. The meal period shall be scheduled as nearly as possible to the midpoint of 

the Employee's shift. 

 
Only those Employees who work more than five (5) consecutive hours in a 

day are entitled to a meal period. 

 
Police Officers and Firef ighters shall be provided a paid meal period, but 

not a paid meal, as nearly as possible at the mid-point of their shift. 

 
7.6.1 Public Works & City Hall Employees: In accordance with OAR 839-020-0050, 

if an Employee is called back to work from their meal period break, then the City 

shall compensate the Employee and treat the Employee's entire meal period as 

time worked. 

 
 

7.7. All Employee work schedules shall provide for a fifteen (15) minute rest 

period during each one-half (1/2) shift which shall be scheduled as near the middle 

of each one half (1/2) shift as is feasible and such time shall be considered on-

duty working time. 

 
Employees who for any reason are scheduled to work more than two (2) 

hours beyond their regular shift, shall receive a fifteen (15) minute rest period 

before they start to work on the next shift. Such Employee shall receive fifteen (15) 

minute rest period every two (2) hours thereafter, and a paid thirty (30) minute 

lunch period if the scheduled work period is longer than four (4) hours. 

 
7.8. When any Employee reports for and/or starts to work their scheduled shift 

and is excused from duty for illness or other personal requirements before 

completing their scheduled shift, he/she shall be paid for their time worked up to 

the time of departure; any 

absence shall be charged to sick leave, compensatory time taken or vacation leave, as        

applicable. If the Employee is directed by his/her supervisor to leave the work place prior 

to the end of the shift, Employee shall be paid for their scheduled shift. 

 
7.9. Any Employee called to work, outside of their regularly scheduled shift, shall 

be paid for a minimum of two (2) hours of their appropriate overtime rate. Any 

Employee called in during any paid leave time shall be paid double time; such work 

time shall not be charged to said leave time. 

 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



9  

7.10. On call is defined as any time the City requires an Employee to be available 

on off duty time to be available for work. 

 
The City shall provide one cell phone per department where Employees are 

required to be on call. If an Employee uses their personal cell phone for City 

business and they exceed their plan limits for minutes or data in a particular month, 

then the City shall compensate the employee with one on-call shift as defined below. 

 
Employees, including Police Officers, required to be on call for less than 6 

hours per day ("on-call") shall receive $21 per day. Employees required to be on call 

for more than 6 hours per day ("stand-by") shall receive $42 per day. 

 
7.11. Weekend Work for Public Works Employees: When a Public Works 

Employee works a weekend shift, defined as a Saturday or Sunday, then he or she 

will be compensated an additional $25 per weekend shift. 
 

ARTICLE 8 - OVERTIME 

 
8.1. Employees required to work in excess of eight (8) hours or ten (10) hours (where 

the City has implemented a 4/10 schedule) in any twenty-four hour period, shall receive 

overtime at the rate of time and one-half an Employee's regular rate of p a y . 

 
8.2. Employees required to work in excess of 40 hours in any seven (7) day period 

shall receive overtime at the rate of time and one-half an employee's regular rate of 

pay. 

 
8.3. Overtime shall be computed to the nearest one-quarter (1/4) hour. 

 
8.4. The current policy of the City of Rockaway Beach is to pay Employees for all 

overtime worked. However, each Employee, at the Employee's request, may accrue up 

to a maximum of 40 hours of compensatory time in lieu of cash payment. Employees 

shall not be required to cash out their comp time annually. Compensatory time off must 

be scheduled with the approval of the Supervisor and may be taken in full days or shorter 

increments of time if approved by an Employee's Supervisor. Employees must have a 

positive sick leave balance to be eligible to accrue compensatory time. 

Employees who terminate for any reason shall be compensated for all unused        

compensatory time. 

ARTICLE 9 - HOLIDAYS 

 
9.1. All Employees, with the exception of Police Officers, shall be entitled to the 

Holidays listed below with pay. Full-time Employees shall receive regular 

compensation; part-time Employees shall be compensated in proportion to 

the number of hours they are normally scheduled to work. 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



10  

  

New Year’s Day January 1st 

Martin Luther King Day Third Monday in January  

President's Day  Third Monday in February  

Memorial Day Last Monday in May 

Juneteenth June 19th 

Independence Day  July 4th 

Labor Day  First Monday in September 

Veteran’s Day November 11th 

Thanksgiving  Fourth Thursday in November 

Christmas Day December 25th 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



11 
 

 

9.2. When a holiday falls on a Sunday, it shall be observed on the following 

Monday. When a holiday falls on a Saturday, it shall be observed on the 

previous Friday. On holidays, the City will staff Public Works with a minimum 

number of staff for safety and health. Non-Police Department Employees who 

are required to work on a Holiday shall receive time and one-half (1 1/2) for all 

hours worked plus their regular pay. 

 
For Police Officers, they shall accrue ten (10) holiday hours on the first day of 

each month with no 'set' holidays for the year. The Police Officer is expected to use the 

ten hours in the month it is accrued, based on mutual agreement of the day off 

between the Employee and the Chief of Police. Every effort shall be made by the 

Police Officer and the Chief of Police to reach an agreement. In the absence of an 

agreement, the holiday may be assigned to the Police Officer by the Chief of Police or 

the Chief of Police may authorize accrual. Police Officers will not be allowed to build 

an accrual of more than twenty (20) hours without written approval by the Chief of 

Police. The holiday time used by the Police Officer shall be compensated at that 

Employee's regular rate of pay. 

 
9.3. Employees must be in a paid employment status on both the work day 

preceding and the work day following the holiday in order to be compensated for 

the holiday. 

 
9.4. Holidays which occur during an Employee's vacation or sick leave shall not be 

charged against such leave. Holidays occurring during leave without pay shall not be 

compensated. 

 
  Each Employee shall be credited three (3) Floating Holidays on January 1st of each 
year. Each Floating Holiday shall be credited as leave time equal to the regular shift for 
each employee. All unused Floating Holiday time expires on December 31st of each year. 
Employees hired during the calendar year shall have their Floating Holidays prorated to 
the nearest hour. Employees may take their Floating Holidays with prior approval of their 
Supervisor. Police Officers will be paid only the amount of holiday accrued that does not 
exceed any written approval by the Chief of Police. For those not working a five(5) 
consecutive eight(8) hour day schedule, an extra Floating day shall be credited for any holiday 
landing on an employees scheduled day off. 

 

Upon termination, an Employee will be paid for any unused Floating Holiday for that 
calendar year. Employees who are terminated during their initial probationary period shall 
not be entitled to payment for any unused Floating Holiday time. 

 
Employees may use Floating Holiday time in increments of four (4) hours or less if approved 
by the Employee's Supervisor. 

 
 

 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



12 
 

ARTICLE 10 - VACATION LEAVE 

 

I0.1. Vacation leave with pay shall accrue at the rates shown below for 

full-time Employees. New Employees shall not be eligible for vacation leave 

during their first six 

(6) months of employment, although vacation leave shall accrue from the 

beginning of employment. 

 
Vacation shall be acquired as follows: 

 
 

Yrs of Service 
Hours 

Accumulated 
Per Month 

Days Per 
Year 

Max Hours 
Accumulated 

0-2 6.67 10 140 

3-5 8.00 12 164 

6-10 10.00 15 200 

11- 14 12.00 18 236 

15-20 14.67 22 270 

20 + 16.67 25 270 

 

Regular part-time Employees who work 20 or more hours per week will earn 

vacation leave on a pro-rata basis. 

 

10.2. Accrued leave shall be credited to an Employee's leave account by the 

first day of the month for each preceding month worked.. Employees hired after the 

first day of the month shall accrue leave on a pro-rata basis. Employees having 

unpaid leave during a calendar month shall accrue vacation on a pro-rata basis 

for days 

worked during the month. 

 
10.3. An Employee who terminates employment prior to completion of six 

months of employment, shall not be entitled to cash compensation for accrued 

vacation leave. Those Employees who have attained six months of employment 

and then separate from the City shall be entitled to pay for accrued vacation 

leave balance, including pro rata accruals. In the case of death of the Employee, 

compensation for accrual vacation leave shall be paid in the same manner that 

salary due the decedent is paid. 

 
10.4. Vacation leave can be taken in increments of four (4) hours, or less if 

approved by the Employee's Supervisor. 

 
10.5. Vacation hours may accumulate to a maximum of the number of hours per 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



13 
 

the schedule in 10.1, but Employees are encouraged to utilize accrued vacation 

time within one (1) year. 

 
If, due to the operational requirements of the City, the Employee is 

unable to utilize vacation leave time in excess of the maximum accumulated 

vacation leave allowed, the City shall compensate the Employee in cash for 

all excess vacation hours. 

 
10.6. All vacations and floating holidays will be scheduled subject to the 

operational needs of the City. Between January 1 and 31 of each year, the 

City shall circulate within each department and in order of seniority, with the 

most senior Employee afforded the first selection, a vacation sign-up roster 

for the calendar year plus the following January. Each Employee shall be 

allowed to select one (1) continuous vacation period from the portion of the 

year in which vacation is available. Each person shall have two (2) working 

days to make their selection. All additional vacation will be scheduled with the 

first request received having priority basis. Employees who make a vacation 

selection during the January sign-up period shall have such period 

considered approved unless notified otherwise by the City prior to February 

15. 

 
All administrative Employees who perform any direct financial actions or 

tasks shall annually take at least one period of vacation leave of five (5) 
consecutive week days duration; or take any combination of leave equaling 
five consecutive week days away from their jobs. The five consecutive days 
shall not include weekends, but may include holidays. 

 

 
Subject to the operational requirements of the City, Police Officers 

normally shall not be eligible to utilize vacation Memorial Day weekend 

through Labor Day weekend, unless authorized by their supervisor. 

 
Employees requesting vacation time outside the January 1 to 31 sign-up 

period shall make a written request in person to their supervisor. Supervisors 

must respond within five 

(5) working days to a request of more than two (2) consecutive days and 

respond within two (2) working days to a request of two (2) days or less. If an 

Employee does not get a response, then the vacation request will be allowed. 

Supervisor response time does not include time when the Supervisor is not 

available. 

 
All requests for additional vacation time shall be submitted in writing 

and in person to the Supervisor. 

 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



14 
 

 

ARTICLE 11 - SICK LEAVE 

 
11.1. Accrual of sick leave. Sick leave shall accrue at the rate of eight (8) 

hours for each full calendar month of service and shall be credited to the 

Employee's leave account the first of the month following accrual. Employees 

having unpaid leave during a calendar month shall accrue sick leave in the same 

manner as vacation leave, which means on a pro-rata basis, since benefits 

shall not accrue during the actual time on unpaid leave. 

 
New Employees serving their probationary employment period in full-time 

positions are eligible to accrue sick leave. 

 
Part-time Employees shall accrue sick leave on a pro-rata basis. 

 
11.2. Use of Sick Leave. Employees may utilize their allowance of sick leave 

when unable to perform their work duties by reason of illness or injury, 

necessity for medical or dental care; exposure to contagious disease under 

circumstances by which the health of other Employees or members of the 

public necessarily dealt with would be endangered by the attendance of the 

Employee or by serious illness of their immediate families/household which 

requires the presence of the Employee. 

 
Immediate family shall be defined by the OFLA.  

 
11.3. Sickness during paid vacation leave. An Employee who becomes ill 

during a period of approved vacation leave may not use sick leave in lieu of 

vacation leave. If the illness extends beyond the vacation leave period, only 

the time subsequent to the end of vacation leave will be charged to sick leave. 

 
11.4. Sick leave credit following recall from layoff or return from leave without 

pay. An Employee who is reappointed following a layoff, or the expiration of 

an approved leave without pay, shall have sick leave credits restored that 

were accrued during the previous employment. 

 
Compensation of accrued, unused sick leave at termination. No compensation 
or accrued unused sick leave shall be allowed for any Employee when 
separated from employment. However, upon retirement under the Public 
Employee's Retirement 

System, an Employee's accumulated sick leave will be credited to the Public 
Employee's Sick leave shall be charged on an hour-per-hour basis for each hour 
utilized. Any Employee who exceeds their accumulated sick leave shall be eligible 
to charge their accumulated compensatory time or vacation time. 

11.5. Employees must keep their supervisor informed as to their status to qualify 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



15 
 

for sick leave. The City may request a doctor's release to return to work if the City 

can reasonably articulate its need for the release. Employees falsifying their claim 

for sick leave may be liable for disciplinary action by the City. The City may require 

acknowledgment from the employee's doctor with regards to time off due to illness 

or injury when such absence exceeds three (3) working days. 

 

11.6. Employee eligible for Family Medical Leave per ORS 659.50 - 659.570 

shall be eligible to utilize sick leave, vacation or compensatory time. 

 
11.7. Sick Leave Donation. Employees may donate accrued sick leave to a fellow 

AFSCME member provided that the donating employee retains at least 75 

hours of sick leave after the donation. Employees may donate sick leave time 

only once per year. Employees requesting donations of sick leave must have 

already exhausted their own sick leave and all other available categories of time 

available to them. 
 

ARTICLE 12- BEREAVEMENT LEAVE 

 
When a member of an Employee's or Employee's spouse's immediate 

family as defined by OFLA dies, up to five (5) consecutive days bereavement 

leave with pay shall be granted to an Employee by the City for the period of 

time the Employee is unable to perform his/her duties. 
 

ARTICLE 13 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE 

 
13.1. Leaves of Absence with pay. 

 
A. Witness or Jury Duty. If an Employee is called for jury duty or is 

subpoenaed as a witness, the Employee shall suffer no loss in regular 

compensation for such absence. However, they shall be required to remit to the 

City any compensation received for such duties, excluding compensation 

received for mileage and lodging. 

 

B. Military Leave. An employee with six months of continuous City 

service who is a member of the National Guard or a reserve component of 

the armed forces, shall be entitled to a leave for a period not to exceed fifteen 

(15) calendar days in any one calendar year. Military leave shall be granted 

upon written application accompanied by a copy of bona fide orders to 

temporary active or training duty. Fire Calls. City Employees who are City 

of Rockaway Beach Volunteer Fire Department personnel may respond to 

fire calls during regular work hours and time spent on the call will be logged 

as leave with pay on time cards. 

13.2. Leaves of Absence Without Pay. In instances where the work shall not 

be impaired by the temporary absence of an employee, the City Manager may 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



16 
 

grant a leave of absence without pay after leave benefits are exhausted. The 

request shall be in writing to the City Manager. Leave without pay (LWOP) 

may only be granted if all compensatory time, vacation leave time, and unused 

holiday time has been used. Sick leave shall not be used for non-applicable 

purposes. 

 
A. Court Leave. Leave without pay shall be granted for attendance 

in court in connection with an Employee's personal affairs, such leaves shall 

be in writing and shall be granted by the Employee's supervisor. 

 
B. Parental Leave. Upon request, an Employee shall be granted a 

leave of absence for up to 12 weeks to care for a new baby or adoption of a 

child six years or younger. Such leave shall include one (1) week prior to the 

anticipated date of the birth of a child. During parental leave, the Employee 

shall be entitled to use any combination of sick leave, vacation leave, comp 

time, and leave without pay. 

 
Upon request, the City will grant medical leave of absence beyond 12 

weeks due to disability/illness or the child requiring the Employee's 

attendance of the child up to a maximum of six months with acceptable 

medical verification. Such additional leave shall normally be leave without pay 

unless the Employee has sick leave, vacation leave, and compensatory time 

available. 
  

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



17 
 

 

ARTICLE 14 - WAGES 

 
Effective July 1, 2025 employee wages shall be as listed in Appendix A. 

 

Effective July 1, 2026 employee wages shall be adjusted by not less than 3% nor 

more than 6% based upon the change in the All Cities CPI-U of February 1, 2026, 

whichever is higher. 

 

Effective July 1, 2027 employee wages shall be adjusted by not less than 3% nor 

more than 6% based upon the change in the All Cities CPI-U of February 1, 2027, 

whichever is higher 

 

Effective July 1, 2028 employee wages shall be adjusted by not less than 3% nor 

more than 6% based upon the change in the All Cities CPI-U of February 1, 2028, 

whichever is higher 

 
14.1. Whenever an Employee is permanently appointed in writing to a higher paying position, 

they shall receive the nearest step which represents at a minimum a 3% increase in 
their base salary. 
 

14.2. Employees temporarily assigned by their Supervisor the duties and 

responsibilities of a higher paying position for a day or more shall receive no 

less than an additional five percent (5%) increase of their base salary for the 

total time of such assignment. 

 
14.3. Employees will normally enter the salary schedule at step one and 

thereafter move to the next higher step upon completion of twelve (12) months 

of satisfactory service as reflected in the employee's anniversary date 

evaluation, no increase in salary may be given for unsatisfactory 

performance. The City may enter Employees at any step of the salary 

schedule or advance more than one step. In no event shall an Employee be 

denied a step increase on their anniversary date if the City has failed to 

complete an Employee's annual evaluation. 

 
Anniversary date for purposes of calculating step adjustments shall be 

the first day of the month hired (the day the Employee first renders paid 

service), if hired between the 1st and the 15th day of the month inclusive or 

the first day of the next month if hired on the 16th day or later in a month. 

 
Employees whose anniversary evaluation is unsatisfactory shall be 

reevaluated in 90 days, in which case their step increase would not be effective 

until the satisfactory completion of the 90 day evaluation period. If the second 

evaluation is unsatisfactory, the City has no obligation to reevaluate that 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



18 
 

Employee until the Employee's next anniversary date. 

 
If an Employee feels an overall unsatisfactory evaluation is arbitrary and 

capricious, they may appeal the evaluation to the City Liaison for their 

department. If not satisfied, then the Employee may appeal to the City Council 

in executive session, but not to binding arbitration. 

 
14.4. Paydays and Draws. Payday shall be the last working day of the month 

for all work through the end of that month, except for overtime, which is through 

the 25th of the month. Overtime earned after the 25th of the month would be 

reflected on the next month's paycheck. A draw on earned salary may be 

drawn on the 15th day of the month equal up to one-half of the earned base 

salary. If the 15th falls on Saturday, the draw may be taken on Friday; if the 15th 

falls on Sunday, the draw may be taken on Monday. 

 

Longevity Pay. The longevity pay plan shall be based on a percentage of the 
yearly gross salary for the base step of that salary classification in accordance 
with the following tier schedules:Longevity: 

1. 3 % after completing 5 through 10 years. 

2. 4 % after completing 11 through 15 years. 

3. 5 % after completing 16 through 20 years. 

4. 7% after completing 21 years. 

 
For the purpose of computation of the longevity pay, the commencing date of 

employment shall be January 1 of the year closest to the date which 

employment became effective. The longevity pay shall be paid on the last 

payroll period before Christmas of the year eligible. No payments can be 

applied for if the employment terminates prior to serving at least the minimum 

number of years necessary for the initial payment. 

 
A. Certification Pay. Police Officers who possess an intermediate DPSST 

certification shall receive an additional 2% added to their base pay. Police 

Officers who possess an advance DPSST certification shall receive an 

additional 3% added to their base pay. An Officer will get 5% if both 

certificates are obtained. Firefighters who possess EMT Advanced, EMT 

Intermediate, or EMT Paramedic certification shall receive an additional 2% 

added to their base pay. 
 

ARTICLE 15 - HEALTH AND WELFARE 

 
15.1. Medical Insurance. The City will provide coverage for employees and their 

dependents the LOC Plan V-E PPP plan in effect through December 31, 2017. The 

cost share for premiums will be 90% paid by the City and 10% paid by Employees 

through December 31, 2017. Effective January 1, 2018 and for the remaining term 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



19 
 

of this Agreement the City will provide to employees and their dependents the 

LOC Co-Pay Plan A/Rx 4 with Alternative Care in effect during the 2018-2021 plan 

years. A cost share to the employees will be withheld from the employee's 

monthly payroll as follows: 

 
City will pay 98% of the premium; Employees will pay 2% of the premium. 

 
Part-time employees enrolled in the City's health insurance working over 

20 hours per week shall receive a contribution towards the cost of benefits on 

a pro-rata basis based upon the relationship their work week bears to that of a 

full-time employee. 

 
Dental Insurance. For the term of this agreement the City will provide to 
employees and their dependents the LOC Dental Plan II, with ortho option, in effect 
during the 2018-2021 plan years. A cost share to the Employees will be withheld from 
the Employee's monthly payroll as follows: 

 

Effective through December 31, 2017 the City will pay 90% of the premium and 
Employees will pay 10% of the premium. 

 
Effective January 1, 2018 and for the remainder of this Agreement the City will pay 
98% of the premium and Employees will pay 2% of the premium. 

 
Part-time Employees enrolled in the City's dental insurance working 

over 20 hours per week shall receive a contribution towards the cost of benefits 

on a pro-rata basis based upon the relationship their work week bears to that of 

a full-time Employee, Vision Insurance. For the term of this agreement, the City 

will provide LOG-Copay Plan A, the VSP 12/12/24 plan family vision plan 

coverage (or equivalent) in effect during the2018-2021 plan years. Cost share 

to the Employees will be withheld from the Employee's monthly payroll as 

follows: 

 
Effective through December 31, 2017 the City will pay 90% of the premium and 
Employees will pay 10% of the premium. 

 

Effective January 1, 2018 and for the remainder of this Agreement the City will pay 
98% of the premium and Employees will pay 2% of the premium. 

 
Part-time Employees enrolled in the City's vision insurance working over 

20 hours per week shall receive a contribution towards the cost of benefits on 

a pro-rata basis based upon the relationship their work week bears to that of a 

full-time Employee. 

 
15.3. The City shall to establish a Section 125 plan with the Internal Revenue Service 

to allow Employee's contribution for insurance to be paid as pre-tax dollars. 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



20 
 

 
15.4. Effective January 1, 2018 the City will establish a Health 

Reimbursement Arrangement (HRA-VEBA) account for each employee enrolled in 

the City's health insurance plan. The City will fund all each employee's account as 

follows: 

 
For employees enrolled in employee only coverage, the City will contribute 

twenty one dollars ($21.00) per month. For employees enrolled in all other tier 

coverage, employee and dependent coverage, the City will contribute sixty two 

dollars and fifty cents ($62.50) per month.  

 

15.5. If approved by City County Insurance Services, a maximum of 25% of 

the employees may choose to not participate in the health, dental or vision 

insurance plan included in this Agreement. If the Employee makes this 

selection, the City will deposit 50% of the City's cost of the insurance into the 

City's deferred compensation plan in an account in the Employee’s name.  

 

15.6 Life Insurance. The City shall continue to provide full-time Employees 

with $20,000 AD&D life insurance. 

 

15.7 Salary Continuation Insurance. The City shall continue to provide salary 
continuation insurance. 

15.8 Coverage during Leave of Absence. 

 
A. Employees on leaves of absences with pay may have their 

medical, dental and optical plans continued as though leave had not occurred. 

The City may continue paying the monthly premiums as described herein. 

 
B. An Employee on leave of absence without pay may, upon the 

recommendation of the department head, and approval of the City Council, 

continue the insurance coverage, provided that the entire monthly premium is 

paid by the Employee. 

 
C. Employees who terminate their employment with the City shall 

be allowed to continue health insurance coverage under the City group 

insurance plan (for a period of 18 months), subject to the eligibility requirements 

set out in Oregon and federal law. The monthly premium for continuation of 

insurance shall be paid by the Employee, plus any administrative fee that may 

be imposed by the City. The City shall comply with the requirements of COBRA. 

 
 

ARTICLE 16 – PFML 
1. Effective upon ratification, the City shall cover the employees' portion of the 

contribution to Paid Leave Oregon in the amount of 60% and the 40% of the 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



21 
 

employer portion of 1% of each employees' annual salary, which are capped at 
$132,900, along with the employer's portion of the contribution.  
  

2. If the employer covers the employee portion of the 1% contribution, that 
payment is taxable and will be properly recorded and taxed on employee 
statement of earnings and subsequent W2’s.  
 

3. Use of the Paid Leave Oregon benefit will begin in September 2023. It is the 
City’s expectation that employees follow the notification rules as outlined by the 
State, providing 30-day notice for leaves that are known in advance and notice 
within 24 hours for those that are emergent.   

 
4. The City will run Paid Leave Oregon leave concurrent with other protected 

leaves as allowed by law. 
 

5. Employees will be allowed to use their accrued City leave to supplement their 
Paid Leave Oregon benefit. However, due to the fact that each individual may have 
a different benefit amount, the employee choosing to supplement their accrued City 
leave will be required to provide the City  with a copy of their Oregon Paid Leave 
gross benefit amount and City will calculate the needed  accrual use based upon 
the base rate gross wage of the employee. This supplemental payment may be one 
pay period behind.   
 
6. Should the contribution obligations provided for in ORS 657B.150 be revised, 
including the percentage of wages or increase to the maximum wages subject to 
contribution, the City will continue to cover the employee’s portion at 60% of 1% of 
wages as described in #1 above. The parties agree to commence bargaining to 
negotiate terms to replace this MOA upon adoption of the revised contribution 
obligations. Such bargaining shall be subject to the provisions of ORS 243.698. 

 

ARTICLE 17 - WORKERS' COMPENSATION 

 
When an injury occurs in the course of employment, the City's obligation to pay sick leave, 
vacation leave, and compensatory leave is limited to the differences between any disability 
payment or time loss payment received under Workers' Compensation laws and the 
employee's regular net pay. In such instances, pro-rated charges may be made against 
paid leave. 

 
During the period of disability, the City will continue to contribute toward 

the cost of health and welfare insurance, including accrual of seniority, and 

vacation/sick leave as if the employee were working. 

 
In the event of an industrial accident, the City will allow a non-paid leave 

for a period of the disability as described above, if necessary. 
 

ARTICLE 18 - RETIREMENT 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



22 
 

 
18.1. The City shall provide a retirement plan for the employees through the Public 

Employees Retirement System (PERS). 

 
The Employee shall pay ("pick up") the Employee's retirement 

contribution of six percent (6%) by payroll deduction. 

 

Upon an Employee's retirement from the City, fifty percent (50%) of an 

Employee's accumulated sick leave shall be credited towards the Employee's 

retirement benefits under the provisions of the Public Employees Retirement 

System at the amount that is in effect at the time of the Employee's retirement. 

 
ARTICLE 19- UNIFORMS, PROTECTIVE CLOTHING 

 
19.1. All personnel whose assignment requires the wearing of uniforms or 

protective clothing will be provided with suitable apparel by the City. 

 
19.2. Uniforms and protective clothing shall remain the property of the City 

and shall be returned to the City upon termination of employment. 

 
19.3. The City shall provide each Police Officer yearly (Fiscal Year) a $500 

budget for the purchase of uniforms, boots, and other necessary equipment items 

per current practice and upon supervisor approval. New Employees upon hire shall 

be provided a first issue of uniforms and boots per current practice. 

 
The City shall continue to provide Police Officers' equipment per current practice. 

 
The City shall provide each Police Officer with a monthly amount of 

$20.00 (twenty dollars) for the purpose of cleaning uniforms. 

 
19.4. The City shall provide each Public Works employee OSHA-approved work 

boots up to a maximum cost of $250. Work boots will be ordered by the City, 

remain property of the City and shall remain at the City Public Works office. Public 

Works employees shall be provided rain gear, gloves, rubber boots, 3 coveralls 

and other protective gear as required 

by the City or OSHA safety standards, and to be maintained and cleaned by the 

City. Above provided apparel shall be replaced by the City as it becomes unsuitable 

to wear. 
 

ARTICLE 20 - PROBATIONARY PERIOD 

 
20.1. All original and reemployment employees shall serve a probationary period 
of twelve 

(12) months. A probationary employee shall receive regular status upon 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



23 
 

completion of twelve (12) month probationary period. The probationary period 

shall be deemed a part of the examining process for determining the 

qualification of the Employee for regular employee status. During the 

probationary period, an Employee may be discharged at the sole discretion of 

the City without recourse to the grievance procedure. 
 

In the event the City re-employs a person who had been employed full-

time by the City within the previous three (3) years, the probationary period 

shall be six (6) months. 

 
20.2. Police Officers shall have their probationary period automatically extended 

to eighteen (18) months if they have not attained DPSST certification within their 

first twelve (12) months of employment. 

 
In cases where the probationary period is extended to eighteen (18) months the 
Officer shall not receive a step increase until the month following successful 
completion of probation. The step increase shall be effective in the month probation 
is completed if probation was completed between the 1st and 15th day of the month 
inclusive or the 1st day of the next month if probation was completed on the 16th day 
or later in the month. The City shall then provide an annual evaluation on the 
Employee's second (2nd) anniversary date and the Employee will be granted an 
additional step if the evaluation is satisfactory. Annual evaluations and step 
increases will then be set to the Officer's anniversary date of hire. 

 
20.3 A newly promoted or transferred Employee will be subject to a probationary 

period of three (3) months in the new classification. During a promotional or 

transferring probationary period, an Employee will continue to accrue seniority, 

and shall be protected in discipline and discharge procedures on the same basis 

as other regular Employees. However, during such a promotional or transferring 

probationary period Employee may be returned to his/her previous classification 

at the sole discretion of the City. Written notice to the Employee of reasons for 

the action shall be provided. Employee shall have the right to return to their 

previous classification during the probationary period at their request. 
 

ARTICLE 21 - SENIORITY 

 
21.1. For the purpose of this Agreement, seniority shall be defined as an 

Employee's length of continuous service as an Employee with the City 

from their last date of hire less any adjustments due to leaves of 

absence without pay for more than sixty (60) days. 

 
21.2. If an Employee has a break in service due to layoffs and is recalled, the 

Employee shall suffer no break in service for seniority purposes nor shall an 

Employee who is off on workers' compensation and returns to employment with the 

City. 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



24 
 

 
21.3. Layoff. Bargaining unit Employees shall not be laid off if the City is using 

temporary Employees or volunteers to do their work. Temporary Employees or 

volunteers will not be utilized to do the work of bargaining unit Employees on the 

layoff list. 

 
21.4. A layoff is defined as an involuntary separation from the City for reasons 

that do not reflect discredit upon the employee's performance. An Employee 

and the Union shall be given written notice of layoff at least thirty (30) calendar 

days before the effective day, stating the reasons for the layoff, and options the 

Employee has. The Employee shall have five (5) working days from the receipt 

of the layoff letter to notify the City of the Employee's option. 

 
Employees shall have the following options: 

 
1.) Accept the layoff. 

.. 

 

2.) Request assignment to a vacant position within the City for which they 

possess the necessary qualifications. 

 

3.) Employees to be laid off shall be entitled to displace the least senior 

employee in the same or lower classification/salary range provided they meet 

the minimum qualifications and are qualified to perform the duties of the 

position. 

 
The ability of an Employee to displace shall depend on that Employee's current 

possession of required certifications, experience, knowledge, skill and ability to 

perform the job at an acceptable level of performance with on-the-job orientation. 

Employees may submit documentation of certifications, work experience and 

other factors that will be considered by the City in determining the employee's 

ability and qualifications. The information must be provided no later than five (5) 

days following receipt of the notice of layoff. 

 

Displaced Employees shall be allowed to select options (1) through (3) above. 

 
21.5. Employees who displace an Employee in a lower pay scale shall be paid 

the salary closest to their current salary on the pay scale of the displaced 

employee. (For example: Employee A makes $10.00 per hours and displaces 

Employee B at $8.00 per hour. The nearest step on Employee B's pay scale is 

$9.50 at Step 4. This would be Employee A's new salary). 
 

21.6. Ties in seniority shall be broken by date of application. If a tie still exists, 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



25 
 

it shall be broken by lot. When an Employee transfers to a different Department, 

Department seniority, not City seniority would be applicable when considering 

layoffs. 

 
21.7. Recall. Employees who are laid off shall be placed on a layoff list by 

classification from which the employee is laid off. Employees shall be recalled to 

available vacancies from which they were laid off in seniority order beginning with 

the Employee with the highest seniority. If the position is not filled in that manner, 

it shall be offered in seniority order to other Employees on a layoff list provided 

the Employee is qualified to perform those duties. 

 
If an Employee is offered a position from the layoff list, the Employee shall have 

the right of refusal. 

 
An Employee's name shall remain on the layoff list for eighteen (18) months. 

 
21.8. Transfer. A change of an Employee from one position to another in the 

same class or to a position in a comparable class within the City service. 

 
1. Requests from Employees for transfers from one Department to another shall 

be made in writing and shall be directed to the Employee's present Department 

Head and referred to the appropriate Department Head and the City Council. 

2, Requests for transfer shall be given consideration when a suitable vacancy 

occurs; however, no Employee shall be transferred to a position for which they 

do not possess the minimum qualifications. No requests for transfer under this 

section will be denied for arbitrary or capricious reasons. 

 
21.9. When the City makes personnel assignments for the following: holiday 

work, promotions, shifts, layoffs or vacancies, seniority, ability, experience, 

certifications, most recent performance evaluation and classification specific 

qualifications will be the criteria considered. When management determines that 

ability and qualifications are equal to perform the job, seniority will be the 

determining factor in making the above assignments. 
 

ARTICLE 22 - DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE 

 
It is the policy of the City that Employee discipline be corrective, progressive 

and Employees are expected to conduct themselves in accordance with 
reasonable standards of conduct and to fulfill their responsibilities as Employees of 
the City as may be set by City Council by way of Ordinance or Policy. 

 
A. Corrective. Disciplinary action shall be corrective in the sense 

that the employee understands about the causes and/or reasons for an 

Employee's deficiencies, corrects those deficiencies, and attempts to restore 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



26 
 

himself/herself to a productive and positive employment status. 

 
B. Progressive. Disciplinary action will normally begin with an oral 

reprimand or warning and, when circumstances warrant, proceed to written 

reprimand, suspension from work without pay or demotion in status and/or pay, 

and finally, to discharge from employment with the City. 

 
A severe incident of misconduct may require severe disciplinary 

measures such as suspensions or discharge and in that instance need not be 

preceded by lesser forms of disciplinary action. 

 

C. Lawful. Disciplinary action and the procedures by which this action is 

administered shall not violate the Employee's civil rights. Minimally, when 

disciplinary action involves suspension without pay, demotion or discharge 

of a full time, part-time, temporary or regular Employee, the Employee shall: 

 
1. Be notified of the charges against him/her in writing, citing 

the specific policy or performance violation. 

 
2. Be informed of the sanctions being considered by the 

Employer and when such sanctions will take effect (i.e., suspension, demotion, etc.) 

 
3. Be provided at least an informal opportunity to refute 

the charges either orally or in writing before the Department Head having the 

authority to make the final decision. 

 

 
D. Investigation. When it is deemed necessary to immediately 

relieve an Employee of his or her job responsibilities pending an investigation of 

facts prior to reaching a final decision, the Employee shall be placed on 

suspension with pay and informed in writing of the reason(s) for suspension, 

and any other potential action to be taken, pending completion and outcome of 

the investigation. 

 
E. Representation. The Employee shall be allowed to have a Steward 

and/or Union Representative present at any disciplinary proceeding. 

 
F. Disciplinary Hearings. In a disciplinary hearing, the City has the 

right to require an Employee to answer questions. The City agrees that the 

answer to questions in disciplinary hearings or pre-disciplinary hearings will not 

be used against the Employee in criminal proceedings. 
 

ARTICLE 23-GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 

 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



27 
 

23.1. Any grievance or dispute which may arise between the parties involving 

the application, meaning or interpretation of this Agreement, shall be 

settled in the following manner: 
 

Step 1. Informal Conference. The Employee or group of Employees, with or 

without the union, shall discuss the grievance on an informal basis with their 

immediate Supervisor within ten (10) working days from the date the Employee 

knows or should have known of the alleged violation. The Supervisor shall give 

his/her oral reply within ten (10) working days of the date of the presentation of 

the grievance. 
 
 

Step 2. Formal Conference. If the grievance is not resolved at Step 1, the 

grievance may be reduced to writing and submitted to the Employee(s) 

supervisor within ten (10) working days of the Supervisor's oral reply. The 

written grievance shall be deemed complete when it contains the following 

information: 

 
A. A statement of the grievance and the relevant facts to support it; 

B. Contract sections violated; and 

C. Remedy desired. 

 
The supervisor shall respond to the Employee(s), giving a decision in 

writing within ten (10) working days after receipt of the grievance. 

 
Step 3. City Manager. If the grievance remains unresolved at Step 2, the completed 

grievance shall be presented to the City Manager within ten (10) working days of 

receipt of the Supervisor's written decision along with all memoranda and materials 

relied upon in support of and against the grievant’ s issue and received at Step 2. 

The City Manager shall 

have ten (10) working days in which to respond to the grievance in writing. New 

evidence not available at Step 2 should be presented to and considered by the City 

Manager. Each side shall submit a written argument with specific facts supporting 

that side's viewpoint and requested remedy. 
 

Step 4. City Council. If the grievance remains unresolved at Step 3 to the 

satisfaction of the Employee(s), it may be presented in writing to the City Council 

within ten (10) working days of receipt of the City Manager's written decision by 

submission of the record compiled at Step 3 and the City Manager's decision. The 

City Council shall have twenty (20) working days in which to respond to the 

grievance in writing subject to the requirements of the Rockaway Beach City 

Charter and, if required, the City Manager's concurrence. 
 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



28 
 

Step 5. Mediation. If, at any time after the Council's response at Step 4, and 

before Step 6, a party requests mediation, then the grievance process and 

timelines shall be stayed and a mediation shall begin. The parties may mutually 

agree on a mediator, or may select from a list of five (5) mediators requested 

from the ERB or Oregon Dispute Resolution Commission. The Union shall strike 

the first name; the City shall then strike one name. The process will be repeated. 

The remaining person shall be the mediator, unless otherwise mutually agreed. 

The cost of the mediator shall be shared equally. The parties shall conclude their 

mediation within sixty (60) calendar days of the date the mediator is hired or 

such other date as the parties agree. Any part or all of a grievance which is not 

settled by mediation shall proceed according to this Article from the point the 

grievance was originally stayed. If the parties reach a mediated settlement on all 

or part of a grievance, then the respective part or whole of the grievance shall 

terminate. 
 

Step 6. Binding Arbitration. If the grievance is still unresolved to the satisfaction 

of the Employee(s), the Union may within ten (10) working days after the reply 

at Step 4 is due by written notice to the City Council, request binding arbitration. 

In the event of a failure to request binding arbitration, the arbitration will be non-

binding. 

 
If within ten (10) working days from the request for arbitration, the 

parties are unable to agree upon an arbitrator, the Oregon State 

Conciliation Service shall be requested by either or both parties to provide a 

list of five (5) arbitrators. The Union shall strike the first name; the City shall 

then strike one name. The process will be repeated and the remaining person 

shall be the arbitrator. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding 

on the parties. The arbitrator shall be requested to issue his/her decision 

within thirty (30) days after the conclusion of the testimony and argument. 

 
Expenses for the Arbitrator's services and the proceedings shall be borne 

by the losing party or if there is not a clear loser as determined by the arbitrator. 

However, each party shall be responsible for compensating its own 

representatives and witnesses. If either party desires a verbatim record of the 

proceedings, it may cause such a record to be made, providing it pays for the 

record and makes copies available at a reasonable charge to the other party and 

to the arbitrator, if copies are so requested. 

 
23.2. The time periods specified in this article may be extended or modified 

only by mutual agreement. Otherwise, failure to comply with the time periods 

specified shall be treated as final disposition of the subject of the grievance 

against the party failing to comply with the applicable specified time period. 
 

ARTICLE 24 - GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



29 
 

 
24.1. Safety. The City agrees to abide by Federal and state safety regulations including 

safety committees per OAR 437-40-005, 437-40-046 and 437-40-050. 

 
24.2. Certifications. The City will pay the fees associated with obtaining and 

maintaining a DMV/CDL License (including CDL physical), Water Certification, 

Sewer Certification, Pesticide Certification license, Back Flow Certification or 

other license/certification when such license and/or certification is required of an 

Employee to perform their job. This does not include costs associated with 

obtaining or maintaining a regular driver's license. 

 
24.3. No Employee shall be terminated, transferred or denied promotion 

solely because they have a member of their immediate family who is, on the 

City Council or is Mayor. 

 
24.4. It is agreed that Employees under this Agreement may perform gainful 

outside employment; and such outside work must be compatible with the 

Employee's City duties; in no way detracts from the ability of the Employee to 

perform his/her City duties; presents no conflict of interest with City affairs; in no 

way discredits City employment, and does not take preference over any extra 

duty that may be required by City employment. 

 
24.5. Expense Reimbursement-The Accountable Plan. 

 
The City will reimburse Employees for customary and reasonable 

business expenses following current IRS publications and regulations under the 

Accountable Plan adopted August 13, 2003, as follows: 

1. The customary and reasonable expenses must have a business connection - that 

is, you must have paid or incurred deductible expenses while performing services 

as an elected, appointed official, or an employee. You must document this activity 

on the Expense Reimbursement Form. This form can be obtained from City Hall. 

You will not be reimbursed for nondeductible expenses. I.e.: alcohol 

 
2. You must adequately account to the City Manager or Finance Officer for these 

expenses within a reasonable period of time. Within 30 days of having incurred 

the expense, unless an extension has been granted in writing by the City 

Manager. Attach copies of the expense receipts to the form. The City will only 

reimburse you 

for your own expenses. You will be reimbursed up to the Federal rates. 

 
3. You may receive an advance payment for expected expenses and therefore 

you must repay any excess reimbursement or allowance received in advance 

within a reasonable period of time. Within 30 days of having incurred the 

expense, unless an extension has been granted in writing by the City Manager. 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



30 
 

Any excess monies not repaid to the City at that time will be deemed taxable 

reimbursements and taxed as wages. Underestimated expenses will be 

reimbursed within 30 days of having submitted the expense voucher. 

 
Eligibility for Meal Allowances. Employees whose official duties require 

them to be out of town 25 miles or more shall receive meal allowances wh n 

such travel extends through their normal meal times. Meal allowances do not 

apply where Employees are provided a meal; such as at a convention which 

provides meals. In town (within 25 miles) a meal allowance is allowed only if 

prior authorization by the City is obtained. 

 
Employees required to travel outside the City and who are expected to incur 

overnight lodging shall receive cash advancement, if requested by the Employee. 

 
24.6. Deferred Compensation. 

The City shall continue to provide a Deferred Compensation Program for all 

Employees. The Employee will have a choice among more than one Program, but 

the City shall have no direct role in providing advice regarding investments. 

Employee participation shall be optional and the City shall have no liability for 

performance of any retirement investment program. 
 

 

No Smoking. 

All City facilities including, but not limited to the City Hall the Fire Station, the 

Senior Center, the Civic Facility, Public Works Buildings and all Public Works 

Vehicles shall be considered non-smoking areas. City shall post notice in such 

areas informing Employees and public of no smoking areas. 
 

24.7 PERSONNEL FILE 

 

The City, within five (5) working days from the day of the employee's request, 

shall provide an Employee the opportunity to review the Employee's personnel 

file. Copies of the contents of this file requested by the Employee shall be 

provided at the Employee's own expense. The official personnel file shall be 

maintained by the City. 

 
The Employee may respond in writing to any item placed in the Employee's 

personnel file. Such written response will become a part of the file. 

 
Letters of warning and any response written by the Employee, upon mutual 

agreement between the Employee and city, shall be removed at the end of 

twelve 

(12) months, provided that no subsequent warning letter(s) of disciplinary 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



31 
 

action either over the same or a different issue was taken during the 

intervening period of time. 

 
Employees shall have the opportunity to review and shall sign any 

personnel document which reflects an adverse personnel action, as defined 

herein, prior to such document being entered into the employee's personnel 

file. The Employee's signature does not necessarily indicate agreement, 

and each document shall indicate so. 
 

ARTICLE 25 - CONTRACT RENEWAL SESSIONS 
Both management and AFSCME agree that negotiations for future contracts 

shall begin by April 1 of the required year to allow for consideration of financial 

impacts on the City's budget. A maximum of three (3) City Employees may 

participate in negotiations carried on during duty hours without loss of pay 

where the Employees mutually agree to meet during such Employee on-duty 

time. In no instance shall this section result in overtime compensation to the 

Employee. 
 

 

ARTICLE 26 - SUBCONTRACTING Review 
 

Prior to the City subcontracting out work which has customarily been 
performed by members of the Bargaining Unit, the Union will be notified of 
the City's desire to do so. 

The City will not subcontract out work which has customarily 

been performed by members of the bargaining unit. 
 

 

ARTICLE 27 - EXISTING CONDITIONS 
Existing work rules, practices and conditions which are not modified 

by this Agreement shall continue in effect. No work rule or practice shall be 

adopted which is inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement or the 

requirements of Oregon law. City personnel policies, when in conflict with 

this Agreement, will defer to the specifications of this Agreement.• 

The City agrees to notify the Union, in writing, prior to changing 

existing work rules or adopting new rules. 

Should the Union disagree with the new rule(s), the City, upon 

request, shall meet with the Union to discuss their concerns. 

Any dispute concerning new rules may be submitted at Step Ill of the 

Grievance Procedure. Such a rule shall not be effective until the dispute is 

resolved through the grievance procedure. 

The purpose of this Article is to state the current law on existing 

conditions as covered by the Labor Relations Law. 

ARTICLE 28 - SAVINGS CLAUSE 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



32 
 

 
Should any article, section or portion thereof this Agreement be held 

unlawful and unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, or any 

administrative agency having jurisdiction over the subject matter, such decision 

shall apply only to the specific Article, Section or portion thereof, directly 

specified in the decision. Upon the issuance of any such decision, the subject 

parties agree immediately to attempt to negotiate a substitute for the invalidated 

Article, Section or portion thereof. All other portions of this Agreement and the 

Agreement as a whole shall continue without interruption for the term thereof. 
 

ARTICLE 29- DEFINITIONS 

 
29.1 "Disciplinary action" means a management-initiated action against a 

union member city employee or "fair share" city employee covered by 

this agreement related to that employee's conduct for which one or 

more of the following sanctions may result, i.e. oral reprimand, written 

reprimand, suspension from work (with or without pay), demotion 

and/or discharge. 

 
29.2 "Disciplinary Proceeding" means any face-to-face meeting between 

management and an employee involving a disciplinary action. 

 
29.3 Whenever used "shall" denotes a mandatory obligation, "may" denotes 

a discretionary obligation, and "should" denotes a recommended, but not 

required, obligation. 

 

29.4 'Working day" means the days of a week, excluding Saturday and Sunday 

and City- recognized local, state and/or federal holidays or City furlough days. 

 
29.5 “Notification of the Union” means notice provided to the AFSCME Council 

75 Council Representative and the designated representative among the City 

Employees. 

  

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



33 
 

 

ARTICLE 30-DURATION OF AGREEMENT 

This Agreement shall be in effect as of July 1, 2025 and shall remain in force through 
June 2029.  

In witness whereof; the City and Union have executed this Agreement on the ____ 
day of ________ , 2025. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
Luke Shepard      
City Manager, City of Rockaway Beach 
 
 
___________________________________ 
   
 
Marni Johnston 
 
Finance Director, City of Rockaway Beach 
 
__________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Mitch Leipzig 
Local 2734-001 Bargaining team member 
  
 
      
 
Mikael Hesse 
Local 2734-001 Bargaining team member 
 
 
___________________________________ 
 
Ryan Boos 
Local 2734-001 Bargaining team member 
 
 
____________________________________ 
 
 
Frank Vehafric, AFSCME Staff Representative 
 
 
______________________________ 
 

 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



34 
 

 

 

Appendix A 

Salary Schedule 

 

 

S
T

E
P

 1
S

T
E

P
 2

S
T

E
P

3
S

T
E

P
4

S
T

E
P

 5
S

T
E

P
 6

S
T

E
P

 7
S

T
E

P
 8

S
T

E
P

 9
S

T
E

P
 1

0

A
d
m

in
 A

s
s
t I

$3,397
$3,499

$3,604
$3,712

$3,824
$3,938

$4,057
$4,178

$4,304
$4,433

A
d
m

in
 A

s
s
t II

$4,620
$4,759

$4,902
$5,049

$5,200
$5,356

$5,517
$5,683

$5,853
$6,029

U
tility W

o
rke

r I
$3,898

$4,015
$4,135

$4,259
$4,387

$4,519
U

tility W
o
rke

r II
$4,678

$4,818
$4,962

$5,111
$5,265

$5,423
U

tility W
o
rke

r Ill
$5,613

$5,782
$5,955

$6,134
$6,318

$6,507

L
e
a
d
 W

o
rke

r 
$6,174

$6,360
$6,550

$6,747
$6,949

$7,158
P

W
 A

d
m

in
 S

p
e
c
ia

lis
t

$4,655
$4,794

$4,938
$5,086

$5,239
$5,396

P
la

n
t O

p
e
ra

to
r I

$3,847
$3,962

$4,081
$4,203

$4,329
$4,459

P
la

n
t O

p
e
ra

to
r II

$4,770
$4,913

$5,060
$5,212

$5,368
$5,529

P
la

n
t O

p
e
ra

to
r Ill

$5,724
$5,895

$6,072
$6,254

$6,442
$6,635

F
ire

 F
ig

h
te

r (I)
$4,446

$4,579
$4,716

$4,858
$5,004

$5,154
(P

ro
p

o
s
e

d
 F

Y
 2

0
2
6
/2

7
) 

F
ire

 F
ig

h
te

r II
$5,335

$5,495
$5,660

$5,829
$6,004

$6,184

N
o
n
-U

n
io

n
/E

xe
m

p
t E

m
p
lo

ye
e
s
 C

ity M
a
n
a
g
e
r-C

o
n
tra

c
t

P
u
b
lic

 W
o
rks

 D
ire

c
to

r, P
u
b
lic

 W
o
rks

 S
u
p
e
rvis

o
r - C

o
n
tra

c
t

F
ire

 C
h
ie

f, F
ire

 C
a
p
ta

in
 - C

o
n
tra

c
t

F
in

a
n
c
e
 D

ire
c
to

r, P
la

n
n
e
r, C

ity R
e
c
o
rd

e
r - C

o
n
tra

c
t

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



35 
 

Appendix B 

 

Firefighter Letter of Agreement 

 

The Employer agrees to implement a Firefighter II classification beginning the second year of 

this Agreement (2026-27). The City agrees that the proposed classification shall be paid at a 

rate 20% higher than the Firefighter I classification. The City agrees that the proposed 

classification shall be available to employees who meet the certifications eligible for premium 

pay in Article 14.4. At the time the classification is implemented the premiums in article 14.4 

shall be terminated. 

  

  

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



36 
 

Appendix C 

 

Deferred Compensation 

 

The Union recognizes the expense to the Employer of participating in the PERS retirement 

plan. However, in recognition of the term of the agreement and future economic uncertainty, 

the parties agree that should the cost of living exceed 6% in any one of the final three years of 

the agreement, the union and the employer shall meet and confer on the issue implementing a 

deferred compensation match plan. 

Resolution 2025-31 - Exhibit A



Resolution No. 2025-32  Page 1 of 3 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-32 

 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING AWARDS FOR THE 2025 FAÇADE IMPROVEMENT 
GRANT PROGRAM 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Rockaway Beach designed the Façade Improvement Grant to 
encourage economic development by making buildings more attractive and accessible 
to visitors, through repairs, painting, signage, ADA entries, ADA bathrooms at hotels, 
and other projects; and 

 

WHEREAS, this grant program is funded with lodging tax collected by the City of 
Rockaway Beach and administered through the Tillamook Coast Visitors Association 
(TCVA); and 

 

WHEREAS, sufficient funds are available for this year’s grant program to allow a 
maximum request of $30,000 with no match required; and 

 

WHEREAS, TCVA and staff have reviewed grant applications for eligibility and 
completeness; and 

 

WHEREAS, authority to award funds lies with the Rockaway Beach City Council who 
has reviewed the grant applications and now wishes to approve awards. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH RESOLVES AS 
FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1.  The City of Rockaway Beach City Council hereby awards a 2025 Façade 
Improvement Grant to the recipients and in the amounts specified in 
attached Exhibit A. 

 

Section 2.  TCVA shall execute contracts with awardees, issue grant reimbursements, 
and manage project contracts. 

 

Section 3.  This Resolution shall be effective immediately upon adoption. 

 

 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL THE 11TH DAY OF JUNE 
2025. 
 

APPROVED 
 
 
             
        Charles McNeilly, Mayor 



Resolution No. 2025-32  Page 2 of 3 

 

ATTEST 
 
 
      
Melissa Thompson, City Recorder 
 
 
  



Resolution No. 2025-32  Page 3 of 3 

Exhibit A 

 

 

2025 Façade Improvement Grant 

 

Recipient: Grant Amount: 

Joe’s Snacks & Beer  

Troxel’s Store  

Troxel’s Rock Garden  

Seaquest Treasure’s, LLC  

Sea Breeze  

Pho Real  

Green Coast Market  

Pete Anderson Realty  

Tillamara / Rockaway Beach Resort & Conf. Center  

Wortman Properties  

126 LLC  

Sand Dollar Restaurant  

Old Oregon Smokehouse  

 



Resolution No. 2025-33 Page 1 of 2  

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-33 

 
A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING THE FOREST STEWARDSHIP PLAN ADVISORY 

COMMITTEE 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Rockaway Beach is actively pursuing the acquisition of the 
lower half of the Jetty Creek Watershed and recently adopted Resolution 2025-19 
approving a Source Water Protection Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, a completed Forest Stewardship Plan is required by the Oregon 
Watershed Enhancement Board Drinking Water Source Protection Grant award of 
$1,422,270; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council wishes to engage the residents of Rockaway Beach  
during the development of a comprehensive, long-term strategy for managing the Jetty 
Creek Watershed; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Rockaway Beach policy 100.1 Council Meeting Rules and 
Procedures, section 3.17 provides that the City Council may establish ad hoc and 
advisory committees as needed by resolution for a specific purpose; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Council wishes to establish an advisory committee for the purpose of 
receiving and reviewing project information and providing community input to the Forest 
Stewardship Plan facilitator during the development of the City’s Forest Stewardship 
Plan. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:  

 
Section 1. The City’s Forest Stewardship Plan Advisory Committee is hereby 

established for the purposes of receiving project information, 
reviewing reports, and providing community input to the City’s Forest 
Stewardship Plan facilitator during the development of the City’s 
Forest Stewardship Plan. 

 
Section 2. The advisory committee will consist of five members who are served by 

the Rockaway Beach Water District. At least four members shall be 
residents of the City. Three members shall have served on the Source 
Water Protection Plan Development Advisory Committee. 
Appointments will be made according to the City Charter and by 
resolution of the City Council. 

 
Section 3. The City shall solicit application packets from parties interested in serving 

on the committee. These packets shall include an application, letter of 
interest and resume. 

 
Section 4. The committee is an official public body governed by Oregon 

Public Meeting Law and other applicable statutes. Minutes shall be kept 



Resolution No. 2025-33 Page 2 of 2  

of all committee meetings in accordance with applicable law. The City 

Manager shall designate a staff member responsible for meeting notices 

and minutes. 

 
Section 5. At the first meeting, the committee will appoint a committee chair to 

preside over the committee's meetings. In the chair’s absence, those 
present shall elect a member to serve as chair for that meeting. All 
committee meetings will be held during normal City Hall business hours. 
The committee is expected to meet on at least four occasions scheduled 
to coincide with plan development milestones. A quorum shall consist of 
three of the five committee members. 

 
Section 6. The Committee will dissolve upon City Council approval of the City’s 

Forest Stewardship Plan. The City Council may choose to dissolve the 
committee at any time. 

 
Section 7. This Resolution shall be effective immediately upon adoption. 
 

 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL THE 11TH DAY OF JUNE 
2025. 
 

APPROVED 
 
 

 

Charles McNeilly, Mayor 

 
ATTEST 
 
 

 

Melissa Thompson, City Recorder 



Resolution No. 2025-34 Page 1 of 1  

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-34 

 
 

A RESOLUTION RECOMMENDING GRANTING OF LIQUOR LICENSE 
APPROVAL FOR PELICAN BREWING COMPANY 

 

WHEREAS, Oregon law requires an applicant for issuance of a new liquor license 
issued under ORS chapter 471 to provide written notice of the application to the local 
government to obtain a recommendation from the local governing body prior to 
submitting their application to the Oregon Liquor and Cannabis Commission (OLCC); 
and 

 

WHEREAS, Pelican Brewing Company has submitted the required form to the City 
requesting a recommendation for a new Full On-Premises Commercial liquor license; 
and 

 

WHEREAS, staff has reviewed the form, attached as Exhibit A, and recommends 
approval; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Council has considered and reviewed the request before them; 

 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:  

 

Section 1. The City of Rockaway Beach City Council hereby approves recommending 
to OLCC that the application from Pelican Brewing Company for a new Full 
On-Premises, Commercial liquor license be granted, and authorizes the City 
Manager to sign the recommendation. 

 
Section 2. This Resolution shall be effective immediately upon adoption. 
 

 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL THE 11TH DAY OF JUNE 
2025. 
 

APPROVED 
 
 

 

Charles McNeilly, Mayor 

 
ATTEST 
 
 

 

Melissa Thompson, City Recorder 



OREGON LIQUOR & CANNABIS COMMISSION 

Local Government Recommendation – Liquor License 

 Form |Page 1 
Rev 10.14.24 

Annual Liquor License Types 
Off-Premises Sales 
Limited On-Premises Sales 
Full On-Premises, Caterer 
Full On-Premises, Commercial 
Full On-Premises, For Profit Private Club 
Full On-Premises, Non Profit Private Club 
Full On-Premises, Other Public Location 
Full On-Premises, Public Passenger Carrier 

Brewery-Public House 
Brewery  
Distillery 
Grower Sales Privilege  
Winery 
Wholesale Malt Beverage & Wine 
Warehouse 

Section 1 – Submission – To be completed by Applicant: 

License Information 

Legal Entity/Individual Applicant Name(s): 

Proposed Trade Name: 

Premises Address:  Unit: 

City: County: Zip: 

Application Type: New License Application Change of Ownership   Change of Location 

License Type: Additional Location for an Existing License 

Application Contact Information 

Contact Name: Phone:  

Mailing Address: 

City: State: Zip: 

Email Address: 

Business Details 
Please check all that apply to your proposed business operations at this location: 

Manufacturing/Production  

Retail Off-Premises Sales  

Retail On-Premises Sales & Consumption 
If there will be On-Premises Consumption at this location: 

Indoor Consumption Outdoor Consumption 

Proposing to Allow Minors 

Section 1 continued on next page 

Pelican Brewing Company

Pelican Tap Room Rockaway Beach

165 S Miller St

Rockaway Beach Tillamook 97136

Full On-Premises, Commercial

Marcus Stolpp

PO Box 189

Pacific City OR 97135

com

■

Resolution 2025-34 - Exhibit A



OREGON LIQUOR & CANNABIS COMMISSION 

Local Government Recommendation – Liquor License 

 Form |Page 2 
Rev 10.14.24  

 

 

 

Section 1 Continued – Submission - To be completed by Applicant: 

Legal Entity/Individual Applicant Name(s): 

Proposed Trade Name: 

    IMPORTANT:  You MUST submit this form to the local government PRIOR to submitting to OLCC.  
  Section 2 must be completed by the local government for this form to be accepted  
  with your CAMP application. 
 

 
 

 

Section 2 – Acceptance - To be completed by Local Government: 

Local Government Recommendation Proof of Acceptance 
After accepting this form, please return a copy to the applicant with received and accepted information 

City or County Name: Optional Date Received Stamp 

Date Application Received:  

Received by:  

 
 

 

Section 3 – Recommendation - To be completed by Local Government: 

 Recommend this license be granted 

 Recommend this license be denied (Please include documentation that meets OAR 845-005-0308) 

 No Recommendation/Neutral 

Name of Reviewing Official: 

Title: 

Date: 

Signature: 

After providing your recommendation and signature, please return this form to the applicant. 

 

Pelican Brewing Company

Pelican Tap Room Rockaway Beach

Resolution 2025-34 - Exhibit A



Resolution No. 2025-35  Page 1 of 1 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-35 

 

A RESOLUTION SELECTING THE VOLUNTEER OF THE YEAR AND 
 GRAND MARSHAL FOR THE 2025 4TH OF JULY PARADE 

 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Rockaway Beach wishes to acknowledge community members 
who have generously contributed their time and service to the City and its community; 
and  

 

WHEREAS, the City honors these community members by annually selecting a 
Volunteer of the Year and Grand Marshal for the 4th of July Parade; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City has received nominations from the community; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed and considered the nominees. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH RESOLVES AS 
FOLLOWS: 

 
Section 1.  The City of Rockaway Beach City Council hereby selects  

    as the 2025 Volunteer of the Year. 

 

Section 2.  The City of Rockaway Beach City Council hereby selects  

    as the Grand Marshal for the 

 2025 4th of July Parade. 

 

Section 3. This Resolution shall be effective immediately upon adoption. 
 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL THE 11th DAY OF 
JUNE 2025. 
 

APPROVED 
 
 
              

Charles McNeilly, Mayor 
 
ATTEST     
 
      
Melissa Thompson, City Recorder 



Coffee with Manager and Mayor 
May 22, 2025 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

A resident asked about insurance coverage for volunteers in the city.  City Manager 
Shepard explained that volunteers working on city sponsored events were covered 
under the city’s insurance policy.  Volunteers at events sponsored by other 
organizations in the city were not covered by the city's insurance. 
 
A resident made a pitch for community members including city staff to join our 
Community Emergency Response Team (CERT) by taking the upcoming training; 
highlighted the need for water, portable shelter and food storage at key locations for use 
during an emergency; and the appropriate use of the city’s storage containers that 
focuses on emergency response.  They went on to thank Flamingo Jim’s for 
participating in the Great Shake Out by closing the store and the employees walking to 
the designated safe location; and called for all businesses in Rockaway Beach to do the 
same at the next Great Shake Out. 
 
A resident pointed out that we are likely to see fewer Canadian visitors this year.  As 
such, we need to attract replacement tourists.  A city wide, maybe North County wide, 
yard sale could be an event that would broaden those who visit Rockaway Beach.  The 
resident pointed to Lincoln City as an example.  The City Manager said this idea would 
be shared with Nan Devlin (Tillamook Coast Visitors Association) when she visits the 
City Council Workshop in either June or July. 
 
A resident championed dark skies program and reduction of light pollution in Rockaway 
Beach.  He suggested that the city purchase dark sky compliant lighting at a discount to 
be resold.  He also suggested that the city partner with restaurants to make their menus 
readily available for viewing by visitors and residents. 
 
A resident asked that the city enable residents to use less water by making plumbing 
equipment (low flow toilets, faucets and shower heads) that reduce water usage 
available to property owners.  Also, he suggested that the city modify its pricing to 
promote water conservation.  The mayor mentioned that leakage was a more pressing 
concern; that the replacement by the city of the Nedonna Beach water main will 
substantially reduce leakage; and that Public Works received a grant to conduct a 
system wide leakage detection program.  The City Manager mentioned that Public 
Works is investigating installing additional metering that will improve their ability to 
identify leaks. 
 
A resident asked about the future of speed bumps in Rockaway Beach.  The City 
Manager said it would be something the new Public Works Director will look at. 
 
A resident noted that as summer approaches he is seeing more houseless individuals 
setting up camp in the bushes along the beach at the south end of Rockaway Beach 
and at the County Park in that area.  He stated that this is a pattern that repeats itself 
every year.  The City Manager asked that he call the Tillamook County Sheriff’s 
Department’s non-emergency telephone number (503-815-1911) to report these 
incidents. 
 



Coffee with Manager and Mayor 
May 22, 2025 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

A resident stated that the Rockaway Beach Patrol responsiveness had improved. 


	City Council Meeting Agenda 2025-06-11
	4a. CC DRAFT Minutes 2025-05-14
	4b. CC WS DRAFT Minutes 2025-05-14
	4c.1. Apr.2025.Cash.Allocations
	4c.2. Apr.2025.Financial.Statement
	4c.3. Draft May 2025 Financial Statement
	6a. Staff Report -Fire Dept May 2025
	6b. Staff Report - Sheriff Office May25
	Rockaway INCIDENTS.pdf
	Sheet1


	6c. Staff Report - Public Works 2025-6
	Water Treatment and Distribution
	Wastewater Treatment and Collections
	Roads, Parks, and Facilities
	Upcoming Projects

	10a. Ordinance 2025-02 Amending Zoning Ordinance 143 Middle Housing
	Staff Report - Middle Housing Exhibit A.pdf
	Staff Report - SB 406 - City Council.pdf
	DLCD Exhibit.pdf
	FHC Exhibit.pdf

	Zoning Ordinance_Proposed Amendments_Exhibit B.pdf
	ROCKAWAY BEACH ZONING ORDINANCE
	[…]
	Article 4. Supplementary Provisions.
	[…]
	Section 1.030. Definitions. As used in this ordinance the following words and phrases shall mean:
	[…]
	(6) Building. A structure, including modular housing and manufactured homes, built for the support, shelter, or enclosure of persons, animals, or property of any kind, and having a fixed base on, or fixed base to the ground. [Amended by Ordinance #94-...
	[…]
	(16) Dwelling Unit. One or more rooms in a building that are designed for occupancy by one family and which contain one or more of the following features: 1) refrigeration and cooking capabilities, 2) a sink intended for meal preparation, not includin...
	(17) Dwelling, Single-Family or One Family Unit. A detached building containing one dwelling unit and designed for occupancy by one family only dwelling unit built and intended for occupancy by one household, built on a single lot or parcel, construct...
	(18) Dwelling, Duplex or Two Family. Two dwelling units in any configuration. Both units of a duplex must be built on a single lot or parcel, or located on two child lots created through a middle housing land division.
	(19) Dwelling, Townhouse. A dwelling unit that is part of a row of two or more attached dwelling units, where each unit is located on an individual lot or parcel and shares at least one common wall with an adjacent dwelling unit.
	(20) Dwelling, Triplex. Three dwelling units in any configuration. All three units must be built on a single lot or parcel, or located on three child lots created through a middle housing land division.
	(21) Dwelling, Quadplex. Four dwelling units in any configuration. All four units must be built on a single lot or parcel, or located on four child lots created through a middle housing land division.
	(22) Dwelling, Multifamily Multi-unit. A building or portion thereof, designed for occupancy by three or more families living independently of each other. A residential structure containing five or more dwelling units sharing common walls or floors an...
	(23) Dwelling, Cottage Cluster. A grouping of no fewer than four detached dwelling units per acre with a footprint of less than 900 square feet each, located on a single lot or parcel that includes a common courtyard or located on child lots created t...
	[…]
	[…Renumber remaining sections]
	(XX) Lot A parcel or tract of land. or parcel. Any legally created unit of land.
	(1) Uses Permitted Outright. In an R-1 zone the following uses and their accessory uses are permitted outright:
	[…Re-letter remaining sections]
	[…Re-letter remaining sections]
	[…Re-letter remaining sections]
	[…Re-letter remaining sections]
	[…Re-letter remaining sections]
	[…Renumber remaining sections]
	(1) Sufficient Infrastructure. Applicants must demonstrate that Sufficient Infrastructure is provided, or will be provided, upon submittal of a townhouse development application.
	(2) Design Standards for Townhouses.
	(a) Entry Orientation. The main entrance of each townhouse must:
	(i) Be within 8 feet of the longest street-facing wall of the dwelling unit, if the lot has public street frontage; and
	(ii) Either:
	(A) Face the street (see Figure 1);
	(B) Be at an angle of up to 45 degrees from the street (see Figure 2);
	(C) Face a common open space or private access or driveway that is abutted by dwellings on at least two sides; or
	(D) Open onto a porch (see Figure 3). The porch must:
	• Be at least 25 square feet in area; and
	• Have at least one entrance facing the street or have a roof
	(b) Unit definition. Each townhouse must include at least one of the following on at least one street-facing façade (see Figure 4):
	(i) A roof dormer a minimum of 4 feet in width, or
	(ii) A balcony a minimum of 2 feet in depth and 4 feet in width and accessible from an interior room, or
	(iii) A bay window that extends from the facade a minimum of 2 feet, or
	(iv) An offset of the facade of a minimum of 2 feet in depth, either from the neighboring townhouse or within the façade of a single townhouse, or
	(v) An entryway that is recessed a minimum of 3 feet, or
	(vi) A covered entryway with a minimum depth of 4 feet, or
	(vii) A porch meeting the standards of subsection (2)(a)(D) of this section (4.04X.02).
	Balconies and bay windows may encroach into a required setback area.
	Figure 1. Main Entrance Facing the Street
	Figure 2. Main Entrance at 45 Angle from the Street
	Figure 3. Main Entrance Opening onto a Porch
	Figure 4. Townhouse Unit Definition
	(c) Windows. A minimum of 15 percent of the area of all street-facing facades on each individual unit must include windows or entrance doors. Half of the window area in the door of an attached garage may count toward meeting this standard (see Figure 5).
	Figure 5. Window Coverage
	(d) Driveway Access and Parking. Townhouses with frontage on a public street shall meet the following standards:
	(i) Garages on the front façade of a townhouse, off-street parking areas in the front yard, and driveways in front of a townhouse are allowed if they meet the following standards (see Figure 6).
	(A) Each townhouse lot has a street frontage of at least 15 feet on a local street.
	(B) A maximum of one (1) driveway approach is allowed for every townhouse. Driveway approaches and/or driveways may be shared.
	(C) Outdoor on-site parking and maneuvering areas do not exceed 12 feet wide on any lot.
	(D) The garage width does not exceed 12 feet, as measured from the inside of the garage door frame.
	Figure 6. Townhouses with Parking in Front Yard
	(ii) The following standards apply to driveways and parking areas for townhouse projects that do not meet all of the standards in subsection (i).
	(A) Off-street parking areas shall be accessed on the back façade or located in the rear yard. No off-street parking shall be allowed in the front yard or side yard of a townhouse.
	(B) A townhouse project that includes a corner lot shall take access from a single driveway approach on the side of the corner lot. See Figure 7.
	(C) Townhouse projects that do not include a corner lot shall consolidate access for all lots into a single driveway. The driveway and approach are not allowed in the area directly between the front façade and front lot line of any of the townhouses. ...
	(D) A townhouse project that includes consolidated access or shared driveways shall grant access easements to allow normal vehicular access and emergency access.
	(iii) Townhouse projects in which all units take exclusive access from a rear alley are exempt from compliance with subsection (ii).
	(3) Process. Townhouse structures are reviewed for compliance with these standards as part of the building permit application.
	Figure 7. Townhouses on Corner Lot with Shared Access
	Figure 8. Townhouses with Consolidated Access
	(1) Sufficient Infrastructure. Applicants must demonstrate that Sufficient Infrastructure is provided, or will be provided, upon submittal of a townhouse development application.
	(2) Design Standards for Triplex and Quadplex Dwellings.
	(a) Entry Orientation. At least one main entrance for each triplex or quadplex structure must meet the standards in subsections (i) and (ii) below. Any detached structure for which more than 50 percent of its street-facing facade is separated from the...
	(i) The entrance must be within 8 feet of the longest street-facing wall of the dwelling unit; and
	(ii) The entrance must either:
	(A) Face the street (see Figure 9);
	(B) Be at an angle of up to 45 degrees from the street (see Figure 10);
	(C) Face a common open space that is adjacent to the street and is abutted by dwellings on at least two sides (see Figure 11); or
	(D) Open onto a porch (see Figure 12). The porch must:
	• Be at least 25 square feet in area; and
	• Have at least one entrance facing the street or have a roof.
	Figure 9. Main Entrance Facing the Street
	Figure 10. Main Entrance at 45  Angle from the Street
	Figure 11. Main Entrance Facing Common Open Space
	Figure 12. Main Entrance Opening onto a Porch
	(b) Windows. A minimum of 15 percent of the area of all street-facing facades must include windows or entrance doors. Facades separated from the street property line by a dwelling are exempt from meeting this standard. See Figure 13.
	Figure 13. Window Coverage
	(c) Garages and Off-Street Parking Areas. Garages and off-street parking areas shall not be located between a building and a public street (other than an alley), except in compliance with the standards in subsections (i) and (ii) of this subsection (2...
	(i) The garage or off-street parking area is separated from the street property line by a dwelling; or
	(ii) The combined width of all garages and outdoor on-site parking and maneuvering areas does not exceed a total of 50 percent of the street frontage (see Figure 14).
	Figure 14. Width of Garages and Parking Areas
	(d) Driveway Approach. Driveway approaches must comply with the following:
	(i) The total width of all driveway approaches must not exceed 32 feet per frontage, as measured at the property line (see Figure 15). For lots or parcels with more than one frontage, see (d)(iii) of this subsection (Section 4.04X(2)).
	(ii) Driveway approaches may be separated when located on a local street (see Figure 15). If approaches are separated, they must meet driveway spacing standards applicable to local streets.
	(iii) In addition, lots or parcels with more than one frontage must comply with the following:
	(A) Lots or parcels must access the street with the lowest transportation classification for vehicle traffic. For lots or parcels abutting an improved alley (defined as an alley that meets the jurisdiction’s standards for width and pavement), access m...
	(B) Lots or parcels with frontages only on collectors and/or arterial streets must meet local access standards applicable to collectors and/or arterials.
	(C) Triplexes and quadplexes on lots or parcels with frontages only on local streets may have either:
	• Two driveway approaches not exceeding 32 feet in total width on one frontage; or
	• One maximum 16-foot-wide driveway approach per frontage (see Figure 17).
	(3) Process. Triplexes and quadplexes are reviewed for compliance with these standards as part of the building permit application.
	Figure 15. Driveway Approach Width and Separation on Local Street
	Figure 16. Alley Access
	Figure 17. Driveway Approach Options for Multiple Local Street Frontages
	Section 4.04X. Cottage Clusters.
	(1) Sufficient Infrastructure. Applicants must demonstrate that Sufficient Infrastructure is provided, or will be provided, upon submittal of a townhouse development application.
	(2) Development Standards for Cottage Clusters.
	(a) Setbacks and Building Separation
	(i) Setbacks. The following standards are maximum setbacks for cottage clusters in all zones:
	(A) Front setbacks: 10 feet
	(B) Side setbacks: 5 feet
	(C) Rear setbacks: 10 feet
	(ii) Building Separation. Cottages shall be separated by a minimum distance of six (6) feet. The minimum distance between all other structures, including accessory structures, shall be in accordance with building code requirements
	(b) Average Unit Size. The maximum average floor area for a cottage cluster is 1,400 square feet per dwelling unit. Community buildings shall be included in the average floor area calculation for a cottage cluster.
	Figure 18. Cottage Cluster Orientation and Common Courtyard Standards
	Figure 19. Cottage Cluster Parking Design Standards


	10c. Ordinance 2025-03 Amending Subdivision Ordinance Middle Housing
	Subdivision Ordinance Proposed Amendments Exhibit B.pdf
	SUBDIVISION AND LAND PARTITION
	MINOR LAND PARTITION
	IMPROVEMENTS

	Subdivision Ordinance Amended 2025-06-11 Exhibit C.pdf
	SUBDIVISION AND LAND PARTITION
	MAJOR LAND PARTITION
	MINOR LAND PARTITION
	MIDDLE HOUSING LAND DIVISIONS
	IMPROVEMENTS
	VARIANCES, FEES AND ENFORCEMENT

	Subdivision Ordinance Amended 2025-06-11 Exhibit C.pdf
	SUBDIVISION AND LAND PARTITION
	MAJOR LAND PARTITION
	MINOR LAND PARTITION
	MIDDLE HOUSING LAND DIVISIONS
	IMPROVEMENTS
	VARIANCES, FEES AND ENFORCEMENT


	10e. Ordinance 2025-04 Amending Comprehensive Plan Middle Housing
	Staff Report - Middle Housing Exhibit A.pdf
	Staff Report - SB 406 - City Council.pdf
	DLCD Exhibit.pdf
	FHC Exhibit.pdf

	Comprehensive-Plan_Proposed Amendments Exhibit B.pdf
	ORDINANCE 194 AMENDED BY ORDINANCE 08-01
	Beaches and Dunes Policies
	Land Use Categories
	The Manhattan Residential/Resort Area
	The Special Residential/Resort Area
	The Single Family or Duplex Low Density Residential Area
	The Saltair Creek Residential/Resort Area (R/R)
	The East Rockaway Beach Residential Area [R]
	Housing Element
	Policies

	comprehensive plan amended 2025-06-11 exhibit c.pdf
	AMENDED JUNE 2025
	2007 Comprehensive Plan Review and Update
	Citizen Involvement
	Coordination
	The Planning Process
	Implementation
	General Considerations
	Economic Considerations
	Policies Relating to the Economy
	Air, Water and Land Resource Considerations
	Water Quality
	Air Quality
	Forest Resources
	Agricultural Land
	Wetlands and Riparian Corridors
	Policies
	Energy Considerations
	Land Use Element
	Development Suitability Physical Limitations
	Beaches and Dunes
	Beaches and Dunes Policies
	Coastal Shorelands
	Hazards
	Natural Features
	Land Use Categories
	The Manhattan Residential/Resort Area
	The Special Residential/Resort Area
	Low Density Residential Area
	The Downtown Commercial Area [C]
	The Saltair Creek Residential/Resort Area (R/R)
	Nature Conservancy Area
	Special Area Wetlands Zone (SA)
	Lake Lytle Wetlands Area (W)
	The East Rockaway Beach Residential Area [R]
	Conditional Use Area (CU)
	Twin Rocks Area
	Open Space, Scenic and Historic Areas and Natural Resources
	Rockaway Urban Growth Boundary Management Policies Description
	Table 6-6 Comparison of land need and land supply Rockaway Beach UGB, 2007-2027
	Procedure
	Urbanization Criteria
	Coordination
	Extension of Services – Conversion Factors
	Justification for the Rockaway Beach Urban Growth Boundary
	Housing Element
	Revised Housing Needs Analysis (2007)
	Table 4-14. Forecast of seasonal units, Rockaway Beach, 2007-2027
	Table 4-16. Forecast of demand for seasonal housing and land need by type, Rockaway Beach, 2007-2027
	Redevelopment Assumptions
	Policies
	Transportation Element
	Circulation
	Parking
	Special Transportation Needs
	Parks and Recreation
	Policies
	Public Facilities and Services
	Sewerage System
	Water System
	Schools
	Solid Waste Disposal
	Police Service
	Fire Protection and Ambulance Service
	Public Buildings
	Senior Citizen Services
	Health Services


	10g. Resolution 2025-30  Reappointing Members to Planning Commission
	10h. Resolution 2025-31 Approving Collective Bargaining Agreement AFSCME
	CBA_City_of_Rockaway_Beach_L2734_ 2023 _as Amended 2025.pdf
	CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH
	CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH EMPLOYEES LOCAL 2734-1, AFSCME COUNCIL NO. 75 AFL-CIO
	TABLE OF CONTENTS
	PREAMBLE
	ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION AND BARGAINING UNIT
	ARTICLE 2 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS
	ARTICLE 4 - PEACEFUL PERFORMANCE OF CITY SERVICE
	ARTICLE 5 - UNION SECURITY
	ARTICLE 7 - HOURS OF WORK
	ARTICLE 8 - OVERTIME
	ARTICLE 9 - HOLIDAYS
	ARTICLE 10 - VACATION LEAVE

	(5) working days to a request of more than two (2) consecutive days and respond within two (2) working days to a request of two (2) days or less. If an Employee does not get a response, then the vacation request will be allowed. Supervisor response ti...
	ARTICLE 11 - SICK LEAVE
	ARTICLE 12- BEREAVEMENT LEAVE
	ARTICLE 13 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE

	ARTICLE 14 - WAGES
	ARTICLE 15 - HEALTH AND WELFARE

	ARTICLE 17 - WORKERS' COMPENSATION
	ARTICLE 18 - RETIREMENT
	ARTICLE 20 - PROBATIONARY PERIOD
	ARTICLE 21 - SENIORITY
	ARTICLE 22 - DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE
	ARTICLE 23-GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE
	ARTICLE 24 - GENERAL PROVISIONS
	ARTICLE 25 - CONTRACT RENEWAL SESSIONS
	ARTICLE 27 - EXISTING CONDITIONS
	ARTICLE 28 - SAVINGS CLAUSE
	ARTICLE 29- DEFINITIONS
	ARTICLE 30-DURATION OF AGREEMENT
	This Agreement shall be in effect as of July 1, 2025 and shall remain in force through June 2029.
	In witness whereof; the City and Union have executed this Agreement on the ____ day of ________ , 2025.




	10i. Resolution 2025-32 Awarding 2025 Facade Improvement Grants
	10j. Resolution 2025-33 Establishing Forest Stewardship Plan Advisory Committee
	RESOLUTION NO. 2025-33
	NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:
	APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL THE 11TH DAY OF JUNE 2025.

	10k. Resolution 2025-34 Recommending Granting of Liquor License Approval_Redacted
	RESOLUTION NO. 2025-33
	NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF ROCKAWAY BEACH RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:
	APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL THE 11TH DAY OF JUNE 2025.

	Coffee with Manager and Mayor Notes 2025-05-22

